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1

JULIAN’S HEAD WAS LOOKING EXTRA large today. It was partly because of the angle of his screen and partly because he was wearing a puffer vest that swallowed his shoulders. Behind his head, I could see a few elements of a tasteful home office: a lamp, a succulent, a window with the curtains drawn.

He was waiting for me to speak, but I let the silence simmer. I looked down, brushed a crumb off the keyboard, looked back up at the screen. Now he was scratching the inside of his ear with his pinkie. Julian was English—not in a good way—with a snooty accent and fine, fair, floppy hair. He sported two cowlicks and one pair of chunky black glasses.

To fill the silence, he continued.

‘It’s just this subtle sort of … negativity,’ he said. ‘Nothing really blatant, just something about her vibe.’

His glasses were statement glasses, almost Buddy Holly-style, but what statement were they making, exactly? They were supposed to announce a maverick braininess, I guessed, but they instead conveyed a scrambled message: something about wasted mid-life effort and lightweight polymer plastics.

‘Have you tried speaking to her about it?’ I asked.

‘Not directly,’ he said. ‘I’ve tried a few things to improve morale in the team generally, so I’m hoping people are feeling more empowered, more invested.’

Julian leaned back in his chair. Several long seconds ticked by.

It was my fourth session with Julian. At the start, he’d been a giant pain in the arse, complaining about the price of the Evolve Package and trying to build in a ‘get-out clause’ in case he decided early on that the coaching process wasn’t constructive. He caved in the end, but we both had to pretend he’d cut a deal, so I offered him bonus reading materials and emailed him two PDFs I downloaded from psychology.com: ‘Thought, Emotion, Sensation’ and ‘Power of Breath’.

‘I’m a storyteller by trade, Ruth, but I drive a hard bargain!’ A lofty chuckle. ‘I’m a tough negotiator.’

He was the director of a production studio in Sydney called Blaze Productions. It was a company that lived and breathed brand stories, according to its website. Most of their work was for luxury property developments. They made 3D architectural visualisations, fly-through videos, animations and virtual tours.

Fortunately, four sessions in, I could see that Julian was more interested in creating a Blaze workplace cult than in achieving any kind of quantifiable goal. Most of the time he just wanted to vent about his rivals and subordinates. Or crap on about his daily habits and routines. Or whine about the lingering impacts of Covid on business. Or throw around new ideas for talent recruitment and retention, like staff-wellbeing initiatives, laser-skirmish outings, virtual-gaming sessions.

Was he finding our sessions constructive? It was hard to tell. He was obsessed with Blaze company culture, but cagey when it came to more personal questions.

‘I’m not into the “tell me about your mother” stuff,’ he’d announced, with air-quote fingers, during our first session. ‘I’m all about the here and now.’

Maybe he did want to get deep and disgusting, but needed more coaxing. There was something about his appearance (wet lips, busy Adam’s apple) that suggested monstrous tastes in pornography, but you can never really tell.

‘You’ve talked about Astrid more than anyone else at Blaze in all our sessions together,’ I said finally. ‘She seems to be often in your thoughts. I wonder if there is something about Astrid apart from the negativity you perceive—something Astrid represents, perhaps—that’s also at work here.’

Julian sighed and rubbed his eyes beneath his glasses. ‘Well,’ he said, after a moment, ‘it was Tom who brought her into the team. I said, “Pick your own people, Tom, I want you to have that autonomy”’—he had a way of jerking his head back when quoting himself; I could almost see inside his nose—‘but now Tom’s gone and he was the connective tissue, as it were. He’d worked with Astrid before and he convinced me to offer her a very good salary to get her on board. And, look, he was right. She has a great aesthetic, her work is great, it’s just that she creates this distance between herself and the rest of the team. She creates this kind of atmosphere.’

I nodded the empathetic nod, switched tabs and typed 41m7s. Astrid hired by ex-GM Tom in the Julian Pitt file.

‘Perhaps it’s not just the way Astrid behaves, but the fact of Astrid that’s taking up the emotional real estate here,’ I said. ‘Astrid represents a moment when you ceded control.’

‘Hmmm,’ he said, frowning.

I waited. An outburst was brewing. I could sense it.

‘Yesterday,’ he began slowly, ‘I had to sign off on a pitch deck for a client and I decided I wanted to make some revisions. I’m the boss, right? I’m allowed to do that, right? And so I went over to her desk with the changes and she just gave me this look’—his voice jumped half an octave—‘and she said, “Okay”, but she said it with this tone.’

Julian was worked up now. His nostrils were flapping with emotion. His Adam’s apple was ready to jump out of his neck and build a pergola.

‘That does sound challenging, Julian,’ I said, with pastoral-concern face. ‘One thing I’d like us to maybe touch on next week—and I’ll give you some reading material about this, because it’s a really interesting area of research—is the link between trust and performance.’

Julian nodded.

I continued: ‘Maybe it’s counterintuitive in some ways, because we tend to think of CEOs and high-performing people such as yourself as very shrewd and sceptical. But humans have evolved to trust and cooperate. Trust is the most beneficial evolutionary path and it bears out in the research. Trust is a common ingredient in high-performance work environments.’

I paused. Was he going to speak? No. I went on: ‘I think it’s possible that distrust, your own distrust, is creating obstacles for you in achieving some of the goals we’ve discussed.’

Julian took a big, glum swig from his mug. ‘Well, talking to you has been helpful with the stress, I mean it has.’ He sighed again. ‘It’s good to let off steam and stay accountable to my goals …’ He trailed off.

Another silence.

‘I’ve been wondering,’ he said, after a while. ‘Do you ever do this work with groups of people? I’ve been trying to impart some of the stuff we’ve been discussing in our sessions together—some of the frameworks and models—with everyone in my team. A lot of great companies offer private coaching to staff as a way to attract and retain top talent, too.’

It killed me to turn down these kinds of leads. But I couldn’t do referrals, couldn’t do word-of-mouth stuff or group sessions, couldn’t have clients comparing notes.

‘I’m afraid I’m just flat-out with research work at the moment, Julian, and I have a full load with clients,’ I said. ‘I have to be so selective with the work I choose to do.’

He smirked, flattered.

‘But it’s great that you’re seeing results with the breathing techniques,’ I continued. ‘Many of my clients find these techniques helpful for managing allostatic load and retraining the nervous system for optimal resilience and recovery.’

 I smiled the brisk, valedictory smile. It was time to end this.

‘We’re nearly out of time. Is there anything else you wanted to talk about today?’

‘Ah.’ He smirked again, cheering up, wagging a finger at the camera. ‘I’ll let you off early this time, but I’ll get my money’s worth next week, Ruth!’

Oh, he was such a fuckface.

With that, I wrapped up the session, closed the window, saved the sound file and shut my laptop. For just a second, I rested my head on top of the computer, enjoying the feel of the cool aluminium against my ear. It was thirty-one degrees outside, even hotter inside our granny flat, which still stank of the kebabs we’d eaten for dinner the night before.

I got up, swapped my professional blouse for a t-shirt and found my shoes under my bed. I rummaged for keys, bag and both phones. The cake for the school fete was sitting in Barb’s fridge in the big house. I locked the door to the flat and was crossing the lawn when my personal phone buzzed.

Hi Christina, it’s Meg Lazlo from the fete committee. Just a reminder to provide a complete list of the ingredients when you drop off the cake at school. Thanks!
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I PULLED UP OUTSIDE KINGSBURY West Primary School right before the bell rang and got out of the car with cellophane-wrapped cake in hand. I strode past the other parents at the school gate (I have nothing against these people), across the quadrangle (with its crusty jungle gym), and past the Recycling Zone (the composting, landfill and recycling bins featured heavily in the principal’s ecstatic, garbage-centric newsletter columns).

There was dread in my heart as I headed towards Meg Lazlo and the school hall. The cake I was contributing to the cake stall was from Coles. Its ingredients included ‘emulsifier 471’ and ‘sorbic acid’. Plus, I had never met Meg in person before and I worried that she might try to extract more than a cake from me. A shift in the face-painting tent at the fete tomorrow, maybe, or half an hour selling raffle tickets. It had been a long, tiring week. I didn’t have the energy to pitch in at the fete.

 The hall was a square, brick-veneer building with murals painted on two sides: one with an under-the-sea theme and the other of the solar system. Both murals had been completed in the second week of term and, thanks to a ‘participation-based approach’ to the project, both murals had turned out crazy. The swordfish looked like an assault rifle; the spaceship like a soaring tampon. (Though I’ll admit I felt a tremor of maternal pride as I passed Saturn. My own Sam had painted that planet a take-no-prisoners shade of brown.)

I trudged up the six stairs to the hall entrance, steeling myself. Just inside, a woman sat behind a trestle table, frowning at a clipboard. She was nestled among bunting, collapsed outdoor umbrellas, tarpaulins and a rotating pedestal fan. Behind her was a second trestle loaded with trimly wrapped baked goods.

Maybe I could rush in with phone cradled between ear and shoulder, then drop the cake on the table and rush out again. Would I get away with it if I made a few frantic multitasking-mummy hand signals? Some busy-busy rabid eye rolls?

No. I couldn’t do that. If the parents here hated me, it might spill over to Sam. I would have to approach Meg Lazlo and engage in dialogue. I would have to hope she wouldn’t look too closely at the cake.

I walked up to the trestle table, announcing my arrival in hearty, parental tones. ‘Hi there, I’m here to drop off a cake for the cake stall,’ I said. ‘Are you Meg?’

The woman looked up from her clipboard. ‘That’s me,’ she said, with a tired smile.

 The smile revealed large teeth. She was a sturdy woman, late thirties, thick chestnut hair tied back in a bushy, no-nonsense ponytail. A veteran of committees, I thought. A woman who had collected and compared quotes from five northern-suburbs marquee-hire companies before and would do it again.

‘I’m Christina Swales,’ I said. ‘Sam’s mum. Year One.’

‘Ah! Christina. The Madeira cake,’ she said.

She crossed something off on her clipboard then drew herself up, slowly, to receive the cake. Most women weren’t as tall as me. We were the same height.

I handed the cake to her with the ingredients listed on a yellow Post-it note, stuck perilously to the cellophane: eggs, butter, self-raising flour, orange rind, lemon rind, traces of nuts.

Meg read the list. ‘Traces of nuts?’ she said, with a tilt of her head.

I’d scribbled the last item as an afterthought. Hearing the phrase from this woman’s lips, though, I heard the stock disclaimer and winced.

‘Sam and I baked the cake together,’ I improvised. ‘He might have eaten nuts before we started. Just wanted to be on the safe side.’

She nodded slowly and lifted the cake to eye level. Its shape was incriminatingly regular. I’d planned to decorate it with icing and hundreds and thousands to give it a wonky, homemade look, but I’d run out of time.

Meg brought the cake down and held it in front of her body. Was she going to thrust it back at me?

 ‘We just need to know the ingredients,’ she said, with practised composure, ‘to cover the school against the risk of allergic reactions and food poisoning. It’s an insurance thing.’

I twitched. ‘That is why,’ I said, matching her tone, ‘I wrote “traces of nuts”, just to be extra careful.’

She nodded and, for a moment, we stood looking directly into each other’s eyes. Hers were clear, hazel, steady. I didn’t appreciate the scrutiny. I didn’t appreciate the Friday-afternoon diligence and attention to detail.

As we stood there, the pedestal fan turned its neck towards us and for a moment we both enjoyed a direct, merciful blast of its warm air.

‘Ahhh,’ Meg said, surprising me. She closed her eyes and wiped her brow with her wrist. Then she turned to place the cake with the others. When she faced me again, she was smiling more brightly.

‘Delicious,’ she pronounced, her hands on her hips. It was clear to me that she’d resolved to throw the cake in the bin. Just to be on the safe side. ‘See you tomorrow?’

‘See you then!’

I turned, depleted, to walk away. Sam and I had planned to bake a cake, but it just hadn’t worked out. Our flat didn’t have an oven and Thursday had been an exhausting day (back-to-back client sessions, then drama when Sam snapped his goggles at his swimming lesson). I couldn’t be bothered interfacing with Barb in the kitchen of the big house when we got home. Sam and I had avoided her all night, eating our takeaway kebabs in the granny flat.

 There was no point dwelling on the cake now. It was time to collect Sam and get out of here. I crossed the quadrangle again, heading back towards the gate. I could already see him there, in our usual meeting spot.

I stopped a distance away, trying to watch him unnoticed, while he played with a friend from his class. I hardly ever got the chance to do this. At pick-up time, no matter what Sam was doing, it seemed his attention was equally split between his activities and scanning the street for me. Sometimes I’d hear him—‘Mum!’—before I’d see him, sprinting towards me, backpack thumping along behind him.

But today I was coming from a different direction. I stood by the jungle gym and watched as he and the other boy whacked a tree with sticks.

My Sam. The one with the dark curls, the serious eyes, the skinny legs, the winning ears. A quiet boy: tall for his age, like me; freckled like Paul.

His approach to hitting the tree troubled me, though. His friend was giving it a good thrashing, but Sam was tentative, tapping the trunk softly as though trying to wake the tree from a nap. Sam was a gentle boy; did I need to teach him how to thump the shit out of others if necessary? Was that something people actually did? As a kid I’d overheard Dad’s friends at the pub talking about teaching their sons to ‘throw a jab’ or whatever. But every fight I’d witnessed between men had involved a lot of shrieking and shuffling and rabbity kicking.

Sam spotted me, dropped the stick, grabbed his bag, ran towards me. Together we walked to the car.

 ‘Did you bring me a snack?’

‘Yes,’ I said. ‘But just a banana for now, because we’re going to get soft-serve cones in Clifton Hill.’

He mimed cowboy pistols with both hands—‘Pew pew!’—as we got in the car.

I handed him the banana over my shoulder and fired up Melnyks Chinese audio lessons on my phone. We were up to Lesson 16: Giving Gifts, Visiting Friends, Drinking Culture.

‘Okay, so let’s get started,’ said our teacher, Serge Melnyk. It felt weird to learn Mandarin from someone with a thick Russian accent. But the course had good online reviews and was free to download.

‘Some new words! “Guest”. And the word for “guest” in Chinese is kèrén … kèrén … kèrén.’

‘Kèrén,’ I said. ‘Kèrén.’

Sam groaned. ‘Do we have to listen to this?’

‘Do you want to go to a good high school and get a good job? Or do you want to clean chicken vomit in the KFC toilets until you’re eighty? Kèrén.’

It was a joke, but it was also not a joke.

‘Blurrrrgggrén,’ he said, cackling. He always found his own jokes hilarious.

‘Terrible,’ I said, our eyes meeting in the rear-view mirror. He grinned and took a chomp out of his banana.

It was a day of hard, dry Melbourne heat. The kind of heat that makes you dopey. We were going for a drive because it was too hot for me to think of anything else to do. I sometimes found it soothing to get in the car and drive after a long, hot working week inside the granny flat. My car was old (a 2003 silver Ford Territory, smelling of crayons and old apple cores) but the air-conditioning worked well.

The traffic was terrible. It took us fifteen minutes just to get out of Kingsbury, crawling past endless brick houses with their matching squares of baked-out lawn, but I would’ve endured much worse for the Clifton Hill McDonald’s.

It was the best McDonald’s in Melbourne and possibly in the whole of Victoria. The heritage-listed building had once been a grand Jazz Moderne hotel, and they’d kept the original features. The sweeping, curved balconies and cantilevered canopies gave a real sense of ceremony to a meal of nuggets with McChicken sauce.

When we finally got there, we settled into a booth in the corner. It was our custom to say ‘Cheers!’ while bumping our cones together, but today we substituted with a new Mandarin word we’d learned that afternoon from Serge: ‘Gānbēi!’

We stayed there for more than an hour, reading books Sam had borrowed from the school library. It was busy, full of teenagers happy to be done with the school week. I observed their gangly limbs, their scattered backpacks, their scruffy, copious hair, and imagined what it would be like to grow up around here.

I’d lived not far from this area myself as a uni student, and the self-effacing tenor of Clifton Hill had won me over back then. None of the neighbouring suburbs came close in my book. Not for me the glaring nonnas and goody-goody Greens voters of Northcote. Not for me the performative crustiness of Collingwood, or the bitchy picket fences and pastry-crumbed bike paths of North Fitzroy. No, my heart belonged at the tip of the eastern freeway. My heart belonged to understated, reputable Clifton Hill. I loved the wide streets; the leafy-but-not-aggressively-leafy leafiness of the place.

In my dream-home fantasy we lived here in a three-bedroom, single-storey north-facing white Edwardian weatherboard with Baltic pine flooring, ducted heating and stainless-steel appliances. The next-door neighbours on one side were an ophthalmologist, his dentist wife and their two brilliant teenage daughters. A formidable Melbourne University philosophy professor lived on the other side. If I looked out the front window in the morning, I might spot a tornado of schoolgirls, hockey sticks and clarinet cases hurtling off to catch the train, or a fifty-something divorcee in a meaningful shawl and Guatemalan earrings gliding past with her beagle.

We were driving up Spensley Street on our way home when an excited ‘Look!’ from Sam broke me out of my reverie.

On the kerb, fifty metres up the road, was a pile of household detritus waiting for hard-rubbish collection. When Sam was younger, he hated it when I’d pull over to rifle through other people’s cast-offs. He would screech and squall from his booster seat, and I’d have to conduct my roadside raids in a hurry or risk a full-scale tantrum. But about a year ago we’d found a mint-condition kid’s scooter wedged between two armchairs on a street near Northland Shopping Centre. Now Sam was a convert.

I stopped the car in front of a house set behind a shambolic but lovely garden. Most of the stuff in this pile was useless to us: a wooden trunk with a broken hinge, a dusty music stand, an IKEA coffee table. But there was a reclining leather office chair lying sideways on the ground that was in pretty good nick. I put it upright on the footpath, sat on it, tried out the armrests, checked the seating levels and lumbar support and rolled half a metre in two directions. I was testing the swivel function when my work phone vibrated in my pocket.

Adam: Hi Ruth, wow have had an amazing week after tweaking my morning routine! So powerful to write my to-do list the night before!

Clients loved to fling around messages on Friday afternoons. I leaned back in the chair to text the reply.

Ruth: Great, Adam. It’s all about routine and ritual! Have a restful weekend. Look forward to chatting on Monday.

Adam: Actually can we make it 10.30, just checking the surf forecast

The message brought to mind one of Adam’s recent social posts: a picture of him gloating with a surfboard next to his brand-new Tesla. I sighed.

Ruth: No problem. See you then, Adam.

It was cooler outside now and our shadows were long. The crickets were arcing up; a light breeze was tickling the foliage; a sparrow overhead was singing a song about mating with other Clifton Hill-based sparrows and shitting on Ford Territories.

 ‘This stuff is boring,’ said Sam, closing the trunk lid and sitting on it. He watched as I checked the wheels on the chair. ‘What do you want that for?’

‘My work chair is pretty old,’ I told him. ‘This one is almost new. At Officeworks this would cost more than a hundred dollars.’

‘Can we go home now?’ he whined, mooching back to the car.

I opened the back of the Territory, casting my eye across the garden up to the house. The blinds were up and I could see inside one of the ground-floor rooms. Two children were standing perfectly still, their backs to the window, facing a TV screen. Suddenly, four arms shot up in the air and two pairs of hips began to twitch. A superb grey cat ran outside and settled itself in the shade on the lawn.

I picked up the chair and wedged it carefully in the back of the car. We drove north, back towards home.
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THERE WERE TWO PUBS IN Elmsleigh, where I grew up. The Caledonian Hotel was the pub for decent people. The Commercial Hotel was the pub for terrible people. The fortunes of the Swales, our barely functioning family of two, could be directly traced through my dad’s relationships with these two licensed venues.

Dad was a former country-football star, an odd-jobs man and an ‘investor’. He painted, he plastered, and he won and lost money on various business schemes. When I was a little kid, Dad drank at the Caledonian after football matches. When I was in Year Two, he picked up some shifts at the bar. I was in Year Three when he switched to working at the Commercial. And by the time I started high school, he was mostly just a Commercial Hotel customer: one of several permanent old moles on the sticky skin of the front bar.

 The Caledonian was a stately heritage establishment with iron-lace panels, imposing columns and broad verandahs. The Commercial was a single-storey box with dark windows, tucked down a road off Elmsleigh’s main street next to a discount timber yard. It was owned by two ancient trolls, Russ and Jackie. They had painted the facade cement-grey to indicate that the Commercial was the premier local venue for brawling. Inside there were torn bar stools, two pool tables, three TV screens (horses, dogs, football) and a carpet of primary-coloured diamonds. It smelled like stale smoke and synthetic pine. It sounded like Creedence Clearwater Revival.

It wasn’t until I was in high school that I realised the Commercial was the terrible people’s pub, mostly because Dad himself wasn’t terrible, though he did have some terrible friends.

When I think of my dad, I think of him at the Commercial front bar: a bald, bloated, stooped figure, hazy behind cigarette smoke, obscured by the beards and bodies of other defeated men. Never the life of the party, but definitely, dependably there, smiling quietly and sipping a JD and dry. (Coke gave him heartburn.)

‘You’re a tough one,’ he always said. ‘You’re a tough one.’ It was his mantra. He said it to me, about me, but he was also talking to himself.

[image: ]

Our first house was at 55 Cecil Street, about a block from Elmsleigh’s main street. I remember orange bricks, rosemary bushes, a concrete path that led to a Hills hoist. We had a backyard, where I passed many hours alone in the tall grass, violently flogging a totem-tennis ball.

I remember a bathroom with a pea-green bathtub and brown tiles. And a sunny kitchen with timber cupboards. There was one bedroom for Dad, one bedroom for me and one room where the floor was covered in tarps, tools, ladders, brushes and other junk. I’m pretty sure there was a shed in the backyard, but Dad made a lot of strange storage decisions. Or perhaps it was more true to say that he made no storage decisions. Spare tyres were kept in the TV room, along with a dog crate. We didn’t have a dog. I used it as a Barbie prison.

Dad told me not to go in the spare room—‘Dangerous in there, Chrissy. My work stuff’—but I went in there all the time, lurking among the briny, mind-altering smells, sometimes squatting on the floor to paw at the nails and drill parts. If he caught me in there, he’d just lean against the doorframe, jerk his thumb towards the hall and say ‘Mate.’ I’d wander out.

Dad was a pretty extreme example of what they call ‘a man of few words’. His answers to my questions were not usually instructive.

‘What are clouds made of?’

‘Vapour.’

‘What?’

‘Water.’

‘Fluff?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Do birds have ears?’

 ‘No … Yes.’

‘Is my mum still dead?’

‘Yep.’

He’d become expansive after a few drinks, though: humming tunes, wrestling with me on the couch, laughing his surprising falsetto laugh. ‘Arrrgh, you’re a tough one, stronger than your old dad,’ he’d groan, letting me pummel his chest and shove him onto the floor.

Or he’d explain the finer points of play as we watched footy matches together in the TV room. ‘See how he’s just standing in the hole there? Blocking Dunstall’s lead?’ he’d say, motioning at the TV with a stubby. ‘Look out for the secondary target coming up the guts.’

Dad was conscientious in three specific areas: dinner, haircuts and public holidays. I always had a good meal in the evening. (Meat and three veg, every night except Sunday, which was cheese on toast.) And he took me to the hairdresser practically every weekend to keep my hair short, probably so that neither of us ever had to brush it. Public holidays were circled in permanent marker on the calendar stuck to our fridge, and he never made the mistake of taking me to school on those days.

These exertions took a lot out of him. He spent most of his time relaxing: tinkering with old motorbikes out the front of the house, kicking back at the pub, or just belching mildly on the couch in front of the TV.

Dad didn’t really do discipline. Never raised his voice, never really told me off. But sometimes—when he saw that I’d wet the bed, that I’d broken a lamp, that I’d pounded the totem-tennis ball so hard that it’d detached from the rope and busted the glass in our toilet window—he would put his face in his hands and rub his eyes for a long time. When he finally removed his hands, his face looked just like Droopy the basset hound’s. Then he’d say, ‘Ah, well,’ and set about cleaning up the mess or, in the case of the broken window, he’d survey the damage, squint into the sun and then slouch back to the couch, leaving the window unrepaired all summer. He didn’t need to tell me off. I could see that my mistakes sapped his life force, and I tried to avoid that.

He was, in many ways, the ideal parent. Sometimes on the weekend, if Dad was flush and he’d had a few drinks, he’d say, ‘S’pose we better get you some supplies,’ and we’d walk to Goldies discount store together, where he’d buy me whatever I wanted: toys, sports equipment, books, clothes, anything. He once got me a comically oversized Chupa Chup, which I smashed against the side of my bed, sucking away at the sugary wreckage for weeks afterwards and re-enacting re-enactments from Australia’s Most Wanted with the pointiest shards.

For as long as I can remember, I came and went from home, on my bike or on foot, whenever I wanted. I ate unlimited Twisties and watched unlimited TV, often falling asleep on the couch and waking up in my own bed with no memory of how I got there. I spent long afternoons just wandering through the streets of Elmsleigh or cruising around on my bike, looking in shop windows, practising tricks.

I liked to visit the library. The Elmsleigh Community Library was about a hundred metres from our first house on Cecil Street. My favourite librarian was Alan, a cherubic little man who must have been in his early forties back then. He was always delighted to see me, often stopping what he was doing to glide over—‘Hello, Chrissy!’—and steer me to the new picture books. I was allowed to relax on the beanbags, looking at books, for as long as I wanted.

There were a lot of rules at the library. No snacks. No climbing. No glitter. No utility knives. I learned each of these rules by breaking them, one by one. It seemed oppressive at the time, but looking back, it’s amazing how much Alan tolerated. He never made a big deal of it. He’d just sail over to me and whisper, ‘We don’t bring those into the library, sweetie. I’ll give them back when you choof off.’ And he’d discreetly confiscate my secateurs, and let me pick them up on the way out.
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Jane and Julia Marshall lived five houses down. I went to their house to play all the time. They never came to my house. There were a lot of rules at their place, too. No eating in the bedroom. No running around with forks. Don’t touch the drill. Pyjamas before bedtime. Bedtime at 7.30 pm.

‘Does your dad let you wee in the garden?’ their mother, Carol, asked me once, when she spotted me whizzing on a garden gnome among the petunias in their backyard. I remember this event very clearly, because I’d removed both my tracksuit pants and my knickers in order to achieve a specific effect: I wanted my stream to hit the tip of the gnome’s pointy red hat and then spurt out at an angle onto an adjacent bucket of tennis balls.

I shrugged. What was the answer to that question? He didn’t not let me wee in the garden. I did it all the time, especially in winter, when the toilet seat was colder against my bottom than the fresh air.

Carol frowned. ‘Well, we don’t do that kind of thing at our place, Chrissy,’ she said, handing me my knickers, then my tracksuit pants. ‘If you want to play over here, you have to use the toilet, please.’

Jane and Julia watched all this, biting their lips. Carol walked back into the house and I left via the side gate, past the wheelie bins.

The Marshall house was a harsh environment in that way. But I could see there were perks to having attentive parents, too. I knew that Carol read stories to Jane and Julia at bedtime. (Alan read to me at the library sometimes, but if a customer appeared, he was obliged to stop to attend to them.)

From the Marshalls I learned the rhythms and routines of regular family life. Their practices were very interesting to me, especially Carol’s complicated laundry routines, which involved separating whites from colours, folding things, ironing things and putting things in cupboards. I admired the tidiness and the sense of order. Dad and I just got dressed directly from the Hills hoist or the laundry basket.

Sometimes—only when it suited me—I tried to apply Marshall-like structures to my own life at home.

 ‘It is almost my bedtime!’ I’d announce, when the theme music for A Current Affair started. ‘Almost time to put on my pyjamas and read my story.’

Dad, sprawled on the couch, would raise an eyebrow. ‘Righto.’

There was, of course, a whole separate set of rules at school. For the most part, I liked learning and enjoyed school. I never struggled with my lessons, but in my first years of primary school, I often created drama without really meaning to. I liked to bring interesting objects from home to play with at school. I’d cause a stir by toting a cheese grater into the sandpit, or by producing Dad’s Stanley knife from my schoolbag during a maths lesson.

The Stanley-knife incident was a turning point, actually. Dad was called in to see the principal and came out of the meeting in full bloodhound mode. From then on, he started checking my schoolbag in the morning for hardware and kitchen implements. I noticed, too, at lunch and recess, that no matter what I did, I was always in the direct line of vision of the teacher on yard duty.

This kind of special attention created an aura around me. Jane and I had an argument about it at her house one afternoon after school. We were squabbling about Barbies when she unleashed the slur.

‘You’re naughty,’ Jane said.

I flinched. She’d spoken in an affected tone, with unnatural emphasis, so I knew it was something she’d been holding on to for a while. Something she’d heard from other kids, or maybe even from a grown-up.

‘You’re a softcock,’ I said. I don’t know where I got that expression from. Dad himself rarely used foul language—or any language.

We played in silence for perhaps another minute or so—Jane tending to her Barbie’s hair with a tiny comb; me tying a purple sash around Skipper’s waist—then I put my doll down and punched Jane in the face.

Jane fell to the ground and howled. Her dad, Bill, marched me straight home and had words with my dad out the front of our house.

It all seemed so unfair. I knew I’d been wrong to punch her, but what she’d said—that I was naughty—didn’t make sense to me. Naughty was a word for kids like Andrew Lee, who roamed the schoolyard giving out dead arms, breaking rules on purpose and for fun.

I wasn’t like that. I came in peace. I never went looking for trouble.




4

I WAITED UNTIL BARB HAD gone to bed on Friday night before sneaking the new chair out of the Territory and into the granny flat.

I didn’t feel like trying to explain to her where it came from. Barb wasn’t the type to appreciate a hard-rubbish haul. Everything in the big house was new—or newish—and had been chosen because it would stay looking new or newish for a long time. (The living room: pale-grey tiles, monochrome colour scheme with citrus accents. The kitchen: white Caesarstone benchtops, shiny black bar stools, white kitchen island.)

The granny flat was a different story. Separated from the back of the big house by an outdoor entertainment deck and a large patch of lawn, it had been built by the previous owners in the eighties. It was more of a studio than a flat, really. Besides installing a mini fridge, toaster and kettle for tenants, Barb hadn’t touched it. It needed a paint, the carpet was worn and some of the bathroom tiles were cracked. There was no door between the two rooms—our bedrooms—just an empty doorframe. It was a constant struggle to keep the clutter under control. Craft projects from school kept creeping from Sam’s room into the kitchenette area in mine. There were a lot of chargers and power cords everywhere, too.

But on that Monday morning, alone in my room, I slipped into the leathery lap of my new swivel chair feeling smug and downright snazzy. Sam was at school and my first client was not until 10.30 am. The chair might just mark the beginning of a lucrative new era. I was feeling upbeat, vital, equal to anything.

I had already begun my preparations for the day. I wore tasteful faux-pearl earrings (they look realistic on screen), square-framed spectacles (non-prescription; they make me look older than thirty-seven), a classic white linen sleeveless shirt (Country Road, via Savers) and a knotted paisley silk scarf from the Vinnies bargain bin. I was waiting until the last possible moment to put on pants.

Sam and I had spent Sunday night watching Kung Fu Panda, with my laptop on my desk at the foot of the bed. Now I pushed the bed against the wardrobe, moved the desk back into the corner of the room and wheeled the bookcase into position. It was important to have a few metres’ space between me and the bookcase behind me. I’d tried other configurations, but on screen the alternatives looked cramped and boxy. Virtual and artificial backgrounds created an unmoored, spectral atmosphere. It was best to have a natural background and a face subtly brightened by a clip-on ring light.

 Grooming was even more important than mise en scène, and the most important part of grooming was the eyebrows. Walking through Sam’s room, into the bathroom, I took off my glasses and picked up two pairs of tweezers: one pair to shelter the keeper-hairs, the other to uproot their condemned brethren and jam them brutally into the plughole. I shaded the chosen ones into arches with Maybelline Eye Studio Brow Precise Micro Pencil in Soft Brown. Next, with tender care and attention, I combed and set the arches with wand and gel. To counter the effects of the heat, after foundation I dusted my T-zone with shine-reducing Covergirl Clean Invisible Loose Powder. (There was no air-conditioning in the flat.)

I was devoted to Revlon ColorStay Overtime Lipcolor in Ultimate Wine, which I stole from Woolworths and reapplied twice daily. My eyes, each workday, were the effort of less than two minutes: a dusting of the lids in a classy caramel; light mascara applied to both upper and lower lashes. I ironed my hair with the Remington Smooth Finish Ceramic Straightener, eyeing my features critically.

‘Here comes our Ingrid Bergman,’ Yvonne used to say. She meant that I was tall, fair and robust. Broad-shouldered and high-breasted. She did not mean that I was fresh or lovely, like Ingrid Bergman. I was too severe in the face, too geometric at the jaw, too beaked—though my long, means-business nose had its advantages. I looked serious.

Out of the bathroom, I wiggled into my business slacks (ASOS ankle grazer pants in black, $40) and reinstalled my arse in the new swivel chair.

 Before reviewing my notes, I wasted a few moments tinkering with the Dr Ruth Carlisle website. This was a tepid pleasure I rarely allowed myself—exactly the kind of procrastination I counselled my clients against—but I’d built the site myself and was proud of its elegant design and muted grey-and-mustard colour scheme. I was proud of the classy black-and-white headshot, too. I’d taken it myself using the DSLR from a former workplace. And I was especially delighted with the ‘About Me’ I’d composed for the homepage.


Hi, I’m Dr Ruth Carlisle.

I’m an executive coach and mindset expert, specialising in high-performing individuals and the challenges that attend fast-paced, career-oriented lifestyles.

My work centres on individuals practising at the highest levels of their fields: entrepreneurs, CEOs, athletes and artists. I also work with ambitious, career-oriented people at earlier stages of their professional journeys.

I completed my graduate studies at Stanford University and, through my research, I have made significant contributions to the fields of neural plasticity, habit formation and cognitive function. My practice brings together the academic rigour of psychology and neuroscience with the practical tools of coaching.

My approach is holistic and draws from cutting-edge advances in brain science and elite psychology. These tools can enable us to understand our bodies, our minds, ourselves.

I see my work with clients as an exchange. Working with gifted individuals at the top of their fields, and emerging leaders, is part of my own ongoing research into innovation, leadership performance and human potential.

Many of my clients are now based, like myself, in Australia, but I have worked with clients in London, Johannesburg, Hong Kong, San Francisco and Frankfurt.

I work primarily through video consultation and instant messaging on Voxer. Because I work with international clients, I accept payment via the secure online PayBe service.

On my Services pages, you can learn more about my research and practice. I look forward to working with you.




‘Dr Ruth Carlisle is simply the best in the business: a brilliant researcher with cut-through insights and an enviable track record with Fortune 500 teams.’ —Dr Yvonne Paige, co-director of the NeuroCreate Institute, New York



Humming the tune to ‘Kung Fu Fighting’, I added ‘Caracas’ to my list of overseas cities and deleted Frankfurt. Then I reinstated Frankfurt and removed Johannesburg. Then I reinstated Johannesburg and deleted Caracas.

‘Enough,’ I said aloud.

I turned my attention to the Adam Kirkman file. I was fastidious about client files and sound archives. I took careful notes during sessions, including timestamps of clients’ main discussion points, so I could easily skip to the most important parts in the corresponding sound files.

Adam was a chiropractor/yoga entrepreneur, with thirty-five thousand Instagram followers and twelve thousand subscribers to his YouTube channel. He lived in Sydney, ran two yoga studios, in Bondi and in Coogee, and he appeared in the occasional Sunrise segment. He wanted to start a ‘men’s meditation revolution’ and was working hard to build up his media profile. I had a lot of notes from our last session. Adam was a talker. We’d done ten sessions together, and I felt we were really on the cusp of something, Adam and me.


0m: AK’s weekly time tracker. Studio admin, home renovations, video production tutorials, cryotherapy, 10 hours of teaching, surfing.




8m12s: Challenge of getting ‘larger ladies’ out of shot when making content from classes for socials.




11m19s: AK spent early morning in photo shoot for Instagram pics. AK argued with Jacinta re: pants. AK favours light, natural fabrics as point of difference from sports/fitness/training influencers with dark/tight pant style.




15m34s: Concerns re employee pants and commitment to studio’s values. Tamara’s grey yoga shorts looking tight and ‘not aspirational’.





17m3s: AK planning launch of adhesive tape product to place over lips at night. Encourage night-time nose breathing. Sleep hygiene new passion for AK.




28m12s: Low engagement on AK’s yoga intensive summer sign-up. AK concerned about promo and content balance on socials. AK’s personal brand value: authenticity, credibility, chiro background. Discussed term ‘influencer’. AK prefers ‘teacher’, ‘mentor’.




37m46s: Talking about surfing conditions and Jacinta’s strength-training regime. Upcoming work trip to Byron (reason??).



He dialled in at 10.30 am exactly.

‘Happy Monday, Adam!’ I hooted. He loved that kind of shit.

‘Same to you, Ruth! Whooo!’ A goofy little air-punch. ‘It’s a gorgeous day, I started off with a surf and now I’m ready to rumble!’

Adam owned property in both Bondi and Byron Bay, and wore his hair in a meaty, sand-coloured ponytail. He was the kind of guy who moved his lips when reading text messages.

‘Let’s start with last week’s Time Tracker. Have you got it in front of you?’

I sometimes asked clients to make a record of how they spent each hour of each day of the week. ‘Your actions become your habits; your habits become your character; your character becomes your destiny,’ I counselled, paraphrasing either Mahatma Gandhi or Margaret Thatcher. I learned a lot about my clients through this exercise.

 ‘Yep, got it.’ Adam was all focus now, shifting in his seat, adjusting the angle of his screen. ‘I love and hate this exercise—but it keeps me accountable!’

‘Before I talk about what I’m noticing, I’m wondering if you’d like to bring up anything that jumps out at you, Adam?’ I began.

‘Hmmmmm,’ he said, brow knitted. ‘One of the teachers at the studio was on leave this week, so I ended up taking more classes than I would have liked to, and that ate into the time I wanted to spend working on the nose-breathing strips and the business plan for the new studio …’

He went on and on, outlining his week in gruelling detail.

I typed, 10.35 am struggling to find time to work on breathing strips and new studio, then opened a realestate.com.au tab. Three new properties in my saved searches. A two-bedroom dump in West Heidelberg. A decrepit townhouse in Fawkner. A fourteenth-floor hovel on Lonsdale Street in the CBD. God help me.

Adam was wrapping up: ‘… because spending time with family and friends is so important to me.’

I nodded. ‘Good,’ I said. ‘You’ve had some interesting insights there and a few small changes to routine. Any thoughts about the amount of time you’ve been spending on research?’ I suspected Adam’s market research was mostly just sobbing while scrolling the feeds of his younger rivals.

Sighing, he rested his head on one hand. He was in the office at one of his yoga studios. Above his head were four artsy black-and-white photos of Adam on a beach in progressively extreme yoga contortions. In the last one, he was standing on two hands, with his legs crossed in the air.

 ‘Um … not really?’ he said. ‘I mean I try to keep an eye on what other people are doing in related areas.’

We sat in silence. It was time for the Comparison/Innovation set piece.

‘Have you ever heard the saying, “comparison is the thief of joy”, Adam?’

Adam nodded, sipping from a keep cup.

I went on. ‘I think, in our daily lives, that the easiest way to sabotage our own happiness is by comparing ourselves and our achievements with other people’s. But another thing is true, too, I think, when we’re talking about creativity and cognitive performance.’

A short pause, to brew drama and anticipation, then I unleashed the wisdom nugget.

‘I sometimes say, Adam, that “comparison is the thief of innovation”.’

I let this sink in for a moment. I could almost hear his fluffy grey matter soaking up the insight. ‘Of course, market research is important, and we both know you’re far too savvy to take on risks without taking the time to understand the market context. But focusing on rivals and competitors too much is a trap. It’s a way of closing your mind off to possibilities. You start thinking, “Oh, well, X, X and Y are doing things that way, so that must be best practice,” and you close yourself off to other ideas. It stops you from thinking laterally. You won’t disrupt with that kind of thinking.’

I could see he was lapping this right up.

 I continued: ‘And we talked a lot about authenticity last week—how important it is to you personally, and how important it is to your brand, how upsetting it is to you when you go against your own instincts in the way you represent yourself.’

‘That’s true,’ he said. ‘That is so true.’

‘Your best, most creative and lateral thinking happens when your mind is in a free state—a state of play, a state of flow or dream—not in a state of evaluation or calculation and certainly not of distraction.’

‘Mmmmmm mmmmmmm.’ He was actually lowing now.

‘You have to create space for the flow state, schedule time for what we call deep work, turn away from social media—’

‘Turn off the notifications—’

‘Turn them off, exactly—’

‘Turn off my phone—’

‘If you can, yes! And let your mind do its own work, instead of clogging up your imagination with existing structures and systems.’

Sometimes, during certain sessions with certain clients, I’d achieve a perfect rhythm, a perfect exchange of energy between me and the person on the screen. In these precious moments, I’d experience a kind of swelling, a sense of my powers finding their finest expression. I could take pleasure in my mastery, like a musician might take pleasure in her performance, relishing each little flourish, each subtle inflection. I was feeling it now; feeling it with Adam.

He grunted spiritually. ‘I guess I just need to try to feel confident that I have a bunch of points of difference?’ he said. ‘And remember that what I’m trying to do here is make a difference! It’s ironic that I’m trying to teach people about mindfulness practices while getting sidetracked with this stuff!’

We both laughed.

I took a sip of water from my glass, without taking my eyes off the screen. It was 11 am and already very warm in the flat. I could feel beads of sweat start to rise on my forehead. But Adam wasn’t looking at me. He was ogling his own image on the screen and tenderly wanking his ponytail.

‘Success is not a straightforward thing to measure,’ I said, after a beat. ‘Especially in your case. As we’ve discussed, you’re an empath, highly motivated by altruism. Success is a whole different ball game when it’s not totally quantifiable.’

‘Yeah, for me it’s not just about: how many followers do you have? How many likes did you get?’ he said, squeezing the flaxen clump of hair. ‘It’s also about: am I making a difference in people’s lives? How can I use technology to make meditation a daily practice for more men? What kind of world would we be living in if everybody was practising mindfulness?’

We continued in this way for a while, batting gnomic bromides back and forth, then I switched gears.

‘So, next week you’re off to Byron. Would you like to chat a bit more about the work you’re doing up there?’

‘It’s a Reishi Spirit thing, a conference,’ he said, with a long, extravagant yawn. ‘I’m dreading it, actually.’

I sat up straighter. Reishi Spirit Tea was a mushroom-powder extract that Adam had been importing and distributing for the last few years. You were supposed to add the powder to boiling water to realign gut bacteria, regulate appetite, boost energy and treat stress and insomnia. A weight-loss tea that did not call itself a weight-loss tea. A multi-level marketing scheme that called itself community commerce.

‘Why’s that, Adam?’

‘I’m not feeling super aligned with the Reishi people and the culture right now. I’m actually thinking of stepping back from directly promoting Reishi Spirit myself, and just being the licence holder.’

‘Perhaps another trip to Japan to visit the growers could help you remember what inspired you to embrace the Reishi world in the first place,’ I said. In a separate tab, I was scrolling through Adam’s website, looking for his Reishi Spirit content.

‘I don’t think so,’ he said flatly. ‘The mushrooms are grown in a lab in Wisconsin now.’

I double-checked the recorder: still on.

‘Are you still … personally seeing benefits from drinking the tea?’ I asked.

‘Not so much. I mean, it’s expensive even at wholesale, mostly because of the packaging, but there’s really no way to cut costs there because the packaging is key to the product’s success. It doesn’t look like a supplement. It looks more like a nice lotion or fragrance or something, although it actually smells pretty funky’—he giggled, flapping a hand in front of his nose—‘so we’ve been able to position it as a luxury and lifestyle product, rather than a product in the weight-loss or supplement space. So it’s a totally different model of community commerce. But yeah, nah, Jacinta was going through quite a lot of it last year and I had to tell her, “Hey, lay off, babe, that stuff is expensive!” She’s super healthy and takes about ten other supplements, so she doesn’t need it …’

This was excellent stuff.

‘But you’re saying you’re not feeling aligned so much anymore. Why do you think that is, Adam?’

‘Great question, Ruth, great question.’ He frowned, looked down, pinched his nose between his thumb and index finger. It was his thinking pose.

‘I guess,’ he said slowly, ‘the Reishi Spirit thing is just kind of a side hustle and an extra revenue stream, not so much a passion in itself—though it’s definitely a great product. What I really want to focus on is building a whole lifestyle. I’m not just teaching a bunch of yoga poses. It’s also: how do we eat, how do we work, how do we sleep—and like I said last week, I really do want to pursue my passion for night-time nose-breathing.’

After a respectable number of seconds ticked past, I said, ‘Wow, Adam, you’re really starting to find focus and clarity with your goals and with your vision. It’s so exciting to see. I’d love to talk in more detail next time about some of this stuff.’

‘Yeah!’

‘And just a reminder that the next call will be the last in the Evolve Package. If you’d like to renew for another twelve sessions, you’ll need to get in touch soon to let me know, because I’m booking up extremely fast.’

We said our goodbyes, I closed the call, saved the recordings and unknotted my scarf. Then I whizzed towards the bed on my swivel chair, and threw my sweaty scarf in the air. Adam had given me pure gold.
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I decided to celebrate with a coffee in the big house, but when I walked out of the flat I spotted Barb through the sliding glass door, beetling across the living-room tiles behind the Electrolux Silent Performer. I didn’t think I could give her my best chitchat right now, so I turned around and brewed myself a very sweet cup of Lipton at the kitchenette, then knuckled down to some market research of my own.

The morning session with Adam had been a big success. But I couldn’t waste the rest of the day. Finding and recruiting new prospects was hard, often demoralising work. But it had to be done. Your actions become your habits, et cetera.

I never approached anyone who did not have a LinkedIn account, two public social-media accounts and at least a one-minute video of themselves somewhere on the internet.

I looked for people who wanted to be innovators. I looked for frontiersmen, influencers and disrupters, people who spent much of their lives online, people who were looking for attention, and an edge. I looked for people who were stupid—but not too stupid. Many of my clients were themselves aspiring life coaches or fitness coaches.

In their videos and posts, I looked for certain things: image obsession (overly whitened teeth, obvious botox, luxury activewear); disposable income (pricey cars, elaborate juicers, spiritual retreats); naivety (plagiarism, sports analogies); and desperation (weird blazers, wretched smiles).

I checked in on Yvonne’s social channels, then the NeuroCreate Institute channels, looking for new people in the comments who I might be able to sign up. (Around eighty per cent of my clients were people who had engaged with NeuroCreate Institute social content at some point.) I investigated some money-manifestation communities and a couple of new business coaches. I checked in on some alumni from various reality-TV shows. I sifted through websites for co-working spaces and innovation hubs on the Gold Coast.

I recognised a lot of the names I found. I had tried a few of these people already, or discounted them for sensible or superstitious reasons. I never targeted people who lived in Melbourne. I avoided the threateningly young. I steered clear of anyone who seemed like they might have psychology, journalism, IT or medical qualifications. And I avoided people who seemed overly stylish, sarcastic, Scandinavian or manifestly deranged.

I chose to follow a few new people across a bunch of platforms with my dummy accounts. I’d watch them for a while. Then, by phone, I followed up some approaches I’d made the previous week, with dispiriting results: ‘No thanks’; ‘She’s on leave for three weeks’; ‘Perhaps we could meet up first in person?’; ‘Yeah, to be honest, I’m not really into that kind of mumbo jumbo’.

But there was one promising request for more info from a woman in Queensland who had launched a line of goat-milk beauty and lifestyle products.

 I sent her a link to the Ruth Carlisle website. I sent some academic papers, too. (I downloaded these from databases I could access from home with my library card and photoshopped ‘Dr Ruth Carlisle’ over co-author credits for Dr Richard Wang from the NeuroCreate Institute. Then I resaved them as PDFs. Crude work, but necessary.) And I sent her the Ruth Carlisle video introduction: Dr Ruth talking to camera about neuroscience research with Google, NASA, the Vienna Philharmonic and the South Korean Olympic hockey team, spliced with images of grinning bassoonists, Dr Yvonne Paige on the TEDx stage and handsome Koreans in dinner suits.

Thanks for the chat earlier, Rebecca, I wrote. To recap: I’ve been reading about the incredible work you’re doing, and I’m reaching out to see if you’d be interested in participating in a human performance research program I’m running with some former colleagues at Stanford. It’s about the psychological and behavioural profiles of creatives and innovators. I’m approaching just a few select Australians across a range of fields …

Once I recruited people to the research program and built up trust and rapport, I was often able to convert them to a paid coaching package. (The research program was just an online questionnaire about daily habits and routines, followed by two thirty-minute video sessions of qualitative flattery. It was amazing how much people enjoyed describing their daily habits.) But sometimes I approached people with a direct offer of a coaching package and they signed up straight away.

Each client conversion process was labour-intensive and highly customised. With Julian, I’d leaned hard on my affiliation with Dr Yvonne Paige and the NeuroCreate Institute. He’d participated in one of Yvonne’s seminars in the past—that’s how I first found his name. His public profile wasn’t large or impressive, but it was clear from his appearances in industry conferences and podcasts that he was trying to position himself as some kind of thought leader. He’d actually contacted Yvonne directly before deciding to sign up with me. That happened sometimes, and it was fine. Yvonne knew what to do.

Influencer types like Adam wanted to know why Dr Ruth’s LinkedIn was set to private, and why she wasn’t active on social media generally. I’d turned this into my Unique Selling Proposition. Dr Ruth wasn’t like the other coaches. She was a secret weapon—a psychologist, an academic, a doctor—more invested in her rigorous research into human performance than showcasing her luxury lifestyle or spruiking high-priced masterclasses or pyramid-style coaching cults. Dodgy coaches were very much part of the discourse, especially among aspiring dodgy coaches. I’d made it work for me.

What I was hunting for above all was the stench of desperation. The whiff a person gives off when they want—need—to put their trust in someone. I’d smelled it on Adam, I’d smelled it on Julian, and now Rebecca was emitting the musky odour, too. It was good timing. I needed some new client infusions to keep everything ticking along. Things would likely come to a head with Adam pretty soon.
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DAD STARTED WORKING BEHIND THE bar at the Caledonian Hotel when I was in Year Two, taking one or two shifts a week for extra cash. For night shifts, he’d leave me in the care of Jan from the petrol station, who smoked menthols out the kitchen window and drove me crazy with questions I found eccentric.

‘Where does Dad keep tea towels?’

‘Don’t you have pyjamas?’

‘Does Dad have a girlfriend?’

On Saturdays, I’d have to go with Dad to the pub.

The first time he brought me to the Caledonian, it was a foul winter’s day. Diagonal rain stabbed our faces as we ran the few metres from our parked car to the hotel entrance. Inside, he led me through the family dining area to a poky antechamber, which contained a few highchairs, some stacked cardboard boxes and two sour-looking boys.

 The pub had recently been bought by a rich lawyer, Christopher Wicks, who had made a fortune representing moguls in courts across Australia and the United Kingdom. He lived in Melbourne, but he was a son of Elmsleigh—in fact, the son of previous owners of the Caledonian Hotel—and he had big plans to restore and expand the place. The boys were his grandsons, Michael and James.

‘These two rascals’ll look after ya,’ Dad said, winking first at me, then at the other children. Then he wandered off to the front bar.

The boys exchanged an unreadable look. I recognised them from school. Michael was in Year Two, like me. His brother was older. They were both new to Elmsleigh. Their dad, the oldest son of Christopher Wicks, had moved here with his family to oversee the restoration of the hotel.

A play area had been set up for us, with a table and little chairs. There were colouring-in books and crayons, plus a bucket of blocks we were all too old to play with.

I stood by the table with a strange, hollow feeling in my gut: a sensation I experienced then as an unprecedented paralysis and which I now recognise as pure fear. The boys were bigger than me. And they were on their own turf. There was an air of quiet collusion between them—not spiteful, but frosty.

The three of us stood there, not knowing what to make of this mysterious arrangement between our parents. Then a fourth child appeared on the scene: a younger cousin visiting from Melbourne, with a streaming nose and a side ponytail. Her mother plonked her in the room, blew her a kiss, then grabbed her glass of wine off the top of a cardboard box on her way out the door, ignoring her daughter’s protests.

It was another five minutes or so before I could move. I just stood by the blocks and watched as the snotty hell-cousin ran riot.

She hurled herself at the door, screaming for her mother. James shouted, ‘No, Ali!’ and dragged her back to the table. She ran into the family dining area and climbed onto a table. James shouted, ‘No, Ali!’ and hauled her back into the kids’ room. She up-ended the bucket of blocks and took off her shoes and then ran out into the dining room again and pressed all the buttons on the jukebox, so James hid her scrunchie and Michael trotted off to dob to Ali’s mother.

Ali crawled under the table and howled. I didn’t talk to her. I just sat there at the table, moving the crayons across the page.

Before Michael returned, Ali ran out of the room again and all the way to the front bar to find her mother. Minutes later, I watched through the window as she was carted off the premises, thrashing and wailing. Her mother looked irate. They did not return. The boys disappeared into the beer garden and didn’t invite me to go with them.

I sat alone with the crayons and watched families and retirees come and go from the dining area. A long time passed. I wondered if everybody had forgotten I was there.

Eventually, when the dining room was empty of customers, James and Michael came back with a bowl of hot chips and three huge ice-cream sundaes. The three of us sat at the tiny table and ate them together.

‘Sorry about Ali!’ Michael said.

 James rolled his eyes. ‘Yeah, sorry about our cousin.’

I enjoyed the ice-cream and the new friendliness of the Wicks kids. But the hollow feeling in my stomach didn’t leave until Dad finished his shift and we drove home.

As the tension of the day’s stresses left my body, revelations flooded my brain. I realised that the paralysis I’d felt had served me well. I had learned all the rules of the Caledonian Hotel—no running, no shouting, don’t take your shoes off, don’t touch the jukebox, stay in the kids’ room—at no personal cost. I’d learned it by watching Ali make all the mistakes.

I, for once, was the good girl. And I had achieved this by doing absolutely nothing. All I had to do was watch and wait.

I remembered this the next weekend, when I returned to the Caledonian. This time there was a fifth child, Ali’s older brother. Again I watched and waited, still as a concrete block, as transgressions were committed and punishments meted out.

It was another revelation-filled afternoon, and there were more in the Saturdays that followed. I was realising, slowly, that you didn’t just have to follow rules. You had to try to anticipate them.

At my house, there weren’t really any rules. But at other places—at school, at the library, at the Marshall house, at the Caledonian Hotel—there were elaborate systems of written and unwritten rules, flexible and forgotten rules, provisional and permanent rules. There were laws that applied to some people and not to others.

Sometimes rules contradicted each other. Shoes were compulsory at the Caledonian Hotel; shoes were banned on the Marshalls’ trampoline. But you couldn’t wait to be told each unique rule of each unique situation. You’d get in trouble—earn punishments, get your Stanley knife confiscated, attract extra surveillance—that way. You had to watch, look around, pay attention. Did you see other kids around? Were other kids doing the same thing you were doing? If not, perhaps some sort of rule was in effect. You had to stay quiet and still until you figured out the laws that governed each specific situation.

In the end, though these discoveries were very useful and probably fate-changing, I didn’t have much use for the particular laws that governed the Caledonian Hotel. Pretty soon, the Wickses shut the whole place down for renovations. It reopened eight months later, freshly painted, with a new kitchen, new beer garden and function room, and restored stained glass. Next to the staircase hung some minor Sidney Nolans, previously from the private Wicks collection, now for all of Elmsleigh to enjoy.

Christopher Wicks bought the hairdressing salon next door to the pub, too—the place I used to visit for my regular short-back-and-sides. And he bought the charcoal-chicken shop next to the hairdresser. He bulldozed them both and put in a new reception centre with a playground. There was a whole festival—the Elmsleigh Festival (which became the biennial Elmsleigh Jazz, Food and Wine Festival)—to mark the reopening of the hotel.

James and Michael now lived with their parents in the white villa overlooking the Elmsleigh Botanical Park. But you’d often see their dad, Cameron, pouring pints at the front bar himself; he was a man of the people. He kept counter-meal and beer prices reasonable for locals. It was still the go-to pub for most people after football games; still the heart and soul of the town. It was a different story for the restaurant and reception area, though. Those were for Melbourne people.

The change of ownership at the Caledonian was the beginning of change all through Elmsleigh. Over the next few years, other enterprising types set up businesses to capitalise on the increase of visitors to the town. A tasteful homewares shop. A new ski-rental place. The bakery lifted its game and a realestate agent opened an office on the main street.

It was great news for Russ and Jackie at the Commercial Hotel, too. There was now much stronger market differentiation between the two hotels. (They cemented this even further, a few years later, when the Commercial became one of the first hotels in the region to get a pokies licence.)

This new arrangement suited pretty much everyone. There were many people in Elmsleigh who enjoyed the family atmosphere, historic ambience and polished awnings of the reopened Caledonian Hotel. The Marshall family belonged to this category.

But there were people with other priorities in Elmsleigh and the surrounding areas, too. There were those who wanted to drink not one or two, but perhaps seven or eight standard drinks at the pub. And there were those—including Dad—who just wanted to drink unobserved by out-of-towners and the new local gentry. Those people switched to the Commercial and, with the increase in business, Dad was able to pick up a few shifts there.

There is no question that Elmsleigh in general was on the up. People started selling and knocking down houses, Dad included.
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When I was in Year Five, Dad sold up at Cecil Street, and we rented a place on Acacia Street while we ‘planned our next move’.

Our next move was to buy several old motorcycles, which Dad still hadn’t repaired or sold by the time we had to move to Gilbert Street, because the Acacia Street owners decided to sell up as well. There was another plan—to buy a block of land just out of town and build a new house on it—but the Wickses bought up a lot of the area to grow produce and wine. Values went up. Soon that plan was out of reach, too.

These were the kind of financial mistakes that we could have come back from, had we course-corrected early enough. But we moved four times in the next six years. Eventually, in my final year of high school, we moved right out of town and I had to catch the bus to school.

Our old place on Acacia Street is now an immaculate white weatherboard cottage with a rose garden and a sign on the fence that says ‘Bramblebrook’. It can be booked for a two-night minimum. Our first house at 55 Cecil Street, the property my dad once owned, has been replaced by a rustic log-cabin affair with a sheltered outdoor barbecue area and fire pit. It’s called ‘Alpine Creek Lodge’, and the shuttle bus to the snowfields stops right out the front.
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WHAT KIND OF NIBBLES SHOULD I contribute to Barb’s birthday barbecue? A cheese plate? A chip-and-dip platter? These were not questions I’d ever had to consider with previous landlords. Our landlady before Barb had been a mythological figure: an ancient Greek who never once manifested in person the whole time Sam and I lived in her shitty house in Coburg.

Barb, by contrast, walked among us. ‘She looks like an ant,’ Sam said to me—not with disapproval—the first time we met her. I could see what he meant: the dark, pixie-cut hair; the deep-set eyes that hinted at hard instincts.

In her flatmates.com advertisement, she’d described herself as a social, active person, adding, I love movies and a coffee (or a glass of wine!) at night and a chat. Sam and I mostly kept to the granny flat, but every now and then, I forced myself to join Barb for the obligatory evening chat and glass of wine. She drank a very pungent Yarra Valley chardonnay—it tasted like goblin cum—which I tried my best to chug back while she nattered on about whatever was on TV.

‘Are you looking for Prince Charming?’ Barb asked me once, with a giggle, during the ad break for Farmer Wants a Wife.

I sipped my wine, shifted in my seat. ‘Oh … I’m a bit busy for all that.’

‘You’re still young, Christina! You work too hard, you should go out more, love! I could always look after Sam if you wanted to go on some dates. I’m here with the twins half the time anyway.’

‘Thanks, I’ll let you know, Barb.’

All I ever wanted to do at night after a hard day of work/kid was drink Highland Earl whisky ($29.99 from Aldi; not always cheaper than Johnny Walker Red, but it had won several international whisky awards and I preferred it) in bed while streaming my choice of idiotic nonsense on my laptop. Most nights, Sam was asleep by 8 pm and I was asleep by 9.30 pm.

We couldn’t stay out of Barb’s way altogether. I had to give Sam a proper meal in the kitchen in the big house most nights, and I needed to use her laundry. Barb encouraged us to hang out in the big house more, but I suspected she was glad we made ourselves scarce. She mopped the kitchen and living-room floors about three times a week.

This weekend, though, I’d fucked things up badly. Barb was throwing herself a birthday barbecue, and Sam and I would have to be there. ‘Just a small family thing on Sunday,’ Barb had said. ‘The kids and grandkids, a few sausages and chicken wings and salads.’

 Did Barb want us to come? Or did she feel she had to invite us because we lived there? Normally I was so careful to avoid this kind of situation, but she’d caught me off guard with the invite one night after school while I was juggling a buzzing phone and a basket of laundry. My pre-planned excuses had escaped me.

It was too late to back out now.
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Barb had two large posters hanging in the kitchen. One was a canvas print of Breakfast at Tiffany’s-era Audrey Hepburn; the other was a framed quote in mincing cursive attributed to Coco Chanel: A girl should be two things: classy and fabulous. I stood beneath classy and fabulous, chatting with Barb as I assembled the chip-and-dip platter for the barbecue. When the clock struck noon, Barb poured me a very large glass of spunky white wine and shooed me out of the kitchen.

‘You can help with one of the salads later,’ she said. ‘Sit down, love, relax!’

Sam and I had just sat down at the outdoor table when Barb’s son, Ian, and his wife, Jessica, appeared on the deck. They were small and purely boring. Like all Ians, he was bald. Like all Jessicas, she looked like a Jessica. Their twin daughters, aged eight, were standing between them.

‘Hell-o!’ I said, with a cheery wave to the assembled family.

Ian and Jessica greeted us pleasantly. ‘Say hello to Sam and Christina, girls,’ said Jessica.

 Two faint hellos followed.

I nudged Sam.

‘Hi,’ he whispered, blushing.

‘No Larry today?’ I asked. They often brought their smelly terrier with them to Barb’s house.

‘No, no,’ said Jessica sitting down next to me, sighing heavily. She was always like this—grim and lethargic. ‘We’ve left him at home.’

Ian walked with purpose towards the barbecue. The girls sat down at the opposite end of the table and began to whisper.

‘Well,’ I said, ‘that’s a shame! How’s his knee?’

‘Oh, it’s getting there.’ Yawning, Jessica lifted her pelvis off the chair, grabbed her phone from her back pocket and commenced a swipey show-and-tell of Larry’s knee surgery and rehabilitation journey. Larry at the vet, Larry with a shaved leg, Larry in a knee brace, Larry in a wicker basket.

Sam got up and stood behind us, looking over our shoulders at the phone. He pressed my earlobe between his fingers. He’d been doing that since he was a baby.

‘Larry is so cute,’ he said. ‘Can we get a dog?’

‘Oh, I don’t know, Sam!’ I chuckled, with a comradely mums-in-arms expression for Jessica’s benefit. ‘Maybe one day!’

‘It’s a lot of work,’ Jessica said gravely.

Sam glanced hopefully at the twins down the opposite end of the table. We’d lost Jessica to her phone, so I got up from my chair, took Sam by the hand and led him to the girls. I clucked around the three of them until they were integrated, then made my way back to the kitchen and clucked around with Barb, too: refilling an ice tray, squeezing lemon juice on a salad and performing other feminine ministrations with Ajax and sponge.

I made my way out onto the deck again and walked around offering the chip platter to Ian and to the kids. Jessica was still hunched over her phone, all pale and hunted, like a palliative-care runaway.

Technically, it was a perfect day. Twenty-six degrees, no wind, blue sky, negligible clouds. I sat down and closed my eyes for a moment. On warm weekend days like this, Sam and I usually took off to the beach—maybe hitting up some house inspections on the way—and stayed there as long as possible. How had I let this barbecue happen to us? The kids, at least, were having a great time now. I could hear high-spirited yelps and giggles from behind the granny flat.

I slipped off to the flat to check my phones. I opened the realestate.com.au app on my personal phone. A ground-floor orange-brick unit in Reservoir with no windows in the second bedroom. A flimsy new seventh-floor flat with same-level laundry in an apartment complex in Bundoora. And fifty-two square metres of shitbox on Swanston Street in the CBD with a quiet outlook (views of a brick wall). Should I start looking at one-bedroom places and studios? If I found a ground-floor place with high ceilings, could I maybe build an internal wall or mezzanine? I swiped the app away with disgust and put my phone in my pocket.

I switched to my work phone. Goat-milk Rebecca wanted to line up a video session next week. Excellent! Still nothing from Adam since our final call in the Evolve Package a week ago. I’d given him plenty of time. I guessed he’d decided that we’d completed our journey after all.

He was wrong about that.

I could see that Julian was online, so I flicked him a message. I forced myself to check in regularly with clients, even on the weekend. It helped to build trust.

Ruth: Hi there, Julian. How’s your day going?

He started typing back straight away. I waited, watching the blinking ellipsis. He stopped typing and started again, then stopped again. Eventually he sent through a link to a LinkedIn post. I clicked through.

Six photos posted by the Blaze Productions account told the story of an office outing. Several men and women in matching yellow Blaze t-shirts hurled axes at wooden targets at some kind of indoor hatchet-throwing range. One of the photos showed Julian, baring his teeth in a mock-Rambo style, wielding the axe over his head with two hands. Another photo was a close-up of a target, with a print-out of the word KNOWLEDGE pinned to the bullseye by an axe. Another picture showed the same set-up, this time with the word CREATIVITY. There was a big group photo, too: a bunch of people sitting around a table, all craning to get their heads in the shot. Julian’s caption read: Hurling axes, hitting bullseyes and drinking beers with the Blaze dream team.

Ruth: Looks like a lot of fun

Julian: Maybe one of my crazier ideas. A dangerous thing for a boss to do with his staff perhaps but nobody was injured. We’ve been talking a lot about trust together so …

Ruth: So you decided to take it to the extreme!

Julian: Well actually it is a very safe environment, there are a lot of rules, it is well set up for corporates

Ruth: Okay

There was a long pause. Julian had weird online etiquette, taking ages to type messages and often disappearing abruptly mid-chat.

Ruth: Team-building activities can be so effective in giving people shared experiences and—yes!—building connections and trust. It’s all about an ongoing commitment to culture.

Julian: Everyone seemed to really engage, especially the younger guys.

Ruth: That’s fantastic.

Julian: Even Astrid had a go

Ruth: That’s great to hear

Julian: I’m wondering if you would consider doing some one-on-one coaching sessions with some of the other key players at Blaze?

Had he forgotten that he’d already asked me this? Or was this another little power struggle he had to win, to prove to himself that he was important?

Julian: I’m just convinced that through changing some of our habits, especially across the leadership team, we could really take Blaze to the next level. Maybe an outside voice can reset presbyterians.

Julian: presbyterians

Julian: *perspectives

I looked again at the group photo. The Blaze team all seemed pretty standard-issue corporate cut-outs. Which one was Astrid?

 I heard chatter and clinking glasses outside. In a minute, I’d have to go back out there and try to make conversation again.

I scrolled back through Julian’s messages. Was I locked into enfeebling paradigms that were impeding my success? Was I hamstrung by my own rules? Were my precautions against word-of-mouth business overly paranoid? Was I losing productivity by looking for new prospects when I could be upscaling much faster through word-of-mouth jobs?

Looking back, I wonder if Barb’s pre-lunch chardonnay had affected my judgement that afternoon, because after one deep breath, with barely a full ten seconds of blurry reasoning, I typed a message to Julian.

Ruth: Actually, I’ve just completed a large research project and might have space in my schedule for one more client.

Julian: I think Astrid would really benefit from some coaching …
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The lunch itself was fine. It was fine. The sausages were salty, the caesar salad was eggy. Many topics were canvassed at the outdoor entertainment table: natural stone flooring, Jetstar carry-on baggage allocations, non-seasonal allergies.

Things livened up a bit when Ian told some stories about his work. He was a paramedic.

‘On Wednesday night a drunk bloke on Lonsdale Street tried to piss on me,’ he said. ‘Truly it was—’ He kissed his fingers Italian chef-style. Everyone laughed.

 ‘And how’s your work going, Christina?’ Jessica asked, motioning across the table for Ian to pass the caesar salad.

‘Oh, you know, not too bad,’ I said. I told people I did digital stuff—design, copywriting, social. This was usually enough to stop further questions about my working life. And it happened to be partly true. I still did freelance jobs now and then for my old agency to keep money coming in. It was usually enough to stop further questions. ‘Couple of nightmare clients, but nobody who urinated on me.’ Everybody laughed again.

‘Don’t you find it hard, working from home?’ Ian asked, with his mouth full. ‘I don’t think I could do it.’

How was I supposed to answer that? Yeah, I found it hard working from home; I found it hard living from home. Did he choose to share a kitchen with his mother?

‘A friend of mine is freelance, too,’ Jessica said. ‘She’s in web design. She rents a desk in a co-working space near the city.’

‘I’d love to do that one day,’ I said. ‘I’m just trying to save a bit of money right now.’

Everyone nodded. Knives and forks clinked against plates. Sam was spreading insane quantities of tomato sauce on his sausage, getting drops all over his t-shirt. I longed to be alone.

Talk turned to Barb’s house and some upcoming repair work on the gutters and the sliding doors.

‘Mum, you should probably do a few other things around here while you’re getting that stuff done,’ Ian said. ‘Give the flat a fresh paint. Maybe treat the deck and replace some of the boards.’

 Barb sniffed, swept her hand twice through her hair. ‘Well,’ she said, ‘I’ll do the gutters and the door first, I think. Those are the priorities now.’

The topic made me jumpy, too. I didn’t want any work happening around the place that might cause disruptions or displacement.

‘We can help with painting,’ said one of the twins. ‘We’ve got leftover paint from the extension.’

Barb’s smile was brisk. ‘Yes, well, maybe down the track we could do a bit of a working bee.’

There was silence for a moment.

‘Okay,’ said Ian, a grin forming on his face. ‘But if there’s going to be any kind of working bee, Mum’s not allowed to pick the music!’

Mirth was about to break out across the table. I could sense it.

In ecstatic unison, the twins shouted, ‘Crocodile Rock!’

Ian hooted. The twins squealed. Jessica rattled her underbite. Barb howled and put her hands to her cheeks. This was clearly some kind of family in-joke; I couldn’t guess why ‘Crocodile Rock’ was so funny.

I glanced over at Sam. He was looking down at the table, confused, trying to laugh along, too.

When he sensed my gaze, he stopped laughing and turned away from me, hiding his face.

I leaned over, pulled him towards me and kissed the top of his head. Quietly, we got up from the table, cleared the plates and brought them into the kitchen.
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I put Sam to bed early that night. He was exhausted from tearing around the backyard all day with the girls.

‘Goodnight, mate,’ I said, kissing first his nose, then his head, taking a moment to inhale his heavenly scalp scent. ‘Did you have a fun day?’

‘Yeah,’ he yawned. ‘Playing with the twins and what-not.’

What-not. That was a new one. ‘Okay, well, sweet dreams and what-not.’ I kissed his forehead.

He rolled over and was out straight away.

I took a steamy, fortifying shower, washed my hair and changed into my pyjamas. I poured myself the richly deserved ration of Highland Earl, topped up with a short blast of water from the bathroom tap, and sat cross-legged on my bed, towel-turban on head. I opened my laptop. I’d done most of the work the night before, so now I just needed the finishing touch: a link to one of Adam’s Reishi Spirit social posts.

It only took me a second to find my favourite video of Adam and Jacinta spruiking Reishi Spirit. There they were: sitting up in bed, half naked, under a turmeric-coloured bedspread. First, Adam spooned brown powder from the Reishi Spirit bottle into Jacinta’s cup. Then they kissed. Then they both sipped erotically from their mugs of steaming fungus juice. The caption read: Lovers love Reishi. Posted three weeks ago.

I dropped the link in the email I’d composed the night before.


Hello Adam,

I’ve recorded some of our recent conversations.

largerladies.mp3

Tamarashorts.mp3

Reishispirit.mp3

And I have high-resolution video recordings, too. I don’t think it’d be great for business if people knew you were trying to keep the ‘larger ladies’ off camera when filming studio promo content. I wonder how Tamara would feel about your comments on her grey yoga shorts?

Mostly I think your tribe would be pretty disappointed in your comments about Wisconsin-grown Reishi Spirit Tea. You and Jacinta don’t even drink the stuff, though you posted this video just a couple of weeks ago.

I need you to send me $10,000, otherwise I’ll send the recordings to Sunrise producers and Daily Mail journalists and leak it all to @ozteateatea. I’ll email links to your studio managers, including Tamara.

Send the money to my PayBe account. Don’t contact me again. Pay me by 31 March.

Ruth




I hit send.
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I READ CONSTANTLY AS A kid, but not because of an insatiable thirst for knowledge. It was because of crushing boredom. I preferred TV to books, but we only had one TV, and Dad was always watching it. He was an omnivorous viewer, as happy to settle in for a long afternoon of Supermarket Sweep and The Phil Donahue Show as for five or six consecutive hours of test-match cricket. He was fully committed to sports and fishing programs all weekend, most weekends.

The boredom I experienced during my childhood was acute, bordering on hallucinogenic. I dreaded school holidays. One January was so bad I spent a whole afternoon focused on a patch of carpet in my bedroom, separating out eighteen different nylon strands and naming them after players in the 1996 Hawthorn Football Club team.

Books and bike-riding were my two sources of relief. The Elmsleigh Community Library received an upgrade not long after the Caledonian Hotel revamp. Carmel Wicks, wife of Christopher Wicks, was passionate about children’s literacy, and she campaigned to have the library building extended and repainted. There was a cosy and colourful area for kids, with new beanbags, as well as a separate section for teens.

I suppose I have a lot to thank her for. She doubled the library’s stock of children’s books, and I probably read all of them at least twice. I churned through the entire kids section, savouring the great books—the bizarre Paul Jennings, the hilarious Roald Dahls, the inspiring Ann M. Martins, the bewildering Judy Blumes (what were hives and cooties and periods?)—and stuffing the boring ones into my eyeballs in a compulsive, robot-like way.

It was at this time that I also became a book collector, thanks to a long-running feud between the Salvation Army, the Country Women’s Association and Alan. There were no major second-hand book dealers in the area at that time, and nobody had the shelf space or resources to deal with the quantity of pre-loved books people kept offloading. The Country Women’s Association and the Salvation Army kept dumping books at each others’ headquarters. And both kept dumping them at the library.

Alan ended up giving a lot of them to me. I acquired a good number of Reader’s Digest editions and Boy’s Own Annuals, Cole’s Funny Picture Books and Enid Blytons. I had already read The Faraway Tree, the Famous Five and the Secret Seven at the library, but now I had my own copies, and even duplicates. Alan would fill cardboard boxes with books and send me home with them. ‘There’re a couple of rippers in this lot!’ he’d say.

I was especially drawn to Blyton’s pointy-eared half brownie, half human Mr Pink-Whistle, who went around putting wrong things right. I read and re-read Mr Pink-Whistle’s Party, Mr Pink-Whistle Interferes and The Adventures of Mr Pink-Whistle many times. I liked the stories about Mr Pink-Whistle rewarding well-behaved children with private parties. But, even more, I loved the drama of Mr Pink-Whistle in vigilante mode, and his terrifying schemes for punishing naughty children. My favourite story was the one where Mr Pink-Whistle made himself invisible and chased two bad children into a cinema. Once the lights were out, Mr Pink-Whistle sat in the back of the theatre and began broadcasting the children’s bad deeds in a booming, menacing voice: ‘Who tells untruths to their parents? … Who lies in wait for little girls and breaks their dolls? Who throws stones at dogs and cats? WHO, WHO, WHO?’

This material dovetailed in thought-provoking ways with the discoveries I had made about rules and transgressions, first after punching Jane Marshall and later at the Caledonian Hotel. I had already begun applying the lessons I had learned, with good results. I had become watchful and still—at school, in the revamped library and in all public places. Gradually, I was shrugging off my reputation. I was becoming a good girl.

My bedroom window at Cecil Street looked out onto the street, and one winter morning I woke up to see our neighbour Ilma clearing snow off our footpath. Snow hardly ever fell in Elmsleigh, and on the rare occasions it did, it was a source of tension between my dad and the neighbours. Dad never bothered to remove the snow from the footpaths. ‘Snow melts,’ he said, and this seemed both true and reasonable.

Ilma was about a hundred and fifty years old, and it was really something to see her out there, a shrunken little raisin toiling away in an overcoat. I watched her with interest through my window, and I was watching at the exact moment when Ilma thrust the blade of her shovel into her own foot. She dropped the shovel and fell over in the snow. I heard a soft wail.

From behind the curtain, I contemplated the scene. I knew from Mr Pink-Whistle that good children helped old ladies cross the street, but I was unclear on whether good children helped old ladies who were lying in the snow with self-inflicted injuries. Nobody had asked her to shovel the snow. I knew that Dad avoided Ilma, and I wondered if that was because Ilma was hostile towards us.

I was unclear, too, on whether it was necessary to be a good girl when nobody was watching. Mr Pink-Whistle punished children for bad deeds they committed in secret, but Mr Pink-Whistle usually only knew about those deeds because he could make himself invisible.

Ilma wailed again, and I decided that going outside was probably the correct thing to do. I walked into the living room and saw Dad lying asleep on the couch under a rug. I put on my boots and went outside. It was windy as well as freezing. My nose ached the moment it made contact with the air. I wasn’t wearing a jacket.

 I walked down the stairs and knelt by Ilma. She rolled to her front and grasped my hands as she lurched onto her knees, burying her face in my neck. Her skin was soft and she smelled of talcum powder. I held her as she staggered onto her feet, grunting.

Ilma murmured something to me as we walked up the footpath towards her house, but with the wind and her thick accent (Italian? Greek? Spanish? We never spoke to her, or about her) I couldn’t quite make out what she was saying. Was it, ‘Good girl, good girl’ or ‘Poor girl, poor girl’?
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CERTAIN CLIENTS HAD COMPLAINED TO me in the past about the anxiety they felt when quoting for jobs. If you underquote, you shoot yourself in the foot. If you quote too much, you could price yourself out of a job completely.

On this matter, I felt their pain. Was $10,000 the right amount for Adam? It was a headfuck trying to strike the right balance with this stuff. What sum could the client afford to pay more or less discreetly? What was the value of their embarrassment? It had to be enough to make it worth my time, but not so much that it risked them going to the authorities.

This was the largest sum I’d ever tried to shake from anybody. The moment I hit send on the email to Adam, a gruesome rush of heat spread through my body. My heart thumped in my ear. I felt a terrible slackening through my guts. I believed I might shit myself.

 In the bathroom, I splashed water on my face and poured another, larger, glass of Highland Earl, downing it in two quick gulps. I wanted to take the email back, ask for $7000 instead, or maybe just $5000.

Back in my bedroom, I sat on the floor among the tangle of chargers and cables, and practised four-square breathing: inhaling, holding my breath, exhaling and holding my breath again—each for four beats.

‘Meeemeeemeemeemee,’ I murmured on the exhale. ‘Mooomooomoomoomoo.’

I took myself, again, through the calculations. Adam could easily pay the $10,000. If the recordings got out, they would hurt his celebrity aspirations, destroy his prized authenticity and do damage to the studio business. The ‘larger ladies’ wouldn’t be coming back to his studio. And Tamara might leave and take a bunch of students with her.

I knew Adam owned at least two properties and collected rent on one of them; I knew he had a boat; I knew he had a new Tesla. I knew he was planning a six-week trip around the US and Canada in August. My rational mind said $10,000 wasn’t too much for him.

But what if—like many seemingly rich people—he was in deep, deep debt? What if he decided to fight back? I brought my hands to my head, tugged my hair at the roots. Sickening images scoured my mind’s eye. The police at Barb’s door. Handcuffs. Court. Jail. Sam, screaming.

It was always like this. I was calm, methodical and rational until the moment I clicked send.

 I tried to take control. I tried mindfully, but uncritically, observing my own emotions, reminding myself that in the present moment, I was safe and well. I recommended this technique to clients all the time. ‘Tell yourself that thoughts are transient,’ I’d say. ‘This panic will pass.’ The technique was useful for freak-outs on the eve of product launches, but was not suited to actual high-stakes situations.

I tried the ‘focus object’ method. I opened my eyes and walked into Sam’s room. I focused on an object at hand—Sam’s Term One reading certificate, which was Blu-Tacked to the wall—and I registered every detail about it. I observed that the certificate was purple. I paid attention to the cartoon lion, the colourful balloons in the upper right-hand corner, the words ‘Sam Swales’ handwritten in blue biro. What the fuck was I doing? How could I have exposed Sam to this insane risk?

I resumed my four-square breathing. The technique was practised by Navy SEALs as a way of controlling adrenaline overloads triggered by fight-or-f light scenarios. Inhale one … two … three … four. Hold breath. Exhale one … two … three … four. ‘Getting your breathing under control is the first priority in a stressful situation,’ I told clients. This, at least, seemed to apply to me, too. Slowly, I began to regain a measure of control.

I stood up, took my laptop off my bed and sat down again at my desk. I opened the spreadsheet called A883. (Codes and cryptic file names embarrassed me. I used random letter-digit combinations and committed them to memory.) A883 was a spreadsheet showing the payments of previous clients. Their names weren’t listed in the document, but the amount they’d paid me and the dates they’d paid were all there.

I scanned the list and this soothed me. Every client I’d ever got to this point with had paid up without a fight.

Owen Stanthorpe (B721) was my first. He’d cried to me on the day of his competitor’s product launch. I also had a full two-minute edit of him obsessing about his young web developer: wondering where he bought his sneakers, if he had a girlfriend, if he went to the gym, if he ate a lot of protein, what his tattoos signified. Owen wasn’t a bad guy, really, and it was sad that his wife had renal failure. These days I felt kind of sentimental about him.

After Owen, there was Greg (fake master’s degree), Grant (called his co-director a ‘millennial fucktard’), Beth (anti-vax), Nathalie (trolling competitors with fake social accounts), Jordan (illegal duck-shooting), Rafi (sabotaging competitors with Google reviews), Mattias (demented erotic yearnings), Petra (sold client data to a political candidate) and Juan (various batshit conspiracies).

The model was simple. The Evolve Package lasted for twelve weeks. Within that period I aimed to secure either a recording of exploitable information from the client, or a renewal for another package. I preferred leverage. It was quicker and cleaner. Get in; get out.

In a lot of cases, I failed to achieve either of my goals. These were the too-smarts, the non-renewers, the squeaky-cleans. The ones who never came close and the ones who wriggled away. Nathalie and Juan were the two I’d lost the most sleep over. They’d been the most unhinged and the most unpredictable. But each collection day had brought its own turmoil and torment.

I’d started off shaking $5000 from each client and had slowly worked up to $7000, then $9000. Adam, at $10,000, was another step up. With the first two clients, I’d cleared my debts. When the money from Adam came through, I’d have $62,000 in savings.

I closed my laptop and sat on the floor. Could I just call it a day once I was done with Adam, get a real job, get our own place to rent? I was out of debt now; we had a large savings buffer. It would be bliss to live alone—just me and Sam, somewhere free of surveillance and of spermy chardonnay. Somewhere with a normal-size fridge, our own oven and stove, our own kitchen table.

No. I had come this far. Now was not the time to lower my sights. Rent money was dead money. And it didn’t matter where you moved: within six months, the landlord would raise the rent, or they’d sell to a new owner, who would install their own adult children, and you’d be out on your arse again. What was the point?

Nope. Bliss would be my own bricks and mortar. Bliss would be freedom from landlords forever. Bliss would be a ‘Sold’ sign and certificate of title with my name on it. This place, this flat, where I could actually save money, would be our last stop on the rental train—unless Barb made us move out.

It was better to stay the course. Get in, collect, get out. Then disappear. I’d changed identities three times since I’d started out. The websites for Dr Anna Schuster and Dr Elizabeth Clune no longer existed. Dr Ruth Carlisle would die soon, too, once I figured out a way to get some money out of Julian and the others.

What Sam and I needed—what we deserved—was a place that was ours, all ours, and where nobody could ever move us. Once I owned it, I would stay there—riveted—until I chose to move or until the day I died. If we moved out of Barb’s place now, it would just take longer to get there. And it might be hard to find a good rental in the Kingsbury area, anyway. I didn’t want to uproot Sam from school.

The plan was to save enough for a large deposit, then try to get a real job and a mortgage—achievable with a single salary. A place in a decent or semi-decent suburb, not too far from the city, or even in the city itself. I already had enough savings for a house-and-land deposit. The fact of this thrilled me, had me checking my balance two or three times a day, though a display-home transplant near an artificial lake sixty kilometres from the city was definitely not part of my plan.

My plan was for a unit, apartment or townhouse in the cosmopolitan northern suburbs. An established property, with good neighbours, near decent schools, not too far from Paul. The CBD and Docklands were options, too. There were still some cheap apartments there, and it was perfect for public transport to selective and private schools if Sam got a scholarship. Maybe I could keep at this long enough to purchase a whole place outright in cash, then get out of the game, then restart my life. It could be done. No compromising. No settling. No moving to some shit country town, far away from Paul, where property was cheap but everybody knew your business.

It was possible. There was so much cash around. There were cranes in the sky, people wandered around everywhere with shopping bags. They spent cash on goat’s cheese and retinoids and Cirque de Soleil. They spent it on travel compression bags and Reishi Spirit Tea and cosmetic dentistry and biodegradable kitty litter and holidays in Port Douglas. Ian and Jessica had just spent over $1000 upgrading their speaker system. Adam had impulse-purchased a boat, for fuck’s sake.

Money was everywhere. It was all over the place. It was just a matter of harvesting pockets of spare cash from people who didn’t really need it, and transferring it to me and Sam, who really did. I just had to hold my nerve.
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At 10 pm the email came through from Adam.

What the fuck Ruth is this some kind of joke? Is this some kind of exercise or something?

I made myself reply straight away.

It is an exercise in blackmail. Don’t contact me again.

I ran to the bathroom and vomited. Birthday cake, barbecued chops and bile. Highland Earl and hard-boiled eggs.




9

THE LESS SAID ABOUT HIGH school the better. It was like this: Passion Pop, isosceles triangles, Clearasil, Summer of the Seventeenth Doll, Libra Fleur, bucket bongs, VB, the Victorian river system, MSN Messenger, netball on Saturdays. I lost my virginity in Year Eleven, in a sombre little transaction with Andrew Lee in someone else’s car. We got the job done in a grim and businesslike spirit; two humping robots powered by Southern Comfort.

The school itself was decent—its good reputation predated the Wicks era—and the Rotary Club offered a couple of generous scholarships each year to help out uni students studying in the city. Alan told me about the scholarships when I was in Year Nine, and, after that, I applied myself seriously to my subjects, rote-learning long tracts of information about homeostasis and perfecting model essays about J.D. Salinger. I knew that it would be impossible to get out of Elmsleigh without financial help.

But I was just as dedicated to the goal of blending in. I was never going to be popular—I was too cautious, too calculated, incapable of spontaneity and fun—but I could try to pass under the radar, and that’s where most of my energy was directed. On this measure, I excelled, though the effort exhausted me.

Mostly I remember the atmosphere—the personal micro-climate of gloom and lethargy. I worked two shifts a week at the supermarket, scanning the white bread and toilet paper of my neighbours through the checkout. My existence was a slog. My dad was not a good dad, but even that was a banal thing. There were no real theatrics. We got along okay. There were kids around with less money, worse parents.

By the time I was in high school, Dad was on a retainer at the Commercial Hotel, doing maintenance around the pub. It had become the centre of both his work and social life. He picked up other work, and other investment opportunities, just by hanging around there all the time. It was how he heard about people’s broken fences and renovation plans. It was how he learned about people’s loss-making business schemes: their bright ideas to install soap dispensers in public places that already had soap dispensers, or to sell nut-dispensing machines to venues that already sold nuts in foil-sealed packets.

When I started high school, Dad gave me my own key to our house so I could let myself in after school. But one afternoon, when I was in Year Eight or Nine, I forgot my key and had to stop by the Commercial on my way home to borrow Dad’s.

These days, looking back, there’s a part of me that holds a grudging respect for the Commercial Hotel and its clientele—at least in theory. The Commercial represented a counterpoint to the growing Wicks influence in the town. But it was a weak and unsavoury counterpoint and, back then, I really hated going there. It was a mixed crowd. The guys from the timber yard and their wives drank there. Mr Browning, the Elmsleigh High School art teacher, was always at the Commercial and so was the local optometrist, who was notorious for buying up all the second-hand glasses from local op shops. There were a couple of hard-living nurses who’d drive over especially from the old folks’ home in Mansfield, too. These were people who didn’t necessarily appreciate local patriarchs or dress codes or family-friendly beer gardens.

I parked my bike in the carpark, walked in through the side door and stood quietly by the jukebox, scanning the scene for Dad. At the Commercial, you had to play things carefully. All kids of Commercial drinkers knew this. On a busy afternoon, the front bar was a shitshow of smoke and saliva and beards and BO and broken capillaries. You didn’t want to get into the thick of it. If you were noticed, you were in for hair ruffles, slurry speeches, dumb jokes you didn’t understand. So it was necessary to work quickly and decisively, ascertaining the precise coordinates of your dad’s bar position, then approaching him from an oblique angle at speed.

 But on this day, I waited by the jukebox a second too long. I was noticed by Mitch, waddling back from the men’s.

‘Who’s this buxom blonde?’ he shouted over his shoulder. ‘And what did you do with little Chrissy?’

There were half a dozen men in the front bar, hunched over their drinks or silently watching the screens. They all swivelled their heads around to look at me—then laughed.

Buxom. I didn’t know the word. I knew ‘bucks’ night’. I knew ‘Buckley’s chance’. I knew ‘bucked teeth’. I just stood there. What was he talking about?

‘We should call you Pammy!’ Mitch shrieked. ‘Not Chrissy, Pammy!’

‘Mate,’ Grant said. But he was laughing, too.

Behind the bar, pouring a pint, Jackie smirked.

Pammy? Pamela. Pamela Anderson. From Baywatch. Now I understood. I’d never even seen an episode of Baywatch. I only knew Pamela Anderson’s name as a punchline for jokes about big tits. My face flushed; my heart started pounding. I swung my schoolbag in front of my chest and showed obsessive interest in finding a deeply buried item in the side pocket, and hurried around to the other side of the bar to find Dad.

And there he was. Sitting next to the flat-headed guy from the petrol station, talking into his drink.

‘She’s a tough one,’ he was saying, but nobody could hear him. ‘She’s a tough one, she’s a tough one.’
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 That year, we ended up moving into Mitch’s house for six weeks. The owner of the place on Gilbert Street raised the rent and Dad and I were ‘between houses’ for half of Term Three.

Mitch’s place was tidier than ours, but he had a nasty German shepherd who left hair over every surface. In the living room there were three framed photos of Mitch mooning the camera at famous tourist attractions: Sydney Harbour Bridge, the Eiffel Tower, some cathedral somewhere. The rubbish bin in the kitchen overflowed with wet cans of dog food, cartons of strawberry milk, human hair and eggshells. The toilet: clean when we arrived and an apocalyptic scene every day after that.

I slept in the spare room, among Mitch’s fishing equipment, and Dad slept on the couch in the living room. It was convenient, in a way. He stayed up most nights drinking late with Mitch. He’d always sleep in late in the mornings.

‘Better let your old man sleep in,’ Mitch would whisper in the mornings, breathing diabolical fumes (stale beer, strawberry milk, Weet-Bix, possibly dog food) in my face.

The first time Mitch walked in on me in the shower, it might have been a genuine accident. It was before school, and I guess he wasn’t used to living with people, so he just barged right in. As he opened the door, I let out a noise of distress—somewhere between a gasp and a whimper—then a second, louder cry, as I dropped a bottle of shampoo on my foot in the effort to cover my body with my arms. Mitch’s face registered shock at first, then alarm. He backed out right away, muttering, ‘Sorry, mate. Sorry.’

 And I guess it’s possible that it was an accident the second time, though he was much calmer that day, his beady eyes meeting mine for one terrible instant, before melting into his doughy face-flesh. He looked down, shook his chins at the tiles, and stepped out of the room backwards. ‘Sorry, Chrissy.’ He’d left for work by the time I got out.

There wasn’t going to be a third time. I began to plan and time my showering very carefully. A few times, I rode to school past the football oval and showered in the change rooms. I knew where the key was kept because I’d tagged along with Dad when he’d repainted the clubrooms during the school holidays a few years earlier.

One morning before school, after completing my unhappy ablutions in the footy club change rooms, I ran into Michael Wicks. We’d had little to do with each other since that brief period in Year Two when my dad had worked at the Caledonian, but Michael had grown into a nice boy—small and reserved with tidy brown hair. Like me, he was neither popular nor unpopular. You’d never guess that his grandfather owned the Caledonian Hotel, half the rest of the town and its surrounding farmland.

He was there with his tennis racquet, practising volleys against the toilet block. He saw me walking out of the toilets in my school uniform with wet hair, stuffing a towel into my schoolbag. We were startled to see each other. He caught the ball with one hand when he saw me. ‘Hi,’ he said.

There was something in his expression—confusion at first, and then, unbearably, compassion—that could have split me open.

 I ran away from him, across the oval, and ended up running the whole way to school.
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On the day we moved out of Mitch’s place, I found a pair of nail clippers and $50 in one of his drawers. I stole the money and used the nail clippers to cut the line on several of his fishing rods.

It was a Pink-Whistlish act of secret justice, though, of course, I was way past my Pink-Whistle phase by then. One of the first things I always did, whenever we moved house, was let Alan at the library know my new address. He didn’t select books for me anymore. He just gave me as many as I’d take. If someone dumped a crate of books outside the library, he’d drive past our house and dump the crate outside our door, sometimes with a little note: Hope you find some gems! See you soon. Alan.

Most of these books came from bereaved families, so my reading as a teenager was directed by the tastes of local dead people. There were treasures in those bags and boxes, but for every Joy of Sex by Alex Comfort, there were thirty bibles, obsolete natural-history textbooks and commissioned histories of Catholic hospitals. Alan couldn’t bear to throw away books; I was not so sentimental. If I heard the rubbish truck approaching, I’d run outside and dump the duds into our bin or the one next door.

I made major discoveries in Alan’s crates; discoveries that set me off in all sorts of absorbing and divergent directions. There was my Mitford sister phase and my Muriel Spark phase. The hard-boiled detective phase, kicked off by The Big Sleep, was especially intense, leading me onto the turf of the thrillingly sinister Patricia Highsmith. My Danielle Steel phase was an entree into the smutty and glamorous worlds of Jilly Cooper and Judith Krantz.

I first discovered Dale Carnegie in the house on Adelaide Street, so I must have been in Year Nine or Ten. I’d up-ended a new garbage bag of Alan’s cast-offs onto the floor of my bedroom. It was not a promising haul—mostly boring war books, if I remember correctly—but the Carnegie classic stood out with its blue-and-gold dust jacket, its author in suit, tie and spectacles, and its title in block capital letters. That title, How to Win Friends & Influence People, was instantly arresting. (Now over 15,000,000, copies sold, the cover assured me.) I turned the pages.

I was encouraged at first. The rules we have set down here are not mere theories or guesswork, Carnegie promised in his introduction. They work like magic.

Refer to these pages often, he went on. Regard this as a working handbook on human relations; and whenever you are confronted with some specific problem … hesitate about doing the natural thing, the impulsive thing. This is usually wrong.

I’d never read a book like this before. A book where the author spoke to me, the reader, directly! And what he was saying was true! I had figured it out myself in Year Two. My natural instincts and inclinations were absolutely wrong. I had learned to be suspicious of them, to second-guess myself, to observe and copy the behaviour of other people. This had worked well for me. It had stopped me getting into trouble. But had it brought me social success in Elmsleigh? No. Would blending in here get me out of here? No again.

I went to the kitchen and prepared myself a piping cup of Maggi chicken noodles, then brought it to my room and sat back on the carpet. Leaning against my bed, I picked up the book and eagerly turned the pages. In each chapter, Carnegie outlined a key principle on how to get people to like you.

Give honest and sincere appreciation … Become genuinely interested in other people … Smile … Remember that a person’s name is to that person the sweetest and most important sound in any language … Be a good listener. Encourage others to talk about themselves … Let the other person do a great deal of the talking … Make the other person feel important—and do it sincerely.

It didn’t take long, maybe five minutes, for my excitement to wane. As I read on, it became clear that the book was not going to be the silver bullet I’d hoped for. There was no way these tips would work for me in the short term. I knew that if I went around school beaming and flattering and chanting people’s names, everyone would call me ‘weird’ and ‘a massive try-hard’ and probably much worse. Everyone knew that trying too hard, caring too much, was a very bad thing. Even Christopher Wicks—the most successful person I knew of—seemed to understand this principle. I saw him around town sometimes. He just called everyone ‘mate’, and he hardly ever smiled.

 But I kept on reading How to Win Friends all afternoon anyway. And I dipped in and out of the book often in the months that followed. Like Raymond Chandler’s Philip Marlowe books, it described a distant, foreign world that appealed to me—though the appeal of Chandler’s wise-cracking, whisky-drinking private eye was of a different kind. Carnegie’s was an orderly world—a world of offices and department stores and daylight board meetings. It was a place full of energy and optimism, of earnest effort and sincere striving. But Carnegie, like Marlowe, could often see through people. He could get them to do what he wanted.

Plus, there was something about the overall vibe of How to Win Friends that rang true, even if I couldn’t apply most of the directives to my own life just yet. The book spoke frankly about the essential self-involvement of most people. This was something I had noticed myself.

People are not interested in you, Carnegie explained. They are not interested in me. They are interested in themselves—morning, noon and after dinner.

This got me thinking about Dad. He was popular. People from the Commercial would often bail me up around town. ‘Your old man,’ they’d say. ‘Couldn’t get a nicer bloke.’ This was mostly, I think, because he was both big and gentle. ‘Couldn’t kill a chook,’ Mitch had told me about a thousand times. I had no idea then where this piece of mythology originated and I still don’t.

But maybe the other reason for his popularity was that he hardly ever talked about himself. He just sat at the Commercial front bar letting every drunk fuck in town chew his ear off. If he had to say something, he’d ask the person a question about themselves, and get them going again. I wondered if he did this consciously or if it was just another dimension of his complex laziness. It was impossible to imagine discussing it.

If I liked an author, I’d go to the library and borrow more of their books, or ask Alan to order them in for me. He was generally respectful of my requests, but when I asked him for more Dale Carnegie books he tried to steer me instead to the Harry Potters.

‘No thank you,’ I said, a little insulted. I’d also just finished reading Riders by Jilly Cooper, with sentences like, Wondering if she had a ginger bush, he felt the stirrings of lust. I was way past schoolboy wizards.

Without batting an eyelid, Alan ordered me The Quick and Easy Way to Effective Speaking, as well as another, more recent book in the same genre: The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People.

By this point, I’d stopped doing any actual reading at the library. I went there only to order books, borrow books and use the internet. The library was where I could keep up my meagre MSN Messenger presence, chatting with whoever from school would chat with me, or random North Americans. For some reason I returned again and again to a chatroom dominated by New Jersey office workers. I’d spend twenty minutes chewing the fat with Newark-based dental hygienists and travel agents from Trenton and bored suburban ‘homemakers’. These snatches of chatroom time were the highlight of my high-school life.

 Every chat began with the same question: a/s/l? I kept my identity close to who I really wanted to be: a young woman with a glamorous job in a major metropolitan centre. Sometimes I’d be 19/f/Sydney. Sometimes I’d be 21/f/Melbourne. Once or twice I experimented with 28/f/London, but I quickly ran into trouble with the time difference—and with not knowing a single thing about London. Who cared? It was an exhilarating, low-stakes game. I could come back the next day with a new username and start afresh.

It was true, as Dale Carnegie said, that people loved to chat about themselves. It was true that people loved you when you were talking in terms of the other person’s interests. (I talked to one guy for forty-five minutes about a Bruce Springsteen concert he’d attended in Indianapolis in 1992.) But often it was also boring. I’d sit through chats about people’s housework routines and annoying bosses and TV shows that didn’t air in Australia and wait for the chance to redirect the conversation to myself.

Mostly, if we were going to chat about me, the chatroom people wanted to know what I was wearing. They were keen to describe what they were wearing, too (rock hard in my boxer shorts, et cetera) but I had to shut down this kind of chat. The computers at the library were horribly exposed.

Fortunately, there were usually a few bored insomniacs who’d chat with just about anybody about just about anything. Some of them were curious about life in Australia. Sometimes I’d go all Crocodile Dundee and talk about kangaroos and koalas and wild lizards and stuff, but mostly I wrote about city life—drawing on scenes from Friends and Sex and the City, with housemates and a car and a job and high heels. I wanted to be a cosmopolitan girl: model, air hostess, photographer, interior designer, reporter.

The game was intoxicating and totally addictive. But there were only three computers at the library with internet access, and thanks to various toe-tapping senior citizens and Alan lurking with a vague air of disapproval, I was never able to piss away more than an hour in the chatrooms at a time. With nothing much else to do, I studied hard, breezed through my exams, and got my uni offer and scholarship.

My last summer in Elmsleigh was long and dull. I spent most of it behind the checkout of the IGA, counting down the days until I could leave. Dad offered to drive me to my new home in the on-campus residential village at the start of the university year, but I chose to take the V/Line, then a connecting train and bus. I wanted to draw a clear line between one era and the next. I wanted to arrive in the city free of him, and of the dreary dishonour that tainted me by association.

As the bus pulled out of the Elmsleigh petrol station, and I watched the library, the Caledonian Hotel and the swimming pool disappear, I stared significantly out the window: the model of the small-town girl leaving it all behind.

I was ready to design myself afresh.
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I TWITCHED THROUGH THE NEXT few weeks, waiting for Adam to cave, in a state of high agitation. It was as though every cell in my body was locked and loaded, poised for some kind of drastic action. My skin was prickly and the fabric of my clothes felt coarse against my body. I couldn’t keep still. I embarked on many ambitious domestic projects. I washed and photographed some old clothes of Sam’s and posted them on Facebook marketplace. I washed the car, and when Barb was at work, I drove it into the carport and used every detachable feature of every motorised sucking machine in Barb’s arsenal to clean remote and invisible crevices.

My mouth was dry all the time, but I kept forgetting to drink water. There was a special on Gatorade Fierce Grape at Coles and I bought eight bottles. I kept them under my bed and drank all of them, warm, within seventy-two hours. At night, once Sam was asleep in his bed, I’d pick him up and move him into mine, so he was closer to me. I’d stay up late with my headphones plugged into my laptop, taking notes on podcasts about neuroplasticity and evolutionary psychology, getting up every half hour to piss pure Fierce Grape.

I slept in short, appalling fits. I was always awake when the sun came up. I’d move Sam back to his room so he’d wake up in his own bed, none the wiser.

During this terrible time, it was as though I was both inside and outside myself. I was inhabiting my own prickly skin and panicking mind to an unbearable degree, unable to escape myself, but I was also watching myself—registering the too-fast pumping of my blood, the hyperactivity, the jumping at shadows—with distaste and disgust. I was behaving like some fretful, abject little rodent. Like someone, or something, nature would select against.

I was impatient with Sam, forcing him to bed early every night, getting snappy in the mornings when he got dressed too slowly or couldn’t find his hat or his library books.

I couldn’t bring myself to approach or follow up on potential new clients. In my sessions with current clients, I was too chatty and effusive, too jumpy to allow gainful silences. Julian told me that he was planning to sign on for another twelve sessions at the conclusion of the Evolve Package, which was one promising thing, but then he spooked me with his reminder about my impending chat with Astrid from Blaze.

‘Bit of a prickly one, our Astrid,’ he said, with an insufferable little squint, and this sent me into a fresh spiral of angst and regret.

 When I finally forced myself to stay up late one night to research Astrid, my panic intensified. There was barely anything about her on the ‘Meet the Team’ page of the Blaze website. She’d even refused to provide a real headshot. Her profile photo was just a black-and-white illustration of a youngish woman with long, dark hair and no distinctive features. She had declined, too, to provide a cutesy bio. Her bio just read, Astrid Wendell is Creative Director at Blaze Productions.

I googled ‘Astrid Wendell’ and found almost nothing: a dormant LinkedIn page, using the same illustrated profile pic, with very little information—Creative Director at Blaze Productions, previously Senior Animator at an agency in London, some ‘rising star’-type award in 2016. Graduate of The University of Sydney—no date. No personal website, no Facebook profile that I could find, nothing on YouTube.

Julian had sent me a link to an Instagram account, though: Primarily it’s clips of her own work as well as some of her illustrations.

Scrolling through @astridmwendell made me feel even sicker. There were no photos of Astrid herself, or her friends or family. It was a portfolio account, not very well maintained, mostly from her time in London. Fun logo animation job for @Tesco read a caption; Some work I did for @Jaguar driver assistance systems. This stuff was intimidating: she’d worked on some fairly slick, big-budget projects for major brands. She hadn’t posted much of her work with Blaze.

What worried me more, though, was the still illustrations she’d posted intermittently between the posts about work for brands and clients. These pictures were mostly of bugs and insects. A few were of plants. These, it seemed, she’d done purely for pleasure—or for the exercise. In the earlier images, the ones posted way back in 2015, the pictures were more like graphic art. Over time, though, she’d dulled the colours, started drawing the fine hairs on the insects’ legs, letting them be freakier and uglier. The more recent images reminded me of some of the old natural-history textbooks I’d fed to our next-door neighbour’s rubbish bin in high school. They were fine, technical drawings, at what seemed to me like a professional standard—not that I knew anything about insect or plant anatomy.

I tried the same account name across a bunch of other social platforms. Nothing.

Obscure internet presence; half-hearted approach to self-promotion; motivated to draw insects just for the hell of it. This was definitely not the kind of person I wanted to work with.

I scanned through the three hundred and forty-six followers of the @astridmwendell page to see if she had another account. I found one, @stridd, but it was set to private. So, that was her real account. I put through a follow request with one of my dummy personas. I searched the same handle across other platforms and again found nothing. I was clicking and scrolling with rising unease now. Was it still possible to get out of this? I could make some sort of excuse to Julian. Death of a parent? South Korean hockey team morale emergency?

The most frequent commenter on the @astridmwendell account was @snooferrr, though this person rarely actually wrote anything. They just commented with emojis: the fire emoji, the praise emoji, sometimes the bug and moth emojis.

Maybe this person was a good friend of Astrid’s. I clicked through. It was the account of a brunette of about thirty, enthusiastic about cats and wacky architecture, apparently, because most of the pictures were of the same Burmese cat and weird buildings in Europe. The captions were sometimes in English and sometimes in another language, maybe German or Dutch. I scrolled through, looking for photos of, or with, other people.

Finally, I found what I was looking for. A photo of two women with their arms around each other, posted in September 2019. They were on a street, maybe near a market, somewhere very cold. They were wearing beanies and coats and there was snow on the ground and in the trees behind them. The taller one, tagged as @snooferrr, was holding a coffee cup in her free hand. The women looked similar, like they might have been sisters or cousins: both with dark hair and the same round, dark eyes. The smaller woman wore a faint smile and held her head at a tilt. The caption read: Meine @astridmwendell.

The morning after I’d completed this worrying research, I took my nervous energy into the big house after school drop-off, filling four cupcake trays with cheap-arse savourymuffin mix. Barb bustled in as I was taking the last of the trays out of the oven.

‘Wow, what’s going on here?’

 ‘School lunches!’ I said. ‘Just getting ahead for the next little while.’

‘Ah, okay,’ Barb said, surveying the abundance of cooling muffins, now occupying half of her kitchen-island real estate. ‘Are you all right, love? You seem a bit …’

‘I’m fine,’ I said. ‘Just a bit stressed with work. Doing some stress-baking!’

My voice sounded too loud, but Barb seemed distracted.

‘Right. Well, look after yourself, dear. Do you need me to pick up Sam for you after school? I’m heading over that way anyway, to see Ian. I’ve got the seats in the car.’

‘Oh no, no, it’s fine, fine. Thanks, though.’

‘The washing machine’s free now if you need it,’ she said. Why was she lingering? ‘I meant to tell you: I tried out that Coles homebrand pre-wash stain gun and it’s worked wonders!’ She pinched the bottom of her white shirt. ‘This top was ruined and look at it now!’

‘Wow,’ I said. ‘I’ll have to give that one a go myself.’

She leaned into the benchtop, picked a cuticle. ‘There was something else I was hoping to talk to you about.’

Oh, god. Was she planning to sell the house? Was she going to tell us we had to move out? Would I be able to find anywhere else to rent near the school? Would I have to find another school for Sam?

She rushed onwards: ‘The water bill. It’s getting quite … I’m wondering if we could perhaps have a talk again about the way we’re divvying it up, especially as I’m babysitting the twins and sleeping over a couple of nights a week at Ian and Jessica’s at the moment.’

‘That’s fine,’ I said. ‘Fair enough.’

We sat down at the kitchen table and talked it through. I checked my phone for news from Adam approximately twenty-five times during our ten-minute conversation, switching manically between the calculator, email, WhatsApp and PayBe apps. Still nothing.

The whole exercise with the water bill would end up saving Barb about $15 a month, I figured. But it was better for me to suck it up than cause any kind of tension. I said yes to everything, as though I had a choice, then realised I couldn’t fit all the muffins I’d baked in the freezer. I told Barb I’d leave a container with some muffins on the bench for her to take to Ian’s place.

‘I’m sure he’d love that, hon,’ Barb said, clearly relieved that the conversation was over, and left the room to grab her bag.

I stood up, checked my phone—still nothing—then put it down on the benchtop between the muffin trays, while I searched the drawers for the right plastic container. I was kneeling on the floor, head deep in the dark corner cupboard, when I heard the vibration. I scraped the top of my head in my hurry to reach for the phone.

Adam: I have made the payment. I have done what you’ve asked so please keep your word and leave me alone. I told you confidential information believing I was in a private, trusting conversation. My family and my business are everything to me. I won’t harm you, please don’t harm me.

 I checked the PayBe app. Nothing yet, but it sometimes took a while for transactions to come through. I rubbed my head in the spot where I’d hit it against the cupboard, and felt the beginning of calm begin to roll through my body. Originating in my temples, it unfurled in my throat and spread across my shoulders, down through my torso and across my hips. Elbows on the kitchen island, I placed my head in my hands and exhaled.

It wasn’t over till it was over, of course, but this was the signal I’d been waiting for. This was the white flag. His behaviour was consistent with the others before him, all of whom had paid up with barely a whimper.

Adam, I remembered now, was a peaceful, predictable sort of character. He was a lover, not a fighter, and I knew that once the money came through I’d be able to think of him the way I thought of certain other former clients, with a kind of nostalgic, almost maternal, sense of approval. My ordeal was nearly over.

Oh, Adam. Everything had happened so slow, then so fast for us! Nothing, nothing, nothing for ages. And then suddenly: bam, bam, bam. Yoga shorts, fat ladies, Reishi Spirit. It was always like that, though. It was a long game. A delicate process of building up a picture, establishing rapport, laying the groundwork.

You needed to get to know a person before you could figure out how to excavate their compromising information. Things never came quickly or easily. Secrets were rarely despicable or lurid and never landed in your lap. Nobody ever called you up and said, Hey, guess what, I just punched my cousin’s guide dog or Uh oh, I’ve been drinking Listerine and fingering magistrates. No, it was always just petty jealousies and greed. Or trite obsessions, or the fudging of facts. But you had to work hard for this non-explosive information, and then you had to work harder to calculate how much it was worth.

I figured that Adam was recuperating now, recovering with some smelly juices and yogic breathing inside his spacious, parquet-floored Bondi apartment. I imagined he’d keep things low-key on the socials for a while, but he’d be back within a few weeks. He wouldn’t suffer too much. He was rich; he’d get over it.

I thought of my work sometimes as akin to Jackie’s work at the Commercial Hotel, when she’d slice foam off the top of pints with a knife. That’s what I was doing, slicing off some excess—though I was collecting my excess, not letting it sink into a filthy drip tray.

My movements as I transferred the muffins into the containers were steady and sedate. I left the containers on the counter for Barb and glided in a slow-motion, spectral manner towards the granny flat. En route, I registered sensory information that I hadn’t noticed in weeks—the smell of fabric softener in the laundry, the song of a magpie under Barb’s lemon tree. The warm, smooth wood of the deck against my bare feet.

I didn’t want to dwell on how Adam might be feeling right now. He wasn’t a bad guy, and it was a shame that things had to end on a sour note when we’d worked so well together. To be clear, I never dreamed of following through on my threats—to Adam or to anyone. People’s secrets didn’t interest or appal me. I didn’t care if people spruiked bogus weight-loss teas or harassed their competitors or hunted endangered ducks. And there’s no way I would take the risk—piss away my leverage—by punishing them if they didn’t pay up. So it was all perfectly abstract—no blood spilled, no harm done.

It was 2.45 pm. If the money came through in the next hour, I’d take Sam to see the new Transformers movie on Xtremescreen and then out for pizza. I grabbed my bag and my keys, changed my clothes, found my shoes. I refreshed my PayBe wallet seven or eight times during this interval and again in the driver’s seat of the Territory. Still nothing. Refresh, refresh, nothing, nothing.

But at the Plenty Road traffic lights, I refreshed again, and this time the money was there.

I pounded my thigh hard with my fist.

The lights changed and I flattened the pedal, beating a Pulsar-driving bogan across the intersection. ‘YEAAAAHHHHH!’ I shouted, buzzing open the window, and thumping the outside of the car door with my hand.

‘YES! YES!’ I shouted, startling a jogger. Diesel fumes rushed my nostrils as I sped past a dawdling truck. I turned left. The wind was in my hair. I felt heroic.

It was a muggy afternoon, warm and dull, with grey clouds carrying a half-hearted threat of rain. In the height of summer, on the hottest days, there was a silent hostility to these streets: bitumen, brick and concrete all colluding in the heat and the glare. Each house was made up of about eight thousand bricks. Each had its detached assemblage of hot rectangular blocks, its prickly lawn and its tended or neglected median strip.

But on this day, in this light, it was different. In my mind’s eye, I rose up over the streets like a drone and looked down on the houses. I took it all in—the infinite clay and shale, the minor variations in fence, frontage and flowering shrub—and I saw it as a single entity. One mechanism. One integrated system.

For the first time in weeks, I felt in control again—of myself, of my future. I sped through the atmosphere, thrilling to the force of my own personal power.

I was active and agile. I was a champion. I was a witch. I was a winner.




PART TWO
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I’LL START AT THE RUSTIC Olive, which in 2005 was the shittiest pizza restaurant in Melbourne’s central business district, and the place where Paul and I met. It was a vast and reverberating place, on the south-eastern edge of the city. It had concrete floors, it could seat about a hundred and fifty people, and it was totally devoid of ambience. Nothing could fix it. Not the flashing neon pizza signs in the front window. Not the vintage Campari prints dotting the walls. And certainly not Dean Martin, whose shouts of ‘Hey, mambo!’ into the void at least twenty times per night made everything so much worse. The Rustic Olive is now a carpark, as it was always destined to be.

I arrived, pretty nervous, for my first shift on a Wednesday night, in my all-black outfit and with my train ticket in my back pocket. It was a big step for me. A step I’d been working towards for a long time. I was in my third year of the Bachelor of Marketing, still living in the on-campus dorms out at Clayton. I’d been working in the student refectory since first year, shovelling chewy potato wedges into little paper buckets for twenty-five hours a week. Another twenty hours a week were spent in classes on Buyer Behaviour and Marketing Theory and Practice. Weekends were for frustrating excursions into the city with other country kids and international students, then getting drunk in the dorms.

In order to spend so much time earning money, I’d chosen to do my three-year degree over four years. But I didn’t think I could take too much more of the uninspiring schedule I’d established. I wanted to get away from campus. I wanted a real job in the real city.

I’d spent two dispiriting weekends traipsing around the CBD with print-outs of my CV and a reference from my refectory manager, introducing myself personally at every cafe or restaurant where young people were employed. The Rustic Olive was the only place that got back to me.

Paul was the weeknight manager, and it was his job to train me. I was relieved to find my supervisor was not some tyrannical greaseball, but a lanky twenty-two-year-old with masses of dark hair and an easy, conspiratorial smile. He got me an apron, showed me the waiter’s stations and took me through the menu.

‘Just clear plates for your first shift, watch what I’m doing, and you can start taking orders next shift,’ he said. ‘It’s a piece of piss.’

The Rustic Olive was not a good pizza restaurant. It was the kind of place that served smoky barbecue chicken pizza and huge hunks of garlic bread like sodden canoes. Our only customers were drunk people and clueless tourists.

But Paul acted like it was a good pizza restaurant. He’d greet customers at the door with just a hint of a bow. Then, with an outstretched arm, he’d indicate the abundance of rustic seating options. All pretty gooby, really. He always cleared tables in the professional waiter style, scraping food and collecting cutlery on one low plate held between his fingers, and stacking the other plates on his forearm. Everyone else just stacked plates on top of each other, with crushed cutlery in between. He was the first to notice an empty beer jug and, if someone’s pizza was taking too long, he’d offer them extra garlic bread or even a drink on the house. If there weren’t many customers, and there was nothing to do, he’d just go around refreshing water jugs.

He enjoyed unnecessary multitasking challenges, too: clearing plates from two different tables while taking an order from another, for example, or collecting two water jugs in one hand and seven wine glasses between the fingers of another.

I listened to his instructions and copied him with my usual attention to detail. After a few shifts, I was able to reproduce his actions more or less precisely. I could see he appreciated my diligence. The other staff—mostly other uni students—were dopey and incompetent. They didn’t give a fuck about the Rustic Olive, and rightly so, but at the time their attitude annoyed me as it annoyed Paul.

It wasn’t that we had any illusions about the quality of the place. It’s just that we both found that it was easier to do everything correctly than to deal with pissed-off customers. A trust, a connection, quickly built up between us. It happened through the rolling of eyes, the anticipatory passing of salt shakers, the hissing of sweet somethings.

Me: ‘Where is thirty-seven’s carbonara?’

Paul: ‘I think Emma stuffed it up her bum. Get them some garlic bread.’

As the weeks and months went by, we often ended up alone together at the end of the night. I wanted my shifts to go on as long as possible, to make as much money as I could. Everyone else just wanted to knock off as soon as the rush was over, around 9 pm. Many of them still lived with their parents, not far from the city, and they didn’t need the money that badly. They just wanted to go to the pub with their mates. I didn’t have mates.

We were entitled to one pizza a shift, and Paul and I would chat over slices while we were finishing up. I actually didn’t mind the smoky barbecue chicken. Paul described it as ‘atrocious’ and ‘not pizza’. I described it as ‘free’ and ‘smoky’ and ‘reheatable’. We agreed that the Hawaiian pizza was actually pretty decent, though we disagreed on the principle of Hawaiian pizza.

Paul: ‘Italians would scream at pineapple on a pizza.’

Me, quoting one of my Marketing Insights readings: ‘Innovate or die.’

These frisky little feuds, these tender pan-fried razzings, were the prelude to our blossoming romance. And though it started slowly, it soon gained a momentum of its own. In a way, it was pure physics. The Rustic Olive was a vacuum; something had to fill its airy dimensions. Soon the whole place was choked with our potent interpersonal vibe. It burst forth beneath the draped plastic vines and among the checked PVC tablecloths. It bloomed under harsh heat lamps, amid stainless-steel cabinetry. It clung to everything, despite the roaring exertions of the kitchen exhaust fans and the clear disgust of our workmates, who now hated us not just for our pointless work ethic, but also for our growing mutual enchantment.

I was playing this all very carefully, of course. It was my first real-life taste of things I’d only encountered in books and TV shows. Talking with Paul was a strangely invigorating challenge, like playing Tetris at increasing speeds. Certain rhythms and reflexes in conversation: deadpan delivery, dark jokes. I was surprised, even impressed, to find that I could rise to the occasion, that I could manage a droll tone, an ironic aside, that I could make him laugh.

This chaste workplace-flirtation phase lasted a surprisingly long time. Paul was taking his time, too, I guess, to try to figure me out. I was different to the girls he knew: private-school city girls who—when I finally met them—were either boisterous zany types, elite athletes or elite anorexics.

Anyway, it all started with a few leftover pizza slices and some acidic wine while mopping the floor at the end of the night. Paul would switch the music from the mandated Dean Martin to his own selection (M.I.A., Daft Punk, Missy Elliott) and he’d talk about the artists he liked. ‘Indie is dead,’ he’d say. ‘The mainstream—Jay-Z, Missy—that’s where the experimentation is happening right now.’

 This kind of talk impressed me, which it was supposed to. From these late-night tutorials, we graduated to post-work excursions to Cherry Bar and the Lounge, and to beers at various young-people’s haunts around the city.

I tottered along, not letting on that meeting people like him, sophisticated people—or at least people more sophisticated than me—was the whole reason I’d moved to Melbourne; the whole reason I’d got an impractical job in the city. But I was smart enough to know I couldn’t rob him of the satisfaction of showing someone new around town.

‘Never come here on a Friday night, it’s full of wankers,’ he’d say, handing me a beer at some rooftop place on Swanston Street.

‘What the fuck is this wine?’ he spluttered, at some other place, some other night. ‘It smells like my grandpa’s insulin.’

‘THIS IS A GOOD SET!’ he shouted in my ear at the Lounge. ‘FUN. CROWD-PLEASING. UNPRETENTIOUS.’

I committed this information—the things Paul said, and the places we went—to memory. I actually, god help me, wrote this stuff down, by hand, in a notebook I kept in my dorm room back in Clayton. Dale Carnegie recommended writing notes in a diary, once a week, logging your interactions with people, how you handled them, whether they were successful or not. I didn’t get into quite that much detail. Mostly I just wrote down where we went, what we saw, what we drank, what Paul had said about it. I tried to observe other girls my age at the venues we visited, too. Tried to remember the outfits and jewellery that seemed cheap and achievable, then went into the city before my Rustic Olive shifts and tried to replicate them at Dotti with my extremely restricted budget.

This stuff had already begun to seem more pertinent to my future success than the stuff I crossed the windy lawns for way out in Clayton. I sat in lecture theatres with girls who wore singlet tops and tight little cardigans like Rachel from Friends and learned about SWOT analysis and product-positioning case studies. The lecture theatres smelled like every girl in there was eating and secreting Lip Smackers. But I attended all my lectures. I applied myself. I completed my assignments, and I lived for my nights at the Rustic Olive.

It’s obvious why I liked Paul. Why did he like me? Maybe because I listened to him and had followed his instructions to the letter. Maybe because we didn’t have a single person outside the Rustic Olive in common, so with me he could try out a cooler version of himself. Maybe because I understood his jokes and laughed at them.

We talked about Paul’s family and about uni a lot. His parents were both teachers, divorced. Paul was studying IT and hating it. He asked me about uni, too. I told him about Maslow’s hierarchy of needs. And I explained the five Ps of the marketing mix, the cornerstones of marketing theory: product, price, place, people, promotion.

‘So, if we were doing a marketing analysis of the Rustic Olive,’ I explained, ‘we’d say that place is really strong. It’s a good location, because there’s lots of foot traffic and we’re close to attractions. But product and price are weaknesses, because you can get something similar from Pizza Hut or Domino’s and it’s quite a bit cheaper.’

‘People is a weakness here, too,’ he said. ‘The staff are terrible. I think Emma has a brain injury.’

When we finally kissed, it was a pepperoni-flavoured thing, an event of pork and oregano and sweet inevitability, which took place between a skip and a parking meter behind the Corner Hotel on a warm spring night. Paul buried his head drunkenly in my neck afterwards. He murmured something that I didn’t catch, and that I didn’t ask him to repeat. Then we walked back to the pub together, holding hands, not speaking. I gazed up at Richmond Station overhead, feeling wonder and wild satisfaction.
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‘ASTRID, HI, I’M RUTH. IT’S great to finally talk with you.’

It was 9.15 am, Thursday. The person on my screen was sitting in front of a window. The light was behind her, so her whole face was dark, almost in silhouette, but I was pretty sure it was the woman from the @snooferrr picture. Same wide jaw, same black hair. Though her hair was shorter now, and possibly dirtier, flipped across the top of her head.

‘Hi,’ she said in a muffled voice, then her face disappeared as she ducked down to fuss with something around her feet. I saw the back of her head upside down and the tops of her shoulders in a white t-shirt.

‘Sorry,’ she said, popping up again. ‘My cat.’ She looked at herself for a moment on the screen, and fixed her hair quickly with two hands. A blunt, chin-length style, centre-parted. Then she hopped up from her chair and pulled down a blind in front of the window.

 I could see her more clearly when she sat down again. Astute eyes. Significant nose: long and broad with wide nostrils. A handsome face. No make-up, but there were indicators of careful and expensive grooming: fashionable, choppy haircut; expertly shaped, fluffy eyebrows. Unclear ethnicity. Unclear age. Late twenties? Maybe older? Her job title was ‘Creative Director’.

She was sitting in her kitchen, or near her kitchen. Behind her head, on one side of the window, I could see a brown stoneware utensil holder, containing wooden spoons and a ladle. In the other corner of the screen I could make out part of a hanging plant.

She was frowning. Not a sullen frown: more puzzled, like she was surprised this was actually happening.

‘So,’ I began, ‘Julian’s told me a lot about you. He speaks very highly of you and of everything you bring to the Blaze team, especially in a creative capacity.’

She smiled with closed lips.

‘I’m wondering if Julian has told you anything at all about me and the work I do?’

‘He sent me a link to your website.’ Her voice had a candid, masculine quality.

‘Great!’ I said. It came out too cheery. ‘Well, before I start asking you some questions, I always like to give people a chance to ask me some questions.’

‘Yeah,’ she said, shifting in her seat. ‘So I’m just a bit unclear. Are you a … psychologist?’ Was something weird happening with her vowels? An English accent, maybe, or posh South Australian.

‘I’m not registered for clinical work as a psychologist here in Australia,’ I said. ‘But yes, that’s where much of my research background sits. I’m interested in peak human performance, psychology, neuroscience and leadership.’

‘So … more like a coach?’

‘I’m not crazy about the word “coach” because I think coaching work can sometimes be quite superficial. But basically, yes, that’s a large part of what I do with clients like Julian and that’s what Julian has in mind for our sessions together.’ I motioned inclusively here, gesturing towards myself and towards the screen. ‘In this area of my work, I talk with people and guide some self-reflection. I help them understand their own goals, habits, motivation and potential.’

‘Okay,’ she said slowly, metabolising the information. ‘Just trying to get a sense of it. I googled you and there wasn’t heaps of information apart from your website.’

‘I’m not really trying to build up this part of my work,’ I said. ‘Most of what I do is research and consultancy work—academic stuff. I’m pretty busy with writing and research at the moment.’

This was a rote answer to a common question. Most people were flattered that I’d made an exception for them. But Astrid just gave a little frown and a nod.

‘And … so … um, where are you?’ Her accent was really distracting me. The where sounded English, almost like wah. But the you was a lazy Antipodean non-event coming from further back in the throat.

‘Right now, I’m in Victoria, but I travel a lot—with teaching and research—so online sessions suit me, and they tend to suit my clients and the type of work they do.’ I smiled briskly.

‘And what’s your connection with the, what’s it called, NeuroCreate Institute?’

‘I’ve worked with Yvonne and Richard on some research projects over the years, including at Stanford, and I’d be happy to share some of our published work,’ I hurried on, ‘but my role here is to guide our conversations, to ask questions, to help you notice your own patterns of thinking and empower you to figure out how to achieve the things you want to achieve. So how does that sound to you, Astrid?’

‘Okay, sounds good,’ she said, scratching her neck.

‘And here are some of the things I don’t do,’ I continued. ‘I don’t offer advice. I don’t share the content of our conversations with anybody. And I don’t necessarily just cheer you on. I might provoke you sometimes; challenge you to see things a little bit differently.’

‘Got it.’

‘So, Astrid, I’ve told you a little bit about me. Would you like to tell me a little bit about yourself?’

‘Hang on a sec, I have to let the cat out.’ She got up and turned, and the screen froze. The watch on her wrist took up almost half the screen: black leather band, slightly worn, with gold buckle, gold rim, curved dial, Roman numerals. She was wearing charcoal pleated trousers. The screen unfroze and she was back in place, raising her eyebrows expectantly as though waiting for me to speak. She’d forgotten the question.

‘I said, would you like to tell me a bit about yourself?’

‘Oh,’ she said, tucking her hair behind her ear. ‘I’m the creative director at’—was that a wince?—‘Blaze Productions.’ Blaze really was such a stupid company name. It sounded like a Christian-rock record label.

‘Okay.’

She said nothing.

‘And what does your role entail?’ I asked.

‘Oh, well, I’m sure Julian has given the whole spiel about what the company does. Different kinds of content, mostly a lot of property stuff at the moment, um …’

‘Okay,’ I said. ‘And do you find that work challenging, interesting, fulfilling?’

‘Um,’ she said. ‘Sometimes?’

We sat in silence for a while.

‘Do want to talk about your work life a bit more, or would you like to talk a bit about your background, your family? These sessions are about you, and they’re to benefit you.’ I smiled. ‘But we need to get to know each other a bit first.’

‘Um,’ she said, looking away from the screen. Another silence, an uneasy one.

‘We can sit and stare at each other, too, if you prefer,’ I said, with a laugh—a strained laugh. ‘Silence is a big part of my work. Silence can be amazingly productive. I’m not afraid of it.’

 ‘I’m not afraid of it, either,’ she said. But she was definitely embarrassed by it. Her eyes darted from the screen, she scratched her wrist.

After a while, she said, ‘Um, Ruth, not to be rude or anything, but you work for my boss, he’s the one who’s paying you. I’m not too sure how I feel about discussing my career … challenges with someone who’s on the payroll.’

With effort, I gave my professional chuckle. ‘I don’t expect you to bear your soul in our first session, Astrid!’

She smiled thinly.

‘Or at any point, necessarily. Though obviously anything you tell me is absolutely confidential, and Julian knows that. But perhaps, since you seem a bit reluctant to chat, you can tell me why you agreed to this session at all?’

She rubbed her eyes, glanced up at some corner of the ceiling.

‘I don’t know,’ she said, finally. ‘I’m curious about where all this stuff from Julian about habit-forming and flow states is coming from …’

I said nothing.

‘Julian’s been circulating all these articles.’

I said nothing.

‘Required reading,’ she said, making air quotes with her fingers.

I said nothing.

‘Lunch-and-learn sessions every Tuesday.’

I said nothing.

‘We went indoor axe-throwing … not sure if that’s connected.’

 An especially long and competitive silence followed. I became aware that I was gripping the table with my hands.

Eventually, she spoke again, this time with a taut smile. ‘Uh … I’m not really sure how else to answer that question?’

I nodded deeply. Inhaled, exhaled. ‘Did you feel pressure to do this session with me?’

A dull, grey quantity moved across the bottom of the screen. ‘Hey!’ It was the cat. She picked it up, held its nose to her nose and said in a high-pitched voice, ‘How did you get back in here?’ She stood up and carried the cat away. I never saw its face.

‘Sorry, what was the question?’ she said, flopping down in the chair again.

‘I asked if you felt any pressure from Julian to talk to me.’ Now that I’d met her, it was easy to see why they didn’t exactly gel.

‘I mean, he’s my boss. If he asks me to do something, I’m supposed to do it. I’ve got rent to pay, a credit card …’ she trailed off, then added, ‘a cat to feed …’

Another long silence.

It took effort, during video conversations, to keep your eyes on the person you were talking to, and not give in to the temptation to check your own face, your own hair. Normally, I was very disciplined about this; normally, my clients were not disciplined about it at all.

Now, at the exact same moment, we both caved and looked at ourselves. I pulled myself together quickly, dragging my eyes back to position, but I caught her in an expression of self-appraisal—doing that thing people do with their eyebrows when they look in the mirror, tilting her chin just a fraction.

I was almost totally out of ideas. ‘Perhaps you’d like to talk about some of your favourite campaigns—from Blaze or even earlier in your career?’

‘Oh?’

‘I’ve seen some of your work online. Impressive stuff. I love the one you did for Tesco. Tell me about making that.’

‘That was a very long time ago. Way before Blaze.’

‘Tell me about it.’

‘Um, well, it was tricky.’

‘Tricky how?’

‘The client didn’t know what they wanted.’

‘Is that often a problem in your work?’

‘Yes, for sure.’

‘Perhaps you’d like to talk about your art.’

‘My what?’

‘Julian sent me a link to your Instagram,’ I said. ‘That’s how I knew about some of your earlier work. I also saw your illustrations, the ones of plants and insects.’

This seemed to catch her off guard. She blinked.

‘I liked them a lot,’ I went on. ‘Have you studied fine art or natural-history drawing?’

She was distracted, gazing in a perplexed sort of a way at something off-screen. ‘I forgot he was following that account, actually.’

‘Can you tell me a bit about your interest in plants and insects and illustration?’

 She squirmed. ‘I guess insects are … the anatomy, I don’t know. I’ve always liked drawing.’

We looked at each other. I switched tabs, scanned my notes.

‘Looking at that account, I noticed a gradual change in your style over time,’ I said. I was reading directly from a script. ‘From a graphic or commercial style to something more detailed and technical.’

She opened her mouth to speak and then seemed to decide against it. After a few beats she said, ‘Well, I think I’ve been trying to challenge myself. In my day job, I have to make things look appealing. I wanted to try to draw bugs as they really are and not make them … um …’

‘Palatable?’

‘Yes, palatable. Something like that.’

I said nothing, willing my mouth into what I hoped was an encouraging smile.

‘The cricket was hard,’ she said, to fill the silence. ‘Getting the legs right.’

‘How about the wasp?’

‘Easier than expected.’ She seemed to be warming to the subject. ‘Once I got the wings down, it kind of fell into place.’

‘I think I like the beetle the best.’

‘Yeah, beetles are cute, everyone likes beetles and butterflies. Nobody likes wasps or mosquitoes.’

She was saying I was basic.

‘The mosquito was wonderful, but it surprised me,’ I said. ‘The legs seemed long, longer than I expected.’

This was a mistake. She reeled.

 ‘Okay,’ she said. ‘I’ll … take that on board.’ It was clear she thought I was too cheesy—a coach—to have anything worthwhile to say about art.

I felt the blood rise to my cheeks. I tried to make amends. ‘I guess there are many … types of mosquitoes. You would know better than I would.’

She shrugged. ‘Getting the legs right is usually the hardest part.’

This was all very bad—this was definitely fucked—and I decided to end it there. We still had fifteen minutes left.

‘Well, we’re pretty close to out of time here,’ I said, and I could see relief on her face. ‘Maybe you can have a think about some of the things we’ve talked about today, and let me or Julian know if you’d like to continue with these sessions. There’s certainly no pressure or obligation.’

‘Right,’ she said. ‘Okay, um, thanks for that, Ruth. Bye.’ And she disappeared from the screen.

I saved the sound file, then snapped my laptop shut. Sometimes conversations with clients went badly, especially in the early stages. Sometimes it was clear that we weren’t compatible. But this was my first time with a client who clearly didn’t want, and hadn’t personally chosen, to work with me. Never before had I encountered this kind of reluctance. Why had I broken my own rule about referrals?

From where I was sitting, I could see straight through Sam’s room to the bathroom door. The night before, I’d used a piece of steel wool to clean some scum from around the plughole in the sink. I’d left it sitting there, next to the tap. I wanted to take that steel wool now and apply it to my mouth and to my brain. I wanted to scrub every cursed trace of the last mortifying hour.
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WITHIN TWO MONTHS OF THAT rustic, flavourful kiss underneath Richmond Station, I had moved in to Paul’s share house in Collingwood. That December, I attended Christmas lunch at his mother’s place. By the following August, I was his stepmother’s personal assistant.

Who would’ve thought? I’d never been one of those girls who was dying for a boyfriend. The boys I grew up with were repulsive to me. They were all nose and foot and greasy epidermis, and I did not want to touch them, or be touched by them.

I was sure to get the requisite experiences at the requisite times, of course. I slouched so that boys weren’t too much shorter than me, I let them isolate me at parties, I suffered through their gropes and tongue-y, marijuana-infused smooches. I ticked the boxes and I craved no further contact. I’d applied myself to this pursuit in the same way I’d applied myself to my studies: with purpose and diligence, and with care to disguise my purpose and diligence.

None of this effort, or effort to disguise effort, was necessary with Paul. For one thing, he was taller than me by a good inch. And for another, he was twenty-two years old and had never had a proper girlfriend. He needed me as much as I needed him. We were a good match.

Paul had been dorky, growing up. Dorky and brainy, not really socially or sexually successful. He’d attended an all-boys private school in the eastern suburbs—a place with deans and a Latin motto and an ‘outdoor education campus’ near Wilsons Promontory—because his mother taught maths there and got a discount on school fees.

It was a sore point, I came to realise, that he hadn’t spent summer holidays in Europe or splashing around in Portsea like his schoolmates had. His parents lived comfortably but tennis-court-less in Doncaster (his dad) and Bundoora (his mum), and not in Hawthorn or Camberwell or Kew.

Paul had only one or two friends from school, including our housemate Josh, who, like Paul, was keen to distance himself from his schoolmates. The school, they said, was full of ‘dumb jocks and wankers’, though the influence of these dumb jocks and wankers definitely lingered. Paul still seemed to have things to prove to these people he didn’t like; things to prove and things to acquire.

As for me, it wasn’t until I had a boyfriend that I realised how much I’d needed one, and specifically this one.

 Paul was smart, and he was funny, and he seemed to love being around me. His quick, brutal humour was something new and exquisite to me and the two of us lived in a twin-sized cloud of delicious conspiracy. Plus, Paul had his own room, in a real house, in the city. I didn’t want to live out in Clayton. And I didn’t want to spend another long and silent summer with Dad in Elmsleigh ever again.

Truly, we were a dream team at the beginning. The whole household—not just me and Paul. Our flatmates, Josh and Rahini, were stylish, clever and lazy people. They were usually drunk or stoned or hungover, usually perched in windowsills, stretching on couches or lolling in the hammock in the concrete courtyard, sipping tea or wine, smoking rollies, gossiping. They’d driven us crazy at times. Paul, because they were slovenly and left dishes out unwashed overnight. Me, because they left lights on, took hour-long showers, blasted the heater all day and racked up huge, avoidable bills, which we had to split four ways. They seemed to have no concept of money. But mostly it was a fun, harmonious, chummy household.

It took a while for Paul to introduce me to his dad and Yvonne—we’d been living together for almost six months. I don’t remember much of my first impression of Paul’s dad, Mark. He was a quiet, nondescript man, at least a decade older than his second wife. But I remember my first impressions of Yvonne very clearly. She was, after all, in the business of making strong impressions.

It was a chilly Friday night in May and my fingers were so cold from the bike ride to their place in Richmond that it took me forever to lock my bike next to the parking sign. I looked up at the townhouse. It was a sleek, modern, two-storey building—smooth limestone expanse, spherical door lamp casting a subtle golden glow—just off Church Street. In the final years of Paul’s schooling his dad had risen abruptly from teacher to school principal to mysterious ‘education consultant’. And he’d made a well-timed withdrawal on some dotcom stocks.

After polite introductions at the entrance with Paul’s dad, we were led into the living area. The room was all creams, golds and whites. There were French provincial accents: antique gilded mirror, brass floor lamp. Yvonne was standing by the wall on a fluffy rug next to a generously upholstered armchair.

She was wearing a dusky-pink silk blouse, black skirt, black tights and no shoes. The following day, Yvonne and Mark were off to Italy for a month, and she was celebrating the beginning of her holiday with a glass of champagne and wiggling her hips in front of a discreet wall-mounted bar heater.

‘Don’t mind me!’ she said with a giggle. ‘Just warming my bottom!’

Paul greeted her with an awkward hug. They always met with too-brisk embraces and lurchy kisses from odd angles, I soon discovered. This was Paul’s doing, not Yvonne’s. And the reason for this was obvious to me from the first: Yvonne’s sexual wattage was fearsome.

She was a full-figured woman—a ‘curvy girl’, she always said—of the kind people describe as vivacious. Mid-forties. Sensational hair. Sensational laugh. The hair: a big-budget commotion of dark auburn curls. The laugh: mellow and throaty, but originating much lower than the throat—in the diaphragm, or perhaps the vagina—and showcasing two rows of vital white teeth.

I was wearing jeans and a striped top from Dotti. It had taken me a long time to settle on this unremarkable outfit. It would have taken me even longer if I’d known that Paul’s stepmother was so glamorous; that their furniture was so tufted.

I felt so big, and so coarse, standing there next to the ivory loveseat. But only for a second.

‘So this is the gorgeous young lady who has stolen our Paul’s heart!’ she said, clasping both of my hands. I blushed. Paul blushed.

‘What a pleasure to meet you, Christina, darling. Sit down, sit down!’

Dinner was coq au vin, served with creamy mashed potatoes, cooked and served by Yvonne herself. (Coq au vin, everyone kept saying. Coq au vin. What the fuck were they talking about? I secretly googled ‘cocko van’ later.) Over dinner, Paul and Mark paired off for a solemn discussion of Paul’s future, while I sat opposite Yvonne and she pumped me with questions.

‘You’re studying at Monash?’

‘Marketing, out at Clayton.’

‘Ah!’ As though this was a remarkable, singular pursuit. She refilled my glass. ‘Are you finding it exciting? Inspiring? What’s the plan after uni? Paul says you’re a country girl! Where are you from?’

‘Elmsleigh,’ I said. ‘Near Mount Buller.’

 She gasped and put down her fork. ‘The High Country, how amazing! The Man from Snowy River! What are your parents like?’

I found myself telling her everything about my life and about Elmsleigh. I talked about the books I’d read, about moving to Melbourne on my own, about my promotion to weeknight manager at the Rustic Olive since Paul had left for a better restaurant. I told her about Christopher Wicks and the changes that had happened around the town when I was growing up.

To this raw material she applied an enchanting filter, rewriting the story of my short life in far more dramatic terms. Elmsleigh: a magical place, blessed not just by Mother Nature but also by the benevolence of the famous Christopher Wicks. (‘I’ve met his wife,’ she said. ‘Fabulous.’) My father: the inconsolable widower, alone and astray. Me: plucky and industrious, saved by books (‘a love of literature’), determined to make it in the big city.

I don’t know if I had ever talked at such length about my own life before—not even with Paul. Certainly the sound of my voice, the relating of my basic biographical information, had never inspired such rich delight from any other person. Not even in my chatroom spiels, with most of the facts invented and improved, had I ever been drawn out in this way.

As Yvonne coached and coaxed me through my narrative, seasoning the bland detail with romance and meaning, I began to enjoy myself. I began to glimpse the facts of my life—my whole self—from new and startling angles.

 Yvonne was especially delighted by my stories of Alan and the book dumps. (I did not mention how many volumes I’d personally sent to landfill.) She let out a shriek—it distracted Paul and his dad from their conversation for a moment; she dismissed them with a little flick of the hand—when I mentioned Dale Carnegie and How to Win Friends.

‘Blast from the past!’ she crowed. ‘My uncle had that one! I think he even did a ten-week course with the Carnegie Institute, I think it was called then? That book’s a real classic. Dated, of course, but I’m sure a lot of it still holds true today. I’m curious to know what you made of it, as a teenager?’

I badly wanted my answer to be correct. I stumbled through a response, hedging my bets. ‘I wasn’t sure how I could apply what he said in the book to my life back then,’ I said. ‘I was interested to read about the power of listening, and of giving people your attention, but I thought people would think I was a try-hard if I used some of the suggestions he … suggested.’

My remarks seemed to cause Yvonne sorrow. She lowered her chin. ‘A try-hard,’ she repeated. ‘Yes, I can just imagine that, Christina. Tall-poppy syndrome is alive and well in Australia today.’

She told me, then, a series of stories about herself that I would come to know verbatim, that are now burned into my brain forever. She told me about how her dad always sang her American songbook classics at bedtime, and how she’d always loved singing and dancing herself. She’d won a scholarship (‘Like you! We’re both scholarship girls!’) to study musical theatre, and had ‘toured Australia and the world’ in productions of The Pirates of Penzance and South Pacific until the ice-bucket epiphany.

‘I was in a hotel in Adelaide, my swollen ankle in a bucket of ice for the seventh night straight,’ she said. ‘I’d been on the road, singing and dancing every night for three whole years, and I thought to myself, “Where is my creativity in all of this? My every move is choreographed. Every word I’m singing was written by Gilbert and Sullivan more than a hundred years ago.” I wanted to dance my own steps, sing my own song. I quit the chorus the next day and went back to uni—studying human behaviour and the human mind, exploring the links between creativity and human potential.’

I listened, transfixed, not just by the stories themselves but also by the way she told them. The rich timbre of her voice. Her broad, earthy laugh. I was fascinated by her gestures, by her eloquence with elbow and wrist. Towards the end of the night, as Yvonne was getting a little bit drunk, she placed her elbow on the table and cupped her face in her hand, gazing at me thoughtfully for a long time, with narrowed eyes.

‘You’ve got it all ahead of you, Christina,’ she said dreamily.

And it felt, then, as though I did. The light was dim. The wine had made me sleepy. I was in a very pleasant dream, being praised and admired by this glorious powerhouse woman.

She pulled me into a breasty hug at the door as we said goodbye for the night, and winked at Paul. ‘This one’s a keeper,’ she said.
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JULIAN: FANTASTIC NEWS, ASTRID HAS indicated that she would like to continue working with you

Ruth: It’s important she doesn’t feel pressured to enter into this process.

Julian: I asked her if she was animal and she said yes

Julian: animal

Julian: animal

Julian: *amenable

This was not at all fantastic news. The first session with Astrid had been perhaps the most painfully awkward session of my career. I could not imagine why she would want to do it again. I had only a week to figure out how I was going to handle it.

The morning routine had its welcome distractions. Toast, lunchbox, the scramble for hats and jumpers and stray socks. Sam and I mastered Melnyks Lesson 22: Playing Sports and Exercising. (‘Zúqiú,’ we said at the traffic lights. ‘Zúqiú.’) The nights were cooler now, and Sam and I would put on our dressing gowns after dinner and watch movies on the laptop.

I checked in on the social accounts of some former clients. Jordan was running twenty kilometres to raise funds for muscular dystrophy. Nathalie was unboxing her gruesome Brazilian butt lift recovery pack. Mattias was posing by a hotel pool with the caption an imitation can never be the original. And Adam had started posting again, too: sunsets, meaningful quotes (You cannot stop the waves, but you can learn how to surf ) and even a new yoga video for ‘stress-busting’. You could tell he’d had a blow to his confidence—his presence was more sober now, more clinical—but he seemed to be doing okay.

These check-ins soothed me, made me feel normal. My former clients were fine. My session that week with Julian soothed me, too, with all his predictable needling and posturing. I tried to imagine working for him. Unbearable. It seemed clear, now, that Astrid had just agreed to talk to me again to shut him up.

I could handle this, I decided. I could do a few non-eventful sessions with Astrid, fill up the forty-five minutes, get a bit of extra cash, and then put the whole thing behind me.

I prepared for the next session as though I was cramming for a test. I didn’t think I could stand another session as bad as the last. I revisited some material from the Yvonne period, some stuff about creative behaviour from old mate Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi. I listened to podcasts on neuroplasticity and habit-forming. I streamed The Creative Brain documentary and fell asleep to the murmurs of Brené Brown. I prepared a bunch of set pieces—a rich tapestry; patchwork and pastiche—so I was ready for all sorts of contingencies.

I reassured myself of certain certainties. Surely, like everybody who owned a smartphone, Astrid worried about focus and distraction. Surely she had habits she wanted to break or new habits she wanted to form. And surely, like every person on the planet, she believed in the possibility of a better version of herself.


[image: ]


‘You’re working from home again today?’ I asked, when Astrid’s face appeared on screen. She was sitting in the same spot, with the kitchen visible behind her, but she looked much more put together this time: red lipstick, loose navy-blue shirt, two sets of little silver sleepers in each ear.

‘Yep,’ she said. ‘I had some other Zooms this morning with clients so it made sense to stay home.’

‘I see, I see,’ I said, hating myself. I see, I see. Jesus Christ. ‘Yes, that makes sense. So, Julian said you’re keen to do a few more sessions, which is great news!’

We both smiled falsely.

I continued: ‘I’m wondering if you’d like to talk to me a bit more about where you’d like these conversations to go. Maybe there are some goals—some personal or career goals you’re working towards?’

 ‘Hmmm.’ She frowned, cupping her chin in her hand. Seconds ticked by. She took her chin off her hand and began fiddling with an earring.

It was too early in the session for a significant silence. It would set a bad tone. I had to interject.

‘Perhaps we’ll come back to that at the end of the session. For now, I might instead talk you through the GROW model. Let me share my screen.’

I shared an image of a tree with four leaves. Each leaf had a word on it: Goals, Reality, Options, Will.

‘The GROW model was developed by Sir John Whitmore,’ I said. ‘It’s a powerful framework for helping us gain clarity on our goals and obstacles.’

Since I was screen-sharing, Astrid was reduced to a smaller window in the corner of my screen. I couldn’t see her expression very well, and that was probably for the best, as I bloviated for six entire minutes—a droning spectre, live from the cloud—unpacking each letter of the acronym and emphasising its significance within the GROW toolkit. She was silent throughout. What was happening on her screen? She was probably shopping for sneakers. Maybe she was shuffling dead insect specimens around on her kitchen table.

‘Do you have any questions about the model?’ I asked, when I could drag this out no longer. ‘Or any ideas about how you might like to use it?’

‘Um, not at this stage,’ she said.

 ‘Okay,’ I said, casting around for a new direction. ‘Perhaps for now you’d like to talk about some projects you’re currently working on at Blaze?’

She took a sip from her mug. A very beautiful mug, I thought—olive green, wonky, ceramic. Why would a person with those eyebrows and that mug work at Blaze Productions? Why didn’t she go and work somewhere better? Julian must have been paying her a fuckload.

‘Right now,’ she said, ‘the main thing we’re working on is some content for a property development in London.’

‘And what’s your role there?’

She looked up into the corner of the room. ‘It’s basically working on the storyboards, giving feedback to the junior people.’

‘And how’s that going?’

‘Yeah, pretty well, mostly … It has its frustrations.’

‘Such as?’

‘Oh, well, the client’s in London, so there are time delays. It’s complicated. The client is’—she massaged her neck—‘demanding at times, I suppose.’

Demanding. The first two syllables she pronounced with rounded, almost plummy, vowels and the third syllable was swallowed. Should I ask about the accent? People were touchy about accents.

I switched tabs to my QUESTIONS doc, scanned to my CREATIVITY subheading. I needed a big, open-ended question.

‘I’m curious to know how you see the role of creativity in your life’—I was reading directly from the document—‘both as a professional working in the creative industries and as an artist with your own illustration practice.’

‘Oh,’ she said flatly. ‘Those things are separate.’ She reached across the table and drew the cat into the frame, held its nose to her nose. The cat wriggled away.

‘Why are they separate?’ I said. ‘Isn’t your job title Creative Director?’

‘Well, what I’m doing at work is coming up with ideas for clients to try to sell their products. With the other stuff, I’m just doing it because I like doing it.’

‘Have you always focused on the natural world in your drawing?’

‘No—I mean, uh, well, yeah.’ She trailed off but I held the silence, so that she was forced to keep talking. ‘My oma, my grandma, got me interested when I was small.’

‘Tell me more about your grandma and how she got you interested.’

‘She used to take me to gardens and stuff. She was an artist, a botanical artist.’

‘Took you to gardens where?’ I switched tabs and typed, 8.31 Grandma (Awmah? Sp??).

There was an uneasy pause. ‘Uh, I’m just wondering … what’s this got to do with Blaze stuff?’

I chuckled again, hating the sound of it. ‘I’m trying to find out a bit more about you, about what makes you tick as a creative person and a creative professional.’

She smiled politely and nodded, but said nothing. I launched into a set piece about Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi’s work in the seventies on flow states and on more recent theories on the brain network configurations during intrinsically rewarding experiences. There were so many tricks and hacks, I explained, to optimise our brains for creativity.

She was nodding while I spoke, but she had also filled her cheeks up with air and was slowly letting them deflate. I soldiered on.

‘So, do you have any habits or routines that you find really work for you, Astrid? Or unproductive habits you’d like to try to improve?’

She frowned and adjusted the angle of her chin. I interlaced my fingers and rested them on the edge of my desk, willing myself to keep the silence. Eventually she caved and cleared her throat.

‘Well, I’m struggling at the moment, because we’re pitching for a new client, and it would be good to win it because they’re a beer brand, and that’d be a break from all this property stuff. But it’s hard to find time to work on the pitch because J’—she caught herself and rephrased—‘because there are a lot of meetings right now. Later this week we have to do these “serendipity meetings” where we have coffee with people from other departments at Blaze who we don’t normally work with.’

Oh, god. The serendipity meetings. It was me who’d planted the idea with Julian, weeks ago, inspired by one of Yvonne’s NeuroCreate podcasts. I’d forgotten all about it.

‘So I’ve been matched with Keith, who is the finance guy, and now I’m rushing my work for the beer thing because I’m spending forty-five minutes in a scheduled serendipitous chat with Keith from finance. So that’s … a bit tricky.’

This was the longest speech I was able to draw from her all session. The rest of it was a slog. I started wrapping up at the forty-minute mark.

‘I was a little bit surprised,’ I said, ‘that you told Julian you wanted to continue with these sessions.’

‘Oh. Well, I thought it wouldn’t reflect very well on me if I didn’t.’

This must have come out sounding ruder than she’d intended. Quickly, she corrected. ‘I wanted to show that I’m engaged with the team and our projects.’

I smiled a professional smile. ‘What do you mean it wouldn’t reflect well?’

She sighed heavily. ‘I haven’t always shown myself to be enthusiastic about this kind of stuff since I started at’—and here she cocked her chin and uttered with Julian’s exact annoying intonation—‘Blaze Productions.’

I didn’t want to laugh, but I couldn’t help it. It was an uncanny impersonation. Not just the accent and the reedy timbre, but also the body language: the jerky chin, the exhibited nostrils.

Astrid made an oops face and laughed darkly. ‘So, it’s a good idea to lift my game.’

That was the moment when things shifted between us. That laugh, my laugh, broke some sort of spell.

I composed myself quickly and ended the session. Then I went into the bathroom, wiped off my lipstick and removed my glasses. I rummaged through a drawer for my own silver sleeper earrings. I put one sleeper through the hole in my left earlobe and held the other earring above it, to try to see how I’d look with two holes in one earlobe. Probably I was too old for this shit.

I grabbed my keys and bag and headed to Pharmacy 4 Less to get a new sunhat for Sam before school pick-up.
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‘WHAT IF I SAID THAT you’re all artists,’ said Yvonne, leaning into the lectern.

August 2006. The Aurora Hotel in South Yarra. Function Room Seven.

‘Every one of you here today—an artist.’

She paused; smiled. The silence was alive with air-conditioning.

Then Yvonne chuckled, rapping her nails twice on the edge of the lectern.

‘You think I’m nuts,’ she said. ‘But it’s true. Indulge me.’

Yvonne faced sixty managers from five metropolitan local-government divisions, seated in sixty salmon-coloured chairs. I stood at the back of the room, next to the table that held the teacups and coffee urns. I was wearing my new white shirt from Portmans, my new grey skirt from Sportsgirl, my new black flats from Wittner and my new haircut (Yvonne’s suggestion: short, sharp, chic). This was my third event with Yvonne and she was paying me $17 per hour for three hours of work. After this event, I would have finally covered the outlay of my new clothes and haircut, excluding shoes.

But I’d figured that taking up some casual work with Yvonne was a great opportunity for me. So far it was going even better than I’d hoped. Yvonne had already started introducing me to people as ‘her rock’. She’d said it twice that morning alone.

‘Christina is my rock,’ she told the Aurora Hotel tech guy, while he tested the slides on the projector. And she said the same thing later to Marcia, the conference director from Essential Events. I didn’t know how I was supposed to respond. I just smiled geologically, and busied myself at Yvonne’s laptop, double-checking the PowerPoint presentation: ‘Creativity and the Art of Leadership’.

‘Think back to when you were a little kid,’ she was saying now. She was wearing a vibrant green-and-white Diane von Furstenberg wrap dress. Her shoes were black suede pumps with the tiniest pink trim and a buckle.

(‘Prada,’ she’d told me, when we stopped for coffee on the way to the event. ‘I saw them through the window when we were in Florence and I said, Be still my beating heart!’)

‘What did you do with your time?’ she continued. ‘Make-believe games, drawing, dancing, building with blocks. You were curious—you felt wonder—you were amazed by tools and objects. You spent hours with cardboard boxes. You played!’

She paused for three beats, nodded, then repeated, ‘You played.’

 She went on: ‘The behaviour of typical three-to five-yearolds is ninety-eight per cent creative behaviour, but some amazing work—some sobering work—done by the South African researcher Dr Kobus Neethling shows us that by the time we are twenty-five, only two per cent of us show predominantly creative behaviour.’

It was my first time seeing this presentation. I’d previously witnessed the one about left-brain and right-brain thinking (the logical and analytical versus the creative and expressive) and the one about embracing archetypal feminine attributes in business (the collaborative, the intuitive, the cyclical ).

From my position at the back of the room, it was hard to tell how the presentation was going down. The crowd certainly had not looked especially creative when they’d filed into Function Room Seven earlier that morning. They’d struck me as mostly tired, lumpy, unsoulful-looking people. They were people with noses and phones and stray cat hairs on their jackets. What were they thinking now?

‘Of course, we can’t all be Frida Kahlo or John Coltrane or T.S. Eliot—much as we’d like to be,’ said Yvonne. ‘I mean, last week my nephew asked me to draw a horse, and let’s just say, it wasn’t a great horse, but it was quite a good aardvark.’

I laughed. The audience laughed, too.

‘But even Albert Einstein said imagination is more important than knowledge. Although there are a lot of myths and misconceptions about what imagination is, and about what creativity and creative thinking are, and we’ll unpack some of those today. In the twenty-first century, with technology causing upheavals across many industries, innovation and creativity are more important now than ever.’

‘Now, this is—you guys are—a tough crowd.’ Yvonne nodded, smiled wryly. ‘We have a lot of very logic-oriented, left-brain people here today. I think we even have an actuary among us today, is that right? I think from Moreland?’

From the back, I saw an arm and hand rise up slowly.

‘Uh-huh!’ Yvonne said. ‘And you, sir, you might be thinking, “Well, hang on a second, how does this relate to me? What does creativity have to do with my work?”’

The man’s neck, I could see, had begun to burn red. He put his arm down.

‘And I bet others are thinking the same thing. What does this have to do with me?’

A few coughs and nods.

‘Well!’ she said. Mock triumph, index finger raised, brilliant Julia Roberts smile: ‘I have graphs!’

The audience laughed.

Behind her, on the white screen, a graph of Kobus Neethling’s findings appeared, showing the dramatic dip in creative behaviour during adulthood. The second graph was from a global survey of eighty CEOs by some Canadian business think tank showing that creativity and innovation were the most prized quality in a leader, above integrity and fairness. There were two or three more graphs on things like arts investment in public education, and the correlation between learning a musical instrument and IQ scores.

 I’d designed some of these graphs myself. Paul had QuarkXPress on his computer and he’d taught me how to teach myself to use it. My graphs looked good up there, I thought, or at least better than the ones Yvonne had been using before. I was gratified to see them getting an audience, but as Yvonne flipped through the slides, I was also confused.

How did any of these graphs actually answer the question Yvonne had posed in her presentation? Did any of these graphs directly address the question of workplace creativity for the actuary? Would he be satisfied with this answer?

My mind wandered. I started to think about my own schooling—about what we’d been taught about writing essays and crafting arguments. In English, we’d been told to use topic sentences at the start of each new paragraph, to ensure that we directly addressed the question. We should even use the exact words from the essay questions in our topic sentences, to show we were staying on track with our thinking. This was a useful trick, and I’d rigidly applied this principle as soon as I’d learned it. I continued to apply it in my uni assignments and always got good marks.

Was this all just a failure of creativity? Was this an example of how my creativity had been ‘stamped out’ in school? Did it matter, in the real world, if you posed questions and then didn’t really answer them, as long as you didn’t answer them creatively, and with flair?

Yvonne was talking about collaborative cultures now, and about busting the ‘lone genius myth’ of creative work. People in the audience were laughing, nodding and even taking notes.

 Yvonne was spellbinding. Every joke she made, every nod, every smile, was exquisitely timed and pitched. She used big circular motions when she spoke; gestures that conveyed generosity and energy and enthusiasm. Every movement—or pointed aside—was placed in the atmosphere with total precision. I’d begun to notice the way she handled silence, too. She let silences fill up the room, creating moments of hothouse humidity, where thoughts flourished extra-fast inside your brain, like flowers blooming in time lapse. Then she’d speak, break the tension, clear the air, and start the crescendo again.

After the talk was over, a man of about forty lingered for a one-on-one chat with Yvonne. I eavesdropped as I packed up.

‘I was always a creative kid growing up—really into drawing and comics and painting,’ he told her. ‘But I’d never really made the connection between that kind of creativity and the kind of creativity we need from our new leadership line-up, especially at a time when we’re finetuning our Vision and Mission statement.’

Yvonne listened to all this, eyebrows puckered, nodding. Then she started asking questions. What was his name? Did he have any artistic practice today? Was he still in touch with that side of himself? Which organisation was he from? What were his career aspirations? What was his vision for his team? While he was talking, she kept touching his arm. She made celebratory fists when he described triumphs and impulsively grabbed his hands when he mentioned an upcoming opportunity in Queensland.

 Throughout all this, there was a young woman hovering by the door, and she kept popping her head in to see if Yvonne was still occupied. Finally, the conversation ended—‘Bye, Abdul, and best of luck in Rockhampton!’—and the young woman got her own moment with Yvonne.

‘That was an incredible presentation,’ she said. ‘The challenge, I suppose, is convincing senior management to invest in creativity and allow us to experiment and take risks.’

‘Mmmmm, mmmmm,’ Yvonne said. ‘Depending on your starting point, it really can be a dramatic cultural shift, and something that’s hard for older people, especially older men—logic-driven, bottom-line-driven people—to get their heads around. The real risk is: the people who don’t value creativity will be left behind.’

They went on like this for a while—perhaps two minutes, perhaps five—and parted with an embrace of deep feeling.

‘What a treat to meet you, Bridget,’ Yvonne said.

And Bridget walked from that four-star function room with power and predestination in her stride.
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IT WAS A GOOD IDEA to attend property inspections and auctions well before you were in a position to buy. It was a good idea to study the market. So Sam and I went to the odd home opening on the weekend.

These weren’t always realistic expeditions. Sometimes these were more like fantasy sequences to top off pleasant afternoons at the playground (rambling three-bedroom Californian bungalows overlooking the scenic Merri Creek trail). But sometimes they were study excursions in earnest (34-square-metre studios in Maidstone overlooking meat-processing plants).

The place we inspected in the outer north on the last weekend of April belonged to the second category, though it wasn’t anywhere near as depressing as some of the places we’d seen. I could actually feel myself getting excited as I wiped my feet on the welcome mat, snatched the brochure from the agent and stepped into the living area.

 It was a one-bedroom unit, but the ceilings were high. The kitchen was decent. A few more big collections and a place like this was almost within reach. (I was wrong about this, it turned out. The place sold two weeks later to an investor for way above the estimated price.)

Sam walked ahead to look at the bedroom. ‘Where would you sleep?’ he said. ‘There’s only one bedroom.’

‘The ceilings are high,’ I said. ‘We’d build a loft bed or a mezzanine in the same room.’

‘Like a bunk?’ His eyes lit up. I nodded.

He stepped back towards the bathroom. I joined him at the doorway, taking hold of his hand while we looked in.

‘Gross,’ he said. The laminate floor was peeling. The shower curtains—blindingly bright and fresh—only drew attention to warped cabinets and worn tiles. The toilet had seen a lot of action. There were rusted metal bars over the high window.

‘It’s not gross,’ I said. ‘It’s just old. This place has potential.’

Sam let go of my hand and walked back into the living room. I regretted my defensiveness. When I stepped back into the living room, he was kneeling on the couch looking out the window.

‘It has a good carpark?’ he said over his shoulder, trying to make it up to me. ‘Good for hopscotch?’

I walked over to join him. I looked out onto the carpark. I saw a row of bins, a Toyota Corolla and the sprawled corpse of an electrocuted possum beneath the powerline. Sam hadn’t yet spotted the dead possum.

I took his hand again. ‘Let’s go,’ I said.
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‘I wonder if you had a chance to look at some of the homework I sent you around goal-setting?’

Astrid cringed. ‘Oh, god. I forgot again. Sorry.’

She was at the office this time, wearing headphones. I could see part of an industrial-looking wall unit behind her head, stacked with books and plants, plus some weird artwork: a surreal print with swirls of red and pink. She wore red lipstick and her hair was totally different today, too, fluffy and curly. She had a fringe now and that was curly as well. It was a very high-risk hairstyle, borderline ugly. Was it a perm?

‘Okay, well, perhaps for next time,’ I said, glancing at my notes. ‘You mentioned the beer pitch last time, how’s that going?’

‘We presented to the client last week. They didn’t seem too convinced that the job was in the Blaze wheelhouse.’

‘No?’

‘No.’ She laughed dryly.

‘What happened?’

‘They explained to us that consumers drink beer, whereas they don’t drink real estate. Pretty patronising.’

‘Do you think you’re still in with a chance?’

She shifted in her seat. ‘Ah, our concept wasn’t great. I think it might have been a … too-many-cooks situation.’

I figured too many cooks was code for Julian got involved at the last minute and ratfucked the whole concept. I waited for her to elaborate, but she didn’t, so I changed tack. ‘And how did your serendipity meeting go?’

‘Actually,’ she said, ‘it was kind of great.’

‘What happened?’

‘Keith DM’d me right before we were scheduled to meet and said, “Don’t worry, Astrid. I have no ambitions to bust into the creative department at Blaze and I’m assuming you’re not interested in learning more about how we do things over in finance. So I have prepared some other topics to discuss in case we run out of work convo.”’

I laughed. ‘What were his topics?’

‘We talked about work for a little while, then TV shows and books. We talked about Enid Blyton, which was a surprising direction.’

‘Enid Blyton, the children’s author?’

‘Yeah, Keith’s studying to be a schoolteacher. And he’s writing an essay for uni that got him thinking about The Magic Faraway Tree.’

‘Tell me more about the conversation. Did you like those books as a kid?’

She wrinkled her nose. ‘Not so much.’

‘Why not?’

‘I think I was snobby about the illustrations. Those cutesy mushrooms with the little white dots. I thought they were babyish. I guess I was used to Oma’s ugly fungus pictures, which were scientifically accurate.’

 ‘And were there any other aspects of the conversation with Keith that surprised you?’

She appeared to really think about this. ‘It was a nice chat. I’m impressed that Keith’s studying to be a teacher. I can’t imagine doing something so noble.’

I laughed. ‘And did Keith ask you any questions about yourself? About work?’

‘A few things,’ she said vaguely. ‘He asked me if I miss London and my old job.’

‘What did you say?’

She twitched her nose, looked away from the screen. She was choosing her words carefully.

‘Ah, sometimes. I miss my friends. Sometimes I miss the variety of clients. I don’t miss the climate. And all jobs have their frustrations. That’s life.’ She mimed a fluctuating scale with her hands. ‘Gotta make a living. Bills don’t pay themselves.’ Then she added, in the quivering Julian voice, ‘Them’s the breaks.’

I looked down at my keyboard. I didn’t want her to see my whole face while I was laughing. When I was sure of my composure again, I drew my eyes back up. I saw her smirk.

After we ended the call, I went outside to bring in the laundry. I was flushed and invigorated, breathing heartily through my nostrils. There had been some moments in the session when I’d actually sort of, unbelievably, enjoyed myself. I felt gratified—like I’d broken through, like I was rising to a challenge.

 I plucked our clothes from the line and folded them in the basket with precision and vim. The scent of Biozet Attack Regular Liquid was on the wind, a scent of renewal, and I admired the refreshed fabrics, taking pleasure in my movements as I smoothed the towels and shirts with my fingers. Barb had been right about the Coles pre-wash stain gun. It really could work miracles. You had to squint to see the sauce stain on Sam’s t-shirt now.
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Astrid and I settled into our new situation. She had made her point in the first couple of sessions, and now seemed to have decided I wasn’t so bad after all. She wasn’t going to do her homework, but she wasn’t going to make me suffer anymore, either.

It was impossible to draw her out in any real detail on her career ambitions or her work at Blaze. The Julian impression—which she busted out sparingly, and which we never openly discussed—told me everything I needed to know about her attitude towards him. But she was careful to avoid overt negativity about the job. So I pressed her on broader topics that came under the official banner of exploring formative experiences and discussing creative influences. She let herself be taken there. It suited us both. More interesting; not incriminating, not embarrassing.

During these weeks I managed to sketch in a few more bits of biographical info as well as—finally—an explanation for her hard-to-place accent. She’d attended international schools in Jakarta and Hong Kong and Sydney. Her mother was Indonesian, and an economist, based in Jakarta. Her dad and sister (@snooferrr, I guessed) lived in Germany.

I still had to prepare for our sessions together, of course. I didn’t want to go back to the wretched silences and stilted exchanges—all that straining and scrambling. And, in fact, preparing for my sessions with Astrid turned into a time-consuming and strangely rigorous form of procrastination when I probably should have been looking for new leads.

This research took me in all sorts of absorbing directions. I discovered a now-deceased botanical artist from Germany called Renata Wendell. Someone had published a book of her work in the eighties and I copied the German blurb into Google Translate: One of our few living painters who combines individual artistic expression with scientific precision.

There were dozens of catalogued images of her work online: mushrooms, orchids, moths. The fungus names, in English, were lurid: Dead Man’s Fingers, Jelly Tooth, Hairy Earthtongue. The images themselves were lush, almost grotesque, with bulbous shapes and squishy textures. You could see why Astrid, as a child, had been unimpressed by babyish illustrations.

I sensed that Astrid was beginning to enjoy our sessions, too. A degree of reluctance was necessary, a point of honour for her, but she started to give herself over to the pleasures of narrating her own life, describing her creative processes and philosophies.

 ‘At work, I’m always trying to make things simple and appealing—archetypal,’ she said. ‘With my drawings, my non-Blaze stuff, I’m trying more to show all the intricacy and weirdness.’

This was such a contrast to my sessions with other clients; those wearying hours of excavation and flattery. I knew I’d never get any leverageable information on Astrid and, since she wasn’t paying for or invested in the sessions, the pressure was off for both of us.

She liked to talk about her visits with her sister to her oma’s house in Germany when she was a child. She told me about their forest walks, including some manic impersonations of Oma despairing over her granddaughters’ schrrrecklick standard of German.

‘She had an amazing studio with all these insects in cabinets, mounted and pinned with their Latin names underneath. And she had all this equipment we weren’t allowed to touch—magnifying glasses and scales and forceps. She was very focused on technical accuracy.’

What was Astrid’s life like now? Who were her friends? Did she have a boyfriend? A girlfriend? What did she do on the weekends? I wanted to know the answers to these questions, too, though there was no easy way to get that kind of information. I got by on tossed fragments and snippets, piecing things together and furnishing those snippets with details of my own invention.

‘Wow, I look pretty rough today,’ she said one morning, fussing with her new fluffy fringe. ‘Construction workers have been using drills outside my place since six thirty. I’m pretty sure that’s illegal. I went to ask them to shut up and while I was out there my neighbour tried to talk me into going on a date with her nephew.’

I wanted to know more about this situation with her neighbour. Was Astrid the kind of person who chatted with her neighbours over the fence? Or in the stairwell? The lift? The carpark? I tried to picture it. Where did she live anyway? She lived alone, I was pretty sure; it was always ‘my place’, ‘my neighbour’, never ‘our place’, ‘our neighbour’. I imagined a flat, small—since she took her meetings next to the kitchen—but near stylish shops and good coffee. I liked to picture a little balcony with a copious garden of herbs and plants. Maybe that’s where she sat to do her illustrations. Maybe she had some kind of significant Nordic-designed watering can. Was she renting? Maybe she owned the place, or her parents owned it. I wanted to know more about them, too. What were Indonesian boomer economists like? What did Astrid’s dad do? When did her parents split up?

We never covered this stuff, though as the weeks went by I got to know more about Astrid’s globe-wandering childhood. Very quickly, this world of embassy associations and the International Baccalaureate and au pairs took a peculiar hold over my imagination. Classmates from Korea and Denmark and Pakistan. Tennis lessons at the archery club. Holidays in Bavaria and Bali and Kota Kinabalu. These images struck me as wondrously glamorous—on a scale that was hard for me to picture, practically another dimension—though Astrid described it all in arch, effacing tones.

‘God, I remember when my dad tried to join the Hong Kong Cricket Club,’ she said. ‘Total disaster. He couldn’t play cricket, because he’s fat and German. My mum refused to do the “ladies day” activities. My little sister shat in the pool.’

When I look back on this era with Astrid now—after our shaky start, but before the crisis—the memories have the hazy, delusional quality of a honeymoon period. Astrid impressed me, I have to admit, with her lazy sense of style and the worldliness she wore so lightly—without airs, without apparent effort. I was anxious (as myself? As Ruth?) to impress her, too.

We were beginning to cooperate. I think Astrid felt it, too. When she was struggling with deadlines, I wrapped our sessions early. (‘I won’t tell Julian if you don’t,’ she said.) Once or twice we actually ran over time. Astrid didn’t even notice. For someone who complained about deadlines, she seemed very ready to be distracted. But then, she was also someone who complained about distraction.

‘You’re in Melbourne, right?’ she asked me once. ‘Is that where you grew up?’

‘We’re not here to talk about me,’ I said.

She frowned, almost mockingly. ‘No, but it’s not like you’re my therapist. This isn’t a … clinical situation. I’m just curious to know where you sprang from.’

This felt like a test. I didn’t want to seem stitched-up or self-serious. We’d come so far. ‘From Victoria.’

 I hoped to end the line of questioning there, but she continued to regard me quizzically, so I added, ‘Country Victoria.’

‘Somewhere nice? Whereabouts?’

‘The northern part.’

‘The Murray? The mountains?’

I wasn’t used to being asked about myself or about Dr Ruth’s deep backstory. My thoughts darted back to that first night with Yvonne, and the drama and romance she’d applied with a trowel to my dull biography. High Country. Man from Snowy River. Ragged mountain ranges.

‘The mountains,’ I said.


[image: ]


Business was steady during these months. I had ten clients in total, plus a few freelance copywriting jobs. Things were ticking along. None of my clients gave me any golden information—there were no big collections—but I held out hope for a few of them.

There was Rebecca, with her goat-milk beauty products. Then there was Matt, who was an aspiring relationship coach. And there was Seb, a personal trainer and Airbnb Superhost. He was using the GROW model to figure out if he should import a line of electric massage chairs from Portugal. I doubted I’d ever get any leverageable information on Julian, but I hoped I’d at least be able to string him out for a few more renewals.

 I often dreamed about these people at night and about past clients, too. They were all so needy, so chaotic, so clamorous. So hungry for value and validation and praise.

Sometimes I felt like the Zoom-based shepherd to a herd of wayward muppets, forever oppressed by their desires and demands and frantic muppety impulses. Hey guess what Ruth I just sold my third Power Couples masterclass course! The new price point is a game-changer!; Hey Ruth, I’ve been thinking a lot about our powerful conversation on dopamine and goal visualisation, I’d love to share a few of my new insights; Hi Ruth can we reschedule again?

These people were so stupid and yet so resource-rich; so full of latent potential that only I could unlock. And there was so much more potential out there, too, so many other untapped dickheads I needed to track down, convert, and mine for money and information. It was all so exhausting; all such a grind. The sessions with Astrid had become the highlight of my week.
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VERY QUICKLY, I TOOK ON more responsibilities as Yvonne’s assistant: making travel arrangements, managing briefs and bookings. She was looking to go bigger with her business, to crack into interstate and international conferences. I’d joined her at an exciting time, she told me. She was recalibrating.

I did a lot of my work for Yvonne from home, sitting up in bed with my laptop (Paul’s old computer; I’d inherited it when he started his first proper job and got a new one). But sometimes we’d work together from Yvonne’s living room in the townhouse in Richmond.

I didn’t go along to all of Yvonne’s speaking engagements, but I went to many, especially when there was a larger audience and she needed someone to distribute reading materials or work with technical staff while she focused on people and relationships.

 There was one team-building exercise where I had to hand out paper and crayons to participants. Small teams were asked to collaborate on a drawing of an animal or landscape using only their non-dominant hands. The point of this exercise was never entirely clear to me, nor I think to the participants—something about vulnerability, but also about growing new neural pathways—but it always ended with everyone in hysterics. Perhaps that was the point; everybody left the event laughing their heads off together.

Over these years with Yvonne, I saw many groups come and go. Each small crowd had its own flavour and texture. Sometimes Yvonne would win them over quickly and easily, and her silences crackled like the moments before an electrical storm. At other times, people would file into conference rooms looking sweaty and disinclined, and she’d have to work harder to get them on board.

In either case, there would always be at least one person who approached Yvonne at the end of the session for a one-on-one conversation. I’d watch her make them fall in love with her, then fling them back out into the indifferent world.

Make the other person feel important—and do it sincerely. Become genuinely interested in other people.

These were two of Dale Carnegie’s key commandments. He made it sound so easy. But the sincerely part, the genuinely part—those were elements you couldn’t necessarily control. Even in my earliest readings of How to Win Friends I’d noticed that the successful men in Carnegie’s books suffered a great deal in their efforts to gain influence. They were always listening to tax inspectors tell boring stories about their children, or admiring the paisley shawls of elderly aunts, or chatting about dog-breeding with influential attorneys. And, it had seemed to me, even as a teenager, that you were either interested in people’s shawls and pedigree dogs, or you weren’t. It was possible to show interest, sure, but it wasn’t always possible to really feel it. Or was it?

It took me a while to realise that Yvonne had developed a trick for this. There was sex in the spell she cast on people, no question, but there was sincerity, too. She could summon it. But it was not sincere interest in the person she was talking to—though she was not disinterested in other people—it was more of a sincere pleasure in the exercise of her own charm. She’d once been a performer, an ‘artist’—as she always said—and now the artistic project that most obsessed her was the daily performance of her own magnetic personality: energetic, funny, creative, caring, glamorous and endlessly curious.

She’d done it to me, the first night I’d met her. I hadn’t noticed she was doing it, even though we were literally talking about How to Win Friends & Influence People! Over the years, I came to realise that Yvonne did this with everyone. She gave one hundred per cent of her attention—a bright blast of direct light—to every person she came into contact with. She was like this with checkout chicks and tradies and small children, as well as with clients and friends. It was a skill and a reflex. Also, a superpower. Also, an addiction.

 Nobody who came into one-on-one contact with Yvonne was completely immune. She could turn herself up or down, playing it subtle and low-key for sceptical types. But sometimes you’d come across people who kept their distance and remained untouched.

Once, in my second year of working with Yvonne, I overheard an exchange between two women in an office bathroom. Yvonne was running an on-site team-building workshop at the headquarters of some fashion retail group. Not realising that Yvonne’s rock was weeing quietly in the third cubicle, the two women spoke freely.

‘How did you find the session, Angelina?’

‘Ah, not really my cup of tea.’

‘Oh?’

‘It’s all a bit … corporate woo woo.’

‘Woo woo?’

One toilet flushed.

‘You know, sort of, motivational mumbo jumbo.’

The other toilet flushed.

‘Mmmm, know what you mean. Better than doing actual work, though.’

‘Speak for yourself,’ Angelina roared over the hand-dryer. ‘I’ll be up all night editing Janet’s report. It’s due tomorrow and I’ve been stuck here all afternoon’—the door swung open, her voice became distant—‘fucking around with crayons.’

It didn’t even cross my mind to pass this information on to Yvonne. Although she spoke a lot about constructive criticism, about lateral thinking, about ‘thinking outside the box’, I could not conceive of how she personally would react to direct negativity. Yvonne was a gifted improviser and always knew the right thing to say at the right time, which meant that she was not consistent about anything. Perhaps she’d say that the conversation between Angelina and her workmate showed the workplace really had failed to invest in culture, creativity, ‘soft skill’ development and human resources. This was exactly why team-building and reframing the culture were so important. Or she might say that it was probably time for Angelina to move on with her career into work that really inspired her.

I thought with gratitude about how there was definitely a culture of innovation and creativity in my own part-time arrangement with Yvonne. She never, ever shot down my ideas. If I had a suggestion, she’d always say, ‘Love it! Do it!’ Or ‘Good thought. Write it down. We’ll revisit this.’

I was always upskilling, too. Yvonne was often struck by flashes of inspiration. ‘We need to write a media release, do a publicity pitch.’ ‘I think we should make an animated PowerPoint for this one.’ We meant it was a job for me. If I didn’t know how to do it yet, she trusted that I’d figure it out, that I’d teach myself. And I always did.

At the same time, more than half of my job involved repetitive administrative tasks. It was me who ran Yvonne’s calendar, managed tech requirements and organised travel arrangements. Was there any place for creativity and inspiration in these tasks? No. But they needed to be done.

‘Do you know what woo woo means?’ I asked Paul at home that night. ‘Have you ever heard of corporate woo woo?’

 By this stage, I knew what it meant. I’d googled it as soon as I got home.

‘I know what woo hoo means,’ he said, flopping onto the bed.

‘It means pseudoscience—like astrology and herbal healing and crystals and stuff.’

‘Yeah, right,’ he said pleasantly. ‘Never heard that before.’ He was flipping through some music magazine.

‘In the toilets today, I overheard a girl calling Yvonne’s workshop corporate woo woo.’

This caught his attention. He looked up, laughed. ‘Really? That’s funny.’

There was something in his laugh, something hard, that made me regret telling him. He pushed the magazine to the floor and rolled onto his back.

‘I mean,’ he said, looking at the ceiling, ‘good on her, she’s making a lot of money, but yeah—leadership, teamwork, corporate communication. It’s a bit wanky. It’s essentially motivational speaking.’

‘It’s not motivational speaking,’ I said. ‘Her workshops are about improving performance, promoting innovation and improving workplace culture.’

‘Sure,’ said Paul, yawning. ‘That’s motivational speaking.’

‘Her work is evidence-based. It’s based on real academic research.’

‘You can find junk research to prove just about anything,’ he said. ‘Especially in psychology. But, I mean, you have to admire her.’

I flopped onto the bed next to him.

You have to admire her. I’d heard him say this once or twice before. I got the feeling he was paraphrasing his dad. It was a nifty little directive, this you have to admire her. It accomplished two things at once: passing itself off as praise while also calling that praise into question. Did you have to admire her? Why wouldn’t you want to admire her?

‘What do you mean by that?’ I asked.

‘Well, her parents didn’t have much, and she was a chorus girl for a while, but she never got any good parts. Then she got into all this corporate HR stuff and studied psychology and then my dad paid for her to do a fancy MBA.’

I was careful with what I said to Paul about Yvonne after that conversation. His insult to her was an indirect insult to me. And even as I was beginning to notice the loose threads in Yvonne’s scheme of the world—and in her persona—I still enjoyed the feelings that came with working on Yvonne’s projects at Yvonne’s pace. I still respected her grit and her appetite. Maybe that’s what kept me there for so many years. Her world was bright and navigable, and I felt nimble and efficient within it.

Paul, by contrast, sowed confusion and doubt with his sarcastic asides, his snobbery and scepticism. After the woo-woo conversation, I thought a lot about his version of Yvonne’s career trajectory. I was able to keep both versions—Paul’s and Yvonne’s—alive in my head. I believed them both to be true.
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ON THE LAST SATURDAY MORNING before the July school holidays, I let Sam watch four hours of cartoons before dragging him down to the park to kick a football around.

It was an effort. I felt guilty and sleepy. Overnight, one of my clients had sent me three bananas articles about abundance theory and quantum expansion, along with five brain-explosion gifs. I couldn’t imagine how I was going to summon the energy to read through all that horseshit. There was a harsh, chilly wind that froze the tips of my ears. At least Sam seemed happy enough.

‘Did you know that chickens are C-pex predators?’ he said, kicking the ball to me.

I caught it. His technique was improving. Maybe he’d practised with Paul last weekend. ‘What’s that?’

Rain was forecast for the afternoon. What would we do for the rest of the day? There was a house inspection in West Heidelberg. Still well out of my reach, and surely a dump. I’d have to bribe Sam with a treat if I wanted to do that. I didn’t know if I could be bothered. I’d probably let Sam watch TV for the next five hours while I stared at a wall, thinking of the enriching activities and magical childhood I was failing to deliver and worrying about how I was going to manage work in the school holidays. Sam would be with Paul for five days in total, including one weekend. How was I going to handle the other days? The school-run holiday program was expensive.

I kicked the ball back to Sam.

He shook his head. ‘Terrible kick,’ he said. He scrambled for the ball and booted it back.

‘What are C-pex predators?’

‘Well, you know how alligators are apex predators?’

‘Yep.’

‘Well, it goes A-pex, B-pex, C-pex. Chicken starts with C and chickens eat worms as well as food scraps. So they are C-pex predators.’

I picked up the ball and stood with it tucked under my armpit. ‘Are you sure there’s such a thing as C-pex predators?’

‘Of course!’ he said, brushing some hair from his face. He needed a haircut. ‘And in the dark,’ he continued, ‘a camouflaged C-pex chicken can even attack a B-pex or A-pex predator.’

It was hard to know where to go with these surreal six-year-old riffs sometimes.

‘What got you thinking about chickens?’ I kicked the ball back.

 ‘I was just thinking about our old place. There were chickens there.’

I remembered, then, the episode with the potato at the Coburg share house where we’d lived before we moved in with Barb. There was a large vegetable patch, as well as chickens, and Sam had been shouted at once—not by me—for throwing a potato at a rooster. With a sudden ache in my throat, I thought of our awful ex-housemate Trav, and how Sam had cried and cried. He was four years old then. Was he traumatised? Was he trying to recast the story so that it was the chicken, and not him, who had been the aggressor in that showdown? Or was the C-pex chicken thing just an eccentric fantasy? It was an appealing image: the stealthy midnight chicken attacking the alligator.

‘Do you remember that place in Coburg well?’ I asked.

Sam kicked the ball again, extra hard and high. He watched it go over my head with a little smile of satisfaction. ‘Barb’s place is better,’ he said. ‘Hey, there’s Ethan!’

I turned around to track the progress of the ball. Behind me, a woman and two kids were walking slowly up the path towards the play equipment and towards us. The woman picked up the ball and kicked it back to Sam. He caught it. As she got closer, I recognised her as Meg Lazlo from the school fete committee. I thought of the Madeira cake incident back in February, the indignity of it, and my jaw clenched. Why did she have to come to this park on this morning? Shouldn’t she be doing something upstanding, like coaching the Kingsbury Tigers Under 7s?

 ‘Hi, Sam. Hi, Christina,’ she called, with a weary smile. Ethan ran over to Sam and they sped off together with the ball.

‘Hey, Meg!’ I said with as much cheeriness as I could muster.

She wore glasses, jeans, sneakers and a heavy-duty puffer jacket. Hair in a ponytail, red lipstick that was recently but not carefully applied. She crouched down, unzipped a child’s backpack and produced a thermos.

‘I’m going to have some tea—would you like some?’ she asked.

Of course she had tea. I was going to refuse, but before I knew it she was pouring the steaming black liquid into a little cup and holding it out towards me.

‘Oh, thanks.’ I took the cup. The thermos was a giant old-fashioned one. ‘That’s a cool thermos.’

‘Yeah,’ she said, holding it on an angle for me to admire, rotating it in two directions. ‘Used to be my dad’s. Came with two cups, but I lost one.’

She took a sip straight from the flask. I took a sip from my cup and felt the hot fluid warm my insides. I could not remember the last time I’d drunk a cup of tea made by another person. I felt, for a moment, like a withered plant absorbing water from its roots.

‘This is actually amazing,’ I said. ‘I need to get a thermos.’

She nodded sagely. Her eyes narrowed as she surveyed the play equipment. ‘It’s hard coming to playgrounds in winter,’ she said, blowing over the flask. ‘But you have to burn off the energy. Change of scene. Tea helps.’

 The younger child was pulling at her leg, dragging her towards the monkey bars. ‘All right, Harry,’ she sighed. She motioned for me to go with her. I picked her backpack up off the ground and followed them.

‘What have you got on for the rest of the weekend?’ she said, handing me the thermos, then hoisted the child up to the monkey bars with a grunt. The little boy looked about three years old. She had to hold him around the hips while he reached for one bar, then the next.

‘Think we’ll keep it pretty quiet today. Maybe some Lego.’ I looked down. ‘Might do a puzzle …’

‘I was thinking I’d park these two in front of the TV and hide in the bath.’

This comment came as a surprise, a pleasant surprise, but I tried not to show it. ‘Much better idea,’ I said. ‘I’ll probably do the same.’

‘Might have to do a nit treatment on them first,’ she said vaguely, almost to herself. Then she caught my look and laughed. ‘Don’t worry, I think the latest nit outbreak has pretty much been and gone. Combing my kids for nits is just my hobby at this point’—Harry was trying to go backwards on the monkey bars; he kicked her twice in the tits and she didn’t even flinch—‘it’s how I relax.’

I laughed. ‘I didn’t even know there was an outbreak. I really need to get back to reading those newsletters.’

‘The Garbage Chronicles? Yeah, there’s some good info in the newsletter if you can wade past all the stuff about the bins.’

 Harry let go of the monkey bars. She kissed the top of his head before plonking him back down on the tanbark. I handed her the thermos, and she yawned and leaned against the monkey bars.

I was beginning to warm to this calm, steel-breasted woman—despite our shaky first encounter. She had an endearingly slow, dry way of talking. If she remembered or cared about the cake incident, she wasn’t showing it. It was possible I’d misread her.

We settled into some standard mummy patter: children’s footwear markdowns, the lifecycles of nits and worms, school-holiday childcare logistics.

‘If you’re struggling on Thursday next week, you could just drop Sam at our place for the morning,’ she said. ‘I’ll be on leave, we’ll be home.’ I was a bit taken aback. I hardly knew her. And where was Sam? I hadn’t seen him for ages. I glanced around behind me.

‘They’re in the tunnel,’ Meg said, crouching to offer Harry a snack from a plastic container.

‘I wouldn’t want to intrude on your time off.’

She shrugged. ‘He’ll keep the boys busy.’ She took two fluorescent orange crackers out of the container and put them in her mouth. She held the container out to me. ‘Do you want one? No, of course you don’t, they’re disgusting. Anyway, let me know about Thursday.’

Fuck it, I thought. She was nice. Her kids seemed nice. It would be a load off my mind. ‘Are you sure?’

 ‘School holidays are tricky,’ she said. ‘I’m sure you’d do the same for me, or someone else, in a tight spot.’

I mean, I probably wouldn’t. Though I guessed I owed her one now.

My phone buzzed in my pocket. It was Barb. I walked away to take the call.

‘Christina? I’m locked out, I think you forgot to leave the spare key out?’

Barb sounded annoyed. She had made some complex arrangement with Jessica and the car and the keys. I couldn’t remember the details, but I was supposed to leave a spare key under a rock in the front yard.

‘Oh, god, I’m so sorry, Barb. We’re five minutes away.’

I ran to the tunnel and crouched down. Sam and Ethan were lolling around in there, chatting away. I told Sam we had to go immediately.

‘I don’t wanna go yet,’ he whined.

I delivered a stern look. ‘We’ve locked Barb out of the house.’

‘I’m not going now.’

‘I don’t want to go yet, either,’ I said, disliking my own panicky voice. ‘But Barb is locked out. She’s not happy. Come out of the tunnel now, please.’

‘My body, my choice,’ he said, looking at Ethan. Echoes of insane, baby-toothed laughter through the tunnel.

There was nothing for it. I blasted my most powerfully bitchy glare into the tunnel.

 Sam whispered, ‘Bye’, then crawled out, following me to our bikes. He sulked as we fastened our helmets. He could never understand why it was so important for us to stay in Barb’s good books.
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AROUND THE AGE OF TWENTY-SEVEN, Paul started to grow out of his gooby persona and into a sort of accidental, rangy beauty. The transformation took place over the two summer months we spent backpacking in France and Spain. It was my first and only trip to Europe. There was a lot of drinking and a lot of heaving rucksacks up and down metro-station stairs. I wanted to see everything, get value for money. Paul, on his third trip to Europe, didn’t want to do touristy shit. He wanted to laze around, soaking up atmosphere. I spent a lot of time worrying about the amount of money I was churning through. And I spent much of the remaining time in fear and awe of bed bugs, professional pickpockets and Paul’s late-onset radiance.

At first I thought his new beauty was visible only to me. A special effect of the heat and northern-hemisphere lighting. But then I began to notice the way other young people now looked at Paul—in the hallways of crummy pensions, on humid underground trains.

I tried not to let myself think about it. But Paul must have noticed it, too. And he must have realised he suddenly had more options.

When we got back to Melbourne, I had $278 left in my bank account, and Paul had become quiet and distant. Then one afternoon, he sat me down on the bed in our room and explained that we’d got together ‘too young’. That our lives were too ‘enmeshed’. He wanted to ‘explore other things’. He was a ‘spontaneous’ person, whereas I was ‘quiet’ and ‘organised’ and ‘a planner’. Maybe we were too different. He wanted to travel again, and had bought a ticket to Vietnam.

‘Maybe, I think … we need time apart.’ He was crying as he spat out the cliché. He kept ducking his head and running his hands through his hair—wanting and not wanting me to see his tears.

I didn’t cry. I just sat there, blinking, feeling only shock, not yet pain.

‘Can you be the one to tell your dad and Yvonne?’ I said. My voice came out as a distant croak. He nodded. I got up from the bed, walked to the bathroom and vomited. Then I flushed the toilet, walked down the stairs and left the house. He didn’t try to stop me.

I walked and walked for hours. Yvonne called me when I was somewhere in Fairfield.

 ‘What’s happened between you and Paul is none of my business unless you want it to be my business, sweetheart,’ she said. ‘You’ll get through this, and it’ll make you stronger.’

I could hear her refrigerator’s ice-machine bucketing cubes in the background.

‘But honey, it’s hard, I know it’s hard. This doesn’t have to change things between us. You’re my rock and I can be here for you. Do you want to talk about it?’

‘Not right now. Thanks, Yvonne,’ I said. I was sitting on a bench in a completely unfamiliar pocket park.

‘Dr Yvonne prescribes a night at home watching Beaches and eating ice-cream out of the tub,’ she said, and hung up.

Moving out of that house in Collingwood, and into a new one, was a blur. Rahini told me about a friend of a friend who lived in a flat in Burnley with her sister and a Belgian guy who worked in a bike shop. Paul had to give me money for the bond, which was only fair—he’d persuaded me to burn through all my savings in Europe—but monumentally humiliating. I remember almost nothing from this period, except that I broke out in hives all over my body. Paul and Rahini basically had to arrange the whole thing for me.

Within a few months I had achieved a complete severance from life at the Collingwood house. Rahini moved to Sydney. We’d text sometimes, but that soon petered out. Josh, sweet Josh, made a concerted effort to keep in touch, but I found it painful to see him and to be reminded of old fun times. It didn’t take long for him to give up.

 Paul and I tried to hang out ‘as mates’ a few times after the break-up, and I always tried to get him drunk so he’d want to sleep with me again. It worked a few times, and on those nights I exhausted myself in efforts to provide the bespoke sexual adventure that only I, his first real girlfriend, could possibly deliver. But what did Paul want during this experimental stage of his life? Sensual acupressure? Carnal gymnastics? Maternal hair-stroking? Of course, he wanted all of it, and none of it. I had served my purpose as his entry-level girlfriend and now it was time to move on.

Every time he stayed over, he’d send me a sad little text the next day that would send me into pure, gruesome despair. I don’t think hanging out together is working for either of us. Let’s try to keep some distance for a while.

I’d end up in bed with Jerome, the Belgian guy. He was friendly enough, but during sex he liked to slap my bum and whisper either ‘little bitch’ or ‘little beast’—I was never sure which, or perhaps he was alternating—and, either way, it was weird because I was taller than him by about a metre.

In Burnley, my rent was $180 more a month than what I’d been paying with Paul. And within weeks of me moving in, my new flatmates started talking—in tones too casual for my liking—about maybe disbanding when the lease was up. Maybe they’d move in with a friend in Elsternwick. Maybe they’d move back in with their parents and save some money. Maybe they’d go back to Belgium. The idea that I might have to move out again at any moment put me on edge.

 I hadn’t worried much about money when I was with Paul. We’d pooled our resources. Now I saw how stupid I’d been. I worried about money a lot. My computer was slow and starting to crash all the time. I mentioned this to Yvonne a few times, hoping she’d offer to chip in some money, but she didn’t take the hint.

I dealt with these anxieties, and with my general misery, by working sixty-hour weeks. I continued my work with Yvonne and I worked four, sometimes five, shifts a week at the Rustic Olive.

In my work with Yvonne, I became inconsistent. Things that normally would have taken me hours, took me days. I was slower to respond to inquiries. I sought out fewer new opportunities. I was on autopilot.

We’d meet for coffee and she’d cluck over me, reaching across the table to cup my chin in her hand.

‘You look tired, honey,’ she would say. ‘Take a break, get your nails done, get your hair done, take some time off.’

I did not want to take time off. She was paying me by the hour. So I ignored her and continued my grim, purposeful slog. But about four or five months after my break-up with Paul, I made a mistake when booking an event into Yvonne’s calendar. She arrived at a conference in Mildura—a regional tourism conference she was dreading—one day early.

‘Christina,’ she said in a tight voice over the phone from her serviced apartment, ‘I’ve tried to encourage you to rest, to take time off—from your work with me, and your hospitality work—to take care of yourself. You haven’t done that and now it’s really starting to take a toll, isn’t it?’

‘I’m sorry,’ I whispered. ‘I’m so, so sorry, Yvonne.’

There was a long pause. I heard her sighing deeply. I imagined her in the superior deluxe hotel room I’d booked for her in Mildura, perhaps reclining on the bed in a fluffy robe or pacing the carpet in one of the cashmere turtlenecks she wore for travel.

After a while, she said, ‘You know what, Christina? Maybe you’re just not a rester. You’re a busy girl, with a busy mind, and I get that, I really do. You’re tough, and I like that. But maybe you need to have a think about more nourishing ways to focus that grit and that work ethic. We’ll talk when I get back.’

This felt like a new low. I lay on my greasy bed, crying and shaking. I imagined Yvonne wandering the streets of Mildura, sitting alone in a cafe that didn’t serve her beloved macchiatos, running her hands over ugly scarves in shitty gift shops, killing time, hating me. She was furious, I knew that, even though she’d managed to contain her fury during our phone call.

I was scared. I didn’t think Yvonne would sack me, but I knew her well enough to know that she would certainly take some kind of drastic action. She might force me to go back to Elmsleigh and ‘hike in the mountains’ or something. I tried to imagine my life without working for Yvonne. It was impossible. What would I do if I didn’t have this work?

But when Yvonne got back from Mildura, she called me in high spirits. ‘I turned our little mishap into an opportunity!’ she said. (The our was generous, and I appreciated it.) ‘I spent the day before the conference just reading and reflecting and writing in my journal. I went for a beautiful long walk. And actually there was another guy who arrived on the Friday, a really interesting guy from Perth, and he’s already been in touch about some possible leads. So, it was all very serendipitous!’

She paused for a second, then added in a mock-psycho voice, ‘But never do it again, Christina! Mildura is terrible!’

We both laughed. I was relieved that she wasn’t angry anymore, but the underlying dread lingered. I knew something else was coming.

‘Plus,’ she said, ‘I’ve got some wonderful news for you.’ I held my breath. ‘You’re getting a raise! Tonight, I’m taking you to my favourite little wine bar. Doll up. We’re going to celebrate you.’

‘What?’

She laughed magnificently. ‘I think it’s about time, darling.’

I called in sick to the Rustic Olive. And I even dragged my arse to the Sportsgirl outlet store on Bridge Road and got myself a new top and some earrings.

That night, we drank champagne at a new bar on Lygon Street. It was a beautiful place: exposed brick fireplace and roaring fire, dim Edison lights, specials scrawled on a blackboard, wine bottles on shelves lining every wall.

‘Don’t you just love it here?’ Yvonne said. She slid a leather-bound journal across the table. ‘For scribbling out your dreams,’ she cooed. Inside the journal she’d inscribed, For my wunderkind.

 Yvonne looked superb that night—superb and triumphant—her hair flickering amber in the light from the fire. She kept laughing at my bewilderment. ‘You’ve heard me say a billion times that rewards and recognition are the best motivators. I gotta walk the walk!’

She was loving this moment. And even as it was happening, I could see the incident being packaged into an anecdote for future presentations. (‘What did I do? Did I give this girl her marching orders? Tell her to pack her bags? No, folks. I gave her a raise.’)

She talked that night about her own struggles, and how she’d overcome them. Then over complimentary cocktails (these were presented by beaming waiters for mysterious reasons) she told me about her first husband, who’d talked down to her, who’d made light of her ambitions, who’d expected her goals to come second to his, who’d expected her to ‘pump out babies’ and who had even tried to control her earnings.

‘After my first marriage ended, I threw myself into focusing on myself,’ she said. ‘And I learned more in that time than I ever could have imagined.’

She talked, too, about how women could and should put themselves and each other first.

‘It’s a man’s world,’ she said. ‘We chicks have to stick together.’
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I guess you could say that after the night out with Yvonne—after the wunderkind gift and little pep talk—I followed her example to the letter. Yvonne had thrown herself into focusing on herself. And I, too, threw myself into focusing on Yvonne.

The Rustic Olive closed and a Tex-Mex restaurant, La Esperanza, opened in its place. I stayed on, but cut my shifts back to two per week. Yvonne’s raise didn’t cover the difference, but my tiny remaining speck of self-worth was tied to my work with Yvonne—not just the money, but also her dependence on me. I had to get things back on track.

I started reading again, and looking for new ways to drive and expand the business. I read Forbes and Harvard Business Review and the 4-hour books by Tim Ferris. My research started slowly, then gained momentum and ended up occupying a lot of my time. I’d finished uni, I didn’t have many friends, I didn’t really have much else to do.

I began to focus on content marketing, on building Yvonne’s personal brand and online presence. I started learning and testing content-marketing strategies, focusing my efforts on the blog and on search engine optimisation. I posted on a rigid schedule, twice per week, and built up a list of subscribers to a fortnightly Mailchimp newsletter. To begin with, most of the posts were copy-and-paste jobs from Yvonne’s presentations. I’d find the anecdote or story at the heart of the presentation, tidy up the spelling, add some snappy subheadings, some stock images, a moral to the story, then sign them off with a cutesy graphic—Yvonne’s signature and a little red-headed avatar I’d created using a free online tool called MiniMeMaker. I’d email a preview of each post to Yvonne before publishing, for feedback. She’d usually just write, Gorgeous! Love it! Xx

 I started sharing posts on Facebook. I impressed on Yvonne the importance of collecting data, of promoting the blog as a resource for clients, of climbing in search rankings. I was like a stupid robot, creating more and more indexable pages for the website. Comments started to appear below my posts and under my Facebook links: Great post, Yvonne; This really resonates, so important to embrace change; You go, girl!

It worked surprisingly well—both as a distraction from my own miserable, chronic Paullessness and as a marketing strategy for Yvonne. We really did see a dramatic uptick in inquiries. Nobody else in Yvonne’s market was working their funnels as effectively or as consistently as I was. I used to wonder, back then, why this was the case. Why didn’t everybody else just apply the basic principles of content marketing? Now I know it’s because most sole traders don’t have access to manic $23-per-hour blog gremlins.

Not that blogging was the only thing I did for the business. I still ran all the logistics, liaising with conference centres and hotel people, organising speaking events and workshops. I planned leadership retreats in scenic locations: Byron Bay, Noosa, even the Caledonian Hotel in Elmsleigh a couple of times. (Yvonne tried to make me accompany her on trips to Elmsleigh, but I had excuses ready. There was no way I wanted to see those worlds colliding.)

It was me who convinced Yvonne to invest in high-quality video productions of her presentations and who edited the snippets to share online. It was me who helped Yvonne to develop and trademark the Authentic Leadership Profile Inventory, a thirty-question quiz that helped leaders define their personal leadership style.

Sometimes I thought about Woo-Woo Angelina at the fashion company. And about Paul, and the things he’d said about Yvonne’s work being ‘wanky’ and ‘motivational speaking’. The more I wrote and read and researched the field—the more I learned about the contemporary literature on leadership, habit formation and corporate cultures—the more I began to find this attitude strange. Or not so much strange in itself as strangely beside the point.

How could Paul and Woo-Woo Angelina devalue something that so clearly had market value? When I wrote for the blog I wasn’t thinking about whether the content was accurate, or whether it squared with my own experience. I wrote based on what I thought would get clicks, what would resonate, what would keep a person coming back to the site, what might make them convert.

And Yvonne’s advice was not incorrect or invalid. Much of it was just obvious information delivered with great rhetorical flourish. Some of it was new, interesting and maybe evidence-based. Some of it was fluid and hazy. Like liquid, it assumed the shape of its receptacle. It was all the same to me; I didn’t split hairs. After all, it wasn’t wrong to say, as Yvonne was fond of saying, that if you don’t take a chance, you don’t stand a chance. It wasn’t untrue to say no pressure, no diamonds, either.

Was it true, as Yvonne always said, that your thoughts, and your attitude, create your life?

 Yes. It was true. Well, it was true, except for when it wasn’t true. It was true, except other things were also true. It was true, except that the reverse was also true.

I don’t know exactly how it happened, or when it happened, but at some point I stopped checking the blog posts with Yvonne before I published them. And after a while, I ran out of ways to repackage and repurpose material from Yvonne’s presentations. In order to keep up my publishing schedule, and stay in the top three Google search results for ‘leadership training Melbourne’ and ‘team-building Melbourne’, I began to blog from scratch.

This wasn’t hard. I’d read enough Dale Carnegie, Tony Robbins, Stephen Covey—I mean, I’d read enough Enid Blyton and Ann M. Martin—to know how to write a parable. And so I created Jessica, the ambitious marketing executive at a pharmaceutical company, whose introversion was misinterpreted as arrogance by her colleagues. I wrote about Dave, the brilliant young tech start-up CEO, whose poor presentation skills were costing him potential investors. I wrote blog posts called ‘What’s the Difference Between Honest and Authentic Leadership?’; ‘What Do Women (Leaders) Want?’ and ‘Leadership and the Multitasking Myth’. And the more I read about peak human performance and leadership styles, the more ideas I had for things to write about.

Yvonne and I never discussed this. She was too busy to keep tabs on everything; plus she was big on ‘trust’ and ‘autonomy’. But I know she saw the posts, signed with her name, including case studies of people she had neither personally met nor personally invented.

Did she wrestle with it? Did she think about asking me to start running these posts by her before I published them under her name? Did she make a conscious decision that it just didn’t matter? Did she maybe even believe, on some level, that she had written these posts herself? She had met so many people, heard so many stories, said and read so many things—it was feasible that all of this was still just a repackaging of her own knowledge and her own ideas.

Perhaps it just happened for her the way it happened for me: as a gradual but natural extension of my responsibilities, of the blending of my persona with hers as part of the functions of what she called our ‘small-but-mighty well-oiled team machine’.
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I’D MANAGED TO SCHEDULE ALMOST all client sessions in the first half of the school holidays into the days that Sam was away with Paul.

It was too stressful to do client sessions with Sam at home. If it couldn’t be avoided, I made him stay in his room with his headphones on. We had an emergency system if he needed to get my attention while I was on a video call: he should roll his basketball at my feet under my desk without showing his face. He’d only used the emergency signal once, ominously rolling the ball—and scaring the shit out of me—only to show me a castle he’d built in Minecraft ‘with a very special purple quartz bedroom for my turtles’. He never did that again.

Seb was the first cab off the rank on Monday morning, dialling in at 9.30 am from his shiny white apartment on the Gold Coast. He talked about helping a mate tile his bathroom, while honing his own coaching skills. ‘And while we’re working with our hands, I’m doing some pro-bono coaching and we’re focusing on some of his limiting belief systems.’

He wasn’t ready yet to ‘pull the trigger’ on importing the massage chairs from Portugal, though. A week earlier, Seb had sent me a promo video from the company whose chairs he wanted to import. The video showed a young woman in an evening gown, gliding through a showroom of throbbing furniture, then settling into a massage chair and explicating its squeezing and kneading settings. Grotesque. Anyway, I wasn’t in the mood for squeezing and kneading information out of Seb. I told myself I’d put more effort in with him next time.

Next was Goat-milk Rebecca. We talked for a while about her ‘money mindset issues’. When she fussed with her hair, I saw her acrylic nails, eggshell blue, and each almost an inch in length. How did she turn doorknobs and change tampons with those nails? Had she ever personally milked a goat with those claws? I wished Astrid knew Rebecca. I would have loved to have seen her impersonation.

Rebecca wanted to rehearse her presentation for an upcoming allergy-and-wellness expo. Fine. Perfect. But her son—a doughy, pig-eyed little organism—kept barging in. Eventually Rebecca let him sit on her lap and play with the mouse and keyboard. For the last fifteen minutes of our session, we shouted about natural emollients over a psychotic blitz of pinging emojis and switching virtual backgrounds: beach paradise, Sahara desert, outer space.

I was pretty tired by the time I got to Julian. He dialled in from a holiday house, somewhere on the Central Coast. He was sitting outside, with a tropical garden behind him. In holiday mode, he was experimenting with facial hair: a patchy salt-and-pepper fuzz that it was hard not to take personally.

He was in a sombre mood. Blaze’s pitch to the beer client had failed. Julian secreted twenty minutes’ worth of chagrin on this topic, then we chewed over some broader questions of talent retention and refreshment. Blaze staff had just completed personal Wellbeing and Development Surveys.

‘A few people asked for more travel opportunities with Blaze,’ he said. ‘There’s a job with a Spanish development coming up next year. I hope that two weeks in Malaga on my dime is not what they have in mind!’

I laughed the necessary laugh.

‘Really,’ he said, pushing his glasses up his nose, ‘it’s so hard to figure out how to handle people who are great, but who are just not the right fit for where Blaze is heading, especially as we look to do more storytelling outside the property space.’

‘Right, right.’

‘Certainly, I’ll try to action some of the asks from the survey but there are some people who are just whingers, aren’t there?’

‘Mmmmm.’

‘I know there’s the whole cliché over here of whingeing Poms, but I’ve met quite a few Aussies who’d give the English a run for their money!’

We shared a knowing chuckle, then a silence descended. The silence lasted just a fraction too long, and that fraction threw our whole conversation into sharp relief. I had hardly spoken at all in half an hour. With alarm, I sensed that this same realisation was dawning on Julian. I’d been phoning it in.

I snapped into focus, switching to my notes tab.

‘Last week we talked about business development,’ I said brightly. ‘And I’ve been itching to return to that conversation. You were exploring the potential to branch out more into the hospitality space.’

He nodded, steepling his fingers. ‘Yes, hotels and hospitality here in Australia. We’re looking to reach out to some new clients but it’s so important to partner with the right clients.’

‘Cultural alignment has always been so important for you,’ I said. ‘Let’s revisit our client values map …’

For the last fifteen minutes, I performed a strenuous routine of rhetorical flips and tumbles, working hard to scrub that uncomfortable moment from Julian’s memory. I didn’t want to lose him. Or Astrid.

After we ended the call, I spent a tiresome hour sculpting Julian’s business-development gurgles into an inspiring Cultivating Clients document. I included mood-board imagery and the names of dream clients who might align with Julian’s stated values of elegance, artisanal, heritage, idiosyncratic, experiential, storytelling. It took me a while to craft this list of dream clients—what did I know about snooty restaurants and idiosyncratic hotels? Still, once I’d started down the path, I forced myself to finish the job. Julian would love it. I knew one idiosyncratic hotel, at least: the Caledonian in Elmsleigh. The rest I randomly scratched together from architecture and design websites.
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What should I do with my free time in the evenings without Sam around? I knew what I should do. I should renew my efforts to find new clients. I should get in touch with Rebecca to offer an extra session to rehearse her presentation. I should try to add value so she’d renew.

I should catch up on those neurosculpting podcasts. But I was coming down with something: I had a blocked nose and a foggy head. In the end, I just spent the night blowing my nose and staring into assorted screens.

I checked in on some of my dummy social accounts. Astrid had either rejected or ignored all the follow requests for her real account. So had @snooferrr. They weren’t stupid.

But I’d noticed an increase in activity on the @astridmwendell portfolio account in the last couple of weeks. Astrid was posting more regularly. This week she’d posted, for the first time, a time-lapse video that showed her work in progress. For the first time, too, she’d included a more detailed caption.

In my day job, working for clients, I’m usually trying to draw figures that are simple, appealing or archetypal. With my drawings of plants and insects, I’m trying to show all the intricacy and weirdness.

Reading these words brought a rush of pleasure. I was helping her! These were the exact words from our sessions together! I noted, too, that this latest post had attracted more comments than usual. Love the work-in-progress; Beautiful; Do you ever work with graphite?

 In a burst of activity, I followed these commenters and a few others associated with the account.

While I was waiting to see how that went, I lost an hour in a Google Street View haze. Astrid had lived in so many different cities. What did Jakarta look like? I had never been anywhere in Indonesia. I began to click randomly all over the map of the city. Construction sites, highways, malls, overcast grey skies, multi-level carparks, tennis courts. Shops in laneways with terracotta roofs. Vendors of brooms, buckets and ceiling fans. Playgrounds. Tropical gardens. Krispy Kreme outlets. School children with pixelated faces.

What if there was a way to meet Astrid in person? What if she came to Melbourne to visit friends, or on a work trip? Impossible. But if it were possible, where would it happen? What kind of place would she like? Maybe that bar in Carlton that Yvonne used to take me to? Was that place still even open? Would Astrid even like it?

I imagined myself there with Astrid—maybe slamming back cocktails and laughing riotously, maybe sipping a subtle pinot gris, discussing art and books and travel. I caught myself in these cringeful thoughts, inwardly winced, then forgot I was wincing and sank back into the reverie.

What if the two of us went into business together, some kind of digital-content partnership—me on words, her on design. What if we were co-directors, and had offices in Sydney and Melbourne? What if Sam and I moved to Sydney and lived by the beach?

 There were some other regrettable sequences in the same vein: Astrid thanking me at an awards night, Astrid hosting me for a cosy one-pan chicken-and-rice dinner in her fragrant inner-city apartment. Did she cook well? I suspected not. I imagined she went out a lot. I imagined an almost-empty refrigerator with just a bottle of white wine and a jar of olives.

How many languages could Astrid speak? I knew her German was schrrrecklick. How was her Indonesian? Could she speak Cantonese? How old was Astrid? Younger than me, I guessed. I usually steered clear of youths, fearing that they were better at the internet than me, though I’d made a few exceptions for some extra-stupid influencer babies. There were no dates on her LinkedIn qualifications. She couldn’t possibly have been younger than twenty-eight or twenty-nine.

She was younger than me, almost certainly, but her world was big: big and—what was the word?—profuse, without her really trying. It zoomed out across continents, but also zoomed in to microscopic fungal spores.

I blew my nose and shoved the tissue up my pyjama sleeve, reflecting with bitterness on my own narrow frame of reference. Who might I have been, if some stern continental Renaissance woman had taken me by the hand, led me through forests, taught me the names of plants and animals in my third language? Who might I have been, if I’d lived in major metropolises and had friends dotted across the globe? Who might I have been, if I’d tried to work at good creative agencies instead of pissing away my early career years with Yvonne?

 I checked back on the results of my Instagram-follow blitz. Not a huge success. I was now following two new accounts: a Jakarta-based Al Jazeera reporter and a Sydney fashion lesbian. The first had no images on the grid of Astrid—just press conferences, sporting events, awards ceremonies, natural disasters. The Sydney fashion lesbian was a prolific poster, who had published an avalanche of stories in the short time since I’d followed her. None of Astrid, but I scrolled deep into the grid—past the holidays in Greece, the behind-the-scenes editorial shots—and found some pictures of a house party back in February.

There was Astrid: winged liquid eyeliner, deep-red shift dress, glass of white wine. She was posing with an angular boy who wore an ugly but perhaps important beanie. Her smile was unfocused. The other people at the party were dressed in a similar style to Astrid. Plain, almost androgynous clothes in fine cuts and fabrics. Challenging hairstyles. Confusing accessories. Definitely not Blaze people. In the background: wine bottles, industrial light fittings. Was that a cabbage flower arrangement?

I rubbed my eyes; honked my nose again. When had I last been to a party? When had I last done anything arty or cultural, just for personal enrichment?

I sat up suddenly, pulled down the covers and swivelled off the bed. I walked over to the bookcase and crouched to the lower shelves, where I kept the books I’d never actually read, the books I’d bought on impulse or in overly ambitious fits of self-improvement: The Road, Beloved, Mrs Dalloway, The House of Mirth. I chose The House of Mirth because it seemed like the most fun. The cover image showed a woman wearing a big nineteenth-century hat and a sullen gaze.

I closed my laptop and put it on the floor. Then I hopped into bed and opened The House of Mirth to the first page. I was sucked straight in to Grand Central Station, New York, and into the fraught flirtation between Miss Lily Bart and Lawrence Selden.

Next thing I knew, it was 1.30 am and I was still with Lily. Now she was alone in her room at the opulent Bellomont estate and fully freaking out about her finances after a stressful night losing at bridge. I should go to sleep.
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The next day, Paul brought Sam back home from their camping trip. Sam’s little face was covered in weeping mosquito-bite lesions.

‘I’m wondering if he’s maybe not getting as much outdoor time as he needs,’ Paul said to me, folding his arms and leaning against the door of his car. Sam buried his face in my hip. ‘I mean, during term time.’

It had rained overnight, but the sun was bright now. I put one of my hands on Sam’s head and the other up to my forehead, shielding my eyes from the sun. I tried to discourage Paul’s spasms of fatherly intervention. I smiled faintly from beneath my hand until Paul looked away.

 ‘Okay, well … I better be off. I hope you had a nice break, Chris. Bye, Sam.’

That night, I’d planned to message Rebecca to offer her an extra session to rehearse her presentation for the allergy expo. But the hours passed instead in a blur of antihistamines, calamine lotion and tantrums. I fell asleep in Sam’s bed with a storybook on my chest. By the time I remembered to get in touch with Rebecca again the following week, the expo had been and gone.
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DESPITE MY CONSISTENT EFFORTS AND results, Yvonne eventually dumped me, too. It happened not long after Catchthe Curl by Craig Hedges came out.

Craig Hedges was a guy in Sydney who led the ‘leadership mentor Sydney’ Google search category and did a lot of the same stuff that Yvonne did. Catch the Curl was his business/surfing self-help manifesto, with wide margins and 14-point font.

I saw him speak once, at a funds-management industry conference. His backstory was all about surf lifesaving. He’d been a champion of some sort, and he was well known to people in New South Wales and Queensland. He was good. Deep voice, broad shoulders, easy body language, nicely crafted anecdotes. His hair was almost as good as Yvonne’s: sandy blonde, and very thick and plentiful for a man in his forties or early fifties.

 Anyway, Catch the Curl got quite a bit of press, and this threw Yvonne off her game. For the first time, I began to notice the effort she expended. I began to see hints of strain. I felt sorry for her. It was unfair. Craig was good, but he wasn’t as good as Yvonne. He wasn’t as warm, wasn’t as exuberant or as funny, wasn’t as captivating. Yvonne was getting plenty of work, of course, but not the kind of work she wanted. She wanted to get into the ‘expert and authority space’, to be a ‘media player’, to do public-facing events, to work with more ‘cutting-edge creatives’ and do less talks for ‘suits’.

And so, Yvonne decided it was time for her to reboot.

She invited me out to that same wine bar in Carlton—the one where she’d given me the raise and journal—to make the big announcement.

‘Huge news, I’m taking a crazy risk, a crazy big step. I’m taking a sabbatical. I’m writing my book, writing my story. I’m going to the States! I’m going to reconnect with some people I knew when I was doing my MBA, look into some of the latest research.’

‘Wow!’ I said. I blinked and sipped my drink.

‘It’s time for me to set you free!’ Yvonne said, flinging her arms out. ‘It’s time for me to push you out into the wide world and let other people benefit from your brilliant brain.’

‘When … How long are you—’

‘At least a year, perhaps more.’ She was beaming. ‘I’ll be writing, studying, researching—perhaps I’ll do some more private career-coaching … And you’ve set such a wonderful foundation for the blog. I’ll be doing lots more research and talking to a lot of inspiring people, so I’ll do interviews, posts, guest blogs and all that stuff myself.’

It took me a while to digest what she was saying. I hardly heard her for the rest of the night, as she prattled on about her big plans—for herself and for me. I began to drink quickly.

‘But my advice to you,’ she was saying, ‘is to go out on your own, start your own venture. You’ve always enjoyed that autonomy, that flexibility …’
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I ate a lot of corn chips in those first few months after Yvonne left. I’d always taken a lot of food home from La Esperanza, and now I started turning up to work with a duffel bag and stuffing two big bags of corn chips into it after each shift. Nobody noticed, or perhaps nobody cared. In my downtime—and I now had a lot of it—I would sit on the floor in my bedroom, crunching through the starchy triangles, tearing the flesh on the roof of my mouth.

Yvonne only ever posted twice on the blog after she left. She wasn’t a good writer—she wasn’t a good speller—and so all that traction, those rankings I’d worked hard to achieve over the years, quickly slipped away.

I was able to pick up one more shift per week at the restaurant, but that was it. I started using my credit card to pay rent. I had to get another job fast.

Yvonne hadn’t left without some email introductions to a couple of ‘friends and key contacts’. I went to coffee meetings with David, a retail designer, and Nick, who ran an ad agency in South Melbourne, and Nicola, who had clothing stores in South Yarra and Albert Park, and Beth, who ran a big-deal PR and content business in Richmond.

‘And you were in this role with Yvonne for … how many years?’ they’d ask.

‘Around seven years.’

‘Seven?’

It wasn’t until I had to start saying this out loud that I realised how pathetic it sounded. I was now in my late twenties and since Yvonne was a one-person enterprise, most people seemed to think it was all a bit odd, possibly a defect, a symptom of a failure of imagination.

This was true enough. And the more I thought about it, the more I realised that this was just one of several major failures of imagination. I’d been living in the same house for almost five years—since I’d moved out of the share house with Paul. Jerome and the sisters had moved on and I was now the elder stateswoman of the house; the one who knew how to break in if you forgot your keys, how to unblock the toilet.

For another thing, I was still at the Rustic Olive, even if it wasn’t called that anymore, even if it was now enchiladas and corn chips instead of smoky chicken pizza. For yet another thing—and this was probably the worst one—I’d started sleeping with Paul again in the months before Yvonne left. I hadn’t seen or spoken to him for well over a year when he texted me drunk one night, having just broken up with some other girl. I’d read the text and thought: Why not? Was I busy? No. Did I feel like seeking out better options? No.

I had no illusions. I knew Paul was just reaching for a convenient and disposable option. But instead of resenting this, it gave me a restored sense of power. And after Yvonne left, his frequent bitchy remarks about her were cathartic. ‘How hilarious,’ he’d say, ‘I mean, empowering, that Yvonne talked my dad into buying that place on the Peninsula and then just fucked off to Boston.’

But I knew none of this was good for me. And none of it reflected well on me. And so, in my coffee meetings with Yvonne’s contacts, I tried to downplay my weird loyalty and stress my enthusiasm to jump into something new.

It was hard to drink coffee when the roof of my mouth was red-raw with corn chip abrasions. But it was possible to listen, and to talk. I followed Yvonne’s lead, and Dale Carnegie’s instructions.

‘I was looking at your website and I love the campaign you did for Pizzarama,’ I would say. And that would set them off for a good ten minutes.

‘I was researching your retail clients and some of those briefs must have been incredibly challenging.’ They would nod with vigour and rattle on.

‘Great question!’ they’d say. ‘Spot on!’

I used to have a recurring dream about those coffee meetings. Except in the dream I’d be sitting opposite Yvonne instead of one of her mates. I’d be sitting there, with my coffee in front of me, and I’d feel strangely powerful, strangely elated, as a river of hot blood gushed from the roof of my mouth, flowing out from between my teeth right across the table, while Yvonne, untroubled, talked about how change is not scary, change is exciting, change forces us to reinvent ourselves.

I got bits of copywriting and social-media jobs that lasted for four weeks, or four web pages, where I was paid $21 per hour or maybe thirty cents per word. Unfortunately, money was always ‘tight’ for these people, who pulled up for our coffee meetings in luxury SUVs.

I wasted many long nights in boozy staff lock-ins at La Esperanza or with the people from the bar next door. These often ended in sessions of bad techno in damp underground vaults, where I’d either fend off or submit to my workmates’ jerky methamphetamic advances, depending on how tired I was.

Often I ended up at the clubs all by myself. Young men would spot me, a loner, and they’d sit next to me, maybe buy me a drink, and then they’d start screaming in my ear.

Usually they’d get bored with me—I couldn’t summon the effort to yell back—and wander off. But sometimes they’d just keep on screaming, and I’d close my eyes for a while and give in to the whole process. The next morning I’d wake up next to a sleeping bozo in a bedroom deep in the south-eastern suburbs. If the guy had cash lying around, I’d pocket it on my way out the door. Other times I’d come home to my own place and pass out with a half-eaten kebab next to my head. I’d wake up in the morning and finish the kebab.

The owners of the Burnley flat sold up and the new owners increased the rent by $60 per week. I had to move out. I didn’t get my full deposit back—various people had damaged various things—and I had to go to Bridge Creek, where Dad now lived, and stay with him.

After a month of rock-bottom gloom—filthy sofa bed, Law & Order: Special Victims Unit, designated driver to the Commercial Hotel—I came back to Melbourne and moved in to a flat in Abbotsford, sight unseen, with a crusty Adelaide couple.

The day I moved in, I saw there was no furniture in the living room—just a TV and a PlayStation. A Doberman was snoozing on a stained Little Mermaid doona next to the door. I remember looking at the sleeping dog, its chest rising and falling with its breath, and thinking that I didn’t care if it woke up and ate me.
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MID-WINTER WAS ICY, WITH FOUL, damp winds. Before school in the mornings, Sam drew smiley faces in the condensation on our windows.

By this point, my cold had descended into something very heavy, with a sinister, suffocating quality. My coughing was prolific and colourful. My chest ached even when I wasn’t coughing. I was hopelessly sleepy, and I moved through the days in a kind of molasses of mind and body. Everything was so hard. Coffee had no effect. I’d lost my appetite. Sam and I both cried when I brushed his hair in the mornings.

‘You’re hurting me. Why are you being so mean?’ he kept saying.

I was mean to him in the mornings—impatient and snappy—though he didn’t think I was so mean after school. I let him spend every waking non-school hour on the iPad or watching movies on my laptop. There was no point going to the doctor. I’d had awful colds and bronchitis before—you just had to wait them out.

One Wednesday afternoon, my work phone pinged while I sat in my car outside school waiting to pick up Sam.

Julian: Wow massive couple of days at Blaze HQ

Julian: All our ideating is starting to pay off

There were still a few minutes before the bell. Enough time for one of our sterile little dialogues.

Ruth: That’s fantastic Julian

Julian: I met yesterday with Angus Hailey—he owns a bunch of fine dining spots in the eastern suburbs

Ruth: Exciting stuff, tell me more

Julian: And we had a promising Zoom with the guys from the Caledonian Hotel, which is a heritage hotel down in Victoria

I swallowed hard and my ears popped. My sinuses were a network of wet cement, and the sudden collision of worlds startled me into further congestion. I stretched my jaw, coughed, typed straight back.

Ruth: Tell me more about your meeting with the Caledonian people

Julian: They’re looking at a campaign for interstaters, we reached out at just the right time.

Blaze Productions and the Caledonian Hotel. The combination was jarring. I was normally so careful to keep things compartmentalised. But there was an edge of thrill to my disturbance, too. I’d never expected Julian to take my Cultivating Client mood board so literally. Gratifying to know that I could influence events with just the power of suggestion—not even suggestion, more like allusion. I started typing back with more questions, but he beat me to it.

Julian: I’m thinking of sending Astrid down there to meet them in person, they seemed to love her in the meeting

Julian: She talked about wanting more travel opportunities in her wellbeing survey so

I flipped my phone face-down on the passenger seat and sat back very suddenly, drumming my fingernails on the steering wheel and staring ferociously at the number plate of the car parked in front of me. I inhaled sharply, then snatched my phone back up again.

Ruth: Are you planning to head down yourself? When is the meeting happening?

Julian: Maybe even next week, strike while the iron’s hot

The bell rang. I ended the chat and made my way to the school gate. I walked fast: accidental puppet-master, rattled and exhilarated by what I’d set in motion.
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I checked my appearance on screen in the minutes before my Thursday call with Astrid. Seb had cancelled our session that morning, so I had a bit more time to focus on my outfit. I’d bought a new scarf and I’d decided to tie it in a new style; a style I’d seen the Sydney fashion lesbian wearing in her social posts. I had to watch a YouTube tutorial to learn how to tie it just right.

 ‘It’s making me hot to see you in that turtleneck and scarf,’ Astrid said when she logged on. She flapped her hand in front of her face. ‘It’s weirdly humid here today. Hang on, I’m going to open a window.’

She was at home again, but sitting on the opposite side of the table, facing the light. She looked like she’d been exercising, or was planning to exercise. Her hair was held back by a thick black elastic band. She looked younger like that. Younger and more—what was the word—approachable, maybe? Behind her, I saw the top of a couch and some jackets on hooks mounted on the wall. Did she have a guest? Or did she just own many jackets? I liked to think she lived there alone, that every aspect of the environment—the hanging plant, the crockery—was controlled and chosen by Astrid herself.

‘So! How has your week been?’

‘Ah, well, I’m trying to draw a banksia.’ She screwed up her face. ‘It’s awful, a failure. Oma would be horrified.’

What did she want to hear? ‘It’s not a failure until you give up on it,’ I said. That was one of Yvonne’s.

She laughed and winced. ‘True, true. I’m not really enjoying it, though. So what’s the point?’

‘Why did you start it?’

‘The texture is difficult,’ she said. ‘I wanted to challenge myself but …’ She trailed off.

I smiled; waited. ‘Sometimes it’s hard to motivate yourself to work on things where there’s no deadline.’

‘I guess I’m struggling to access a flow state.’ She delivered the last two words with pointed irony.

 I laughed; just a professional laugh. I wasn’t sure where to take this. Then I remembered a trick—another one of Yvonne’s.

‘Well,’ I said, ‘I’ll give you a deadline. I’ll see a completed banksia drawing this time next week.’ She bent closer to the camera for a second, perhaps lowering the cat to the floor, and I saw her sceptical expression.

‘Or what?’

‘Or …’ I thought about it for a while. Then, recklessly, I said, ‘Or I’ll try to talk Julian into group coaching sessions—the three of us.’

Her eyes bulged. ‘I can’t believe you just said that.’

I smirked; said nothing. I felt triumphant.

‘Okay,’ she said, laughing. ‘It’s a deal.’

At the same time, we both reached for our mugs and sipped. Now was my chance to ask about Elmsleigh. I cleared my throat, then delivered the subtle, rehearsed question.

‘And what’s coming up at Blaze?’

‘We didn’t get the beer job,’ she said. ‘But I have some travel coming up. Going to Victoria to see a potential new client.’

‘Oh,’ I said, working hard to maintain my cool. ‘Where are you headed?’

‘A town called Elmswood.’

‘Elmsleigh?’

She laughed at herself. ‘Oops, Elmsleigh, that’s it.’

‘When are you going there?’

‘Next Friday, I think.’

She didn’t seem too excited about it, but just hearing her say ‘Elmsleigh’ made me light-headed. The feeling took me back to—of all places—the birthing suite at the Royal Women’s Hospital, where the midwives gave me laughing gas when I was in labour with Sam. I was on the verge of giggling. I pressed for more.

‘Will you stay for the weekend?’

She stretched her arms up over her head and yawned the next word. ‘Maaaaybe.’

I just sat there, vibrating at my laptop, willing her to say more.

‘I was thinking of going skiing,’ she went on, cupping her chin in her hand and gazing up into a corner of her room. ‘Apparently the snow’s really good at the moment. The idea of skiing in Australia is kind of weird, though. I’ve never done it. Have you ever been skiing out there?’

I was seized by a coughing fit. It was a roiling, phlegmy cough that got to me before I had a chance to mute my mic.

‘Uh, are you okay? That sounds bad.’

I recovered, but my eyes were bloodshot. I looked terrible. I cleared my throat. ‘Bit of a cough, sorry. Anyway, no, I’m not much of a skier. Is Julian going, too?’

‘Probably,’ she said neutrally. She was going to say something else—I hope not—but stopped herself. The skiing idea was surely just a way to avoid spending time with him. She must have been dreading the trip. ‘He seems pretty keen to get this client so …’

‘And do you think you’ll stay at the Caledonian?’ At this, I saw a flicker across her brow. She was confused or making some kind of calculation. I scrambled for a smooth correction. ‘Julian told me a little bit about the project earlier this week.’

Her expression relaxed. ‘Oh, right. Yes, the client suggested staying there. Supposed to be very nice.’

Astrid changed the subject and I barely listened as she returned to talk of her banksia attempt, and of some Australian artist, Celia someone, who had dedicated her life to painting the entire Banksia genus. But with her trip to Elmsleigh confirmed, I was anxious for the call to end. I wanted to be alone with my own whirling thoughts. I wanted to enter into my own private ecstasy of improbable images and combinations: Astrid at the front bar of the Caledonian Hotel. Astrid in ski gear waiting outside my old house for the shuttle bus up the mountain. Astrid at Elmsleigh FoodWorks. Unsettling, mesmerising images. So strange to imagine her—rare, migratory bird—among the landmarks of my own childhood.

I wrapped up the conversation five minutes early and spent an hour lying on my bed, staring up at the ceiling, indulging these visions. The daydream was fascinating, and it wasn’t even a daydream. It was the future; a future that I had played a role in devising. I wanted to be in it, or at least to observe it. Was it possible? Was there a way for me to actually see her in real life, from a safe distance? Maybe there was, I reasoned. And once I ventured down that road of reasoning, of rationalising, of formulating a plan, I couldn’t stop it. This plan was not only possible—it was irresistible.

 There was only one thing, or one person, who could stop it from happening.

I fumbled under my pillow for my phone.

Me: Hey Paul. Is there a chance we could swap your next weekend? Can you pick up Sam from school Friday after next?
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DID TIME HEAL MY CORN chip wounds? No. Even now I sometimes eat spicy nuts or certain kinds of crackers and feel the reminiscent sting on the roof of my mouth that takes me straight back to that awful year after Yvonne left. Whether this is the result of real permanent nerve damage or some kind of phantom sensation, I can’t be sure.

The post-Yvonne recovery was not a matter of picking myself up and dusting myself off. It was more like a slow aggregation, a recollecting and reassembling of my parts, so that I was eventually able to operate again.

One of those coffee meetings eventually led to some casual work that eventually led to a part-time job, then a full-time job. By my twenty-ninth birthday I was living in a more respectable share house in North Melbourne and working as a copywriter at a content agency in Collingwood. They operated out of a converted warehouse space with beanbags, a ping-pong table, a neon sign above the boss’s desk that read STAY CURIOUS and no sanitary bins in the women’s toilets. From this headquarters, I pumped out words about sneakers, beer, insurance and doggy daycare.

It was hard work, not well paid, but I was good at talking in various brand voices. Nobody called me a young whippersnapper anymore, but my bosses told me I had a ‘bright future’. I was a ‘content unicorn’, they said, good at copywriting and social, but with basic design and video-editing skills, too.

I ascended, but not quickly. I won friends, I believe, but not influence. I knew how to listen, to commiserate, to laugh at people’s jokes and make benign jokes of my own. But I didn’t care much about work anymore. It was enough for me to present at the office each day, complete my tasks, meet my deadlines, get paid and go home.

When I worked for Yvonne there was a clear line between cause and effect; between my effort and the satisfying outcome. (You’ve always enjoyed that autonomy, that flexibility.) Things were murkier with multiple clients and complex approval systems and the necessity of working towards strategies I hadn’t devised myself. This was all perhaps for the best. I looked forward to my takeaway coffee in the morning and my banh mi at lunch.

I drove out to see Dad that Christmas, surveyed his circumstances (decrepit, but inertly so) and drove back home again. I shared meals with my housemates and went to the pub for Friday knock-offs with people from work. I chipped away at the credit-card debt I’d racked up during my post-Yvonne breakdown and tried to set some money aside in savings.

I had a boyfriend for a couple of months—a pink, practically hairless Nathan, whom I met on a dating site—though I didn’t really like him that much, and I don’t think he liked me that much, either. He got tired, after a while, of trying to find me interesting. ‘You’re so secretive,’ he’d say, working hard over a picnic blanket and a bottle of wine. ‘You’re so hard to read.’

I didn’t visit him in hospital when he got venous thrombosis, and we broke up after that.

Paul and Yvonne lurked in the background of my life. I saw them online. Paul posted pictures of holidays and parties and special occasions with friends and girlfriends. Yvonne found her natural medium in Instagram, and over time built up an impressive following, posting mindset tips and motivational quotes and various vivacious photos and videos in scenic settings. A lot of the time I couldn’t tell where she was posting from—the States? Melbourne?—and I sensed this was deliberate.

I continued to see Paul in real life sometimes, though months passed without us talking at all. He’d usually get in touch after some disappointing romantic or sexual interlude. This was fine with me. For the most part, I preferred sex with Paul than with other men that I’d tried to enjoy sex with. He was selfish and condescending, but also efficient, and that was the kind of thing I appreciated.

From time to time I’d experience a moment when the thin veneer of respectable, predictable life buffed away and the precious balance of things snapped into sudden focus. I’d thrill to the danger of everyday reality. At any second, I could wreak havoc on my own life—lose my prospects and social footing—with one small action. The idea was exhilarating.

I would be standing with a group of workmates around somebody’s desk singing happy birthday to a junior graphic designer and I’d think: what if I pick up Toby’s birthday cake and hurl it at the colour printer? What if I pluck the burning candle out from the icing and sink it into Rachel’s ponytail? What if I press my nose into Rohan’s neck and inhale his glorious aftershave? What if I reach out right now and squeeze the soft flesh of Cassandra’s hand?

I would never do any of those things. I would finish singing happy birthday to Toby and enlist my facial musculature in a smile to gladden the heart of Dale Carnegie. Then I’d walk to my desk and get back to work.
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The pregnancy with Paul wasn’t inevitable. But it sort of was inevitable, too. Sleeping together was our gross little vice, the filthy security blanket we both knew was stuffed in the cupboard, even if we went years without touching it.

Paul got dumped not long after my thirtieth birthday. We ended up in bed together, and we didn’t use protection, because that would have meant dropping the pretence that the whole episode was drunk and impulsive instead of pathetically predictable.

 One month later, I was puking in the gutter on the way to work.

I was thoroughly disturbed at first. I think I’d never truly believed my body was capable of such things. I was not, on any level, prepared to have a baby. I’d never even thought about it. I didn’t really like children or babies. I was earning $63,000 a year. I lived with three housemates. I knew that Paul would be horrified.

But there were other, far less reasonable things happening in my brain, and those things quickly gained an exponential momentum. It was almost as though the baby’s presence was not just inside my body, preparing to shift and feed off my organs, but inside my head, too, ransacking my ideas, refurnishing my mind. On the tram, at work, at home in my quiet room, my mind raced and soared. Then it flipped.

I don’t really know how to describe it. Over the course of just a few weeks, I travelled a vast and improbable distance: from stupefaction and horror to the suspicion that I might have—for once and by accident—struck a true note in my life.

Could I do this? Could I just charge ahead and create two new people: a baby and a mother? Who would stop me? The whole idea was electrifying.

Fuck Paul, I thought, with sudden, rash clarity. Fuck Paul and fuck everyone. Fuck absolutely everyone. Aberrant thoughts rang out in my head like a siren or a bell: I wanted my baby. I had never wanted or looked forward to anything so much in my whole life.

 It’s hard to know if I was properly nuts back then, or just experiencing a demonic lucidity. Definitely, once I fell in love with the idea, I miscalculated many future challenges. And definitely Paul believed I had lost my mind.

He began by treating the whole situation as some kind of paranormal affront (‘But how is this possible?’), then progressed into carefully worded caution (‘Do you feel like either of us is in the right place to have a baby?’), before settling—what else could he do?—into resigned platitudes (‘Well, it’s your body and ultimately it’s up to you …’). I knew he hated and dreaded the whole thing, and I knew Yvonne would have thought it was stupid—‘not the right time’—too. The more I thought about this, the more I relished my rebellion. I was reducing Paul to a sperm donor. And I was unleashing a feral form of potential that was beyond Yvonne’s capabilities.

Soon I’d passed ten, then twelve, then twenty weeks. Paul kept his distance, and I, too, watched myself from a distance, observing my changing mind and body with a mixture of terror and wonder and reckless elation.

The morning sickness passed quickly and very soon I was glowing, actually glowing, the way pregnant women are supposed to glow. I looked and felt supremely good. I read all the books, learned everything there was to know. My workmates seemed bewildered, then—was I imagining this?—awed by my transformation.

I had new and insane appetites. On my lunchbreaks at work I ate giant sandwiches and drank zesty Boost Juice concoctions—sharp blends of pineapple, ginger and grapefruit that drove my saliva glands wild. My hair was thick and glossy. I looked at my reflection in the mirror in the mornings and combed my golden mane, and thought of those Rachel Hunter shampoo ads from my childhood: ‘It won’t happen overnight, but it will happen.’

When I was supposed to be blogging about insurance, or figuring out exactly how I was going to make this all work financially, I lost myself in fantasies about the kind of mother I was going to be. One of those mothers who hiked mountains with their baby strapped to their chest? One of those rockabilly mothers with red lipstick and tatts, who breastfed at the pub? An earthmother with an improvised muslin sling? I would be some kind of superlative and highly original combo. I would be a great mother, an outstanding mother.

No more plodding along without purpose, without clarity, accepting whatever others chose to give me until the day they stopped. I would suit myself for once. I would advance on an audacious adventure. I was going to love the absolute shit out of this child and it would love the absolute shit out of me. How was I going to manage it? I would figure it out later. I’d dug my way out of straits before. I’d wing it. I would throw the cake at the colour printer and see what happened next.
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I’D NEVER PAID MUCH AT TENTION to this place on Loch Street, off Elmsleigh’s main drag, growing up. I flicked through the photos on the Airbnb listing. The narrow brick building looked like it might have once been a union hall, or a place of worship for an obscure Christian denomination. Now it was an exercise physiology and rehab practice, with the top floor available for short-stay accommodation.

I looked carefully into the host’s Airbnb profile, then triangulated this info with her business website and social platforms. Tree-changer from Melbourne, apparently. Nobody I knew, or who knew me.

I cross-referenced photos from Airbnb with Google Street View, too. The building was not far at all from the main street. From the window, I was pretty sure, there’d be a good view of the Caledonian Hotel carpark and part of the beer garden. I didn’t discover until I got there, though, that if you stood on the toilet and looked through a little window, you could also see parts of the Caledonian reception centre.

I was lucky to get the place, and not just for the amazing carpark view. It was ski season, and a good year for snow. Then again, it was also $180 per night, which wasn’t lucky at all—it was actually outrageous for a draughty old converted hall with IKEA furnishings and shrieking pipes—but once my mind was set, I smothered these quibbles.

I’d done all my shopping for the weekend on Thursday after school pick-up. At Coles, I put bread rolls, ham, cheese, tomatoes and two 2-litre bottles of Coke in the trolley. I almost added a bag of salted peanuts, but peanuts seemed too much like a snack in a stake-out scene from a cop movie. Embarrassed for myself, I put the peanuts back on the shelf and picked some eggs instead. I also grabbed a bag of oranges, a box of Nurofen and three packets of Fisherman’s Friend. My cough was still absolutely filthy. I’d tested for Covid three times in the last two weeks. Negative, negative, negative.

I planned to head off on Friday, directly after school drop-off. Through subtle questioning and cross-referencing, I had ascertained details of Julian and Astrid’s travel plans. Julian was definitely coming, unfortunately. They’d both confirmed it (Astrid with a deep philosophical sigh; Julian with an objectionable little speech about pressing the flesh). They were flying to Melbourne on Friday morning, then hiring a car at the airport to drive to Elmsleigh. Poor Astrid. I imagined they’d arrive sometime between 1 pm and 3 pm.

 I hugged Sam extra tight at the school gate. He had two backpacks with him: one for school, and one for his weekend with Paul.

‘Can you bring me a soonivere?’ he said.

‘Souvenir,’ I corrected.

‘That’s what I said.’

His goodbye kiss carried a hint of aggression. But then he turned and ran off with both backpacks. I drove to the petrol station, then north.

It was a long and boring drive. The symptoms of my cold now included crushing fatigue, and I’d been relying heavily on Codral Original tablets, the strong daytime ones, to keep me alert over recent days, but anticipation propelled me along the freeway.

Would I definitely get to see them? What would I do if I didn’t see them? Again, my thoughts tumbled obsessively around startling Blaze-Elmsleigh image pairings. These sequences now stretched to incorporate Julian, too. Astrid and Julian on the bridge at the Elmsleigh Botanical Park. Astrid and Julian at the Elmsleigh Community Library. Astrid and Julian at the Elmsleigh Community Swimming Pool. These were addictive but not quite credible images, like actors superimposed over green-screen backgrounds. Like Goat-milk Rebecca and her son with their shadowy outlines in outer space and the Sahara desert, except that now the background locations were the opposite of exotic—they were the intimate places that had formed my earliest impressions.

 Was it necessary for me to access the Airbnb, not from the highway and Elmsleigh’s main thoroughfare, Elizabeth Street, but from the lesser-known Elmsleigh-Porter Road, then along unsealed Langslow Lane onto Loch Street? Maybe not. But I wasn’t taking any chances. Nobody I knew was going to see me this weekend. Not even Alan who, I’d recently discovered, now ran a second-hand bookshop on Elizabeth Street. It would have been nice to see him but I could not risk venturing into any of the shops in the town; would absolutely not be taking any trips down memory lane. I hadn’t been back to Elmsleigh since before Sam was born.

The key for the hall’s upstairs apartment was in an external lockbox at the back door. I parked on the street, then walked, head bowed, around the back and let myself in. I had caught a glimpse through a downstairs window of a geriatric exercise class and heard the teacher’s muffled prompts as I climbed the stairs with my suitcase and supplies.

Nobody saw me. I was wearing a grey baseball cap and speed-dealer wraparound sunglasses to be on the safe side.

Inside the flat, I dumped my stuff and closed the door behind me. Worryingly, I was short of breath from the climb up the stairs. I couldn’t breathe through my nose at all; I was panting noisily through my mouth, like some revolting bulldog. I reached for my Fisherman’s Friend and popped three. Then I walked directly to the window to check the view. Even better than expected. A clear view, unobstructed except for a few tall trees.

 It was just after noon. I had time for a hot, sinus-dilating shower. Time, too, for a nap? No. I didn’t know exactly when they were coming. And my view of their arrival at the carpark might be my only chance of seeing them all weekend.

By 12.45 pm I was seated in a comfy armchair by the window with freshly washed hair. On the coffee table before me was a large glass of Coke with ice, to keep me alert. I had my Fisherman’s Friend. I had my phone. I had oranges, a plate and a serrated knife. And I had Sam’s bird-watching binoculars—a birthday gift from Paul—just in case.

There wasn’t a lot of action. I peeled an orange and watched some delivery trucks come and go. I saw men wheeling trolleys and crates into the back entrance of the hotel. I saw cleaners unload mops and vacuum cleaners and lug them into the hotel, too.

For a while, I tried to listen to Yvonne’s NeuroCreate podcast. I was horribly behind—there were five episodes to catch up on. I listened to half an episode from May where Yvonne, Richard and a dentist guest discussed toothbrushing protocols and possible links between gum health and global cognition. Yvonne sounded bored. She disliked data. I was bored, too.

I jiggled the ice in my glass of Coke and took a long drink to try to revive myself. I switched to a Spotify playlist recommended by the Sydney fashion lesbian, some kind of electronic/neo-soul/R&B business. I couldn’t tell if I liked it or not.

I was beginning to wonder if Astrid and Julian might have chosen to park elsewhere, or even to stay at another hotel. But then a compact SUV turned into the carpark—a shiny blue Kia, surely a hire car. I held my breath; waited and waited.

These interminable seconds seemed to belong to some preternatural time scheme. The car was parked, but nobody was getting out of it. What was taking so long? What were they doing in there? Maybe it wasn’t them after all. Maybe it was some bickering couple, competing for the last word. But then the passenger door opened and a woman got out, pulling on a parka.

It was definitely her—short black hair, round face, youngish—though she was smaller than I’d expected, almost boyish in her bulky jacket. She wore black pants, boots and a beanie, and she was looping a large grey scarf around her neck. Now she was bending to fetch something off the floor of the passenger side—a sleek backpack, walnut brown—and slinging it over her shoulder.

Julian was out of the car now, too, and making a little performance of stretching his limbs after the long drive. He was wearing a shirt under a puffer vest and saying something to Astrid over the bonnet. She was nodding.

As I watched this riveting scene unfold, my lozengey breath fogging the window, I felt a pang of regret for deciding against the peanuts.

I stood up and pulled the window half open as they disappeared from view. Astrid would be coming back for more bags, I predicted. Her backpack was only big enough for a laptop. I waited. It was seven degrees outside. My hair was still wet from the shower. I coughed, swallowed painfully and closed the window again.

 Within two minutes she was back, and with another man this time. ‘Whoa,’ I said—idiotic, involuntary noise—and I placed my hand to my mouth. It was an actual Wicks, I was almost certain of it, and as he came closer to the car, I became convinced that it was Michael. This man was heavier than I remembered either of the Wicks brothers, but a lot of time had passed since high school. He had dark hair, receding a little, and a beard, and was dressed in country-professional style: jeans, leather boots, checked shirt. No jacket, but I supposed he was spending most of the day indoors. Did he still live in Elmsleigh? I wasn’t friends with either of the Wicks brothers online. I’d found nothing on LinkedIn.

The man was saying something to Astrid as they walked and she was laughing. A warm glow spread through me—not quite pride, but something in the family of pride. Her mood and expression were lighter now. Astrid liked Elmsleigh people better than she liked Julian.

It was a shame I couldn’t get a better understanding of her outfit from this distance. I wanted to know if she wore earrings and make-up for long-distance travel. I wanted to see her shoes properly. But she was far away, and swaddled in cold-weather outerwear. She opened the boot of the car, and Michael—I was sure it was Michael now—took a small suitcase out of it. She grabbed a duffel bag and hoisted it over her shoulder. She slammed the boot shut. That wasn’t much luggage—I doubted she’d be skiing. They turned and walked back to the entrance.

I ran to the bathroom, slammed down the toilet seat and stood on top of it, peering out through the high window. For a few seconds, I saw the three of them—Julian, Astrid and Michael—talking behind a sliding door, in what looked like an indoor garden.

This was unreal. A hallucination. The three of them, arranged in a corporate tableau, with only a carpark and two panes of glass between us. The scene—both enthralling and mundane—made me woozy, and I had to climb down.

All of this was my doing; I was observing the direct result of my own interventions. I had made this situation happen—that was the fascination of it all—and this magical achievement had to signify something about me, about my power. Was there a way for me to gain credit for this? To somehow let Astrid know, if the meeting was a success, that I had played a critical role?

As I sat there on the toilet seat, it seemed to me that the world might contain all sorts of enigmatic possibilities. It might contain all sorts of sweet convergences and rich rewards.
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The Friday carpark arrival turned out to be the highlight of my weekend. If Astrid and Julian left the hotel the next day, they must have gone out via Elizabeth Street. I never spotted them, despite sitting at my post for most of the weekend, drinking Coke and tea and Highland Earl, and eating Codral Originals to keep awake.

I slept in later than planned on Sunday morning and when I got up, I walked straight to the window. The blue Kia was gone. I stood there in shock, staring at the empty parking space, rubbing my eyes, wheezing and coughing. They’d left early. They must have driven straight to the airport.

Desolation stole over me. They were gone. Drained and bereft, I wandered over to the dining table, and gaped at the empty Coke bottle and remaining oranges. I looked at the suitcase by the door. I hadn’t even bothered to drag it into the bedroom.

I was confronted with the absurdity of my situation. What the fuck was I doing here? What had I hoped to achieve? Why had I blown a favour from Paul and—it suddenly seemed demented—$360? My mystical toilet moment on Friday night now struck me as pathetic.

I’d just woken from nine hours of sleep. I closed my eyes for a moment and felt I could easily sleep for another nine. My head was pounding. How was I going to manage the drive back? I opened my eyes, coughed, then walked to the bathroom and spat a mouthful of porridgy phlegm into the sink. I wheezed again and the bathroom pipes wheezed in harmony as I washed the sink.

I’d neck three daytime Codral Originals, I resolved, and leave immediately. I’d forget about this whole stupid thing. I’d buy a coffee at a petrol station once I was a good distance out of town.

But when I rummaged through my toiletries bag, I couldn’t find the other packet of tablets. I checked the outer pocket of my suitcase, but it wasn’t there, either. Finally, I checked the bin under the sink. But it only contained the empty packet I’d finished the night before. I’d definitely packed another one; I was sure of it. Was it possible I’d mixed up the Codral with the Nurofen?

There was no way I’d be able to drive for three hours without pseudoephedrine. Sinus pressure was threatening to burst my face open.

I googled pharmacies in nearby towns. The next closest pharmacy was thirty-five kilometres away. The Elmsleigh pharmacy on Elizabeth Street was the only one open now, and it was two minutes away.

I decided to risk it. Astrid and Julian had almost certainly gone back to Melbourne. The name of the local pharmacist was not one I recognised. I would be quick and discreet. Nobody would see me.
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A harsh motion-sensor ding ding announced my entrance as I walked through the sliding doors. The noise startled me, but I got a grip of myself quickly and strode with head bowed towards the pharmacist desk at the back of the store. I knew I would have to produce my driver’s licence if I wanted the good stuff. I had it ready in my hand. I was going to get in and out of here fast.

Just to be sure I couldn’t be recognised, I wore a disposable facemask, my cap and my petrol-station sunglasses.

‘Hi,’ I said, snapping off the sunglasses when I got to the counter.

 ‘Good morning,’ said the pharmacist, placing two delicate hands on the counter. He stood on a raised platform with white shelves displaying many medicines behind him. Omar, according to his name tag. He was slight, sombre, calm as a stone.

‘I have terrible cold symptoms,’ I said. ‘I would like to buy some cold-and-flu tablets. The strong ones.’

‘The strong ones,’ he repeated mildly. His eyes moved to the sunglasses in my hand and back to my face again. His smile was obscure.

It was suddenly clear to me that my disguise was not helping me in this situation. I was presenting an unwholesome image to a person guarding a controlled substance. Slowly and casually, I took off my hat. I ruffled my hair and crinkled my eyes to indicate a mumsy smile beneath the mask.

‘I’ve had them before,’ I said in a sweet, croaky voice. ‘I’m just very blocked up and I have to work today.’

‘Blocked up? What other symptoms?’

‘Fatigue,’ I glanced over my shoulder. I just wanted to get out of here. ‘Sinus pain, chesty cough.’

He stared off into the far corner of his pharmacy, contemplating my words for a lavish expanse of time. ‘Have you tested for Covid?’

Ding. The noise startled me again. I saw Omar’s eyes drift towards the door to see who had entered the shop. Astrid? Julian? No, no, they had almost certainly gone. Still, my heartbeat accelerated. I felt very hot. Finally, the pharmacist’s gaze returned to me.

 ‘Yes,’ I said. ‘Three times, I’m negative.’

Another gradual, inscrutable nod. ‘I haven’t seen you before,’ he said eventually. ‘Are you from around here?’

‘I live in Melbourne,’ I said. ‘Driving back today.’

‘Mmmmmmmm,’ he said. ‘Mmmmm mmmm.’ Then, at long last, he sighed and said, ‘Can I have your driver’s licence please?’

I placed it on the counter. He picked it up, contemplated the photo, rubbed one thumb over the surface, looked back up at me. ‘Excuse me for a second, Christina.’ Then he glided away to a computer a little further along the counter and stood there, tapping away at the keys.

‘Christina?’ he sang out finally. I could have vaulted over the counter and punched him. ‘The register says you bought some of these just a few days ago. Are you sure you need them again?’

A coughing fit seized me then. Omar waited for me to get a grip of myself, raising his eyebrows.

‘I accidentally left the packet in Melbourne,’ I gasped.

He acknowledged this with a solemn, glacial nod, then his eyes slid over my shoulder again. Smiling serenely, he raised a finger at the customer behind to indicate that he’d serve them soon enough.

As he turned to get the goods, I heard ding ding ding behind me, then a man’s patient voice, talking to a child, ‘Stop that, please, mate, just stay inside, we’ll only be a minute.’

Sweet relief. It wasn’t one of the Sydney people.

 I paid for my Codral at the counter and made a point of waiting for my receipt—just to prove to the pharmacist that I was blameless, upstanding and unknowledgeable about methods of converting cold-and-flu tablets into methamphetamine. Then I turned and walked towards the automatic door. Close to the exit, near the stand of foot balms, a man was squatting and fussing with a child. Our eyes met in the split second it took for the motion sensors at the automatic doors to register my presence.

It was Michael Wicks.
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The drive home from Elmsleigh was harrowing. After all I’d gone through to get the Codral, it didn’t even touch the sides. The ordeal at the pharmacy, and the shock of seeing Michael Wicks up close, had, in fact, plunged me into new depths of enfeeblement. I had a powerful urge, as I drove past shuddering trucks and livestock trailers crowded with sheep, to close my eyes, to shut down my whole face. I was aware of a growing thickness inside my skull. I had to pull over three times to rest or to get coffee from petrol stations. I was so sick. I just wanted to slide off the seat and melt into a stagnant pool in the footwell.

Sam was at a birthday party that afternoon. Paul had dropped him off, and the arrangement was for me to pick him up at 4 pm. I got home around 1 pm, dumped my stuff on the floor, set an alarm for 3.30 pm and went straight to sleep.
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I felt worse when the alarm woke me, like I’d drunk a bottle of gin, then had a stroke inside an incinerator. I stumbled around, gathering puffer jacket and sneakers, before walking outside. I stood with keys in hand, staring across the deck into Barb’s living room. Then I sank slowly into the grass.

I did not lose consciousness. I was conscious the whole time. I was conscious that I shouldn’t be sitting on the lawn outside the flat. I was conscious that the damp lawn would make my jeans wet, but also conscious that I was very hot inside my jacket. I was conscious that I needed to get up; conscious that I needed to get to the party to pick up Sam. But I could not fight the urge to close my eyes again. I was just going to sit there for a minute, I said to myself.

I heard Barb’s voice. When I opened my eyes, I saw her rushing towards me.

‘Christina! Are you all right?’ She pulled me up, helped me into the living room. I let her do this. She lowered me onto the couch. I let her do that, too.

‘I’m feeling a bit crook, but I’ll go lie down after I’ve picked up Sam,’ I said. My voice sounded distant in my own ears.

‘You look terrible,’ she said, putting the back of her hand to my forehead. ‘You’re very hot.’

I coughed and she jumped backwards.

She went to the kitchen and got me a glass of water. ‘Drink this,’ she ordered. ‘Lie on the couch. Can I go and pick up Sam? Where is he?’

 I found the address on my phone and showed it to her.

‘I’ll be back in a jiff,’ she said.

I let it happen. Then I fell asleep on the couch.

I woke up to the sound of Barb letting Ian in the door. They were both wearing masks.

‘She’s got a temp,’ Barb said. They were walking towards the couch. ‘She looks grey.’

‘Where’s Sam?’ I croaked. They didn’t hear me. ‘Where’s Sam?’ I repeated.

‘He’s in the spare room,’ Barb said. ‘I gave him my iPad.’

Ian crouched down next to the couch. He spoke to me in a gentle voice. ‘Can you sit up, mate? I’m going to take your temperature.’

I sat up. Barb’s orange cushions harmed my eyeballs. My neck ached. ‘Ow,’ I said.

He produced one of those fancy ear thermometers. He was wearing plastic gloves. He put the nozzle in my ear, waited for the beep.

‘Your temperature’s thirty-nine point eight and you look pretty rough. Did this come on suddenly?’

‘No, I’ve had a cough.’

‘Cough with lots of mucus?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Green?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Chest pain?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Headache, fever, sore muscles?’

 ‘Just today, yeah.’

‘Tested for Covid?’

‘Yeah, negative.’

‘You’re very short of breath,’ he said. ‘I’m going to take you to the hospital.’

‘I can get a cab,’ I said.

‘DON’T BE SILLY!’ shouted Barb, from behind the kitchen island.

‘Come on,’ said Ian. ‘Mum’ll watch the little fella.’

To all this, I surrendered. I was tired. Just so, so tired.




PART THREE
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IT WAS THE FLU. AND pneumonia. At the hospital, they X-rayed my chest and ran blood tests. I fell asleep with a drip in my arm. When I woke up again, Ian was hovering at the edge of the cubicle curtain, still masked, and scrolling through his phone.

‘How’re you feeling?’ he said.

‘Bit better,’ I said. I hated him seeing me so feeble. ‘I’m sorry you’re still here.’

He shrugged. ‘We haven’t been here long. They’ll give you some antibiotics and send you home now, I reckon. But you’ve tested positive for flu, so you’ll have to isolate for a bit. Mum’s got asthma.’

When we got back home it was dark and Barb had put Sam to bed in her spare room. She’d found a clean school uniform on the clothesline and laid it out for him to wear in the morning. She’d washed his lunchbox.

 I could barely take this all in. My breath was still shallow. I was having trouble gaining clarity on the events of the day and the significance of those events—starting with the vanished Kia and Michael Wicks at the pharmacy and ending at the hospital.

‘Was Sam okay?’ I asked. ‘Going to bed in the spare room?’

‘He was fine,’ said Barb, still masked. ‘I found fresh pyjamas in the laundry. We watched Bluey.’

I nodded. ‘Thank you.’

‘I’ll take Sam to school tomorrow. You just sleep in, darling,’ Barb continued. ‘I explained to him that you’ll need to rest for a bit. I’ll pick him up in the afternoon, too. Oh, and I met one of the other mums at the party. Girl called Meg? I got her number. She said she’ll drop Sam home after school on Tuesday and Wednesday when I’m at work.’
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I’d always disapproved of sick people, and of the idea of sickness in general. I believed in certain symptoms: runny noses, sore throats, headaches. Sam and I had soldiered through the standard array of early childhood ailments. But I was suspicious of adults who pronounced themselves officially sick. Hot lemon drinks, afternoon bathrobes, superstitious ideas about soup—these things were not for me.

And yet I spent almost five whole days and nights confined to the granny flat, powerless to fight this sickness and hating myself for it. It took every ounce of energy I had to send out emails to my clients the next day, telling them I had pneumonia and I would have to rest for two weeks. They were all very understanding. No problem, Julian said. Get well soon, Rebecca said. Astrid wrote, Oh no! Feel better, Ruth. If I hadn’t been so exhausted, I would have freaked out about how well they’d all taken it.

But I couldn’t really think about anything except my own body. My neck ached, my shoulders ached, my whole skull ached. My chest burned. I was coughing monstrously, coughing up whole horses of phlegm. I kept coughing so hard that I gagged.

Barb bought me a cooling gel eye mask, and for days I lay splayed out on my bed in the darkness—smelly and maimed; a flaccid old alien—with that magical blue sack of jelly soothing my eyeballs. I’d wake up in the night, shivering in soaked blankets, inhaling my own sour body odour.

I wasn’t allowed to go into the big house. Barb deposited soup and stew and juice at my door, with notes that read, FLUIDS SO IMPORTANT and LENTIL SOUP HOPE IT’S NOT TOO BLAND!! xx. She’d knock at the door and I’d open it to find her scurrying away. I didn’t know if I was still contagious or not. She sent me photos of Sam eating breakfast in the kitchen. The photos were blurry, but he seemed okay. He was even giving a thumbs-up in one of them.

I didn’t object; I couldn’t object. Ian had given me a stern lecture outside the flat right after he dropped me home from the hospital.

 ‘I know you don’t like to ask for help,’ he’d said, pointing his stingray-shaped thermometer at my chest for emphasis. ‘But you’ll have to suck it up. Let Mum help you. If you get enough rest, you’ll be right. If you don’t rest, you’ll get complications and you’ll be out of action for months. I don’t wanna freak you out, but pneumonia is a very serious illness.’ He handed me the thermometer. ‘Keep that for now.’

The next afternoon, he sent me a text. We have a portable humidifier. Jess will drop it over later this afternoon. Helps with breathing :) Barb must have given him my number.

The humidifier did help, and I grew very attached to that, too.

By Thursday, the antibiotics had kicked in, so I was able to venture a few visits to the big house. Whenever I opened the sliding door to the kitchen and living area, Barb would take one step back from wherever she was standing, fuss about me from a distance—ordering me to sit down, dropping steaming heat packs and vitamin drinks in front of me—then beat a hasty retreat to avoid breathing the same air as me.

I wasn’t hungry. I was only there to prove I was not dead, and to catch a glimpse of my kidnapped child. Until that week, Sam had never slept over with any person other than Paul. In our old house in Coburg, we’d slept in the same room. Sleeping in separate buildings felt eerie and unnatural. Sometimes when I woke in the night, I’d walk like a ghost to the doorframe, staring and coughing at his empty little bed. Was he okay in that room in the big house? All by himself?

 Barb forbade all physical contact. (‘No cuddles for Mum until she’s feeling much better,’ she’d said, actually wagging her finger at us.) Sam and I were limited to stilted conversations from our respective exclusion zones across the kitchen. He seemed fine enough, cheerful enough, but one afternoon, Barb left us alone in the living room for a minute and Sam ran to me, leaping into my lap and burying his face in my chest. We both sobbed, then sprang apart when we heard Barb’s footsteps returning from the loo. I shuffled off back to the flat.

By the weekend, the fever and muscle aches were starting to improve, but the headaches, chest pain, cough and fatigue were still hitting hard. I stayed in bed, coughing, coughing, coughing, coughing, thinking about how I should probably get up, should probably wash my sheets, should probably see how Sam was getting on. And then just dozing again and waking up feeling parched and guilty.

Barb hosted the twins for the whole weekend, and I could hear them running about and laughing hysterically in the backyard, bossing Sam around and teaching him some of their favourite songs from a bizarre playlist that included ‘Along the Road to Gundagai’, ‘Un-Break My Heart’ and ‘Chattanooga Choo Choo’. I could hear Barb, too, bringing out snacks, ordering the kids to pose for photos.

I missed my little guy. Missed his chirpy voice, missed his little spiels and factoids, missed his fingers pinching my earlobes, missed his soft baby skin and smell. I even missed his incessant after-school demands to drive to Bakers Delight.

 I’d planned to get back to school runs starting Monday, but Barb was sneaky. She was always one step ahead of me, packing school lunches while I slept, then somehow getting Sam buckled into the car while I was in the shower, so all I had to do was say goodbye and he was on his way to school.

I didn’t fight it. The energy it would have taken to insist, or to reverse and redo her work, was more than I could summon. I worried, too, that it would insult her and damage our relationship. It was the same with Meg, who had also been recruited to help with the school drop-offs.

I worried that I’d be made, in some way, to pay for this, that it would all come back to bite me.
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One Wednesday afternoon, when Barb wasn’t home, Meg knocked on the door to the flat. Sam must have shown her the way through. I opened the door in a spirit of bitter dread. I didn’t really want anyone to know that we lived in this weird granny flat.

But there was Meg at my door: puffer jacket, sneakers, toothy smile. And in her arms, she nursed something so sweet and special that just the sight of it sent cooling jets of refreshment surging through my hot, foggy skull. A six-pack of Gatorade Fierce Grape.

In the background, Sam skipped across the deck and through the sliding door into the kitchen.

 ‘Won’t stay long, the boys are in the car,’ Meg said. ‘But I had the flu a couple of years ago and Gatorade got me through. Sam said this is your flavour.’

She thrust the six-pack into my arms. ‘You’ve got to keep up your fluids.’

I thanked her three times and said goodbye, clasping the Gatorade to my chest. Behind the door, I tasted purple electrolytes and terrible gratitude.
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WHEN SAM WAS A BABY, I would lie on our bed in exhaustion and awe and just look at him. This exquisite little alien, with his soft skull and his black hair and his little fist at his little lips. I couldn’t get over the basic facts of it. This creature had been inside my body, I had grown him, and now he was outside my body, in the same room as me, breathing the same air.

Sam had arrived a whole week after his due date and his fingernails were long. I trimmed them with my teeth. How had he grown fingernails inside my body? How had he, or how had we, achieved this miraculous texture, these clear, thin plates of protein, so different to the other textures and colours and contours of his little body? We’d performed this miracle ten times on his fingers and ten times on his toes.

His skin felt too smooth to be human skin. I watched the rise and fall of his chest and could not believe that the lungs inside his body were the ones he’d still be using in eighty years, or more, with any luck. The heart, the kidneys, the liver, the stomach, the brain—it was all there! He was all set up! Unbelievable.

During my pregnancy I read about every horror that might await me—torn vagina, torn arsehole, haemorrhoids, bleeding nipples, mastitis, colic, screams through the night, postpartum psychosis—and as my due date approached, and my rapture curdled into fear, I worried that this would all happen to me.

But it didn’t. I progressed through a horrific—but routinely horrific—labour within ten hours. I came out the other side with horrific—but routinely horrific—bleeding and bruising. (‘You’re a tough one,’ Dad said, when I rang to tell him.)

Right from the beginning, Sam and I were in sync. We were made for each other. He took to feeding like a champ. Sleeping at night was more of a challenge, but we struggled through together. It was uncomfortable and I was tired and my breasts were like two aching globes of lava and Sam puked and shat on me. But I still felt that, with my specific child, my perfect specimen, I’d won the lottery.

Professionals confirmed it. Above-average weight. Above-average length. Above-average head circumference. Healthy appetite. Healthy colour. Alert and responsive. As the weeks and months passed, his weight and length progression made a perfect curve on the chart in the growth-and-development Green Book I carried to all appointments and vaccinations.

‘A little legend of the growth chart!’ my maternal-child health nurse said.

I beamed. Then I cried.

 ‘Hormones,’ she said, patting my arm.

It was a good thing I had such an excellent baby, because I had a fairly fucked living situation. At the beginning of my pregnancy, the height of my Pantene power period, I’d entertained fantasies about finding a one-bedroom apartment. This was madness, obviously, but I was properly mad at the time. I applied for various studio flats in the familiar northern suburbs, as far out as Lalor, and then for anywhere that was available. I traipsed all over Melbourne, attending house inspections that were so crowded I’d leave without so much as an unobstructed view of the toilet.

I found a few places that I could just about afford. But my modest single income did not endear me to owners of investment properties. And lying wasn’t possible. Agents wanted to see pay slips.

I contacted social-and community-housing services. I’d explain my situation: pregnant, living in an unsuitable flat with housemates, unable to get a place of my own. They’d ask if there was violence or a threat of violence in my living situation. I’d say no. And then they’d say, ‘Unfortunately, it’s hard for us to help you until you’re actually homeless and you’ve stopped paying rent.’

I wasn’t sure I was ready to get actually homeless in order to get a place to live. So I started searching single-parent house-sharing Facebook communities. There must be other women in similar situations, I thought.

There was no shortage. I went to house inspections and interviews at ten different rental properties across the city, and saw many varieties of womanly desperation. One woman in Thomastown—a mother of two subletting the second bedroom in her third-floor apartment—secured her pram with a D-lock in the building’s communal bike shed. She didn’t pick me. None of them picked me. Bad luck? Bad timing? Were other women outbidding me? I still don’t know.

My anxiety levels rising, I turned to hippie and eco-friendly house-share websites, hoping places with a community vibe might be more hospitable. I responded to every ad, going into greater dietary and ideological detail with each application.

And that’s how I ended up at the Coburg place, at the Intentional Community; the last stop before Barb’s place. It was run-down but unusually large, a weatherboard Victorian on a long, thin block. It had five bedrooms (thanks to an ugly upstairs extension in the nineties), as well as a permaculture patch and chicken coop. There were three bathrooms if you included the outside toilet.

It had clearly been a share house for time immemorial. Three adults and two children lived there now. Lil and Trav, the parents of the two children, were the ones on the lease. They were in an unclear relationship arrangement with the other tenant, Jo.

As we sipped tea by the chicken coop, I told Lil I was pregnant. She gasped and hugged me, though we’d only met ten minutes earlier. She made a series of comments that were both promising and ominous, including, ‘I think a newbie in the house would be so great for my own kids’ and ‘I’m a gardener, but I’m thinking about training to become a doula!’

 I could see this was my big chance, and I didn’t blow it. I smiled, gushed, squatted to interact with nude and knotty-haired children. I admired their macaroni necklaces and filthy papier-mâché projects.

‘The place has got a lot of history, a lot of character,’ Lil said, gesturing to ornamental ironwork (rusted), mosaic stool (chipped), grass (long) and chickens (hostile). I murmured assent.

We talked about placentas for a long time. At least one of Lil’s placentas was buried on the Coburg property. Other placentas, I gathered, were dispersed across the western Grampians—though after a while I lost track of exactly how many placentas we were talking about, and which placentas belonged to Lil and which belonged to her sister who now lived in Mount Gambier.

‘I’ll send you some info, but it’s a good idea to keep the placenta on ice in an esky for forty-eight hours before you bury it,’ she said on the street outside the house, waving me off.

‘Okey dokes,’ I said.

It could have been so much worse. On the day I moved in, I told myself it was temporary, all temporary. I just had to get out of the place in North Melbourne. Once the baby was out of me, Paul and I would sort out our finances properly. I’d have a more predictable and steady financial situation, and I’d be able to investigate other options.

But once the baby was out of me, I lost my sense of time. I slept when Sam slept, sometimes sleeping three or four hours in the afternoon. I fed him and stared at him. I took him to the park and stared at him there. I put him down in his crib for a nap and stared at photos of him. There was no space for any future planning in this busy staring schedule.

Lil had given me her old baby sling and pram. I paid a price for this, of course. Before Sam was born, Lil had tried to talk me into a homebirth. (‘You wouldn’t conceive a baby in hospital, among strangers, so why would you deliver one that way?’) Once I was back from the hospital, she wanted to check Sam’s nipple attachment. She talked endlessly about co-sleeping and attachment techniques, baby yoga, pelvic floors.

As part of the Intentional Community vibe of the house I was supposed to be on the cooking roster and the cleaning roster and the gardening roster. I was supposed to superintend the stinking chickens and attend household logistics meetings, too. But Lil made it clear to the others that I had a postpartum free pass. I appreciated it.

It was Lil who took up the slack for me in those early months. The other members of our intentional household, Trav and Jo, were more concerned with other intentional activities. Intentionally causing arguments about laundry, intentionally dyeing household objects with beetroot, intentionally fucking each other, and intentionally writing and directing plays about water contamination and rehearsing them with the children late into the night.

Not that I cared, especially, about quiet at night. I no longer conceived of nights as separating days. Nights were just dark tides of inconvenience. It was harder to see the things I needed: dummies, wipes, nappy-rash cream, nipples. Flakes of mid-century paint fell off the ceiling and onto my head as I rocked my baby in the dark. I was woken from sleep by our housemates’ whimpering adventures in polyamory. My existence back then was a mush of boredom and pain and contentment and infatuation and drudgery and fatigue. At any moment, I couldn’t tell which one I was feeling or if I was feeling more than one feeling at once.

I expected this to wear off after the newborn period, and for my feelings to reach an equilibrium, but as soon as I had a crawling baby, I entered a terrifying new phase of hypervigilance. The house was full of choking hazards. I went back to work part-time after eight months, turning up at the office for my first day with a backpack full of spare bras and tops and five different vessels and devices for extracting and collecting breast milk.

There were new people at work—patronising juniors who wanted to steal all the good projects. At home, the floor was littered with beads, stray coins and essential-oil vials. I was on constant high alert.
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In the four years Sam and I lived in that house, Paul never once walked through the front door. When we met, it was at cafes or parks, or at his new place near Victoria Gardens. I didn’t want him to see how fucked our place was, and he never insisted.

Paul had been nervous around Sam in the earliest days. He’d cradled him gingerly, all hands and fingers, like he was trying to hold on to some kind of precious syrup. But as Sam grew bigger, and I could leave them alone together for longer, they eased into each other. I’d come back to the park after a couple of hours away and find them in matching beanies; Sam shrieking and cackling as Paul threw him in the air.

‘He’s such a little champion!’ Paul would say. ‘It might be time to cut back on the dummy, though. It could delay his speech.’

I don’t know when Paul told his family that he was a father. I didn’t ask. I didn’t know if Yvonne knew. She never contacted me about it, and that was fine with me. I didn’t want any of those people to try to intervene, or for me to have to take anyone else’s opinion into account. Even in my exhaustion, I valued my control more than anything.

That’s why, in all my dealings with Paul, I was relentlessly positive. I didn’t want Paul to resent me, or to judge me, or to feel vindicated in his claims that neither of us were ready for a baby.

It seemed that he, too, did not want to get into any major conversations that might upset this delicate balance. We’d agreed on custody and financial arrangements when I was pregnant. These plans were not detailed and not at all generous to me—I’d had no idea how much help or money I’d really need—but I never pushed for more. I was the sole parent, Sam had my surname, and we didn’t adjust the plan until Sam was two and he started staying at Paul’s place one weekend per month.
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So Paul and I settled quite easily into a civil dynamic, where we were able to see ourselves as ‘on good terms’. Sometimes I got the distinct impression that Paul believed he’d done me a favour.

I didn’t care about that. Even if Paul was a dick sometimes, I had to give him credit for Sam’s amazing black eyelashes, which were like the brushes on a motorised streetsweeper. And I had to give him credit for Sam’s thick, dark curls, which grew faster than I could ever have imagined.
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TWO WEEKS. I’D TOLD MY clients I needed two weeks to rest and that I’d be back on board after that. And after ten days, I announced to Barb that I was well past the contagious period, and it was time for Sam to come back to the flat.

I had rested, actually rested, for perhaps the first time since Sam was born. Now I woke, still groggy, into my new reality. Things were different now. While I’d been sleeping, all kinds of blending, all kinds of contamination, had occurred. My life’s compartments were merging.

‘Barb seems lovely,’ Meg said to me one afternoon at the school gate. ‘Makes me want to trade in my own mum. Are you two related?’

I needed to reinstate the categories. I had to try to put each person back in the discrete pocket where they belonged. But the effort was overwhelming. It was too much on top of the grind of everyday life. I was tired and literally shrunken. My pants were loose around my waist. My face was drawn. My bra contained more air than breast. My cough lingered. I kept snoozing on my alarm in the mornings and waking up at 7.30 am to find Sam gone from the flat.

It turned out that while Sam had been staying in the big house, he’d developed a taste for porridge, and for shitty breakfast radio. On the Wednesday morning of my first week back in action, I walked across the deck and slid open the door to the kitchen. Before the door was even half open, Barb put her finger to her mouth and they both said ‘Shhhhh!’ at me.

Sam and Barb were sitting at the table, their heads inclined towards the radio.

‘It could be bread popping up in a toaster?’ said Sam, a spoonful of porridge at his lips.

‘No,’ said Barb, narrowing her eyes. ‘It sounds more … metallic.’

A secret-sound competition had consumed my child in my absence.

Things were slipping out of my control. It was like I had taken many different foods—spaghetti bolognese, crème caramel, Twisties—and blended them into one unholy stew. Now I had to eat it every day.

Paul: You have pneumonia? What the fuck?

Me: I’m getting better. How did you know?

Paul: Sam called me on barb’s phone, why didn’t you tell me? I could have taken Sam last weekend

Me: Can you take him this weekend

Paul: I’m going away this weekend

 How did Barb feel about facilitating phone contact with her tenant’s child’s father? Barb and I were scheduled to discuss the extension of our arrangement with the granny flat in just a couple of weeks. Not great timing, since I’d be going into that conversation having recently locked her out of her house, exposed her to an infectious disease and committed her to several weeks of unpaid nursing and childcare.

Memories of my trip to Elmsleigh were melding into the putrid mental morass, too. Now that my body was more or less functioning, my thoughts began to revolve again around Astrid, Julian and Michael Wicks. But the startling Blaze–Elmsleigh image combinations that had so enthralled me in the lead-up to my trip now took on a sickly hue. When I pictured Astrid climbing the restored cedar staircase at the Caledonian Hotel, or buying coffee at the bakery, or even—something I had actually seen with my own eyes—crossing the carpark with Julian, I felt queasy. The sighting of Michael Wicks at the pharmacy was perhaps the nastiest part of the whole thing. It took effort to banish these thoughts from my mind.

That next Monday morning, two weeks after my embarrassing collapse, I resolved that it was time to get back to work. I forced myself to put thoughts of Julian and Astrid aside and focus on other clients. I sat at my desk and started looking back over all my client notes.

This was another disturbing moment. In the past two or three months, my session notes on all my clients had become very short and hard to follow. They were so brief, so sketchy at times as to be incomprehensible. I had no leads for new clients. My most recent prospecting notes were a couple of half-arsed paragraphs from the start of June. I hadn’t even bothered to follow them up. What the fuck had I been doing?

I realised, with horror, that my last session with Goat-milk Rebecca had been the last in the Evolve Package. I’d forgotten to secure renewal for the next twelve weeks. I had no compromising info on her. None. Matt had only one appointment left before he was up for renewal, too.

I wrote Rebecca and Matt upbeat suck-up emails to try to schedule new appointments. Within seconds I received an auto-reply from Matt:


Hi friend,

I’m taking some time out to travel, rest and recalibrate.

If you’re thinking of contacting me by phone, please first take some time to think about whether the matter requires my urgent attention. I’m using this time to reflect on our hyper-responsive 24/7 urgency culture and I’m hoping others will too :)

Matt



Later that day, I received a worse email from Rebecca.


Hi Ruth,

I’ve really enjoyed working with you!

But I’m feeling called right now to focus on abundance mindset and quantum expansion. I’m currently doing some masterclasses with coaches who are more aligned with this stage of my journey! Thanks for everything!

Rebecca



‘Fuck,’ I said. Also: ‘Fuck.’

No more emails. I had to save the furniture. I had to make phone calls. I rang Seb.

‘Ruth.’ He sounded distracted. ‘How are you?’

‘I’m great! Fine now,’ I said. ‘Just needed some bed rest.’

‘That’s great to hear.’

I spoke quickly. ‘We missed a few appointments, I’m just calling—won’t keep you long—as I’m rescheduling things and my calendar’s filling up. I thought you might like to get in quick, as I know you’re especially busy.’

‘Ah, right,’ he said. ‘Would it be okay if I call you back the week after next? I’m snowed under right now.’

Snowed under with what? With not importing vibrating furniture?

I called Julian. No answer. I tried him again, two hours later. Straight to voicemail.

This was all extremely bad. I’d lost Rebecca. I was pretty sure I’d lose Seb and Matt now, too.

The next day, I got back on the phone as soon as I’d completed the morning school run. I scheduled in sessions for later in the week with my remaining clients, though none of them sounded very excited about it.

I called Julian again. Straight to voicemail. I decided to try a different tack. Julian had shared his online calendar with me, and I could see a space late on Friday afternoon. I put in a meeting request for 4.30 pm. I could book Sam into after-school care. I looked at Astrid’s calendar and sent her a meeting request, too.

Within a few hours, I’d received an acceptance for the meeting from Julian. Astrid rescheduled for the following week.
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Friday started well enough, with a moderately successful client session. In the afternoon, I sent some hype-building check-in messages to my remaining clients, flung them some links to inspiring podcast episodes—something to puff them up and get them hard-Ruthing again.

Then I spent some time mentally preparing for Julian. I’d lost a couple of good clients. I really didn’t want to fuck it up with Julian now, and lose him and Astrid. I listened to old recordings, revisited my scant recent notes, and prepared some uplifting and flattering set pieces for our conversation. I was keen to hear about the Elmsleigh trip, but determined not to let the topic overwhelm or distract me. I would be clear-eyed, focused, solicitous.

But the first moments of our conversation threw me.

‘Hi, Ruth,’ he said, with a sleepy smile. His eyes were bloodshot. ‘I hope you’ve had a nice week.’ Was something wrong with him? He was talking more slowly than usual, more slowly and more thickly. Was he having a stroke?

It turned out he’d just come back from a long lunch, a boys’ lunch. He was drunk. Why hadn’t he just cancelled the session?

 I had my answer within the first minute: he needed to brag.

‘These guys—wild guys—have a lunch once a month down at Hailey’s resstaurant Freddy’s at Double Bay. They book out the whole room. Guys from a lot of different worlds: avvertising, starddups, properdy … I don’t know if I’ll go along every month, but it was fun to join in thiss time. These guys are very much … their lives are very much wine, women and song.’ He smiled fondly, ran his hands through his hair. ‘Or perhaps you could say sex, drugs and rock ’n’ roll.’

‘Sounds like fun!’ I said. I’d planned a zestful heart-to-heart about the differences between clear objectives and strategic goals. This was much more promising.

There was quiet for a moment as Julian reminisced about his riotous lunch with his new pals and I pinched my thigh, telling myself to concentrate. This was an amazing opportunity.

‘There was a lot of wine—some very special shiraz,’ he slurred. ‘Some very amusing conversashions.’

He wore a wet-lipped, gently demonic grin. His teeth were stained. He seemed to be getting drunker before my eyes. I double-checked the recorder was working and looked back at the screen.

I forced my features into an encouraging smile. ‘Oh? What kinds of amusing conversations?’

Julian guffawed, rolled his eyes heavenwards and leaned back in his chair, shaking his head. Then he leaned in again, tapped his nose with his finger.

‘Whad happens in Vegas, doc,’ he said. ‘I play my cards close to my chesst, as you know!’

Doc. God, he was unbearable.

An obligatory chuckle. ‘Yes, I know, Julian,’ I said. ‘You’re very discreet, as well as strategic with information.’

I waited for him to say more, but he didn’t, so I pushed on. ‘And how was your trip to Victoria?’

He frowned and put his finger to his lips, muffling a belch. ‘Good, good, I think,’ he said. ‘Astrid presented well, they’ve assked for a quote. Clients seemed to like her a lot so that’s, yeah that’s very positive …’ He trailed off, then rubbed his eyes, and seemed to deflate. ‘But … back to the drawing board with the Knighssbridge Park development. And I’m really over all this nit-picking. Wass Andy’s problem?’

His lips were behaving very strangely now, like two conjoined but repelled earthworms. I triple-checked the recorder. Still on.

‘Feehback from him’s jusst idiotic, now there’s no storytelling, they’ve stripped the stohry … not an ounce of creativity in their bodies, you know? Honestly, I hope Blaze can kick them to the kerb one of these days.’

I sat up straight, pinched my leg again. ‘Let’s go back a bit,’ I said. ‘Tell me more about this situation with Andy. He’s a client? Tell me about the tension with the feedback.’

He flapped a dismissive hand. ‘Longstanding client over in London, juss doing what clients do best. Better not get too far into that. Esspecially as it feels like we’re really beginning to broaden our porrfolio. Events like the trip to Elmsleigh and today’s lunch are a great opportuniddy to foster new connections and expand our network …’

 He dribbled on LinkedInishly for another twenty minutes, resisting every one of my efforts to steer the conversation back onto promising turf. I wanted to hear more about this Andy character, but Julian batted it away.

‘Historically that stuff with London properdy clients has been the Blaze bread and budder,’ he bleated, ‘and, look, it’s always gonna be part of our DNA, but going forward I hope …’

It was after 5 pm. The session would be over soon. I had to figure out a circuit breaker. I switched tabs and was frantically scanning through my prompts and topics, when Julian himself changed tack abruptly.

‘Anyway, whad I wanted to say was that iss been wonderful working with you. And Astrid has told me that she’s found the process beneficial and that’s fantastic.’

‘That’s great to hear,’ I said. ‘And I think we’re getting into some really meaty stuff here, around difficult clients and feedba—’

‘The calendar’s really filling up over the next few weeks,’ he interrupted. ‘And we have a lot of new leads to follow up and thass a great problem to have, hahaha, so I don’t think I’ll be able to fit these last few sessions in.’

I was stunned. I started to say something, but he spoke over the top of me.

‘… And, of course, I’m going away in October, but I’ve made the payment for the whole package, for me and for Astrid, so we’re all square now and it’s really been a pleasure … Oh, I’m getting a call, have to take this one, bye, Ruth, thanks again … Au revoir … Hello? Hi, mate, hi hi …’

I waved at the screen, in a state of shock, and Julian waved, too, fiddling with his earbud. For a second he frowned and narrowed his eyes, leaning in closer to the screen, perhaps trying to end the call. But then he said ‘What?!’ and stood up abruptly. I saw the tops of his legs and his torso, then he walked out of frame. Quickly, I turned off my video.

‘I’m so fed up with hiss bullshit,’ I could hear him saying. ‘“Just do your thing, J,” he says, but then he always has to swoop in, fussing around, like a little, like a little bitch.’ He murmured the phrase again with fortified rancour—‘little bitch’—then launched off again: ‘Because I said to him lasst time, I said, “Andy, I don’t tell you how to sell jacuzzis to Elle Macpherson so don’t talk to me about filmmaking, animation, storytelling …’

His headless torso passed the camera again. He was pacing, railing on about this Andy character, and it was tricky to make out—and make sense—of what he was saying.

‘And next time I’ll tell him, “Don’t try that with me on this Knighssbridge Park one. I know about paying staff—paying girls, not nice ones, either—to turn the Ashcombe lights on”, and I know they did because one of them was Hamish’s plus one and now they’re married and she told me. Then there’s his mother, weird-looking woman, absolute pain in the tit. We’ve got a lot of new projects coming in and I’m really hoping soon we can just ditch all this. Let him find someone else to fuck over.’

 From here there was a lot of pure gibberish. I couldn’t make it out. Something like: ‘… And I know about cormish and mad-reserver, very nice place she got herself there by the sancshuary, so don’t tell me she didn’t close the station.’

What were cormish and mad-reserver? What was he talking about? Who was this Andy? Why did all this tension with the client suddenly seem so personal?

Julian’s voice was trailing off now. I saw him slip out the door, still warbling on about Andy and mad-reserver.

I sat there blinking. So much had happened so fast.
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WHO CAN REALLY REMEMBER THOSE early days, when Covid first hit Australian shores? The adrenaline, the tension, the skittish minutes in the supermarket aisle, the shortages of meat and toilet paper. What remains in the memory was the phase that lasted much longer: the slow-burning stupor of the lockdowns.

Trav and Jo didn’t believe in lockdowns. They liked to invite their like-minded buddies over to our place for illegal gatherings. There were seven people there one night in October 2020, sharing CBD oil and drinking wine. Well, eight people if you counted Blind Freddy, who Trav invoked incessantly in his daily rants against the restrictions. Blind Freddy could see the hard lockdowns were just a power grab from the state government. Blind Freddy could see that the so-called experts were in cahoots with big pharma. Blind Freddy could see the link between Covid deaths and Monsanto.

 Sam and I kept well away from them, but their voices always carried. There were nights when we crossed paths with strangers in the kitchen or on the way to the bathroom. I was less worried about catching the virus than I was about catching a whopping fine. If neighbours called the police, why wouldn’t I be counted among the people illegally gathered inside the house?

Lil was worried about fines, too. She tried to stick, more or less, by the lockdown rules. And it turned out that she, Trav and Jo disagreed on the question of vaccinations, too. Unbelievably, Lil and I never really discussed these extreme household tensions, not even on our bleak, freezing, state-sanctioned daily walks with the kids to the lake reserve.

Neither of us had the energy. Neither of us wanted to crack anything open. The children were destroying us. Her children were school-aged. Sam was a preschooler. We had to get through the days; the hours that crawled by in a claustrophobic haze of Zooms and ‘PE with Joe’ and gruelling craft activities.

At night, I drank Highland Earl alone in our bedroom while Sam slept. I could hear the others fighting upstairs—Lil’s voice, Trav’s voice, Jo’s voice—and I heard thumping sounds, too, that might have been heavy objects being dropped or thrown. Trav put his fist through a wall in the kitchen one morning when the premier announced yet another extension of the lockdowns. Sam didn’t see it happen, but later I overheard the children discussing theories on how the hole got there. ‘Blind Freddy did it,’ whispered Clover. It never got fixed.

The toilet wasn’t fixed, either, when it flooded, because the landlady’s son never answered our calls or emails. Sam and I had to use the upstairs bathroom for three weeks. Mushrooms were growing out of the wall behind the toilet when I finally called the emergency plumber myself and paid for the repair on my credit card.

I looked for other places to live, when I had the strength. I signed up to the single-parent house-matching service, filled out applications, attended virtual inspections. But these efforts came to nothing; there was too much competition. Perhaps this was for the best, I sometimes thought. In lockdown, it was better the devil I knew.

But one night, there was an especially thunderous upstairs screaming match that woke up Sam. ‘I dreamed Blind Freddy was chasing me,’ he whispered. His tears made a wet patch on my t-shirt as I rocked him back to sleep.

The next day I did the dreaded thing. I called Paul and asked him if he could take Sam for a whole week. I gave only the vaguest reasons: migraines, work stuff, general pandemic exhaustion.

I won’t forget the look on Paul’s face when I turned up with Sam that first day. We stood on either side of his fence, a safe distance apart, and talked through the logistics. Paul’s expression was the exact expression that I had spent years fending off with my relentless can-do attitude and sunny demeanour. His look said: I told you so.

He was right, of course. I was not fit to be a mother. I was not capable or in control. I was not in a secure position. I was fucking everything up. But since my humiliation was already underway, I decided it was a good time to also ask Paul to lend me some money so I could buy a new car. My car was falling to bits, I told him. (I didn’t tell him that the plan was to buy a bigger one, with sleeping room in the back.) He agreed, of course, with showy intake of breath and priestly sigh. And I cried in the car on the way home, then circled the block three times, not wanting to go back inside the house.

When I did go back inside, I collapsed on the bed and slept for two hours. Then at 2 pm I joined a video conference where my boss, old mate STAY CURIOUS, announced a new raft of mental-health initiatives for staff, including an online yoga subscription. Then he sent me an email asking me to proofread his speech, ‘Leading Through Covid’, for an online industry seminar. By tomorrow at 10.30 am if possible, thanks legend.

When I drove back to Paul’s place a week later to collect Sam, Paul wore a very different look on his face. It was a look I knew well. He’d borrowed it from me: it was my cheery veil; my false expression of pretend energy, of breezy competence. ‘We did a lot of PE with Joe,’ he said, as Sam tugged on my jacket and pulled me towards the car. ‘We played about two thousand games of snap.’

But Paul wasn’t as good at faking as I was. I could see the fretfulness beneath. One week of parenting in captivity had just about destroyed him.
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Finding Barb was a miracle for me and Sam. It took place when the lockdowns finally lifted at the end of 2020. Lil and the kids went away for the weekend. Trav, Jo and Blind Freddy dissipated into the Macedon Ranges on a foraging expedition. I was alone at home for a few days, with Sam in childcare, and I was finally able to think, breathe and properly obsess over flat-sharing websites and Facebook groups without interruption.

I was the first applicant the day Barb posted the ad for a tenant on flatmates.com. That same afternoon, Sam and I were pulling up in our newly acquired Ford Territory against the smooth, clean kerb in Kingsbury and pressing the doorbell to the big house.

We were wary that day, all three of us, but at pains not to show it. We were all wearing masks. Sam had a special one, made by Lil, with rainbows on it.

‘Come in, come in!’ Barb crowed at the door. Around one wrist she wore a crowded, dazzling charm bracelet that rattled noisily as she beckoned us inside.

In the car on the way over, I’d impressed on Sam the importance of being on his best behaviour when we met Barb. He was now immobilised with shyness. I had to nudge him through the doorway.

‘And you must be Sam!’ Barb said once we were inside, bending closer to his height, jangling again as she placed her little hands on her little knees.

Sam nodded, managed to meet her eye and smiled for a split second, then stared at his feet again.

‘Gorgeous!’ pronounced Barb, clapping her hands. There was a hint of an echo—the floor was tiled. We all stood there for a moment after the clap, taking each other’s temperature. In person, Barb was even smaller than the photo had suggested, with scrawny limbs and a flat bottom.

Could we live with this person? Could she live with us? What kind of suburban sixty-something wanted flatmates?

‘I’ve lived in this house for almost fifteen years, since my divorce,’ she said, the little heels of her ballet flats clacking as she led us across the living room. ‘It’s got a spare bedroom for my grandkids, I love my garden.’

‘It looks lovely—very spacious living area,’ I said.

Barb showed us the kitchen, with pristine benchtops, gas stove and Breville Barista Express. (‘This machine, my baby, is very important to me!’ she’d giggled, rapping the stainless steel twice with glossy nails.) She showed us the spare room and the laundry. Finally, she walked us over to the granny flat. It was clean and it was cleanable. We’d have more privacy. I wanted in.

After the tour, Barb offered me a cup of coffee, and we sat at the table outside, masks under our chins, talking things over while Sam played in the yard. It cost me a lot, that day, to keep my tone casual and collected. Inside me was a roiling shitstorm of desperation.

‘We’re looking for somewhere to live, and stay, for a while,’ I said to Barb. ‘Sam is starting school next year. Will you be … renting the flat out for quite a while?’

‘For six months at least,’ she said, in a breezy sort of a way. ‘Probably longer, depending on how it’s all going with … the person or people who move in.’

 I didn’t know what to say to that. Was I going to have to look for a new place in six months? It was an irregular situation: a grandmother with a nice house, who was advertising for a flatmate. Maybe she was in deep debt.

‘I restructured the mortgage on this place so I could help my son buy his place. And I need to boost my savings so I can retire at some stage,’ she said finally, with obvious reluctance, then abruptly changed the subject. ‘I’d prefer a mature tenant, not a student, someone steady, so perhaps this could work. Your car is … quite big. Do you need a large car for work reasons?’

Now that I had the Ford Territory with room for a swag in the back, I would never, ever give it up. ‘Not really, we just love camping!’ I said, with a cheery smile. ‘I can pay three months upfront as well as the deposit.’

I had to borrow money from Paul to seal the deal, and put the balance on my credit card.
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MATT NEVER WROTE OR CALLED back after he finished his self-care recalibration. Seb postponed two more sessions and then stopped answering my messages. In the end I just sent them both payment reminders. They settled their bills and I never spoke to either of them again.

With my remaining clients, in the following weeks, I tried too hard, then not hard enough. I couldn’t seem to recapture the energy or rhythm of our previous conversations.

It was clear that my sickness and absence had weakened me in my clients’ estimations. I’d shown myself to be too frail, too human, and now they were wary of me. They were like flowers or animals I’d neglected. They’d found other sources of nourishment while I was away. I couldn’t shake the idea that they were just going through the motions now. They would never renew with me, they’d never disclose anything juicy, they’d all just slip away.

 It turned out to be a self-fulfilling prophecy. Your thoughts create your reality, as Yvonne might have said.

Did Julian even remember cancelling our last two sessions? The drunk Friday afternoon Zoom had been so surprising, then frustrating, then bewildering, I wasn’t sure what to make of it. I listened to the recording and turned over the conversation again and again in my mind. I tortured myself with thoughts about how I might have handled it better.

For a few days, I’d held on to the possibility that Julian might be too drunk to even remember it. I thought about just pretending it had never happened and shooting through a new meeting request. But then I saw that he’d changed his calendar settings. He’d locked me out. He was serious. He was probably embarrassed about the drunk call.

I whipped myself even more after that. I should have praised him more. Should have sent him more mid-week check-in messages and content links. Should have found a way to get credit for the Caledonian connection, instead of letting him think it was all his own idea. I shouldn’t have phoned it in over the last couple of months. Shouldn’t have got sick and gone silent. There was probably some workable material in the recording about this Andy character—sure—but I didn’t want leverage in this case. I wanted renewals. I was now down to just four ongoing clients. I needed the regular income. I wanted to keep things ticking along with both Julian and Astrid.

On the Wednesday, I sent him a follow-up email—very tentative, carefully worded. His response came through on Thursday morning, just as I was about to sit down for work. I read it on my phone.


Hi Ruth,

Thanks for reaching out. It’s been wonderful working with you and I know Astrid has gained a great deal from the process too. I’m afraid I don’t have the bandwidth for coaching at this time, with many major projects at Blaze coming to a head. Astrid is also under time pressure and taking on some key strategic projects, so I’ll take coaching off her plate too for now. Let’s make her next session the last. It’s been a pleasure.

Best,

Julian



It was all over. I dropped my phone on the bed and put my head in my hands.

I don’t know what I would have done if Astrid had cancelled our last session that afternoon. I was feeling so defeated after Julian’s email—so hollowed out and diminished—that the possibility of her suddenly severing contact felt extremely real.

But once I dialled into the call and saw the familiar features of her face with the kitchen backdrop—hanging plant, vintage stoneware, potato masher—it was obvious that she would never have done that to me. It was clear, too, that she wasn’t under quite as much time pressure as Julian believed. She looked rested and relaxed.

 ‘Hi, Ruth,’ she said in a genial singsong tone; the tone of a familiar, I thought, and was touched. ‘How are you?’

For the first few minutes of our conversation I delicately pressed her for information about Julian—his sudden decision to quit and the tension with Andy.

‘Julian mentioned that everyone at Blaze was extremely busy, that he especially was very busy with a demanding client in London.’

‘Oh yeah?’ she said politely, absently.

‘He mentioned that the feedback on the Knightsbridge project was hard on morale. How has the atmosphere been at Blaze lately?’

‘Fine, I guess. They—the client—they think they can just be dicks to everyone. I try not to let it get to me.’

I ventured one more question. ‘The Knightsbridge client is … often difficult?’

Long pause. ‘Yeah, I guess you could say that.’ Reluctantly, she summarised a few project frustrations and spot fires, but she was speaking in the general, evasive tone she always used when she wanted to avoid criticising Julian directly. I couldn’t think of a way to ask more questions without it sounding weird.

And though the Elmsleigh connection had disturbed me—or perhaps because it had disturbed me—I couldn’t help angling some questions about that, too. I’d heard Astrid describe distant cities and places I’d never been. I wanted to know how she would describe a place I knew well or had once known well.

 When I asked about her time away, she mostly wanted to talk about some hike she’d taken (presumably on the Saturday), but I pressed her for details on the Wickses and the town itself.

‘What was the client like out there?’

‘They were nice,’ she said. ‘I think they were impressed that we’d come down to meet them, even though we haven’t signed a contract yet.’

‘Who did you meet with?’

‘It’s a family business. We met with the guy who owns the hotel, his son and the marketing manager.’

‘And they were interesting people, nice people?’

‘Yeah, they took me to their winery,’ she said, yawning. ‘I had a nice dinner at their restaurant.’

‘And what did you make of the town itself?’ I’d already asked a variation of this question.

‘Elmsleigh is very touristy, but I liked it,’ she said, after a pause. ‘Good coffee, nice antique shop, good bookshop. The Caledonian Hotel is beautiful. Have you ever been there?’

Bizarrely, I had not prepared for this question.

‘Sorry?’ I said, stalling for time. ‘You cut out there for a second.’

An emergency siren approached, then faded, in the background of her call.

‘The Caledonian in Elmsleigh,’ she repeated. ‘Actually, didn’t you grow up somewhere around there?’

I swallowed. ‘Well,’ I said finally, ‘I spent some time out there.’

 Another long pause. When she spoke again, I heard a hint of impatience in her tone. ‘Do you … know it well?’

‘Oh, it was a long time ago I was there. The town has changed a lot.’

‘What was it like before?’

It was a long time ago. The town has changed a lot. Ridiculous words. I was like a character in an old movie: the brooding, ravaged war veteran uttering his lines over misty flashback. But the truth is that a misty spirit was afflicting me in that moment, bringing with it all sorts of quaint and dangerous yearnings.

It was our last session together. I wanted to tell Astrid the whole history of the Caledonian Hotel. About how its beautification, and the town’s touristy transformation, had affected the course of my life. I wanted to talk about the second-hand bookshop, how I knew the man who owned it, how he’d got me started with reading and dumped rejected books at my house and ordered in self-help books from the regional library network for me. She’d find it funny. And I wanted to ask her what the rooms were like upstairs at the Caledonian Hotel. I’d never seen them. I wanted to know if she’d seen the Sidney Nolan painting.

But I had already gone too far. I snapped out of it.

‘Uh,’ I scrambled, ‘the bakery used to sell sprinkled donuts. Now I’m pretty sure they sell pain au chocolat.’

‘Hmmm,’ she said. It was clear the subject did not much interest her. ‘But anyway, enough about that, I wanted to tell you that I met my deadline, but you were sick so I didn’t get a chance to show you. I’m putting it in the chat now.’

 I clicked the link in the chat and saw the image. Two pinkish-brown flowers, slightly inclined towards each other. Dark green, spiked leaves. I was impressed by the knitted texture of the brush.

She looked at me doubtfully. ‘What do you think?’

It was a struggle to respond. ‘To me it’s very beautiful and true to life, but I’m probably not the best judge of botanical art.’ I paused. ‘I guess the question is: are you happy with it?’

‘I’m not too sure about the curve of the leaves.’ She frowned. ‘But I’m glad I forced myself to finish it.’

‘Well done,’ I said, and I meant it.

‘But anyway,’ she rushed on, ‘what I really wanted to tell you today was that I got some good news this week. A designer for this new science magazine in London contacted me out of the blue. He wants to use one of my pictures—you know the picture of the cricket?—to go with a feature story they’re publishing about insect conservation.’

‘That’s great!’

‘It’s a new magazine, mostly digital, mostly science and environmental stuff, but they’re launching with a print edition that has a big design focus.’ She was talking fast. I’d never seen her so exuberant. ‘The article about insects is by a journalist who’s written for Wired and New Scientist. The designer showed me some mock-ups, and they’ve got some amazing photographers and illustrators on board.’

‘Wow!’ I said. ‘Did you know this designer already, from London?’

 ‘No! It was random. Or, I think it was random. He must have been searching for insect art online. Seems like he blew his whole design budget on famous photographers so he’s trying to do the rest of the stories on the cheap.’ She shrugged. ‘The money is pretty shit, but it’s still exciting for me.’

‘Just goes to show that it’s worth putting in time and promoting your work,’ I said.

‘Yeah and’—she squirmed in her seat, cleared her throat—‘since this is our last session, I wanted to say thanks for encouraging me to think more about why I’m doing this stuff, and to take it more seriously.’

I felt my cheeks redden. A goofy smile was threatening to break through. ‘I can’t take any credit for that,’ I said. ‘It’s your drawing.’

‘True, but I’ve been more disciplined lately, and trying out a few different things. I don’t know. I wasn’t expecting to make money out of it, and that’s not the point of it, but this magazine thing is giving me more confidence and motivation to continue, and maybe I’ll even try to prepare for an exhibition or something so …’ She trailed off, looking embarrassed.

I saw my own face on the screen: bright, basking, elated.

‘Anyway, I was doubtful about this whole process at first.’ She grimaced in a self-mocking sort of way. ‘But I think it’s been good for me.’

Could I ask her to consider ongoing private sessions? I’d do it pro bono. Whatever she wanted. I didn’t want to say goodbye forever. But I was scared of coming across as clingy or creepy. I couldn’t make the words come out anyway. To be honest, I was on the verge of choking up.

‘It’s been fun for me,’ I stammered. ‘And a real pleasure.’ Perhaps the most sincere words to have ever left the Ultimate Wine-stained lips of Dr Ruth.

It was over: goodbye, good luck, pleasure to work with you. I guessed I’d never talk to her again. We hung up.
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For a while after that last chat, I sat on the bed, staring at the door. Then I leaned over, switched on Ian’s humidifier and watched the wafts of stale steam issue from its plastic hole. I thought about how I should probably call Ian or Jessica and arrange to return the thing, though Sam liked to pretend the humidifier was a ‘magic vapour stone’. I had also started to assign mysterious properties to it, flicking the switch late at night and staring pensively into the haze.

I needed to get rid of it, clean up, move on. Ian’s humidifier was a symbol of all my errors. It was a symbol of contamination. I was beginning to conceive of my sickness and the whole Dr Ruth era—especially the Julian/Astrid period—as connected. I’d been off my game for months. Ever since I’d started working with Astrid, things had become hazy and diffuse. The humidifier had arrived in my life around the time that my body and my boundaries had collapsed.

Now Meg and Barb were best buddies, Barb and Paul were phone contacts, Astrid and Julian had met Michael Wicks in Elmsleigh and I’d managed to lose most of my clients. It was all a disaster.

I wiped the Ultimate Wine off my lips with the back of my hand and looked at the purple smear on my skin. There was one thing left to do to draw a line under the era, to try to regain my clarity and purpose. I just had to summon the energy to do it.

I walked to the bathroom and looked at myself in the mirror. My hair looked thin. I was all nose and jaw. A haggard vulture. I slapped myself twice in the face. Wake up. I put my head in the sink and drank from the tap. I returned to my bedroom, switched off the humidifier, boiled the kettle and brewed a very strong, very sweet cup of black tea. No pressure, no diamonds.

I forced myself, finally, to listen to the recording of drunk Julian again. I’d set it aside, holding on to the possibility that there might be more sessions with Julian and Astrid in the future. That I’d somehow be able to bring them back for another package. No longer.

These guys—wild guys … wine, women and song.

Feedback from him’s just idiotic, now there’s no storytelling, they’ve stripped the story … not an ounce of creativity in their bodies, you know? …

I don’t tell you how to sell jacuzzis to Elle Macpherson so don’t talk to me about filmmaking, animation, storytelling …

… Kick them to the kerb …

… Swooping in … like a little bitch …

… Weird-looking woman … pain in the tit.

 I listened to the tapes again and again, noting the significant timestamps and themes. I began to regain some confidence. I could definitely work with this material. I could probably sculpt it into quite an embarrassing little mp3.

It wasn’t so much what he was saying—it was the whiny tone and timbre that made it good leverage. It was the slurred bragging, the drunk griping, the overwhelming stench of inadequacy. This wasn’t the kind of thing you’d want employees or other clients or industry peers to hear.

At 3.15 pm I drove to school to pick up Sam. Meg wasn’t there, so I interacted effortfully with other parents at the school gate—genial discussions about improving weather; strenuous eye-rolling about lost school jumpers—then I got home, planted Sam in front of the TV in the big house, brewed more strong tea and got straight back to work.

I had to find out more about this Andy figure. Who was this guy? Before the drunk conversation, I’d rarely heard Julian bitch about any of his clients by name. It was always the client this and the client that; yet another strain of his insufferable self-importance.

But Andy was obviously a client or partner on this Knightsbridge project, and obviously someone Julian had known for quite a while. Someone with a degree of power over Julian. He’s always been like this. But how would he know his mother? Why would he care about her?

I investigated the Knightsbridge Park development, trying to find the connection with Andy. The website was pretty bare-bones—after all, the Blaze team were still working on the marketing material—but there was a bit of information on the ‘Our Team’ page. You could see the names of the architecture firm, the interiors firm, the investment partners, the construction company. There were one or two Andrews if you looked deep into those sites, but I couldn’t identify the Andy in question with any certainty.

The Knightsbridge Park website had a bunch of generic contact email addresses. Surely messages sent there would find their way to people who knew exactly who both Julian and Andy were. I decided that was probably enough.

After dinner, story and bed, I edited the choicest cuts of the drunk ramblings into a single excruciating sound file. Then I listened to old conversations with Julian for background. The recordings went on for hours—mostly pure starch about growth mindset, leadership styles, intrinsic motivation and staff-wellbeing initiatives—and I listened at chipmunk speed to get through it all.

There was nothing that gave me any new insight into Andy. But there was quite a bit of hand-wringing over specific staff members, especially Astrid. I decided to edit some of the Astrid references together into a supercut, with samples from She’s Like the Wind by Patrick Swayze to lend an obsessive-maniac vibe. Now I had two embarrassing files.

I focused, then, on trying to understand Julian’s financial status and personal history. He was cagey about his family back in England in our conversations, but there were a couple of clues that suggested inherited wealth. Boarding school in Scotland, plus some executive-producer credits on IMDB for films made in the noughties: sexy aliens terrorising high schools; greasy poets on unwholesome road trips. So that was Julian in his artsy twenties. A patsy investor for shitty indie films.

I pieced together some information about his current financial status. There were some relevant holiday snaps: skiing in Japan, Port Douglas resorts. He lived in Paddington (median house price $3,012,500) and he owned property in Kensington, London (median rent £1,601 per week).

Blaze was doing okay, it seemed. Julian wasn’t having heaps of success in broadening the client portfolio, but those luxury property jobs must pay big money. Julian was a dick, but he seemed to have good contacts and to know how to hire decent people.

I settled on a figure of $10,000. It was a good amount, not overly risky or ambitious. I didn’t have the stomach for that right now.


Hello Julian,

See links to some very interesting sound files. The first is a recording from our conversation after the boys’ lunch a few weeks ago.

I’m planning to send these files to a few different email addresses, including press@knightsbridgepark.com, inquiries@knightsbridgepark.com, Astrid.wendell@blaze.com.au and reception@blaze.com.au.

The Knightsbridge people might be interested to know that you’re planning to kick them to the kerb. I might also send these files to some other project partners and industry contacts. I’ve got a lot more stuff on tape and I’ve got video files too. You probably don’t remember half the things you said after your long lunch.

On the other hand, I could just destroy these files. If you’d like me to destroy them, you will need to deposit a $10,000 confidentiality fee into my PayBe account.

Please understand that I am completely serious. Just send the money. Don’t contact me again.

Make the payment by 1 October.

Ruth



I stared at the email for a long time: double-checking, triple-checking.

It was midnight. No light but the dim glow of my laptop. No sound, no magic-vapour-stone steam, just my own quiet breath.

At 12.29 am, I hit send.




30

YVONNE’S BOOK CAME OUT NOT long after we moved in to the flat in Kingsbury.

I was standing in Barb’s kitchen one morning while a breakfast TV program was on in the background when suddenly there was Yvonne, sitting on a couch in the studio, beaming and laughing in one of her classic wrap dresses. She’d stopped dyeing her hair, and her curls formed a magnificent silver cloud around her face.

‘Absolutely anyone can learn to sing,’ Yvonne was saying. ‘And singing can have huge benefits for our brain function, health and wellbeing.’

Next minute, Yvonne had the two hosts, a white-toothed man and a mumsy blonde, up on their feet singing ‘Love Me Do’.

‘For god’s sake,’ Barb said. She snatched the remote control off the counter and switched off the TV.

 I looked up the segment online the moment I got back to the granny flat. The hosts must have had hours of TV to kill, so the interview went on for ages. They talked about some upcoming virtual choir event Yvonne was running in Brisbane called CEO Singalong, raising money for homeless people. (‘I’ve faced some tough challenges in my time in business, but nothing like the challenge of persuading twenty C-suite executives to sing “Bat Out of Hell” over Zoom!’) And they talked, too, about Yvonne’s career and her book, On Song.

‘I’m not reinventing the wheel here,’ Yvonne said. ‘What I am doing is sharing the story of a life that’s been shaped—that’s been transformed—by music and by creativity.’

She flicked her hair, continued: ‘The story of my own career as a performer—this is my jumping-off point to talk about the research into peak performance and wellbeing more broadly and to bring in my learnings as a career performance coach, working with people in the artistic, sporting and corporate worlds. The question is: how can we show up and perform at our very best—as colleagues, as friends, as partners, as—’

‘—and as busy mums and carers.’ The blonde host smiled vigorously at the camera.

‘Yes, of course,’ said Yvonne, flashing her bright teeth. ‘There’s so much scope for creativity in our caring roles.’

‘And before the pandemic you were working with some amazing people over in the US—with artists and athletes and CEOs and even the Olympic diving team!’

 ‘Yes, that’s true, though sadly I wasn’t able to get the divers singing under water’—the hosts shrieked and hooted—‘but yes, with the brilliant Dr Richard Wang, I’ve started the NeuroCreate Institute, and we’ve had the opportunity to coach, and learn from, some seriously inspiring people. All that learning and experience and research comes together in this book.’

The male host deployed his pleasant mid-morning grin, and edged forwards on the studio couch. ‘And you’re based in Australia now, Yvonne?’

‘The NeuroCreate Institute is based in Boston, but I’ve been in Australia since the start of the pandemic and in Queensland for most of this year,’ Yvonne said. ‘Before that I was a digital nomad—working between Melbourne, Sydney, Boston and New York. So many things are possible these days in terms of working online. I think many people, women especially’—here she exchanged a soulful, sisterly glance with the female host—‘are stepping into their power and leaning in to extra flexibility in their working lives …’

So, she’d finally done it. She’d written her Catch the Curl. I wondered how she’d managed it. Maybe she’d hired a ghost writer. Naturally, she’d been nowhere near Melbourne for the lockdowns. That part didn’t surprise me.

I scrolled through Yvonne’s various social feeds. Going grey was one of the smartest things she’d ever done. She looked amazing. You had to hand it to her, you really did. These days she was calling herself a ‘performance and wellbeing coach’ and pumping out lockdown-wellbeing content. She was even an influencer-ambassador for some health-insurance brand, parading her silver vitality in home dance-workout videos.

I looked into the NeuroCreate Institute, which offered executive coaching, coach coaching and embodied-leadership courses, as well as habit-formation webinars and change-management packages to empower businesses and individuals to unlock creativity and optimize wellness and joy. I watched some videos. It was clear why Dr Richard Wang and Yvonne had teamed up. He had all the research credentials, and probably all the connections, and she had all the charisma, sales skills and marketing nous.

I was curious to read On Song, but I didn’t want to pay for it. It was tricky to get my hands on a copy. And there were a lot of distractions in my life at that time. I was busy. Busy settling into the new place in Kingsbury, busy learning to navigate Barb, busy settling Sam into school. There were on-and-off lockdowns again, too. I was working—or trying to work—three days a week: two days in the office (when it was open), one day from home. The commute involved both bike and tram. I had to leave the house at 7.30 am if I wanted to get Sam to before-school care and myself to work on time.

When I finally got around to borrowing On Song from the library, the book had been out for several months. The cover showed Yvonne in a rose-coloured blazer, silver curls of glory tumbling onto the collar, leaning on a table with her chin cupped in her hand and a warm yet piercing gaze directed at the reader.

 I started reading it that night, after Sam fell asleep. The first two chapters focused on Yvonne’s personal story. I skimmed most of this. I knew all this stuff already: the American songbook with her dad at bedtime, singing ‘I Love the Nightlife’ to a priest in the confession booth, the swollen-ankle ice-bucket epiphany while on tour with 42nd Street. I woke up in the middle of the night with the light still on and the book resting on my chest.

The second part of the book was focused on the psychology and neuroscience of creativity, and on scientific findings about the benefits of song and dance to brain performance. I started reading this on the tram on the way to work the next morning. It was at this point, when Yvonne had to cover topics other than herself, that On Song really started to unravel. It was a jumbled debacle, jumping from idea to idea, taking studies about music, dance and brain health and mangling them into confused messages about growth mindsets and gratitude and holistic thriving. Something something endorphins. Something something central nervous system. Something something attention and awareness.

How had she managed to get this thing published? The tram-driver dinged the bell at an indecisive driver, and passengers sighed and recrossed their legs. Maybe once you had enough followers online you could convince a publisher to put out just about anything. People would buy it, nobody would ever read it, and Yvonne would get to call herself an author.

I read on. And it was at this point that I started to see certain references and phrases that bore my direct influence. My jaw tightened. I flipped to the acknowledgements page at the back of the book. I scanned for my name (not there). I scanned for Paul’s dad’s name (not there). I scanned for Dr Richard Wang. (‘Thanks for being my collaborator, my sounding board, my sweetheart. Thanks for rocking a tux like James Bond.’) Ugh. So he was not just a business partner. But I was at my stop, at work. I put the book in my bag and got off the tram.

Part Three of On Song was the Case Studies section. I read it that afternoon on the way home in the oppressive, stale atmosphere of peak hour. I was holding on to one of the straps, with a woman’s face—masked, but still—in my armpit. I dread to imagine what those twenty minutes were like for that woman, because over the course of the tram ride, my resentment of Yvonne and her stupid book transmuted into septic rage.

There were whole paragraphs that were lifted more or less word for word from the blog; from posts I had written maybe ten whole years ago. She hadn’t even bothered to change the post headers: What’s the Difference Between Honest and Authentic Leadership? and What Do Women (Leaders) Want? She’d just used them as subheadings. I recognised my own words, my own phrases, my own cautionary tales and allegories, but now with a few clunky analogies to creativity, singing, songbooks, hymn sheets and the like shoehorned in to keep it on theme. Plus a few hasty updates to bring a more contemporary flavour, incorporating more rest and rejuvenation; less hustle, more wellbeing, joy and self-care.

There was a whole section on the Authentic Leadership Profile Inventory quiz—the questionnaire that I had masterminded. It was a real Eureka moment! she had written. I sat bolt upright in the middle of the night. What if I could create a tool to help emerging leaders map their personal style on a spectrum? I groaned out loud, snapped the book shut over the top of my fellow commuter’s head. She flinched, then refocused her gaze out the window.

Was this even real? What made Yvonne think she could do this? Did she think I didn’t exist? That I couldn’t read? That I wouldn’t know? I looked around the tram. People were staring into the distance, or playing with their phones. My lips, and my mouth, felt dry beneath my mask. I opened the book again, scanned the chapters again. With a jolt I realised that I’d passed my tram stop. I looked at my watch. Fuck.

I got off the tram and frantically called the after-school-care people to tell them I was running late. I begged them not to fine me. When I got to my bike, locked to a signpost outside a newsagency on Bell Street, I saw a junkie trying to cut the lock.

‘FUCK OFF!’ I shouted and I threw On Song at her head. She moaned, dropped the lock and ran away, covering her head with her arms.

Passers-by looked at me and looked at her—two absolute shitshows, neither of us cute enough to assist—and continued walking. I kicked the signpost, then the book. Why did everyone think they could fuck with me? Why was it all so blatant? I kicked the signpost again.

It was 5.52 pm. I didn’t have time to continue losing my mind. I picked up the book and put it in my backpack. I dumped the broken lock on the ground and rode off to pick up Sam. He looked anxious when I arrived. He was disturbed to be still waiting for me when the lights were off and the toys were all packed away. ‘Where were you?’ he said, and I could have cried. They fined me $27 because I was fifteen minutes late.

That night, I spent more than an hour settling Sam into his bed. We were still getting used to sleeping in separate rooms, and I had to lie with him on his bed every night until he fell asleep. Whenever I tried to creep off, he’d wake up and I’d have to lie back down again. So it wasn’t until well after 9 pm that I was able to start searching for proof.

It didn’t take long. Thanks to my history of working on shitty, failing computers, I’d always been careful to save my work on hard drives. And deep in my email history, I found a thread on the Authentic Leadership Profile Inventory, proving that it was me who’d first suggested the idea of a measurement tool and who had written the questions that had featured in the final product.

I cross-checked all of this with paragraphs in On Song. I ran them through a free online plagiarism checker. There were three cases of entire paragraphs that reappeared in Yvonne’s book untouched. That was enough.

And that was the start.

My own grand recalibration happened in the weeks that followed. I thought a lot about what Yvonne had said during her morning-show interview: about private coaching, about women leaning into more flexible working arrangements, about women stepping into their power. I watched some of her Instagram Live talks, the ones where she coached other coaches as a form of cross-promotion. I took notes. New ideas took shape in my mind.

Winter was growing nearer and more lockdowns were looming; everyone could feel it. But I didn’t share the sense of foreboding that was hanging over the city. I was electric. Late into the nights, I built the website for my first coaching incarnation, Dr Anna Schuster. The agency had a DSL camera and I borrowed it for a couple of nights, watching YouTube tutorials on how to take professional-looking headshots with the self-timer, then making minor adjustments to my face using Photoshop, hoping it was enough to trick facial-recognition tools.

I bought a mini tripod from Dick Smith and a ring light. I recorded Dr Anna Schuster’s introductory video, using the same borrowed equipment, then made a video of Dr Anna talking, intersected with a montage of images: Yvonne at the CEO Singalong, Korean athletes in dinner suits, Sheryl Sandberg, et cetera.

It was amazing how much energy and motivation I had for these tasks. Whereas previously I’d collapsed in exhaustion after the pick-up from after-school care, I now drew on resources I never knew I had. I was taking control of my own destiny. If you don’t take a chance, as Yvonne would have said, you don’t stand a chance.

Then late one night, when Sam was tucked up in bed, I completed my tinkering, poured myself a nip of Highland Earl and hit send on the fateful email.



Hello Yvonne,

I have read your book, On Song. Large parts of the Case Studies section were written by me, not you. I also played a major role in developing the Authentic Leadership Profile Inventory. None of this has been accurately reflected in your book.

I have not been paid or credited for my work. I have extensive proof (see attached screenshots of our email conversations and my drafts) that I wrote these words. I’d appreciate an overdue payment of $15,000 (details below) or I’ll contact your publisher and ask them to organise payment and credit for my work.

Also, I’m starting up my own private coaching business (see link). I’ll be using Dr Anna Schuster as my professional name and I’ll be including a testimonial from you on my website.

Christina



Yvonne tried to call me about forty times the following day. I never answered the phone and I never listened to her voicemails. I wanted to keep all of my dealings cool, detached and text-based. The money came through after two weeks of histrionics, guilt-tripping, begging and quibbling. Finally, after we nutted out the details of the testimonial and came to an agreement, the money landed.

In the weeks after that, I raided the NeuroCreate social channels and found my first coaching clients in the comments. Reeling in clients was easier then than it’s ever been since. In the second half of the second year of Covid, people were unmoored, impetuous, susceptible. (Plus, I was undercutting Yvonne’s personal coaching package with my prices.)

Soon enough, I’d paid off my credit card and made the first of my repayments to Paul. Four months later, I quit my job. Sam and I settled into a more convenient routine, with me as my own boss, setting my own hours.

The rest is history.
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WITH JULIAN, THE TERROR PERIOD was mercifully short. He paid within ten days. It was a huge relief and a very good haul. A tidy end to a messy era.

The money came through mid-morning on a Tuesday. I didn’t celebrate. I decided to take a long walk along the creek. It was a moody, maudlin walk, involving a kicked stone and even—for god’s sake—some fitfully plucked gumnuts that I tried and failed to skim across the water’s surface.

Something was wrong with me. Shutting down Dr Ruth was stirring strong emotional currents.

It was quiet. Seventeen degrees and sunny. The air was cool and clean. It was rare for me to go for a stroll on my own. Normally, if I was walking these streets, I was with Sam and in mother mode: chatting about school or ninja skills or volcanoes, or half-talking about those things and half-thinking about shopping lists, parent-teacher interviews, the standard of Sam’s handwriting. If I went out by myself, for fresh air, I brought my headphones and listened to Natural Born Coaches and Potential Psychology podcasts.

Now, with no company and no incoming information in my ears, I heard sounds.

I heard leaves crunching under the soles of my shoes. I heard the creek babbling, thanks to overnight rains, and birds making bird noises. I recognised the magpies, but what were the others? What were the names of these trees? Did Astrid know the names of birds? Would she know the names of suburban trees? Strange thoughts.

I knew nothing about the natural world. But then, I knew nothing about anything much except how to bullshit a very specific type of person, and I wasn’t even sure I knew that anymore.

I heard the hum of traffic, not far away, and I turned off the creek path. I passed houses on familiar streets and I noticed things. A campaign sign for a local candidate on a brick fence. An old border collie snoozing on a porch. A halal food truck parked on a front lawn. A teenage boy playing trap on his phone and shooting a basketball at a driveway hoop. Why wasn’t he at school? I looked at the kid’s wide shoulders and boofy hair. Soon enough, Sam would be that big.

A few houses on, I spotted a kooky diorama mailbox outside a standard brick home. How had I never seen this before? I bent down to look at it closely. Inside the diorama was a bizarre little scene: fairy figurines perched on red-and-white spotted mushrooms—reminiscent of The Magic Faraway Tree—but with a purple plastic triceratops looming in the background. Who had gone to the trouble of making this eerie miniature world?

I turned a corner and saw a silver hatchback approaching. As it got closer, I realised it was Jessica’s car. I walked with my head down and my face inclined towards the fence of a passing house—wow, such enthralling brickwork!—but she’d seen me. She gave a cursory beep. I looked up and simulated a surprised wave. I’d never liked Jessica—she was sulky and dull, a wilted bean of a woman—but at least she had never tried to help me. I was grateful now that I didn’t have to feel grateful to her.

I loped onwards, picking my way along quiet streets, all the way from Preston, then looping back around towards Barb’s house. I’d just collected $10,000, but what were my prospects for the months ahead? I felt further than ever from my goal. I had squandered so much.

I imagined the interiors of the houses as I walked past, decorating them with white Billy bookshelves and fruit bowls and framed wedding photos. Any one of them would be more hospitable than our granny flat. I felt tainted.

Dull, self-evident truths began to land in my brain. People—real people—lived all around me, inside these houses. Each person was extremely three-dimensional, stuffed with slimy pulsating organs, wrapped in self-replenishing skin. Each person had their own highly specific reality. Each person belonged to certain people and to certain places. Sam and I belonged to each other, of course, but what was ahead of us? I was so tired of trying to invent our future.

Almost two full hours passed on this poignant neighbourhood excursion. When I turned the corner onto Stymie Street, my nostrils were struck with a god-awful smell.

I looked over a low fence of red brick and wrought iron. Behind it was a lush green lawn and the beginnings of a vegetable patch. There was a sack of fertiliser in the middle of the lawn.

Two rugged women in their sixties walked out of the front door wearing gardening gloves. One of the women was smiling and shaking her head. She was holding a trowel. The other was cackling, like she’d just told a beyond-the-pale joke. What was so funny?

One of the women saw me. She mimed a salute with her trowel. I waved and hurried on. But something of that stench and that image stayed with me as I turned the next corner.

Who were these two women? Sisters? Friends? Wives? Just two local witches, stinking the neighbourhood up to high heaven and laughing about it.
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AT NORTHLAND SHOPPING CENTRE I saw signs outside Sketchers and Sunglass Hut for part-time sales-assistant positions. I applied for them both, with a CV that used my real name and an invented work history that told the story of a gentle ascent through the mid-range fashion franchises of Adelaide’s eastern suburbs.

I got the Sunglass Hut gig thanks to my referee, one ‘Shelly Aitken’, former regional manager of Witchery Adelaide, who gave a gushing burner-phone endorsement with reference to my bubbly personality and passion for visual merchandising. I worked fifteen hours a week over two shifts, making $23.35 per hour. I couldn’t complain. It was a miracle I got the job at all, since I couldn’t work weekends. Barb had offered to pick up Sam from school on Tuesdays when she got the twins.

This was objectively a good arrangement. It was lucky, very lucky, if only of the kind I specialised in: a luck of the meagre, dingy variety. The same luck that landed me in the Coburg manger when there was no room at the inn. The same luck that had me sharing a kitchen with my landlady. The same luck that meant I’d never smashed any of the tumblers I’d stolen from the Rustic Olive.

Anyway, the Sunglass Hut job was a stopgap, to slow the rate I was burning through savings while I figured out what to do next. I was treading water. Or I was slipping into a slow downstream current.

I undertook a one-week training-and-probation ordeal. The store manager—a birdy, cross-eyed little redhead—introduced me to the products and talked me through the company’s thirty-six-page employee handbook. She demonstrated methods for cleaning mirrors (‘So I’m just using a gentle, circular motion’) and outlined the protocol for managing stock deliveries. I listened and nodded, disliking her viscerally. Her eyes were very close together; so close it was like they were conspiring to swap places.

Soon enough I had completed the onboarding multiple-choice psychometric personality test (I can easily control my impulses: strongly agree; One day I hope to be a big celebrity: disagree; A strong leader must sometimes deliver harsh punishments: neither agree nor disagree) and I only saw her once a week after that.

Fortunately, everybody at Northland Shopping Centre hated Sunglass Hut. Shoppers observed an invisible blast zone around the outlet, or came in just to check how a specific pair of sunglasses looked in the mirror before buying those same sunglasses online from cheaper retailers.

 It was a crumbling hut, and a venue for compulsory self-reflection. My self was literally reflected in hundreds of displayed pairs of designer sunglasses. There I was, in miniature, trapped twice in some tasteful Burberry tortoiseshells and twice again in a pair of gold-rimmed Versace wraparounds. There I was again, horribly life-size and bisected by the doors in the display cabinet glass. And there again and again and again, in the three wide mirrors that I cleaned twice a day with the microfibre chamois.

The image in the mirror was me, Christina: the one who did school runs, the one known as ‘Mum’ to Sam, the one who had dark circles under her eyes and who needed a haircut. But there were traces of Ruth and Anna and Elizabeth, too. I realised that I dressed exactly the same as the doctors now. I didn’t have any other work-appropriate clothes and I didn’t want to buy any.

There wasn’t much for me to do in the shop once I’d cleaned mirrors and unpacked stock boxes. The minutes passed with a thick, gloopy consistency that reminded me of the viscous boredom of my childhood school holidays.

At the start of every shift, I vowed to be more focused, more disciplined, to use this time to invent a new doctor persona, to research potential new clients. But the minutes congealed and I’d find myself daydreaming or doomscrolling or sucked in by algorithms to online worlds that had nothing to do with me. One day I watched thirty videos of a bewildering teenage singing craze on TikTok and then a grotesque flexibility challenge. Even Yvonne had jumped on this viral flexibility challenge. She’d posted a video of herself doing the splits on her kitchen benchtop. I’d stopped scrolling the real-estate apps.

I kept up to date with Astrid’s friends. Al Jazeera journalist was vox-popping shoppers at a provincial flower market. Sydney fashion lesbian was battling an endometriosis flare-up and learning to cook paella. Astrid was still posting regularly. The magazine commission had given her a huge boost. She was sharing different kinds of content now: an old photo of Oma frowning into a microscope, a drawing of a Rafflesia (native to Indonesia, endangered and nicknamed the stinking corpse flower—according to the caption) and a new banksia drawing.

What was I doing? I tried to snap out of it. My edge, my advantage, had always been my capacity to focus my attention, to limit online distraction, to squirrel myself away anonymously into one corner of the internet. But my search for new clients went nowhere. It all suddenly felt too risky; too hard. I’d scroll through Yvonne’s comment threads, and through the other recruitment channels, but I’d always find a reason, some little reason, why each candidate wasn’t quite right. Too smart. Too young. Too sexual. Too mental. Sometimes, I wondered if I had exhausted the whole time zone’s supply of rich and cheesy morons.

On my lunchbreaks, I lurked in Mecca, the Reject Shop, Kitchenware Stations. I made stupid decisions, wasted cash on things we didn’t need: earrings, sticker activity books for Sam, a heavy-duty thermos in army green. (‘Mate,’ said Meg, when I showed it off to her at the school gate. ‘Rolls-Royce.’) Time passed in a blur.
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I was maybe three weeks into my Sunglass Hut stint when things began to unravel.

Only one customer had entered the store since my lunchbreak, a snooty lady in brown loafers who barked a pre-emptive ‘just browsing!’ before I even drew breath to greet her. There was a cardboard box full of Ray-Bans at my feet that I was supposed to unpack into the stock cabinets, but I’d been standing there for hours, putting off the task.

I’d been staring at my phone for who knows how long, when the email from Astrid arrived.


Hi Ruth

Did you know that Julian fired me? I’m starting to wonder if you might have had something to do with this. I noticed you’ve taken down your website. Our last few sessions together were a bit strange. By the way, do you go by any names other than Ruth?



I dropped my phone onto the counter like it was a burning thing, or a filthy thing. Then I picked it up again and read the message through twice over. Heat rushed through my body—sudden and disgusting—and it seemed like my heartbeat must be audible from Bras N Things next door. I glanced upwards at the mirrored cabinet. Redness was spreading up over my collarbone to my neck and face. I turned away.

 In slow motion, as though in a dream, I opened the drawer beneath the counter and pulled out the Stanley knife. I bent down to the Ray-Ban box at my feet. I sliced opened the box, then walked over to the mirrored cabinet and opened its doors.

With great care and attention to detail, I began to stow each of the pairs of sunglasses inside the cabinet. I was aware, to an unnatural degree, of the texture of the plastic against my fingertips. I completed this job in perhaps two minutes, or perhaps five minutes, or perhaps it took me twenty minutes. Then I stood at the counter for another hour, staring at my reflected selves, as currents of horror charged through my body. One more customer came in, I smiled, they smiled, they browsed, they left. At 5.30 pm, I closed up and walked to my car. I was like a Reject Shop lantern, glowing from within, emitting a hazardous heat, a cheap and nasty light.
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I remember nothing of the dinner I shared with Sam and Barb that night. I believe it was some kind of casserole defrosted from Barb’s freezer. I must have chewed it. I must have swallowed it. I must have packed away the dishes in the dishwasher afterwards.

Our last few sessions together were a bit strange. That was the line that kept puncturing my skull all through dinner, and throughout Sam’s shower and bedtime. And the words chiselled at my brain in the dark all through the night, until I heard the approaching garbage truck and saw its lights making a pattern on the ceiling. Morning.

Our last few sessions together were a bit strange. My ears were ringing with it as I went through the morning routine with Sam: making breakfast, bickering about his lost socks, finding shoes. But now I was muttering the words out loud, too, even ventriloquising them in Astrid’s mixed-up accent.

Our last few sessions together were a bit strange. Our last few sessions together were a bit strange.

‘What’s a bit strange?’ said Sam from his booster seat on the way to school. ‘What are you talking about?’

Behind me, a horn beeped. I accelerated, completed the drop-off, returned home and sat on the bed, breathing hard.

I needed to reply, but replying straight away would look like panic. The morning passed in a storm of stricken multitasking: working on my response email, frantically refreshing my phones, and even starting an online passport application form for Sam. Should I be trying to flee the country? Was that ridiculous?

What had happened at Blaze? Was it possible it had nothing at all to do with me? Did Julian blame Astrid because Blaze could never win pitches for non-property clients? Probably it was because of the supercut I’d included in my collection email. Was he scared, even after paying up, that I’d share the tape with her?

At around 1 pm I took a sip of whisky—just enough, not too much—and this steadied my nerves and focused my mind. I finished the email and sent it that night at 10 pm.



Hi Astrid,

I’m dealing with some quite serious health issues at the moment. I’ve taken my website down as I’m on indefinite leave. I’m not sure when or if I’ll be able to return to work.

I’m surprised to hear that Julian has chosen not to renew your contract, since he spent money investing in coaching for you. But I’m sure you’ll appreciate that I can’t comment on private conversations with Julian in any case.

Wishing you all the very best.

Ruth



My hope was that Astrid would read this email and picture Ruth in some horrific medical setting—tubes through the nose, hooked up to beeping machines—gasping the sentences out to Siri as a voice message, too weary and diseased to even use her thumbs. Hopefully she’d feel both satisfied and guilty: guilty for the menacing tone of her message, and satisfied with Ruth’s innocence in the matter.

Hopefully she’d leave the whole thing alone.
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ASTRID DID NOT LEAVE THE whole thing alone.

The reply came through the next morning just after 10 am. A perky little ding, followed by two more—ding, ding—each a bright blade of terror, striking me straight in the throat. I’d turned on all sounds and notifications on both my phones, with the volume up to maximum, as if it were possible for me to miss any communication whatsoever, as if I’d been doing anything at all since my Sunglass Hut shift except refreshing, refreshing, muttering to myself and freaking the fuck out. Neither of my phones had been further than ten centimetres from my body in days.


Hmmm … I contacted Dr Matthew Lehman at Stanford, the one you co-wrote a study about intrinsic motivation with? He’s never heard of a Dr Ruth Carlisle.





Is Ruth your real name? Did you grow up in Elmsleigh?




You’d better reply to me soon. I’m not sure if you’ve broken any law, but maybe I’ll get the police to look into it



I had a sudden urge for fresh air. I ran out of the flat and stood by the door, panting. My head was snowing with static. I wasn’t thinking actual thoughts. My brain was just shitting itself.

I wanted to howl, but I looked across the deck and saw Barb in the kitchen with the mop. I wanted to scream and tear at my hair and beat my head against the side of the flat. I couldn’t do those things, either. I just clenched my fists, turned on my heels and walked back into the flat. I focused on my breathing, inhaling—one, two, three, four—and exhaling—one, two, three, four.

This was really happening to me. It was all real. And I now understood in my body, in my bones, a thing that I’d previously only known on an abstract level.

It had felt so different when I was the hostile party. People’s secrets didn’t interest or offend me. I didn’t want to hurt anyone. I just needed the money, and I kept my word and left people alone once they paid me. I knew that I’d never actually expose someone if they refused to pay me, because in that scenario I’d have more to lose than they would. So, in a sense, it was all quite notional, quite harmless. I came in peace, basically.

Looking back, it seemed that some part of me had started to conceive of these collections as the necessary and logical conclusion of the coaching business. It was, after all, a bit of a racket to begin with. Maybe I’d even begun to think that some of my clients might see it that way, too. But that was a crazy distortion—no, a contortion—of logic. Of course, they didn’t see it that way.

I tried to think of the situation from Astrid’s point of view, but I didn’t have enough information to see the full picture. Had she figured something out while she was in Elmsleigh? How much did it really matter to her if she’d been fired? She hated Blaze anyway. But then again, she had debts and expensive rent. Plus, there was always the question of pride. Nobody wanted to go from ‘rising star’ to ‘redundant’. She’d let her guard down with Ruth: not completely, but enough. She’d even thanked me in our last session. That’d be hard on her pride, too.

I was realising how little I actually knew about Astrid, how much my idea of her had been formed by my own projections and daydreams, how hard it would be to guess her motives or her feelings. There were many things I didn’t know about her. I didn’t know her age. I didn’t know if she’d ever told a friend about her sessions with Dr Ruth.

What about my exposure, here? What was the risk I’d get in real trouble? I wasn’t sure I’d even broken a law, as far as Astrid knew. I’d never claimed to be registered for clinical psychology work in Australia. And it was hard to know how easy it would be to find me. I was careful with location settings, I’d switched VPNs a few times and thrown out some burner phones along the way, but I wasn’t sure how much of a challenge I’d pose to authorities trying to find me. The whole point was that the operation relied on shaking amounts of money that were not so big (relatively speaking) that any of my clients would think it was worth going to the police.

That afternoon, I was back in Sunglass Hut with my hundreds of reflected selves, all of us blinking together in the stuffy air beneath the artificial light. My life could turn to catastrophe at any moment. Police at the door, hand on the shoulder, handcuffs, right to remain silent.

I watched the clock tick, minute by agonising minute. It could happen at the school gate, or with a knock at Barb’s door. It could happen now. Or now. Or now. Or now.
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BY THURSDAY MORNING, I HAD a plan. It wasn’t a great plan. But it was the only option.

I dropped Sam at school, returned to the flat, and sat down on the floor of my room with my back against the bed and my feet touching the wardrobe. I reached for the computer and then—with a feeble, existential wheeze—prised open its aluminium jaw.

I wrote the email to Astrid with surreal, slow-motion lucidity.


Hi Astrid,

Ruth is not my real name and I have not worked with Matthew Lehman.

I am a single mother, living in a granny flat in my landlady’s backyard in Melbourne.

The coaching business has been a way for me to try to make, and save, some money. I want to buy my own place to live. I want security for myself and my kid. We’ve lived in some shitty places. Who knows when we’ll be told it’s time to leave the place we’re in right now? Where will we go then?

My clients have always been rich people, like Julian, who have been able to afford high fees. I’ve never harmed or hurt anybody. I hope I’ve been able to help some people along the way, too.

I’m sorry and surprised to hear that Julian has made you redundant. He spent money investing in you through coaching, so I definitely wouldn’t have predicted anything like that.

I hope you can find a new and interesting job soon. I hope you’ll be able to find more time to focus on your illustrations. You’re very talented.

In terms of work, I think I will stop the coaching and try something new now myself. I am sorry for any upset or confusion I’ve caused and I’m asking you sincerely to leave this alone. My child is only six.



Once I’d finished it, I read the email at least fifty times. I hated it; absolutely hated it. It was like I’d cut myself open on purpose and was now staring, stunned, into the wound. The sight was revolting. And yet, now that I was forced to look at it, I had to admit that the key components—the blood and bare bones—were in place. All was in ghastly anatomical order.

It was shocking to describe this person, these circumstances. Who was this single mother? Who lived in the suburbs? Who was saving for a place to live? Who wanted security? I had never described myself—even to myself—in this way.

 The woman in my email was nothing like Elizabeth or Anna or Ruth. Those women had been designed to impress, to flatter, to coax. They had power and accomplishments, or the air of power and accomplishments, or the air of proximity to power and accomplishments.

But this new persona, the author of this email to Astrid—she was built for pity. And for mercy. I couldn’t warm to her.

And that was the most humiliating part of it. Not only did I have to see this ugly, raw tissue—I had to display it to Astrid. Worse, I had to try to showcase it at an advantageous angle, an angle that cast shadow over certain dangling tendons, an angle that foregrounded the warm, leaking blood, the connection to the heart. An angle to inspire sympathy.

It was a myth that exposed wounds wanted air. Infection—that’s what lay ahead. Infection, and then rot.

At 2.45 pm I managed to force myself to send the email. I used a pencil to press the key—one of Sam’s bendy novelty pencils with a big fluffy pom-pom on the end—as though I could somehow avoid further debasement by withholding my finger from the keyboard at the crucial moment.

This ridiculous tactic didn’t work, of course. The swoosh sound of the email being sent flicked a switch in my body. A shame switch. Within seconds, my whole body was drowning in it.

It was a shame that took me straight back to Elmsleigh: letting myself out the Marshalls’ front gate after pissing on their garden gnome; Pammy at the Commercial Hotel; Mitch barging into the bathroom; running from Michael Wicks at the football club.

I don’t know how long I would have sat there like that, disintegrating in my chair, if I wasn’t jolted into imminent catastrophe mode within minutes again by that infernal little ding.

Astrid: Hmm ok call me.

A very strange sound emerged from inside me. A sob that turned guttural at the end. I squeezed my eyes shut and picked up my non-work phone.

Me: Hey Meg, is it possible for you to pick up Sam after school today? I’ll take Ethan and Harry on Sunday afternoon.

Meg: Deal. I’ll give him an early dinner. Pick him up around 6?

Astrid had sent a meeting request with her message. I clicked the link.
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IT’S STRANGE, WHEN YOU THINK about it, that I didn’t hesitate, that I called Astrid straight away. That I didn’t try to think through other courses of action, or even plan what I was going to say.

Or maybe it wasn’t strange at all. It was consistent, I guess, with the spirit of surrender that had taken hold of me.

As a reflex, I opened a tab for the audio recorder and clicked the button.

‘Ruth,’ she said, when I entered the meeting room. I was a black square. She was in her kitchen again, wearing the exercise headband, no make-up, a yellow hoodie. She looked annoyed.

She corrected herself. ‘No—what’s your real name?’

I hadn’t even thought this far ahead. ‘Elizabeth,’ I said.

A pause. ‘Really?’

I said nothing.

 ‘Is it Christina? Maybe?’

My heart was about to detonate in my chest.

‘Turn on your video,’ she said.

‘I’d rather not.’

‘Just turn it on.’

‘No.’

There was a short, combustible silence.

‘What the fuck is going on?’ Her words came out in a surprising register, higher and sharper than I’d heard her speak before. She was blinking a lot. ‘I don’t know what to think about your email, about all this. It’s like—before you were a hotshot Stanford psychologist-slash-coach-slash-research person and now you’re, it’s this—sob story. Where are you, really?’

‘I told you, Melbourne.’

‘Why did you take your website down?’

‘There really were … personal circumstances.’

She rubbed her eyes, sniffed impatiently. ‘Tell me the truth.’

I didn’t know which part of the truth to tell, or how to tell it. I was gripping the table hard.

‘Okay, then,’ she said sourly, ‘let me tell you what happened here. About six weeks ago, the day after our last session, Julian disappeared for a whole day. He didn’t turn up for an important client meeting. He didn’t answer the phone. And when he came back to work again, he called me in for a private meeting and said he’d decided not to renew my contract. He told me he’d pay out the remaining months, plus a bonus, and that we should make it effective immediately.

 ‘I couldn’t get him to give me a good reason why. Something about “a new direction” and “a modular approach to the team going forward”.’

She wasn’t doing the Julian impression now. She was all business, talking at an agitated clip.

‘… Anyway, this happened pretty much straight after my last session with you. I started to think there might be a connection. Did you tell him to fire me?’

‘What?’ The suggestion horrified me. ‘No! Why would you think that?’

‘Because it was straight after our last session together. And because I know now that you’re not who you say you are. And because you acted so weird in our last few sessions. You kept asking questions about Julian and his workload. And you were completely weird about the visit to Elmsleigh. Did you tell him I have a bad attitude about Blaze or something?’

‘No! I would never—’

‘Well, I was shocked, and it was embarrassing. I mean, it was a stupid job at a stupid agency, but I need a job, I need to pay my rent’—she was talking very fast—‘and Julian specifically asked me not to contact you, or the Knightsbridge clients, again, which seemed very fucking strange. And it was all very weird because I was just about to sign the client he wanted at the Caledonian.’

This was too much information too fast. I couldn’t digest it all. I still hadn’t recovered from the shock of hearing her say Christina. I just stared at her face on the screen.

‘Hello? Are you still there?’

 ‘Still here,’ I said weakly.

‘Turn your video on.’

‘I can’t. I’m having internet problems.’

She pushed her headband down over her eyes for a second, groaned, then pushed it back up again. Now the ends of her fringe stuck up behind the elastic in an aggressive fan. The effect might have been comical in other circumstances. But in the actual circumstances—the ones where she was threatening to send my whole life to hell—the effect was hawkish.

‘I have a lot of time on my hands now, so I started looking into things,’ she continued. ‘It seemed like there must be some connection either between you and the Caledonian client, or maybe between you and Julian’s family. And I remembered how you kept asking all those questions about our trip to Elmsleigh, and I knew you’d grown up somewhere around there. And so I called up this guy I met while I was down there—a guy at the hotel—and asked if he’d ever heard of Ruth Carlisle. But he said the name didn’t ring a bell and—’

My hands went to my throat. ‘Wait a second, who is this guy at the Caledonian Hotel?’

‘Michael Wicks,’ she said. ‘Do you know him?’

I dug my nails into the skin of my neck.

‘I said, do you know him?’

‘Not sure,’ I squeaked.

‘Well, I sent him your headshot from Voxer and he didn’t recognise you at first. But then I mentioned that there was a connection between you and Yvonne Paige and the NeuroCreate Institute, and he said, “Oh, a girl in my year at Elmsleigh High used to work as an assistant for Yvonne Paige a long time ago, booking conference facilities and stuff.”’

She stopped here, leaned in pointedly. ‘Hello?’

‘Still here.’

‘Does any of this ring a bell?’

I said nothing.

‘Michael said he never had anything personally to do with this assistant, this Christina, when she was working for Yvonne, but he remembers Yvonne very well. He said she was a nightmare. He said she was always trying to talk his dad into booking her as a performer for the Elmsleigh Jazz Festival. He said the whole family still jokes about it.’

I squeezed my eyes shut.

‘And he also said, “Funny you should mention it because Yvonne Paige has been doing the splits all over my Instagram feed ever since I switched private-health providers, AND I saw Christina at the pharmacy in Elmsleigh just a few weeks ago.” Was that you?’

This was too much. My fingernails, still in my neck, were about to draw blood.

She crossed her arms, looked smug. ‘So then I contacted Yvonne Paige,’ she said. ‘It took her a long time to get back to me. Eventually, she sent an email confirming she has worked with Dr Ruth Carlisle, but she was vague on the details. I contacted some of the other people you’d claimed to work with and they’d never heard of you.’

I was about to heave.

 ‘Hello? Turn on your camera,’ she said. Then one more time, in a low voice. ‘Turn it on.’

I swallowed and clicked the camera button. My face appeared in the white square in the corner of the screen. I couldn’t stand it. I spun my laptop away from me—another reflex—and ducked to the other side of the screen.

‘I saw you,’ she said. ‘Get in front of the camera again.’

I stood up slowly, sat back down in the chair and adjusted the laptop screen so it was facing me directly. There was my face in the corner square again—pale and stupid. I dragged the corner of the window inward, made it smaller. I didn’t know what to do with my face. I frowned.

‘You look different without your glasses,’ she said. And then: ‘You’re Christina, aren’t you? Michael wasn’t one hundred per cent sure it was the same person. He said he hasn’t really seen you since school.’

This was intolerable. I had to change the subject. ‘Look, it’s true what I said in the email,’ I babbled. ‘And I’m sorry I did all this stuff, I just needed the money and I wanted to get somewhere better to live. It’s been hard on my own to get somewhere good and stable for me and my son. And I’m sure this all feels really weird for you, but it seems like you never bought into this performance-coaching stuff anyway, and—’

‘Yeah,’ she interrupted. ‘But I thought you were just, like, a corporate psychologist. I didn’t think you were a full-blown fraud.’

The vowels in the final word came out rounded, almost prim, in censorious King’s English. I watched her watching me absorb the insult. Something in the crease of her brow told me I had insulted her, too. I’d caused her to stray from her own good judgement, to speak sincerely about things that were close to her heart, to reveal private doubts. I regretted all this to my bones.

‘Show me the room,’ she said, after a long pause. ‘Pick up your computer. Show me three-hundred-and-sixty degrees.’

This was better, but only slightly, than showing my face. I obeyed. With trembling hands, I picked up my laptop and began to walk around the room. I showed her the bookcase, the wardrobe with its smudged mirror, the indoor clothesline with my undies hanging over it, the doorframe without a door, the kitchenette with toaster, kettle and bar fridge, my bed, the bedside table with a half-built Lego pirate ship on top.

‘Oh my god,’ she said. ‘Wait, slow down, stop spinning. Go back. Is that a toaster? You’re sleeping in the same room as … ?’

‘I told you,’ I said quietly. ‘I’m in a granny flat.’

‘Go outside,’ she said. ‘I want to see it from the outside.’

‘Wi-fi doesn’t work out there.’ This was a lie.

‘Go through that door then. I want to see the other room.’

Again, I obeyed. As far as I knew, nobody except me and Sam had seen this room since we’d moved in. I showed her the walls, with Sam’s times-table charts and reading certificates stuck up with Blu Tack. I showed her his bed, with the green jungle-print bedspread from Kmart and his favourite stuffed toys—Fred and Susan—propped up on his pillow. I was moving very slowly now, showing her his chest of drawers, pushing the top drawer closed with my free hand to hide his socks, and showing her the beautiful little wooden chair we’d found in hard rubbish in Bundoora. I showed her a finger-painting Sam had made at kindergarten, which I’d framed. And I tilted the screen to show the little blue-and-orange woven rug I’d bought for his room the first time I collected as Dr Anna.

‘Oh my god,’ I could hear her saying. I was feeling very shaky. I walked back into my room, put the laptop down on the desk and sat on the bed, out of view. She was looking at a blank wall now. From this angle I could still see her. She was just sitting there, shaking her head, her eyebrows hoisted way up her forehead.

She laughed a low, mirthless chuckle. ‘Unbelievable.’

‘What’s unbelievable?’ I said. ‘Lots of people work from home now. You work from home sometimes.’

‘Not with my toaster and my fridge and my desk in the same room as my bed,’ she said. ‘And I don’t coach people on strategies for success.’

These words delivered an injection of pure pain: a sharp stab, followed by a dull, disgraceful ache that radiated through my whole body. I gasped at the impact.

She might have heard it, because her tone when she next spoke was milder, more weary. ‘I guess I just pictured you somewhere more …’ She trailed off. ‘Well, I never really thought about it.’

She adjusted her headband, smoothing her hair behind it. Finally, she spoke.

 ‘Okay, Ruth, or Christina, or whatever your name is. Sit down again. How many people are you doing this scam with? How many clients do you have like Julian? Like me?’

‘None,’ I said, sitting back in front of the laptop. ‘I’ve stopped the whole thing. I shut down the site.’

‘How many clients did you have before it shut down?’

‘About ten.’

‘About?’

‘Yes.’ I tried to change the subject again. ‘How long will your payout keep you going for?’

‘What do you care?’

I shrugged.

‘Well,’—she stared at the ceiling—‘Julian seemed very keen to keep me sweet, since the whole thing was so sudden. I mean, he knew how weird it was. He said it was nothing personal. He said he was planning to restructure the whole company. He said he’d give me a great reference. He said’—and now she struck the pose, the lordly tilt of the head—‘he’d sing my praises to anybody.’

I laughed, and it was like a dam bursting. I couldn’t stop. I lost control of the muscles of my face and my chest completely. I was soggy and hysterical. I tried to stop laughing, and let out a snort instead. In the end, I just gave into it. I folded my arms on the table and put my head down and shook.

When I could manage to look at the screen again, I saw that Astrid was sniggering. ‘I knew you loved it,’ she said.

This set me off again. I had to hide my face.

 ‘Okay, um—are you okay there?’ I heard her saying. I nodded, still with my head in my hands.

‘Um?’ I heard her saying again.

Finally, I pulled myself together. ‘I’m sorry,’ I said. ‘It’s been … hard not to laugh sometimes. This is—I can’t believe I’m talking to you like this.’

‘Well,’ she said, ‘I can’t believe this, either. I’m not really sure what to believe at this point.’

‘How much did he pay you?’

‘Three months. Forty thousand,’ she said coolly.

I stopped laughing then, and pressed my fingers into my temples. For a second, I imagined my hands reaching through skin and skull to knead the squelchy, useless material in there.

‘Forty thousand dollars?!’

‘Well, that’s before tax.’ I just gaped at her until she said, a little defensively, ‘Okay, yeah, it’s good money, but I’ve never left a job without a new one to go to. I took this job at Blaze with a very specific plan. I wanted to make good money doing a stupid job that I didn’t have to care about. That was the whole point. I wanted my job to be completely separate from my life and my’—she hesitated—‘other stuff, art stuff. And I wanted to leave my own stupid job on my own terms. Do you have any idea what it’s like renting in Sydney?’

I shook my head.

After a moment, Astrid said, ‘Do you actually enjoy this work? The coaching, I mean?’

Did she want to hear a yes or a no?

 ‘Sometimes,’ I said. ‘Depends on the client. It’s a job. I’m just trying to make some money. It’s not easy with a kid.’

‘It’s not a job, it’s a scam,’ she said. ‘Though to be honest, I wouldn’t care if someone was scamming Julian, except that I’m pretty sure that now it’s affected me. I mean, Blaze itself is kind of a scam.’

I swallowed. ‘What do you mean by that?’

Her eyebrows formed a withering apex. ‘I think you probably have a pretty good idea of what I mean by that.’

Did she mean that Blaze charged inflated prices for their bread-and-butter projects—their luxury real-estate stuff? Did she mean these property developments—maybe the Knightsbridge thing—were themselves dubious? Did she just mean that Julian was an idiot?

‘I’m not sure that I do,’ I said. My appeasing tone embarrassed me. ‘Seriously.’

‘I mean that we all have to pretend that Blaze is a real agency with real clients, instead of just an offshoot of a family business.’ I must’ve been looking at her vacantly, because her tone was incredulous. ‘About ninety per cent of Blaze’s work comes from Julian’s family in London. You seriously didn’t know this?’

‘Not exactly,’ I said slowly, hoping she’d elaborate.

‘Ugh!’ She put the heel of her hand to her forehead and groaned. ‘I can’t tell if you’re bullshitting or not.’

I shrugged again. ‘He just wanted to talk about habit formation, management strategy, recruitment, retention,’ I said. ‘He complained about clients, but never mentioned any personal connections.’

 She relaxed her expression a bit and leaned back in her chair. ‘Yeah, it was the same with us,’ she said. ‘This whole farce about pitching to the client, and complaining like it was all real. I don’t think any other agencies were ever in the running for any of these projects. So, you’re telling me that you seriously don’t know about the Durnley Group? Or the Deanley Group, or whatever they’re called?’

I just sat there, shaking my head.

‘Extremely rich family in the UK?’

I shook my head.

‘Used to own department stores? Now just lots of real estate?’

I stared blankly.

‘They have all these shell companies. You seriously didn’t know about all that?’

‘Nope.’

‘Okay, well, I guess I can imagine him wanting to keep up the whole facade with his coach.’ She laughed grimly. ‘And I guess I didn’t know all of it, either, until Keith told me about it at our serendipity meeting. But yeah, that’s the situation. Keith said the financial arrangements at Blaze are … a bit unusual. Julian keeps it pretty quiet.’

We sat in silence for a moment. Was this the Andy connection? Astrid was frowning. ‘There,’ she said, ‘I put a link in the chat.’

I clicked on the link. It was an article from The Guardian from 2016: ‘Which Brits Are in the Panama Papers and What Do We Know About Them?’ I scrolled down and found ‘the Dearneley Brothers’ listed at number four.


Who are the Dearneley brothers?

Neil and Robert Dearneley are the two sons of Gordon Dearneley, the self-made draper-turned-retail-tycoon from Manchester.

The brothers inherited and sold their father’s chain of Dearneleys department stores in 1983. The Dearneley Holdings group now boasts £32 billion in retail, residential and resort assets in nine countries. The brothers’ joint personal fortune is difficult to measure with any real accuracy, thanks to their byzantine system of subsidiary and shell companies.

Now in their seventies, the pair have been variously described as ‘reclusive visionaries’ and ‘a hideously wealthy and publicity-shy metropolis-eating two-headed monster’. Neil and Robert Dearneley live in Monaco and Ireland, respectively.



I skimmed the article. None of this felt urgently relevant. It was hard to focus on the internal workings of a creative agency in Sydney, and its connection to a remote pair of British tycoons, when other horrors were still sinking in.

Astrid had used my real name. She had discussed me with Michael Wicks. She had shown him my photo. This knowledge—the fact of the collusion between them—was the only thing I could think about in the silence Astrid had allowed for me to read the article.

I couldn’t take it. I had to broach the loathsome question. I turned off my video and put my hands over my eyes.

 ‘Can you tell me how much this guy, uh, Michael, at the Caledonian. How much he knows?’

She looked triumphant, stabbing one finger at the screen. ‘So you do know Michael! What happened to your video, bring it back.’

I took a deep breath, then turned the camera on again. ‘Everyone from around that area knows the Wickses,’ I said, trying to keep my voice steady.

‘How’s that?’

I gave her a general, careful spiel about the Wickses’ influence on the town and the region surrounding it.

She listened, nodding, taking it in. ‘Do people like them? Are they unpopular?’

‘Some people like them,’ I said. ‘Some people resent them. You can’t really escape them if you live in the town. I guess they have a lot of power.’

‘And what’s Michael like?’ she said, narrowing her eyes. ‘Do you know him? Do you remember him?’

‘I’ve never really known him well.’ This was true. ‘How did you find him?’

‘I thought he was nice,’ she said. ‘They were friendly to me, showed me their winery. We drank a lot, so we ended up talking quite a bit. I think Michael probably felt a bit sorry for me, because Julian was being such a weirdo.’

I laughed at this and it came out as a loud yelp. I was aware that I’d been jiggling my leg manically ever since I’d sat back in the chair. I tried to still my knee with my hand.

 Astrid didn’t laugh. She was regarding me sceptically. ‘Do you want to know what Michael said about this Christina character?’

A big, shuddery breath. ‘No,’ I said.

But she told me anyway. ‘He said he wasn’t sure if it was Christina in the photo, but that he definitely saw Christina at the pharmacy. He said she seemed to be kind of in a bad way. Was that you?’

My heart thumped in my chest. I said nothing.

She went on: ‘He said that at school she was smart and quiet. He said it seemed like her home life maybe wasn’t too great.’

The shame again. Corrosive, like a personal acid-rain shower. I said nothing. Astrid was staring intently at the screen, trying to measure the effect of her words. I stared down at my legs.

‘He said he used to feel sorry for her, back when her boss used to come to the Caledonian,’ she continued. ‘He said Yvonne cornered his dad one night outside the men’s room and started singing “I Got Rhythm”.’

I tried to force a laugh at this, to be a good sport, but it came out all wrong, like a creaky wail. My throat was tight and hot now. I was dissolving into my disgrace.

I looked up at the screen again. I saw it almost before I felt it: my face collapsing in on itself. I groped for the keyboard and turned off my video just as the tears came.

‘Well, fuck,’ Astrid was saying now, hands in the air. ‘I’m pretty sure you got me fired, but you’re the one crying?’

I couldn’t talk. I was shuddering. I typed a message in the chat.

Please don’t tell anyone any more about this.

I watched her sigh and rub her eyes. ‘Sorry,’ she said blandly. ‘Okay, fine, for now. You can stop freaking out, but can you just tell me why Yvonne Paige is covering for you? Or are you two still working together?’

I said nothing.

‘Okay,’ she said, with irritation. ‘Can you tell me why Julian asked me to sign a non-disclosure agreement?’

I cleared my throat, forced myself to speak again. ‘What agreement?’

‘Julian had me sign a non-disclosure agreement when I left, in order to get the payout,’ she said. ‘Which was odd, because there was already a standard confidentiality clause in my contract.’

‘That’s strange.’

‘I just signed it without really thinking about it. I mean, I was stunned. And why would I want to talk about his stupid company with anyone anyway? So I just signed it. And specifically, verbally, he told me not to share any sensitive information with you or with Andrew Martin—and why would I contact Andrew?’

‘Andrew who?’

‘Andrew Martin, Julian’s cousin. He’s the client on the Knightsbridge thing.’

These words struck my ears like a major chord. After days of clatter and strife, here was a bright, sweet note; new information chiming against old in startling harmony.

I felt an almighty surge of adrenaline, felt my power return in a rush. I saw my chance and I took it.

 ‘If you’ve signed this NDA with Julian,’ I said, ‘do you think you should keep contacting me? And keep talking to me about his business?’

She jerked. Her voice jumped, almost to a shriek. ‘Is that a threat?’

‘No, of course not,’ I said, speaking very slowly, gaining confidence now. ‘I’m just trying to describe our complicated situation. Just wondering if what you’ve been saying to me might count as, uh, sensitive information.’

A long pause; very long. Then, quietly, she said, ‘I’m making a recording of this conversation.’

‘I’m recording this conversation, too.’

She was sitting up very straight and stiff now. The expression on her face—a mixture of shock, anger and affront—worried me. I had claimed my leverage, but I needed to keep her onside.

‘I think,’ I said, ‘that neither of us has anything to gain from sharing anything about this conversation with anyone. It contains sensitive information on both sides.’

She nodded warily and I was saddened by my own brutishness. I was sorry to have lost the rapport and the sympathy we’d been starting to build earlier. I didn’t want it to be like this.

I chose my next words with extreme care. ‘Since you asked about my relationship with Yvonne these days,’ I said, ‘I should maybe explain that that relationship really depends on me holding on to some, uh, sensitive information. Actually, a lot of my work as Dr Ruth revolves around that kind of thing.’

A sustained and interesting silence followed this delicate little speech. It’s hard to say if it’s hindsight that has loaded this moment with great significance, or if it really happened the way I now remember it. But as a connoisseur of telecommunications silences, I was highly attuned to the hectic quality of this one. It was a teeming silence—on both sides. Clues, details, facts, random snippets and calculations swarmed and circled until the moment settled into an electric convergence.

We held it there for a while, then Astrid spoke.

‘Ah,’ she said. Then, more definitively: ‘Well.’ And, finally, with a loud intake of breath followed by a low, gratified chuckle: ‘Jesus Christ.’

There was another long pause, and then she said, ‘What kind of sensitive information do you have on Yvonne Paige?’

‘I think it’d be best to keep that to myself for now.’

She made a funny sort of noise from her throat. ‘Right, right.’ And then: ‘I guess you have some on Julian, too?’

‘Yes.’

‘What is it?’

‘Maybe we should talk about that another time.’

‘So, you did not part on good terms with Julian?’ She was choosing her words very carefully now, too.

‘I asked him for a, uh, bonus.’

‘How much?’

I hesitated. ‘Ten thousand dollars.’

‘Ten thousand?! Wow, that’s not much!’ She was laughing. ‘You probably could have leaned in a bit more there.’ She continued laughing. She was happy with her joke. I didn’t find it funny. After a while she said, ‘So he wanted me gone because he’s trying to cut every connection with you?’

 ‘I think so, yes.’

‘Have you ever been in contact with Andrew Martin?’

‘No,’ I said. ‘Never. Honestly.’

‘Uh-huh,’ she said. ‘You’re only just starting to understand the’—she was searching for the right phrase—‘extent of these connections?’

‘That’s right,’ I said. ‘I’ve learned a few new things in our conversation today.’

In a deliberate voice she said, ‘You should probably know that Andrew is not very nice.’

‘Mmmm.’

‘I mean it,’ she said. ‘Look him up.’

‘What’s Julian’s relationship with Andrew like?’

‘Resentful, dependent, a bit scared, maybe.’

‘How dependent?’

‘Very.’

‘How do you mean?’

‘Keith told me that Andrew and the Darnleys, Downleys—whatever they’re called—have a stake in all of the development projects Blaze works on.’

‘I didn’t see those names on the Blaze website.’

‘Apparently they have a lot of different companies.’

We sat there nodding at each other for a moment, both of us processing. I could get back to the stuff about Julian’s family later. The Elmsleigh connection was still disturbing me.

‘Can you tell me how much Michael Wicks knows?’

‘I think,’ she said wryly, ‘that I will not be talking about any of this with Michael or with any other person.’

 ‘But how much does he know already?’

‘He doesn’t really know anything,’ she said flatly. ‘Like I told you before, he wasn’t one hundred per cent sure about the photo I showed him. I’m not surprised, really. You look pretty different to that photo.’

‘Are you still in touch with him?’

She sighed. ‘You think I care about Blaze clients if I’m not working at Blaze anymore?’

‘You must have become pretty good buddies to talk about this so much.’

‘Don’t worry,’ she said with impatience. ‘I didn’t tell him why I was asking about you. He’s a chatty guy. We joked about the corporate retreats they sometimes host at the Caledonian. They get some real dickheads, he said. He mostly just wanted to talk about Yvonne and tell the horror story about “I Got Rhythm”.’

‘When did you call him and show him the photo? Does he know you’re not at Blaze now?’

‘After Julian fired me. I pretended the call was about a work thing and I just tacked on some questions about Ruth at the end. I sent the photo by text.’

‘Why would you pretend like that?’

‘Because I didn’t know who you were and what the fuck I was dealing with.’ She was getting annoyed now. ‘And because the whole situation was embarrassing to me.’

It was an effort to keep my voice steady. ‘Will it be weird if I ever have to go back to Elmsleigh?’

 ‘Don’t know—maybe,’ she said. Her blasé tone was infuriating. This was my life. ‘Do you want to go back there?’

‘No, but my dad lives near there. I know people there.’

‘You’re probably fine,’ she said airily. ‘I only visit my dad in Germany once every three years. Get your dad to come to Melbourne.’

I could see this was as much reassurance as I was going to get. She did not understand, would never be able to understand, the dimensions of my life. I’d start to look weak if I pushed this line of questioning any further.

‘I can’t believe you threatened me like that before,’ Astrid said, after a moment. ‘What the fuck?’

‘You threatened me first.’

‘You got me fired.’

‘I got you forty thousand dollars. I’m still sleeping next to my toaster, remember?’

There was a long pause. ‘Well,’ she said, ‘maybe not forever. Maybe you have more … context, now.’

I let that thought sink in. And then—I don’t know why I decided to push my luck—I cleared my throat and tried out a Julian impersonation of my own.

‘Playing hardball, eh?’ I yodelled. ‘That’s what sorts the men from the boys.’

There was a delay—agonising in its length—before Astrid let out a short, sharp bark of stunned laughter. ‘Oh my god,’ she said. ‘Christina? I think you are fucking nuts. Okay, I have to go—I have Pilates. This conversation has been completely insane. Don’t do anything drastic or just’—she gestured vaguely with her hands—‘fucked up. I’ll be in touch. Bye.’

The call ended. I stood up suddenly, too fast, and the blood rushed to my head. For a moment, I leaned against the wall in a stupor of elation, mortification and relief. Then I gathered up keys, wallet and phone and dragged my arse to Meg’s house to pick up Sam.
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SAM WAS IN A FILTHY temper when I got him home from Meg’s house. He dropped his schoolbag at the door of the flat and refused to bring it inside. When I suggested a shower before bed, he started shrieking: ‘I didn’t get dirty today! All we did was talk about SYLLABLES AND RESPECTFUL BEHAVIOURS!’

I couldn’t blame him. He’d had a few long days in a row. Today had been particularly long; too long for a six-year-old to be expected to keep his cool. I let him go to bed without a shower and without brushing his teeth. I didn’t have a fight in me. I was completely wired from my conversation with Astrid and I was itching to get back to my computer.

I knew that bad feelings lay in wait for me. Sooner or later, I’d marinate fully in the humiliation of my exposure. But for now, I just had to get a grasp of all the new facts and material. And though the day had begun terribly and had taken some petrifying turns, it turned out to be a very rewarding night at the screen.

If a major chord was struck when Astrid said, ‘Andrew Martin, Julian’s cousin’, the rest of the Dearneley story was the simple, satisfying song that followed it. I was up very late, verifying Astrid’s information, gathering more knowledge and context, and marvelling at how naturally, how sublimely, it all flowed together. This was a tune you could whistle.

After re-reading the article Astrid had sent me about the Dearneley brothers, I looked up Andrew Martin. I found an illuminating article from 2019 on the BBC website.


Dearneley Brothers’ Nephew Andrew Martin Wins High Court Battle, but Pays a Reputational Price

Property developer Andrew Martin, the nephew and protégé of real-estate tycoons Neil and Robert Dearneley, has won a High Court battle against a former business associate after a judge dismissed claims of extortion and intimidation brought against him.

‘I find that the defendant’s conduct was dishonourable, but not unlawful,’ Justice Allington told the courtroom. ‘The evidence this court has heard paints an unseemly picture indeed.’

Martin’s former business associate, Timothy Laurent, accused Martin of threats to force him to pay £16m in interest and penalties on a loan for a luxury apartment complex in London’s south-west. Laurent claimed Martin threatened his pregnant wife and joked about selling the loan to a notorious debt collector with organised-crime connections.

While Martin has been cleared of all the charges, the trial has garnered significant media interest. The billionaire Dearneley brothers keep a low profile, but their younger nephew has a brasher and flashier style. Witnesses spoke of private jets and lavish holidays with Saudi royalty and celebrity friends.

The Dearneley brothers did not attend court during the trial.



There were more accounts of the trial, but I had to set up trial subscriptions to half a dozen stodgy English financial newspapers in order to get past the paywalls. After that, I pored through articles in The Times, The Observer and The Guardian. Some choice snippets:


… Laurent, his wife and their personal assistant routinely referred to Andrew Martin as ‘VC’ in their texts and emails. A lawyer asked the personal assistant to explain what VC stood for. She was obliged to tell the court that VC stood for ‘Vicious Cunt’.




… Though Martin’s mother, the philanthropist Margaret Martin, attended the trial in support of her son, the Dearneley brothers did not attend court at any stage of the trial. This has led to speculation that Martin’s trial has caused a rift in the family, whose members still share many business interests.





… Evidence relating to Martin’s controversial Ashcombe Square luxury apartment complex has enraged London housing activists. Protests were staged outside the court on the final day of the trial.




‘While trust-fund kids are slinging mud at each other over luxury apartments for absent oligarchs, hard-working Londoners are still living in flammable buildings, or in social housing properties infested with cockroaches,’ said Trish Siddons from the ADC Housing Collective.



Piece by piece, I filled in the blanks. Julian Pitt and Andrew Martin were the grandsons of Gordon Dearneley. They were the children of Gordon’s two daughters and the nephews of Neil and Robert. Andrew Martin, it seemed, had been tutored in business at the semi-respectable knee of his uncles, only to strike out on his own as a tawdry VC and pal to pariah-state princes. Julian, meanwhile, had eked out a career as an epic whiner and long-distance parasite. Since the trial, Andrew had launched a foundation for sick children. I watched a video about the charity on YouTube. (‘One of the things I love about the giving model we’re creating here is its phenomenal efficiency,’ the Vicious Cunt raved, squeezing the shoulder of a forbearing nurse.)

This was good stuff; this was great stuff. But it wasn’t quite enough to go back to Julian for more money. I pressed on, switching and cross-referencing between the boys’-lunch recording and info on the family online. I was in my element now, my fingertips tripping lightly across the keys, my keyboard shortcuts efficient and true, my mind whirring, face lit by the glow of my screen. Julian had mentioned the Ashcombe apartments in his drunk blatherings. I decided to narrow my focus for a while on that and I struck gold in an article in The Guardian on the last day of the trial.


… Martin’s flagship Ashcombe Square luxury condo complex, is controversial. The development of just 60 private residences occupies 25,000 square metres in central London.

Witnesses for Laurent said Martin was extremely sensitive to criticism that the Ashcombe Square apartments were largely vacant, with absent investors parking money in the properties while choosing to live in offshore tax havens. One witness said there were rumours that Martin had paid staff to attend Ashcombe Square properties in the evenings to turn lights on and stand on the balconies. The same witness said Martin became furious when alerted to these rumours.



‘Ha!’ I said aloud, and I actually punched the air. With a quickening pulse, I went back over my recording of drunk Julian.


… And next time I’ll tell him, ‘Don’t try that with me on this Knighssbridge Park one. I know about paying staff—paying girls, not nice ones, either—to turn the Ashcombe lights on’, and I know they did because one of them was Hamish’s plus one and now they’re married and she told me.



 I found some nice wedding pictures, then, of a Hamish Martin in Tatler magazine. The groom was a pallid ghoul. The bride looked calm and respectable in long-sleeved Temperley—far from not nice—though I supposed there was something pretty filthy about choosing a lifetime of sexual intercourse with a cadaver, no matter how rich.

Was this Hamish Martin the brother of Andrew Martin, the cousin of Julian Pitt? You bet it was! There was a photo gallery with captions that confirmed the attendance of a few key Dearneley family members: the men compressed into double-breasted waistcoats and tails; the women with planets of felt and fluff on their heads. I clicked through the images. There they were: Margaret Martin (rigid scarecrow), Andrew Martin (nuggety VC), and Neil and Robert Dearneley (jowly Fat Controllers). No Julian. Maybe sulky, far-flung cousins weren’t invited. Or weren’t invited to be photographed.

There was more. The journalist from The Guardian, the one who had attended every day of the trial, had written another article on Andrew for some kind of independent news website.


A more serious suggestion of vested interest, even bribery, came up in testimony from another witness. Laurent’s wife said it was rumoured that Martin had influenced officers at the Planning Inspectorate to overturn a decision against the temporary closure of Gloucester Road, including the tube station, to speed up construction on the Ashcombe Square development.



 I knew the whole tape by heart at this point. I skipped straight to the 32.26 timestamp.


And I know about cormish and mad-reserver, very nice place she got herself there by the sancshuary, so don’t tell me she didn’t close the station.



Searching deep into the published decisions of the Planning Inspectorate, I found that a Sarah Comish at the Planning Inspectorate had overturned a decision in 2013, allowing a road and an underground train station to be temporarily closed to facilitate construction on the Ashcombe Square development.

Things were coming together so magically, so smoothly! The only thing that worried me was mad-reserver. What or who was this? I listened to the recording again and again. Julian’s speech was slurred; it was impossible to decipher. Madreserver? Mudsilver? Matt Reservoir? Was he talking about a place? A person? This kind of thing was ungooglable. I couldn’t trust the rest of the sentence without knowing this crucial component.

It was only 11 pm—Astrid might still be up. I decided to run it past her. I rang her and she called me back five minutes later. I played her part of the clip over the phone.

‘Madreselva,’ she said instantly. ‘It’s a luxury development in Malaga, in Spain. Next to a nature reserve. Blaze has the contract for the rebrand next year.’
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SATURDAY MORNING AT THE WAVE pool in Glen Waverley. I had been promising Sam we’d go there for months. Now we stood in our bathers in a line with other swimmers on the concrete shore of the pool. We were waiting for the siren that signalled the beginning of a fifteen-minute wave cycle. The place had the steamy and confusing air of all indoor pools: chlorine and bleach mingling with burned grease from the snack bar’s deep fryer.

I wore a Kmart neoprene one-piece in black. Sam wore goggles and fluorescent-orange board shorts. He was holding my hand and convulsing with excitement. (‘Is the suburb called Glen Waverley because it’s got a waverly pool?’ he’d asked me on the drive over. Through the rear-view mirror I caught him smiling out the window, delighted with his own quip.)

The siren sounded. Experienced wave-poolers ran straight into the water, but Sam hesitated. The pump-generated waves were bigger than we’d both expected. I led him slowly into the water and he stood at knee height for a while, taking the measure of the waves and the intervals between them. Then, with a steely gaze, he placed both arms over his head, crossed them at the hands and jumped into deeper water. Soon he was hurling himself into oncoming waves, beaming and jumping and standing up to readjust his goggles and laughing when the waves knocked him over.

As Sam gained confidence, I began to look past him, taking in the other people and things around me, the other bodies, all the wet hair and skin and bright polyester. People leaping and squealing and shouting.

It was a kids’ pool, so I knew that I was standing in a good amount of urine. But I knew, too, that the chlorine was doing its work on that, and maybe it was also doing its work on me, disinfecting me after the horrors of the past week, girding me for the challenge ahead. I needed to recover from the crisis. I needed to absorb and process what had happened. I needed to stand in this indoor pool, getting knocked about by replica waves.

And I needed to give my time and attention to Sam. Over the last few months, I’d been distracted, sickly, grumpy, depressed and then stressed out of my brain. He’d coped well on the whole, but over the last week, I could tell I’d pushed him too far. He’d made some annoying efforts to muscle himself back to the centre of my attention: whining, picking fights. The wave pool, and this weekend, was our chance to reset. Just look at him, I thought. Thursday night: a monster. This morning: be-goggled angel.

 I wasn’t thinking in any kind of analytical way about the events of the week. I was decompressing. I was letting it all wash through me, over me and within me: the fear, the shame, the relief, the triumph, the dread and anticipation. What was I going to do with the afternoon? I couldn’t arrange my thoughts into the kind of coherence that planning ahead required.

Sam and I stayed at the pool until 11 am. When I finally managed to get Sam out of the pool (with bribes and threats) and into the car, he fell asleep within ten minutes.

It was a long drive back to Kingsbury from the aquatic centre: forty-seven minutes, according to Google Maps. My fingers, gripping the wheel, were wrinkled from the water. The skin on my face was dry and flaky. The chemicals had stripped the skin’s oily, protective faculties. Without the sensory distractions of the pool, and without Sam’s chatter, dreadful thoughts began to crowd my mind again.

When I reached the Waterdale Road turn-off, I found myself glancing in the rear-view mirror to check that Sam was still asleep. Then, instead of taking the road that led home, I drove straight ahead. Soon I was on the Hume Highway, heading north.
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Dad lived in Benalla now, about thirty minutes from Elmsleigh, in a dark and dusty unit that had once belonged to Mitch’s aunt. Now Mitch owned it. The details of this arrangement were unclear to me and I was keen to keep it that way. I didn’t want to have to feel grateful to Mitch. I preferred to have uncomplicated feelings about him, to freeze him in time as the figure of horror from my youth, the aspiring sex offender, a person without redeeming features.

‘Chrissy,’ Dad said, when he opened the door. We embraced stiffly. He ruffled Sam’s hair. ‘G’day, little man. What’ve you got there?’

‘Stuff from the bakery,’ Sam whispered. He was never quite sure what to make of Dad.

Dad was just the same, but more stooped, more puffy. The skin on his head was getting very speckled and rough. He seemed cheerful, though, as we stepped around half a dismantled lawnmower on the way to the kitchen.

The house smelled like moths and wet wool. A vacuum cleaner was plugged into the power point in the hallway; I’d only given Dad an hour’s notice of our visit. In the kitchen, Dad filled the kettle and turned it on. I looked around. The kitchen surfaces and appliances were generously crumbed and smeared—not hygienic, but not filthy, either. I produced sausage rolls and donuts. He had the same old grey laminate kitchen table, the one with the burn mark in the corner, that we’d hauled to six or seven different houses in the Elmsleigh locality.

We sat at the old table, drank tea and ate. Dad and I did not know how to be together as two adults. We had maybe never really known how to be together. Sam showed Dad the footy cards I’d bought him at the petrol station along the way. Conversation was stilted after that. Sam wandered off to sit on an outside step, overlooking the unit’s small private, overgrown patch of lawn. I summarised our living, working and schooling arrangements, and then I quizzed Dad about the quality of the local Benalla butcher (‘good snags’), the weather (‘bit cool’) and topography (‘flood plains’).

When I could take this no more, I excused myself to go to the toilet. I came back to the kitchen to find Dad gone. I opened the door on to the backyard and saw him and Sam at opposite ends of the weedy lawn, solemnly kicking a football back and forth. It was a kid-sized football, bright yellow.

I shut the door quickly, before I could distract them, and peeped out instead from behind a greasy curtain in the kitchen. Dad was facing the fence now, in order, it seemed, to demonstrate to Sam his drop-punt action from a side angle.

Sam spotted me and waved uncertainly. I waved back—an overly cheerful, emphatic wave—then stepped away from the window. I made myself another cup of tea and sat at the table. Half an hour later, they were still out there. Eventually I opened the back door and stood on the concrete step to make my announcement.

‘We’re going for a drive to Elmsleigh this afternoon,’ I said. ‘Trip down memory lane. Do you want to come, Dad?’

I’d expected him to say no—maybe even hoped he’d say no. It was not a short drive. But he surprised me by saying yes, and we all piled into the car and headed off. We listened, as we drove, to Sam’s diabolical Spotify playlist: Norwegian novelty EDM, the Hawthorn Football Club theme song and—since his week with Barb and the twins—‘Chattanooga Choo Choo’.

 Somewhere between the quarry and the turn-off to Bonnie Doon, Dad spoke, unprompted. It was the open road, perhaps, the sight of the horizon, that made this possible. Or maybe it was the sound of Sam in the back seat, quietly crooning along to the music. Something, anyway, enabled Dad to access the obscure tunnel, deep in his marshy consciousness, where he stored his personal mantra for his grandchild, and then to trouble the dormant vocal flaps in his own throat.

‘Lovely little fella,’ Dad murmured, first to me, then to the cows grazing in the paddocks we sped past. ‘Lovely little fella.’
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IT WASN’T UNTIL I TOOK the Elmsleigh exit off the freeway that it really hit me: we had travelled a large distance, unplanned. At the start of the week, at the start of the day, I would never have imagined myself here. Our wet swimmers and towels were stinking up the back of the car.

The last time I’d been to Elmsleigh properly—the regrettable solo trip in July didn’t count—was before Sam was born. I’d done a couple of dull blockies around the main street after lunch one Christmas, just for kicks. I re-enacted that Christmas expedition now, driving past the library, past our first house, past our second house, past the school and back again. Dad stared out the window, clutching the grab handle and emitting the odd grunt as I pointed out key landmarks to Sam.

‘That was your school?’ Sam was impressed that the primary school was next to the football oval. The school was just the same, though it looked tiny to my adult eye. The clubrooms on the football oval were bigger and schmicker than the old ones. Elmsleigh kids wouldn’t be able to practise volleys against the clubrooms now, like Michael Wicks used to. There were too many windows, too much glass, and an access ramp that took up lots of space. The building probably had a proper security system, too. No more breaking into the showers.

I didn’t feel like driving past our other houses, or past the Commercial, so I turned back onto Elizabeth Street. The bakery now had a cutesy logo—nostalgic script font, white against teal—and advertised single-origin coffee. The cafe next door was called, for Christ’s sake, ‘The Elmsleigh Larder’. People inside the Elmsleigh Larder were sweeping floors and stacking chairs. A couple of doors down there was a new pub, the Alpine, that looked to be doing a brisk Saturday-afternoon trade. None of this was too interesting or surprising.

But then I saw something new, something bright red, in the distance, past Elizabeth Street. I drove towards it, towards the other exit to the freeway, past the Caledonian Hotel, past the post office, and past half a dozen heritage-listed buildings and shopfronts.

It was a Red Rooster franchise. A drive-through. It was big, it was bright and it was nasty as hell. I slowed down and lowered the window, gaping as we drove past.

‘How long’s that been there?’

‘Couple of years,’ said Dad.

‘Whose is it?’

‘Bloke from Wangaratta, owns a few of them.’

‘Did people try to stop it happening?’

 ‘Dunno.’

‘Have you ever been there?’

‘Nah.’

The Red Rooster was less than two blocks from the Caledonian Hotel. How had the Wickses failed to stop it? The edifice was the definition of inharmonious, a textbook eyesore, with its giant red-and-white signage and shouted ‘LIVE LIFE TILL YOU’RE FULLEST’ slogan. In the carpark, teenagers spilled and squirmed out of two P-plated sedans. Pigeons fussed around the bins.

I drove onwards, disgusted and impressed, like I’d just witnessed a savage and brazen crime. Then I checked for oncoming traffic and swung a wide U-turn so I could drive back past the Red Rooster again, this time even slower. It looked hideous, but it smelled good: chicken salt, grease and some kind of smoky flavouring. I was hungry.

In just a few seconds we were out the front of the Caledonian again and I was pulling over.

‘Are we getting out?’ said Sam. ‘I’m hungry.’

‘We’re getting out,’ I said.

The Caledonian Hotel was freshly painted and as magnificent as ever. The sun was dropping now, and the building cast a long, slanting shadow almost to the other side of the road.

As I stood with Dad and Sam in the shadow of the pub, looking up at its second storey, curious shapes were cast over my mood. The Red Rooster had emboldened me. It had been a day of impulsive actions, and now a new superstition, a personal dare, was taking shape in my mind.

 If I drank a beer in the Caledonian Hotel and nothing terrible happened, I told myself, then everything would turn out fine for me and Sam, everything would turn out great, everything would go according to plan. I could do it. I could walk in there, sit down with my kid like any other citizen, drink a beer and leave again. If Michael Wicks saw me, and spoke to me, I would respond calmly and quietly. If he mentioned Yvonne, I would confirm our connection. If he mentioned Astrid, or Dr Ruth, I would feign ignorance.

‘We’re going in for a drink,’ I said to Dad. ‘You coming?’

Dad looked first at the Caledonian entrance, then squinted up to the balcony on the second floor. ‘Nah,’ he said. ‘I’ll be at the Commercial.’

He sloped off. This wasn’t his pub. I respected that.

I pushed open the doors, walked directly to the bar and ordered a pot of Carlton Draught ($7.80), a lemonade and one serve of chips from a person I had never seen before. We sat in the front bar, which was the same as it was in the nineties and perhaps roughly the same as it had been a century earlier: tiled mosaic floor, stained glass and dark wooden panels. Years earlier, they’d filmed some scenes for a TV series about the Kelly Gang there.

I chose a table in the corner. My courage only went so far. ‘Do you like this place?’ I asked Sam as we sat down.

‘Yes,’ he said. ‘They gave me a big straw with my Sprite.’

I drank my beer quickly and watchfully. Sam ate most of the chips, which came in a little basket with a white napkin. He talked, without pause, about some segment he’d seen on Behind The News about the upcoming world speedcubing championships.

It was an odd feeling, being in there. It was so real, so lifelike. The smell of roasting meat from the kitchen. A waitress with an oil stain on her apron. Someone’s phone ringing—the marimba ringtone. It was nice. It was charming and pleasant, but the reality of the place didn’t correspond in weight or essence to the Caledonian Hotel of my imagination.

I didn’t see any Wickses, not even when we walked through the dining area to get to the toilets. The grand old staircase was still there, but the little antechamber was gone, the room where I’d witnessed the punishment of Cousin Ali. It was possible that it had disappeared almost thirty years ago, in Christopher Wicks’s first renovation. I realised I couldn’t remember.

I saw almost nobody I knew, besides an old teacher from Elmsleigh High School and the woman who used to stand outside the supermarket selling raffle tickets for the RSL. Neither of them noticed me.

Everyone else was new or unknown. A lot of Melbourne people. They were ordering, I supposed, $21 negronis with local craft gin. They were considering the $45 peppered kangaroo fillet with almond crème, beetroot and dukkah. These people and this place, I thought, have nothing to do with me.

I drained the last drop of my drink and was about to stand up and rush out, dare completed, when I saw Alan. He must have come in from a side entrance, or walked through the doors when my head was turned. We saw each other at the exact same moment. His eyes bulged, a grin flooded his features and he raised two arms before him, palms facing skywards; a priest acknowledging a miracle. He walked towards us in this pose.

‘Chrissie Swales!’ he said. I pushed my stool back and stood up.

Alan kissed my cheek, then held me by the shoulders to take me in. What did he see? I’d had a hard couple of months. A hard couple of years.

‘What are you doing here? And’—beaming at Sam—‘who is this magnificent young person?’ He must have been in his seventies now, and he was plumper, but it was amazing how little he’d changed. He’d always been baby-faced.

‘I need to get back to shut the shop, would you like to have a quick look?’ Alan said.

Outside, the light was fading, and the chill was bracing. I was feeling giddy. The beer, the distance travelled, the success of my dare, the coincidence with Alan—it had all gone to my head.

‘What a place to bump into you!’ Alan said. ‘Only tourists go to the Cally these days. Even after the footy now, most people go to the Alpine. Beer’s cheaper. I was only in there because I borrowed a phone charger.’

‘I heard Michael Wicks is head of events there,’ I said. ‘He was in my year at school.’

We were outside Alan’s shop now. He was fiddling with the key in the door. ‘Michael’s all right. Better than his old man. Brings in the tourists, good for business, god this lock is old and sticky.’

 Alan gave us a quick tour of the shop. It was a long, narrow, cosy space, with beautiful woven Moroccan carpets and dim lamps. The shelves were tightly and tidily organised. Alan was especially proud of the Architecture and Australian Biography sections. He showed me some of his prized hardbacks. I was happy for him. Sam was impressed by the old Persian cat, who napped on a cushion by the window, and suffered his pats and murmurings.

Alan and I stood and talked for a while at the front of the shop, about the second-hand-book trade, about changes around the town, and about the new Red Rooster. (‘Ugly,’ said Alan with a shrug, ‘but they gave my wayward nephew a job.’)

Then he put his hands on his thighs and turned to look down at Sam. ‘And how old are you, Sam?’

Sam was crouching on the floor next to the cat. He looked up. ‘Six.’

‘Six years old! Do you know what your mum was like at your age?’ he asked.

Sam shook his head.

‘She was very clever,’ he said. ‘And such a rascal. Can you believe she used to bring secateurs into my library!’

Sam looked up at him blankly.

‘Do you know what secateurs are?’ Alan said.

Sam shook his head. He stood up.

‘They’re special strong scissors for pruning trees and hedges. Actually, I’ll show you!’

 He disappeared behind his desk, and we heard him rifling through its drawers before he popped up again, looking flushed in the face and holding a very fine, shining pair of secateurs.

‘Why do you have them here?’ Sam said.

Alan laughed. ‘Funny you two should come up this week. I just bought these on Wednesday. New neighbours behind us from Melbourne’—jerking a thumb backwards, rolling his eyes at me—‘bought the place between lockdowns and turned it into an Airbnb. Then they went and planted Boston ivy right near the fence, didn’t they? Of course the ivy’s going gangbusters now and I’m worried it’ll choke my crepe myrtle.’ He turned back to Sam and winked. ‘So I’ve been out the back of the shop going snip, snip, snip all afternoon.’

We all looked down at the implement in Alan’s hands. Fire-engine-red handle, steel blades. Alan must have given them a very thorough, loving clean after the afternoon’s labours. The last of the sun’s warm light shined through the window, showing up the dust in the air, bathing the blades in a golden glow for just an instant. Sam looked from the secateurs to Alan and then up at me. I believe I saw pride in his eyes.

It gave me a perverse sort of pleasure to see the Commercial Hotel thriving, too, when we drove there to collect Dad. I registered a satisfying little sting at the site of my old corn-chip wounds, possibly caused by the steaming hot chips served at the Caledonian, possibly caused by the sight of five or six drunk people smoking and laughing in the carpark outside the pokies room. I knew this pleasant impression would fade if I actually walked through the doors and saw Jackie or Mitch or anybody else I recognised from the old days. There was no way I’d take Sam anywhere near that place, anyway. I called Dad seven times from the carpark until he eventually wandered out, whistling and smiling sleepily.

We dropped Dad back in Benalla, and Sam and I got home to Kingsbury after midnight. I carried him straight from the car into his bed. I pulled the covers up high and kissed him goodnight: first on the forehead, then on his sweet nose. He was still wearing the tracksuit he’d put on in the swimming-pool change room.

On my own bed, I opened my laptop and typed the email I’d been composing in my head all the long drive home. Then I did a final check of the information I’d collected. The Madreselva villa complex was partly owned by a company that was owned by a company whose parent company was Dearneley Holdings. I downloaded and read the development brochure one last time: infinity pool, sculptural marble fireplace, nature paths, views of the sancshuary. Checkmate.


Julian,

It wasn’t my intention to contact you again, but I have been doing some more research into the activities of your ‘little bitch’ client Andy and your references to Ashcombe Square and Sarah Comish and Madreselva.

I don’t think Andy would be too delighted if this got out.

I think there are a few people who would be upset, actually.

There’s quite a lot of material about it in this recording, plus a whole lot more that you might not remember. I notice there’s a bit of media interest in the UK around the Ashcombe development.

I’d prefer to just keep things quiet and off Andy’s radar altogether—for $50,000, if you could arrange it.

After that, you won’t hear from me again. I want nothing more to do with this. I just want the money.

Ruth



I hit send and snapped my laptop closed. Then I brushed my teeth with terrific violence and lay in the dark tasting blood on my gums.
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I WAS BACK AT SUNGLASS Hut four days later and I was on edge, to put it mildly. My jaw ached from night-time grinding. That morning, in the shower, I’d pulled an alarming clump of hair out of my comb.

When the Ruth phone buzzed in my pocket mid-morning, I practically shot through the roof of Northland Shopping Centre. Slowly, I drew the phone out and opened my email app.

I had the phone in one trembling hand and a pair of gunmetal-grey Armani Exchange aviators in the other. As I read the email, my clench tightened and I almost crushed the sunglasses in my fist.


Dear Ruth,

My name is Angela Russo. I am a solicitor based in London, representing Julian Pitt. I have tried to contact you several times by phone, without success. Julian suggested you could be reached by email at this address.

Julian has outlined the situation to me. Under Julian’s instructions, I’m proposing a non-disclosure agreement. We would, of course, need your full and correct name and address. We’d need to be able to verify that information, so that the contract is enforceable and legally binding in both the United Kingdom and Australia.

A draft contract is attached. I note that in your correspondence with Julian under the name Ruth Carlisle, you have requested AUD $50,000.

With your real identity confirmed, we can offer £250,000 to draw a final and conclusive line under the matter.
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There were options. A two-bedroom flat in an apartment building in Clifton Hill: a ‘rare gem for investor or first-home buyer’. It was a three-storey cream-brick block, built in the sixties or seventies I guessed, nestled behind two giant gum trees not far from Yarra Bend Park. The building was nicely maintained. The bins were tucked away in a discreet corner behind rosemary bushes. There were decent cars in the carpark. I saw some of our potential new neighbours coming and going during the inspection. They wore nice sneakers; had subtly expensive haircuts. They grew herbs on their balconies.

The flat for sale was on the top floor of the building. Light streamed in the living-room window during the inspection. I stood on the balcony and imagined frying sausages out there, Highland Earl in hand, on a warm night. The bedrooms were small, but they had large windows. The bathroom had never been renovated, but it was fine—good shower, pale-grey tiles.

In the months after my big payout from Julian, I applied for the position of store manager at Sunglass Hut so I could borrow a small sum from the bank. It was a miracle—something within our price range popping up in my dream location right at the time when I was ready to buy. There weren’t many apartment buildings in Clifton Hill. The house next door had recently sold for $2 million.

But Sam wasn’t keen on the place.

‘The carpet is blurgh,’ he said. ‘I don’t like the colour.’ He had a point. There was carpet throughout the flat, and it wasn’t great—stained beige—but I could live with it for now and get floorboards later, maybe when I knocked down the wall between the kitchen and the living room. How much did that kind of thing cost? I’d ask Barb. Or Ian.

It was moot: the apartment sold at auction for well above the reserve and our budget. The new buyer already had tenants in the same building.

There was a good option in Abbotsford, too, not far from Paul’s house: a deceased estate on the ground floor of a ten-flat building. The dead person had left the place to his nurse, and she wanted to sell. ‘Unbelievable location,’ said the agent. He was a slick little pixie in an unsavoury suit and pointy boots.

The Abbotsford place was run-down and stinky: a ‘renovator’s dream’. There were cracks in the walls, the carpet was fucked and there was definitely a lingering dead-person aroma. It would sell for much less than the Clifton Hill place.

A ‘renovator’s dream’—but was I a renovator? Maybe? Could I learn to be one? What if I got really good at renovating and started flipping properties? What if that was my new thing?

But Sam didn’t like that apartment, either. He didn’t like any place we had to drive to inspect.

‘It’s yuck,’ he whispered, as we walked away. ‘And I don’t like that man who’s handing out bits of paper.’

‘The real-estate agent doesn’t live here,’ I said. ‘He’s not part of it.’

‘Hmmm.’

There was an Open Day fete at the primary school a few blocks away. We walked over there and ate honey joys and watched a short presentation. Sam scowled through the Year Three students’ rhythmic-gymnastics routine to ‘Walking on Sunshine’. There was something very wrong with the honey joys. A miserable substitution in the recipe, something sickly and corrupting—coconut oil or rice syrup, maybe. When we got back to our car, we had a parking ticket.

So, in the end, when the big move happened in March the next year, it was to a place only three streets away from Barb’s. Sam didn’t want to leave Kingsbury. He liked his school, he said. He liked Ethan. He liked the creek. He liked Barb and the twins. And I was beginning to wonder if my love of the inner-north was a part of a dangerous attraction to certain kinds of glamour. I needed to knock that shit off, once and for all.

 It was Sam who first spotted the place, a ‘sleek contemporary townhouse’ with a white pebble garden and a ‘For Sale’ sign out the front on Fenwick Street.

Two bedrooms, each with built-in wardrobes. And two—count ’em—two bathrooms, including an ensuite with a bathtub. The place had been built only five years ago, the agent told me, but it had been freshly painted for sale. Everything was white, white, white and new, new, new. Plus, there was ducted heating and split-system air-conditioning (both levels), double blinds and engineered timber floors.

Sam liked the courtyard out the back.

‘We could put a worm farm here,’ he said, pointing to a corner in the courtyard. ‘This would definitely be a good place for worms.’

There was space for a barbecue, a table, some chairs and—fuck it, why not?—a worm farm. Could I grow flowers? Herbs? Vegetables?

There were other advantages. Kingsbury as a suburb was, in my opinion, undervalued. There were nice parks and established trees, and it was close to Preston market. There was a local high school with a strong Mandarin program. (Progress had slowed again with Serge Melnyk. We were up to Lesson 29: Office Vocabulary, but I was thinking of investing in a Super Duolingo subscription.)

Ian helped us load up the car on the day we moved out. I didn’t really want to keep the bookshelf on wheels, but Sam was attached to it. And what was the point of arguing? We had space. I didn’t care. It could go in the living room for now. I offered Ian a slab of beer for helping us move, but he refused to take it.

‘Drink it yourself,’ he said. ‘Or save it for your housewarming.’ And we stood for a while in the street, nattering about the artificial grass in my new courtyard and whether or not I should rip it out.

Paul came over, too. He walked around the place, knocking on the walls and putting his ear to the plaster. For a second I was worried that he was actually going to say ‘good bones’, but instead he said, ‘Good for you, Chris’ and ‘Do you want my Weber? I never use it. It’s just sitting out the back of my place getting covered in bird shit.’

I bought my own Weber.

I took photos of the new house and sent them to Dad’s email address. He had to go to Mitch’s house to look at them, because his computer didn’t work and he couldn’t download photos on his phone. He wrote back: LOOKS BDGREAT CHECK THE FUSE BOX.

In the first few weeks at the new place, Sam and I kept pretty close. We were used to sharing space. In the middle of the night, I’d wake to find him burrowing down next to me under the covers of my bed. He wanted to brush his teeth in my ensuite. He didn’t like to be downstairs when I was upstairs, or upstairs when I was downstairs. But gradually we started to spread out, stretching into other areas of the house. Soon enough, Sam was asking for bunk beds in his new bedroom so he could host sleepovers with his little mates.

 In those early days, when I was alone at home, I sometimes found myself taking giant strides and unnecessary lunges through the space, just because I could. I’d straddle four or five stairs on the staircase, stretching out my arms like a samurai, breathing in air that I owned in the house that was mine.
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Mutual assured destruction for £250,000. In Australian dollars, it worked out as $413,000. In a lot of ways, it was a better result than I’d ever dreamed. In the most primitive part of my brain, the reality of providing verifiable documents and information—my real date of birth, my real place of birth—was sickening beyond words. But in the rational part of my mind, especially after my own brush with getting caught, I could see the benefits of a resolution to matters with Julian that had a certain symmetry.

I never tried to negotiate with Julian’s lawyer. I did everything in my power to try to verify that she was a real person and not a fake police identify. Eventually, I asked Astrid if she knew of Angela Russo. The name didn’t ring a bell, Astrid said, but then she found an old Blaze contract, from November last year, for some project in the UK. It had Angela Russo’s name on it.

I’d trembled, literally trembled, taking the photos of my driver’s licence and passport. I’d felt sick—but I’d done it anyway. It was the smart thing to do.

 I was with Sam at Woolies on a Thursday afternoon when the payment came through. We were in the cleaning aisle. I was, as you’d expect, in the most intense pre-collection lather of my career—fretting, quaking, literally balding—when I checked my phone and saw that the money had landed.

I let out a prim little gasp—‘Oh!’—and put my phone back in my pocket. Then I picked a box of steel wool off the shelf. I put the steel wool back and checked my phone again. It was still there: $413,000.

‘Oh,’ I said.

‘What, Mum?’

‘Nothing.’

‘Can we get these?’

Sam was holding an Oreo Family Pack. He’d probably been carrying that Oreo Family Pack around the shop for twenty minutes. He did that kind of thing without hope, as a matter of principle, whenever we went to the supermarket together.

‘Sure,’ I said. And he’d looked up at me with sincere alarm.

Sam and I went out for pizza that night and ate Oreos for dessert. The following night, I left Sam with Barb and went with Meg to a bar in Thornbury. We drank two bottles of wine and two whisky sours. I’d been left a surprise inheritance by a surprise great-aunt. That was the story I told everyone.

‘Hooray for you,’ Meg had cheered, clinking glasses with me. When I saw her outside school the following morning she told me she’d puked in her bathtub when she got home.

‘Oh my god!’ Barb crowed, when I told her. She put her little arms around me, and her earrings jangled. I smelled her fruity perfume and tried to hold back a sneeze. ‘You work so hard, you deserve it, love.’

Barb gave me a bottle of sparkling white (not too bad, actually) and a vase (categorically fugly) to celebrate my big move. I kept the vase, though, because Barb often came over to the new place and I wanted her to see it on display. We actually struck a deal, Barb and I. She’s now Sam’s babysitter for my weekend and after-school Sunglass Hut shifts. I didn’t want to find a babysitter, and she didn’t want to find a new tenant. We’ve agreed to review the situation at the end of the next school year, once I’d figured out what I was going to do with my life.

I keep tabs on all my past clients for peace of mind. Adam and his wife had been cast on some home-renovation show on Channel Seven. The others seemed to be doing fine: showing off their new tattoos, sharing conspiracy infographics, advertising vibrators and eyelash curlers, launching online self-development courses, and posting selfies with captions like cup so full and gearing up for the weekend and this was me last night, crying at my laptop, burned out and alone. I always want to keep it real with you guys. Yvonne promoted insurance-rewards schemes for fitness trackers and NeuroCreate Institute summits. Business as usual.

Julian’s personal Instagram account was still public, but he stopped posting for six months. When he returned in a series of stories, he was looking greyer, and smiling cautiously next to a lake or river somewhere. He’d stopped posting his thought-leadership pieces on LinkedIn, too. I didn’t want to think about what any of this meant.

 There was still a lot of content on the Blaze social accounts, though. The animations weren’t as good as when Astrid was creative director, I thought. Or maybe that wasn’t true. Maybe they were just as good, and I was just biased.

Astrid was sharing her artwork more regularly, too. She posted another illustration in the banksia series, that I thought was better than the others, plus some new insects, including something I’d never heard of—a damsel fly, which was magnificent, with large, net-like wings and a body in electric blue.

I ordered my own print copy of the science magazine with her cricket illustration in it, which arrived in the post when we were still at Barb’s house. I took it with me to the new place and kept it in a cupboard under the stairs. I never read the article about insect conservation because—even though I am now the proud mother of a thousand composting worms—insects don’t interest me. I looked at the cricket illustration sometimes, though, and Sam was impressed that I knew the illustrator. He tried to copy the picture in his sketchbook.

I don’t know why I kept looking at the picture. It summoned a mixture of emotions that were not totally pleasurable. Astrid and I were good, now, but I regretted embarrassing her, disrupting her life and tainting the part of herself—the artist side—that she’d tried, in her way, to keep separate and pure. I was ashamed, too, at having shown myself to be amateurish, pitiable, a fraud. Helping me to lean in seemed to have given her some satisfaction, though, and—strangely enough—to have squared things from her perspective. I’d apologised to her, more than once, and the last time she’d brushed it off.

 When the money came through from Julian, I offered Astrid $5000. She refused it, but sent me links to two pairs of Italian shoes ($370 and $420, respectively) and a shopping list at Sephora totalling $678, along with a PO Box address. Dutifully, I made the purchases, though I did not pay for express delivery. She could wait ten to twelve business days.

We stay in touch. I think she feels proud of her role in my success, maybe even imagines herself some kind of righteous Robin Hood-like figure, though that’s not exactly how I see it. Sometimes she sends me funny memes and videos, but she never, ever talks to me about her artwork anymore. If I try to say something nice about new illustrations she’s posted online, she ignores the message.

I do know that she’s started a job at a new agency. Less money, she wrote in a text. But the people are normal. There’s talk of meeting in person the next time she comes to Melbourne, but she never comes to Melbourne, and I’m not sure how I feel about manifesting in front of Astrid in the flesh. What would I wear?

I have a lot of time to think these kinds of thoughts now. Is free time good for me? Time has given my mind the chance to latch on to novel anxieties, like how the fact that I’ve always bought velcro sneakers for Sam for my own convenience means that he’s reached the age of seven without any idea of how to tie his own shoelaces.

Time means I can sit outside in the sun, staring into the black rectangle in my hand, realising how many memes I don’t understand, how many cultural touchpoints I’ve missed, how many years have flown by, how old I am now.

And there’s plenty of time to reflect on how there are people who know—who know—about me, about my name, and about everything that’s happened. Astrid knows, Julian knows, probably Michael Wicks knows that something strange has gone on. At any rate I can be sure that, many hundreds of kilometres away, across oceans, in a filing cabinet in an office in Berkeley Square, London, a series of scanned and verified documents are filed under S for Swales.

But time means the opportunity for enriching activities, too. I’ve finished The House of Mirth and I read The Age of Innocence, too. And I’ve started taking long, punishing jogs on my days off, when Sam is at school. I run for six or seven kilometres, up the Darebin Creek Trail to the Norris Bank Dog Park and back around again. It feels good to stand outside my house, doubled over, one hand holding my fence, the other at my heaving chest, with nothing on my mind other than the workings of my lungs.

What are you running from, Christina? That’s the question I’d ask if I was coaching myself. (Will I ever break free from these mental reflexes?) Well, I am running in loops, actually. I am running away from home, and then back again. If I look over my shoulder from time to time, it’s just a snap swivel. I know that if my gaze lingers, I will be flattened by traffic.

And I know, too, to quit while I’m ahead. It’s time to focus my mind on real and pressing concerns. Who am I going to be now? Does a wholesome future await me? Will that future be boring? How might I unleash my potential now that I have purchased firm foundations?

These are the preoccupations of the retired C-pex predator. That’s how I’ve taken to thinking of myself—as the wily midnight chicken of Sam’s imagination; one who stalked, then bit, an unwitting alligator.

Other times, I think of myself as a reckless and puny amateur who narrowly escaped grave danger.

Maybe both versions can be true.




ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

SO MANY PEOPLE HELPED ME to write and finish this book. Enormous thanks to those who read the earliest drafts and gave invaluable feedback: Tim Mann, Sarah Sheppard, Angelina Yannuccelli, Chris Worth and Sian Scott-Clash.

I’m grateful to friends who read other drafts or sections; who shared expertise, knowledge and advice; who helped me out in various ways or just cheered me on: Virginia Kay, Chris Begley, Carly Houra, Martin Houra, Edie Atkins, Courtney Wamala, James Malycha, Chris Flynn, Jon Tjhia, Jane Watkins, Mel Cranenburgh, Sam Ryan, Chris Bamford, Kym Ortenburg and Daniel Koerner.

I’ve been so lucky to have the support of an amazing agent, Grace Heifetz, through a very long road to publication. Thanks to the team at Allen & Unwin, especially to Christa Munns and to the brilliant (and incredibly patient) Genevieve Buzo. Big thanks to Alaina Gougoulis.

 I wrote a couple of chapters during a Varuna Residential Fellowship and was grateful for the opportunity. I also received funding from the City of Yarra and from Creative Australia for the development of the manuscript.

Huge thanks to my family, especially to my parents, Judith Quick and David Quick, and to Jette Rogeon and Francois Rogeon.

Extra special thanks to my sister, Lizzy Perks, who talked through many aspects of this book with me and whose smart and silly suggestions are all through its pages. She paid the licence fee for the inspiring Jilly Cooper quote in Chapter Nine as a Christmas present, and it was such a touching gesture. Thanks Alex Rogeon for the C-pex predators.

Big love and thanks to my staunch, no-nonsense cheerleader, Tamil Rogeon.




OEBPS/toc.xhtml




Table of Contents





		COVER PAGE



		ABOUT THE AUTHOR



		TITLE PAGE



		COPYRIGHT PAGE



		CONTENTS



		PART ONE



		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10









		PART TWO



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24









		PART THREE



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39









		ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS











Guide





		Cover



		Title Page



		Table of Contents



		Start



		Acknowledgments











List of Pages





		i



		ii



		iii



		iv



		1



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		235



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		292



		293



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304



		305



		306



		307



		308



		309



		310



		311



		312



		313



		314



		315



		316



		317



		318



		319



		320



		321



		322



		323



		324



		325



		326



		327



		328



		329



		330



		331



		332



		333



		334



		335



		336



		337



		338



		339



		340



		341



		342



		343



		344



		345



		346



		347



		348



		349



		350



		351



		352



		353



		354



		355



		356



		357



		358



		359



		360



		361



		362



		363



		364



		365



		366



		367



		368



		369



		370



		371



		372



		373



		375



		376











OEBPS/images/img-3-1.jpg
The
Confidence
Woman

Sophie Quick

/

-

«
ALLEN&UNWIN
SYDNEY * MELBOURNE * AUCKLAND « LONDON





OEBPS/images/img-4-1.jpg
Creat
Australia

S s





OEBPS/images/img-4-3.jpg
The paper in this book is FSC® certified.
FSC® promotes environmentally responsible,
socially beneficial and economically viable
management of the world's forests.

X MIX
Paper| Supporing
U2 repontlc sty
E3S Fsce cootees






OEBPS/images/line.jpg





OEBPS/images/img-4-2.jpg
NATIONAL
LIBRARY

A catalogue record for this
book is available from the
National Library of Australia





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
Sophie Quick

“The wicked Australian lovechild of Sally Rooney and Aubrey Plaza.”

CHRIS F

Y NN, author of Mammoth





OEBPS/images/img-1-1.jpg
The Confidence Woman






